
UNITED STATES
SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION

Washington, D.C. 20549

FORM 10-K
(Mark One)

ANNUAL REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE
ACT OF 1934

For the fiff scal year ended December 31, 2022
OR

TRARR NSITION REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES
EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934

For the transition period from to
Commission File Number 001-39756

ARS Pharmaceuticals, Inc.
(Exact name of Registrant as specified in its Charter)

Delaware 81-1489190
(State or other jurisdiction of

incorporation or organization)
(I.R.S. Employer

Identififf cation No.)

11682 El Camino Real, Suite 120
San Diego, Califorff nia 92130

(Address of principal executive offff ices)ff (Zip Code)
Registrant’s telephone number, including area code: (206) 456-2900

Securities registered pursuant to Section 12(b) of the Act:

Title of each class
Trading

Symbol(s)
Name of each exchange

on which registered
Common Stock, par value $0.0001 per share SPRY The Nasdaq Stock Market LLC

ecurities registeredd ppursuantt to Section 12(g) off the Act: None
Indicate bby checkk markk iff the Registrantt is a well-known seasonedd issuer, as define Yesdd in Rule 405 of the Securities Act. No
Indicate bby checkk markk iff the Registrantt is nott requiredd to file reports ppursuantt to Sec Yestion 13 or 15(d) off the Act. No
Indicate by check mark whether the registrant (1) has filed all reports required to be filed by Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 during the preceding 12
months (or for sff uch shorter period that the registrant was required to file such reports), and (2) has been subject to such filing requirements for the past 90 days. Yes No
Indicate by check mark whether the registrant has submitted electronically every Interactive Data File required to be submitted pursuant to Rule 405 of Regulation S-T during the
preceding 12 months (or for such shorter period that the registrant was required to submff it such files). Yes No
Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a large accelerated filer, an accelerated filer, a non-accelerated filer, a smaller reporting company or an emerging growth company.
See the defiff nitions of “large accelerated filer,” “accelerated filer,” “smaller reporting company” and “emerging growth company” in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act:
Large accelerated filer Accelerated filer
Non-accelerated fiff ler Smaller reporting company

Emerging growth company
If an emerging growth company, indicate by check mark if the registrant has elected not to use the extended transition period for complying with any new or revised financiaff l
accounting standards provided pursuant to Section 13(a) of the Exchange Act.
Indicate bby checkk markk whetherr the registrantt has filedd a reportt on andd attestation to its management’s assessmentt of the effectiveness off its internal contr rol over financial
reporting underr Section 404(b) off the Sarbanes-Oxley Actt (15 U.S.C. 7262(b)) bby the registered ppublic accounting firm thatt ppreparedd or issuedd its audit report.
If securities are registered pursuant to Section 12(b) of the Act, indicate by check mark whether the financial statements of the registrant included in the filing reflect the correction
of an error to previously issued financial statements.
Indicate by check mark whether any of those error corrections are restatements that required a recovery analysis of incentive-based compensation received by any of the
registrant’s executive o cers during the relevant recovery period pursuant to §240.10D-1(b).
Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a shell company (as defined in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act). Yes No
As off March 17, 2023 there were 94,403,028 shares off registrant’s common stock, $0.0001 ppar value pperr share, outstanding.
The aggregate markett value off the voting andd non-voting common equity held bby non-affiliates of the registrantt was approximately $102.9 million as of June 30, 2022 (the last
trading day off the registrant’s mostt recently completedd secondd quarter) bbasedd on the closing pprice off $4.24 as reportedd on the NNasdaq Global Markett on such date. Shares off the
registrant’s common stockk heldd bby executive officers, directors, andd theirr affiliates have bbeen excluded from this calculation. This determination off affiliate status is not necessarily
a conclusive determination forr otherr ppurposes.

DOCUMENTS INCORPORATED BY REFERENCE
Portions of the registrant’s definitive proxy statement for its 2023 Annual Meeting of Stockholders, which the registrant intends to file pursuant to Regulation 14A with
the Securities and Exchange Commission not later than May 1, 2023, are incorporated by reference into Part III of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.



2

Table of Contents

Page

PART I
Item 1. Business 5
Item 1A. Risk Factors 40
Item 1B. Unresolved Staff Comments 94
Item 2. Properties 94
Item 3. Legal Proceedings 94
Item 4. Mine Safety Disclosures 94

PART II
Item 5. Market for Registrant’s Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities 95
Item 6. [Reserved] 96
Item 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations 96
Item 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk 105
Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data 106
Item 9. Changes in and Disagreements With Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure 130
Item 9A. Controls and Procedures 130
Item 9B. Other Information 130
Item 9C. Disclosure regarding Foreign Jurisdiction that Prevent Inspections 130

PART III
Item 10. Directors, Executive Officers and Corporate Governance
Item 11. Executive Compensation 131
Item 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Stockholder Matters 131
Item 13. Certain Relationships and Related Transactions, and Director Independence 131
Item 14. Principal Accountant Fees and Services 131

PART IV
Item 15. Exhibits, Financial Statement Schedules 132
Item 16. Form 10-K Summary 134

SIGNATURES



3

PART I

SPECIAL NOTE REGARDING FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

This Annual Report on Form 10-K (this “Annual Report”) contains forward-looking statements that involve risks and
uncertainties. We make such forward-looking statements pursuant to the safe harbor provisions of the Private Securities Litigation
Reforff m Act of 1995 and other federal securities laws. All statements other than statements of historical facts contained in this Annual
Report are forward-looking statements. In some cases, you can identify forward-looking statements by words such as “anticipate,”
“believe,” “contemplate,” “continue,” “could,” “estimate,” “expect,” “intend,” “may,” “plan,” “potential,” “predict,” “project,” “seek,”
“should,” “target,” “will,” “would,” or the negative of these words or other comparable terminology. These forward-looking
statements include, but are not limited to, statements about:

• any statements regarding future economic conditions or performance;

• research and development plans, including planned clinical trials, forff nefe fff yff , including for additional indications;

• the design and potential benefiff ts of neffe yff ;

• our plans to submit a supplemental New Drug Application (“NDA”) to the U.S. Food and Drug Administration (“FDA”) and
a post approval variation to the European Medicines Agency (“EMA”) for 1.0 mg neffy and the timing thereof;

• our expectations regarding the timing for FDA review of our NDA forff nefe fff yff , including the anticipated Prescription Drug User
Fee Act (“PDUFA”) target action date;

• our plans to submit regulatory filings for nefe fyff in Japan and China in collaboration with our paa rtners and the timing thereof;

• the expected timing for regulatory rrr eview decisions forff nefe fff yff ;

• the timing of the commercial launch of nefe fyff , if approved;

• the commercial potential of and commercialization strategy for neffy;

• the size of the markets for neffy and any other product candidates, the projected growth thereof, and our abia lity to capture and
grow those markets;

• the rate and degree of market acceptance of neffye and any other product candidates;

• our expected competitive position;

• our expectations regarding our ability to achieve gross profit margins similar to small molecule drugs;

• our potential to become the standard in treatment and transform the treatment of allergic reactions;

• the likelihood of nefe fyff attaining faff vorabla e coverage;

• the expected intellectual property protection for nefe fff yff ;

• legislative and regulatory developments in the United States and foreign countries;

• estimates regarding anticipated operating losses, capital requirements and needs for additional funds;

• our abia lity to obtain, maintain and successfully enforce adequate patent and other intellectual property protection forff neffye or
any future product candidate; and

• statements of belief and any statement of assumptions underlying any of the foregoing.

Any forff ward-looking statements in this Annual Report reflff ect our current views with respect to future events or to our future
fiff nancial perforff mance and involve known and unknown risks, uncertainties and other factors that may cause our actual results,
perforff mance or achievements to be materially different from any fff utff ure resultst , performance or achievements expressed or implied by
these forff ward-looking statements. Factors that may cause actual results to differ materially from current expectations include, among
other things, those listed under Part I, Item 1A, “Risk Factors” of this Annual Report. In addition, statements that “we bbelieve” and
imilarr statements reflectt ourr bbeliefs andd opinions on the relevantt subject. These statements are bbasedd upon information available to us

as off the date off this report, andd while we bbelieve such information forms a reasonable bbasff is forr sff uch statements, such information
may bbe limitedd orr incomplete, andd ourr statements shouldd nott bbe readd to indicate that we have conducted an exhaustive inquiry int ro, or
review of, all ppotentially available relevant information. Tff hese statements are inherently uuncertain and you are cautioned not to uunduly
rely upon t Given these uncertaihese statements. nties, you should not place undue reliance on these forward-looking statements.
Except as required by law, we assume no obligation to update or revise these forward-looking statements for any reason, even if new
inforff mation becomes availabla e in the futff urt e.
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SUMMARY OR F RISKS ASSOCIATED WITH OUR BUSINESS

An investment in shares of our common stock involves a high degree of risk. Below is a list of the more significant risks
associated with our business. This summary does not address all of the risks that we face. Additional discussion of the risks listed in
this summary, as well as other risks that we face, are set forth under Part I, Item 1A, “Risk Factors” in this Annual Rff eport. Some of
the material risks associated with our business include the following:

• We are a clinical-stage biopharmaceutical company and have incurred significant losses since our inception. We anticipate
that we will continue to incur signififf cant losses for the fff oreseeable future. We have never generated revenue frff om product
sales and may never be profitable.

• We have a limited operating history and only one current product candidate, nefe fff yff , which is in the clinical stage of
development and has no commercial sales, which may make it difficult to evaluate the prospects for our future viability. Weff
may need additional fundiff ng, and if we are unable to raise capia tal when needed, we could be forced to delay, reduce or
eliminate our product development activities or commercialization efforts. Raising additional capital may cause dilution to
our stockholders, restrict our operations or require us to relinquish rights to our technologies or product candidate.

• We currently depend on the success of nefe fff yff , which is our only current product candidate. If we are unable to obtain
regulatory approval forff , and successfulff ly commercialize, neffye , or experience significant delays in doing so, our business will
be materially harmed.

• If the FDA does not conclude that nefe fyff or any future product candidates satisfy the requirements for the Section 505(b)ff (2)
regulatory approval pathway, or if the requirements for such product candidates under Section 505(b)(2) are not as we expect,
the approval pathway for tff hose product candidates will likely take significantly longer, cost significantly more and entail
significantly greater complications and risks than anticipated, and in either case may not be successfulff .

• If we faff il to develop and commercialize nefe fyff for additional indications or fail to discover, develop and commercialize other
product candidates, we may be unable to grow our business and our ability to achieve our strategic objectives would be
impaired.

• Competitive products may reduce or eliminate the commercial opportunity for neffy for its current or future indications. If our
competitors develop technologies or product candidates more rapidly than us, or their technologies or product candidates are
more effective or safeff r than ours, our ability to develop and successfully commercialize nefe fyff may be adversely affeff cted.

• We are dependent on international third-party licensees and assignees for the development and commercialization of neffye in
several countries outside the United States. The failure of these third parties to meet their contractuat l, regulatory or other
obligations could adversely affect our business.

• We may seek to enter into additional collaborations, licenses and other similar arrangements fora neffye or any future product
candidate and may not be successful in doing so, and even if we are, we may relinquish valuable rights and may not realize
the benefiff ts of such relationships.

• We currently have limited marketing, sales or distribution infrastructure. If we are unable to fully develop our sales,ff
marketing and distribution capaa bia lity on our own or through collaborations with marketing partners, we may not be successful
in commercializing our product candidates.

• The market for nefe fff yff and any futff urt e product candidates we may develop may be smaller than we expect.

• Any of our current and future product candidates for which we, or any current or future licensing and collaboration partners,
obtain regulatory approval in the futff urt e will be subject to ongoing obligations and continued regulatory review, which may
result in significant additional expense. If approved, nefe fff yff and any future product candidates could be subject to post-
marketing restrictions or withdrawal from the market and we, or any current or future licensing and collaboration partners,
may be subject to substantial penalties if we, or they, fail to comply with regulatory requirements or if we, or they, experience
unanticipated problems with our products following approval.ff

• Even if nefe fff yff or any futff urt e product candidate of ours receives regulatory approval, it may fail to achieve the degree of market
acceptance by allergists, pediatricians and other physicians, patients, caregivers, third-party payors and others in the medical
community necessary for commercial success, in which case we may not generate significant revenues or become profitable.

• Our commercial success depends on our ability to obtain and maintain sufficient intellectual property protection for our
product candidates and other proprietary technologies.

• Our success is highly dependent on our ability to attract and retain highly skilled executive officers and employeesff .
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Item 1. Business.

As used in this Annual Report, unless the context indicates or otherwise requires, “ARS,” the “company,” “we,” “us,” “our,”
and other similar terms refer to ARS Pharmaceuticals, Inc., a Delaware corporation and its consolidated subsidiaries.

Overview

ComCC panm y Sn ummaryr

We are a biopharmaceutical company focused on the development of our novel, potentially first-in-class product candidate,
nefe fff yff ® (previously referred to as ARS-1) for the emergency treatment of Type I allergic reactions, including anaphylaxis. neffye is a
proprietary compositrr ion of epinephrine with an innovative absorption enhancer called Intravaila ®, which allows neffy to provide
injection-like absora ptir on of epinephrine at a low dose, in a small, easy-to-carry, easy-to-use, rapidly administered and reliable nasal
spray.

Type I severe allergic reactions are serious and potentially life-threatening events that can occur within minutes of exposure to
an allergen and require immediate treatment with epinephrine injection, the only FDA-approved medication for these reactions. While
epinephrine injection devices have been shown to be highly effective, there are well published limitations that result in many patients
and caregivers delaying or not administering treatment in an emergency situation. These limitations include fear of the needle, lack of
portabia lity, needle-related safety concerns, lack of reliability, and complexiff ty of the devices. Delay in treatment can allow the allergic
reaction to progress in severity leading to symptoms that seriously impact patient quality of life, to potential need for emergency
services and/or hospitalizations, and to life-threatening symptoms or events.

There are approximately 25 to 40 million people in the United States who experience Type I allergic reactions. Of this group,
appra oximately 16 million people have been diagnosed and experienced severe Type I allergic reactions that may lead to anaphylaxis,
but only 3.3 million currently have an active epinephrine autoinjector prescription, and of those, only half consistently carry their
prescribed autoinjector. Even if patients or caregivers carry an autoinjector, more than half either delay or do not administer the device
when needed in an emergency. In aggregate, we estimate that 90% of patients prescribed an epinephrine device are not achieving an
optimal treatment outcome today.

We believe neffye ’s “no needle, no injection” delivery that eliminates needle-related apprehension and injury concerns, with its
small pocket size, ease of use, and high reliability would, if approved, increase prescriptions for epinephrine and make it more likely
for paff tients and caregivers to administer epinephrine sooner, achieve more rapid symptom relief and prevent the allergic reaction from
progressing to a level of severity that could lead to hospitalization or even death. Data from our studies of nefe fff yff in more than 600
subjects demonstrated nasally delivered epinephrine reached blood levels comparable to those of already approved epinephrine
injectabla e products.

Our NDA was accepted for review by FDA in the fourth quarter of 2022 with an anticipated mid-2023 PDUFA target action
date, and if our NDA is approved, we believe nefe fff yff will be the first “no needle, no injection” marketed epinephrine product for the
emergency treatment of Type I allergic reactions. However, the timing for regulatory approvals is outside of our control and may be
delayed and is uncertain.
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EpiEE nii ephee rinii e and Allll ell rgir c Reactitt ons Background

Type I allergic reactions are potentially life-threatening hypersensitivity reactions that can occur within minutes of exposure to
an allergen and need to be treated immediately to relieve symptoms and prevent further progression. Initial symptoms significantly
impact patient quality of life and include difficulty breathing, bronchospasms, hypotension, presyncope, itching, hives, swelling of
eyes and lips, and abdoma inal pain and vomiting. If not treated immediately, more severe reactions known as anaphylaxis that involve
constriction of the airways, swelling of the throat, rapid heart rate, severe hypotension and other respiratory and cardiac symptoms can
develop and potentially present a medical and lifeff -threatening emergency. Immediate administration of epinephrine is currently the
only fiff rst-line treatment for Type I allergic reactions, including anaphylaxis. The only out-of-hospital delivery option today is an intra-
muscular injectable product, typicaa lly offff eff red as prefiff lled syringes or auto-injector devices, such as EpiPen®, which is marketed by
Viatris Inc., and generic versions of EpiPen, marketed by Teva Pharmaceuticals, Inc. These intra-muscular auto-injection devices have
several limitations that result in under-utilization by patients and may lead to serious complications and hospitalizations.

These limitations include:

• lack ease of portability with only 50% of patients filling prescriptions carrying the device;

• reluctance to use the device with approximately 25% to 50% of patients carrying the device refusing to administer;

• appra ehension stemming from the use of a needle that leads to approximately 40% to 60% of patients delaying administrationa
by up to 18 minutes even if they are carrying the device;

• a high rate of dosing errors, with meta-analyses reporting up to 35% of patients still failing to dose correctly even after
training; and

• safeff ty concerns including lacerations, caregiver self-injection and frequent potentially cardiotoxic blood vessel injections,
which occurred in approximately 14% of EpiPen subjects in our patient self-administration studies.

As a result, many of the approximately 25 to 40 million patients at risk of severe Type I allergic reactions do not receive or fill
prescriptions for intra-muscular injectables. Of 3.3 million patients that do fill their prescriptions, approximately half do not carry the
intra-muscular injectable products with them on a regular basis, while many of the other half delay or hesitate treatment during a
severe Type I allergic reaction. This may contribute to treatment postponement, prolonging troublesome symptoms, reducing quality
of life and increasing the risk of complications or even death. In aff ddition to the 3.3 million patients who currently fill their
prescriptions for an epinephrine injectable device, we estimate that approximately 2.5 million patients received a prescription in the
last 3 years, but either did not fill or renew it. We believe the advantages of nefe fff yff will be attractive to this group and lead to an increase
in the number of patients filling their prescription as further described below. These patients are additive to the 3.3 million patientsff
that do filff l a prescription per year.

Notwithstanding their widespread lack of use, we estimate that net sales of intra-muscular injectable products approved for
outpat tient use in the United States was approximately $1 billion in 2021 among the approximately 3.3 million patients who filled a
prescription.
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Our ApproachA

nefe fff yff TMTT is an iii nvestigational drug currently in clinical trials for the emergency trll eatment of allergic reactions (type I) including anaphylaxis. neffyTMTT

is not approved by the FDA, EMA or other health authorities.
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nefe fff yff is designed to address the shortcomings of intra-muscular injectable devices. neffy is a convenient “no needle, no
injection,” solution designed to be easier to carry, mrr ore reliable and easier to administer, without the aversion, safety concerns and
feff ar and pain of needles associated with intra-muscular injectables. Based on the factors set forth below, we believe that neffye can
transforff m the paradigm of epinephrine delivery from cumbersome, unreliable, intra-muscular injectable devices to an intranasal
delivery mrr ethod that makes patients more likely to administer epinephrine sooner, thus achieving more rapid symptom relief and
preventing symptoms from becoming serious or life-threatening.

• ComCC parm able Pll K anPP d PD tPP o intt jn ectitt on products. In our clinical trials, we observed that neffye has comparablea
pharmacokinetics (“PK”) and pharmacodynamics (“PD”) compared to marketed epinephrine injectables.

• NeNN edlell -f- rff ee, easy-to-use, pocket-sized and highly reliable nasal spray. nefe fff yff is easier to carry than approved intra-muscular
injectables because it is pocket-sized, increasing the likelihood that the device is available for use in an emergency. Our
registrational self-administration study (EPI-17) with 2.0 mg nefe fff yff demonstrated that adult patients had zero critical dosing
errors, and 100% of trained adults and trained children were able to dose successfully in two human factors validation study
with a total of 150 subjects.

• No rNN isii k of needlell -relatll ed injuriett s. neffy has no risk of needle-related injuries including injection into a blood vessel,
lacerations, or caregiver self-injection since the sprayer device does not have a needle.

• Less hesitii attt ion to dose epinephrine.tt Early administration of epinephrine can reduce the severity, risk of hospitalization and
mortality associated with severe Type I allergic reactions. In patient surveys we have conducted, patients indicated a relief
from fear of injection and an expectation to utilize neffye without delay in a manner more consistent with recommended
guidelines due to nefe fff yff being a nasal spray.

• Low potent dose of epitt nii ephee rinii e. Delivery of higher err xposures of epinephrine increases the risk of overexposure and
potential adverse events. nefe fff yff has high bioavailability matching the approved doses of injection at a low dose of 2.0 or 1.0
mg intranasally. Even in the unlikely situation where epinephrine would be 100% bioavailable after administration of neffy,
the resulting exposure is expected to be tolerable.

• InII creased stabitt lii ill tii y over existing treatment optionstt . nefe fff yff is expected to have a shelf-life at leasff t comparable to the 18 month
shelf-life of auto-injector products, but with improved stabia lity and shelf-life at high-temperature than existing products in
the market (up to 3 months at 50oC or 122oF) that allows nefe fff yff to retain potency even if accidentally left in a high
temperature environment.

• ComCC binii ation of previtt ously valill dated product comtt ponm entstt . neffy consists of a unique combination of three validated
products, which we believe will signififf cantly reduce nefe fff y’sff clinical and commercial development risks: epinephrine, which
has been approved by regulators and accepted by the physician community as the only effective option to treat Type Iff
allergic reactions; the intranasal device, which has been commercially proven with millions of sprayers sold to date across
four FDA-approved products, including NARCANAA ® for opioid overdose (marketed by Emergent BioSolutions); and
Intravail, an innovative absorption enhancer that has been previously included in the formulations of FDA approved
products, such as VALTOCO® and TOSYMRA® nasal spray. We believe the cost of goods for nefe fff yff will allow us to achieve
gross profit margins similar to branded oral small molecule drugs assuming prices comparable to the marketed injectabler
products.

• WeWW ll posll itii ioned ftt or regulatory submissions, and if approved, advance to commercialization.ff Our NDA was accepted for
review by FDA in the fourth quarter of 2022 with an anticipated mid-2023 PDUFA target action date and we believe that the
completed trials are sufficient to serve as the basis for its approval in the United States. In Europe, our Market Authorization
Application (“MAA”) was filed and validated for review by EMA in the fourth quarter of 2022.

• PotPP ett ntial ftt or high demff and and attractive product uptake conditions. We have conducted extensive market research with
physicians, patients, parents and other caregivers that shows neffye has a clinical product profile that is highly desirable and
addresses key unmet needs. We believe we can successfully commercialize neffye by targeting high-prescribing allergists,
pediatricians and primary crr are physicians who we believe will prescribe nefe fff yff as it would be a very attractive treatment
option within the patient community. In addition, our market research indicates that insurance plans (payors) perceive neffye
as a differentiated product candidate, which we believe supports the potential for favorable market access for neffye at net
prices comparabla e to, or at a premium to, the approved intra-muscular injectabla es. We currently own or exclusively license a
robust global intellectual property portfolio including issued composition of matter and method patents relating to neffye that
are not expected to expire until 2038 before consideration of any potential patent term extension.
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Our Management Team, Financing History and InvesTT torstt

We were created to innovate, develop and commercialize neffy, a novel, potentially first-in-class treatment that addresses Type I
allergy patients’ desire and need for a no neff edle, no injection, easy-to-use, portable and reliable solution for delivering epinephrine. To
achieve this goal, we have assembled a management team with extensive experience in the development and commercialization of
drugsr , such as recently approved nasal sprays NARCAN (naloxone nasal spray) and VALTOCO (diazepam nasal spray).

Our company was foundeff d by Richard Lowenthal, M.S., MSEL, Robert Bell, Ph.D. and Sarina Tanimoto, M.D., M.B.A. Pratik
Shah, Ph.D. was our first external investor.

Mr. Lowenthal, our Co-Founder and Chief Executive Officer, has more than 25 years of biotechnology and pharmaceutical
development experience including leading the regulatory approvals of VALTOCO (diazepam nasal spray) and NARCAN (naloxone
nasal spray). Dr. Bell, our Co-Founder and Chief Scientific Officer, has more than 25 years of product development experience
including leading R&D at Barr Laboratories, Somerset Pharmaceuticals and UDL Laboratories. Dr. Tanimoto, our Co-Founder and
Chief Medical Officer, has more than 20 years of pharmaceutical experience in clinical drug development including supporting the
appra oval of multiple nasal spray products such as VALTOCO and NARCAN. Dr. Shah, our Chairman, has more than 30 years of
experience foundiff ng and leading biopharmaceutical companies and healthcare investment decisions including his role as Executive
Chairman of Design Therapea utics, former Chairman of Synthorx (now part of Sanofi) and former Chief Executive Officer of Auspex
Pharmaceuticals (now part of Teva Pharmaceuticals).

Our commercial team is led by Eric Karas, Chief Commercial Officer, who has more than 25 years of sales, marketing, marketff
access and strategic planning experience across multiple specialty products, including leading commercial initiatives for NARCAN®

nasal spray at Emergent BioSolutions and Adapt Pharmaceutical (now part of Emergent BioSolutions). Harris Kaplan, Executive Vice
President, Commercial Strategy has been involved in the development and launch of 125 new products totaling more than $300 billion
in peak revenues, and Dan Relovsky, Senior Vice President of Marketing, has extensive and relevant launch experience across a
number of therapeutic categories.

The other key members of the ARS team bring extensive finance, business development and commercial operations experience
and include Kathleen Scott, Chief Financial Officer; Justin Chakma, Chief Business Officer; Brian Dorsey, Chief Operating Officer
and Alex Fitzpatrick, Chief Legal Officer.

Since our inception, we have raised over $360 million in proceeds, including equity fiff nancing from a syndicate of leading life
sciences investors that include, among others, RA CRR apital, SR One and Deerfield, from our licensing and collaboration agra eements
and from our reverse merger with Silverback Therapeutics, Inc. We have entered into licensing and collaboration agreements for neffye
with Alfresa Pharma for Japanese rights, and Pediatrix Therapeutics (founded by F-Prime Capital, Eight Roads and Creacion
Venturt es) for Cff hinese rights. We previously entered into a licensing and collaboration agreement with Recordati for development and
commercialization rights in the European Union (“EU”), Iceland, Liechtenstein, Norway, Switzerland, the United Kingdom,
RusRR sia/CIS, Turkey, the Middle East and French-speaking African countries. In the first quarter of 2023, we entered into an agreement
with Recordati to terminate our prior agreement with it and reacquire Recordati’s rights to develop and commercialize neffye .

Our Pipeline: Suite of nefe fff yff Programs

We are focused on advancing neffe yff through regulatory approvals for the emergency treatment of Type I allergic reactions,
including anaphyla axis, and commercialization. nefe fff yff is an intranasal composition of epinephrine that is designed to address the
limitations of epinephrine intra-muscular injectable products that are availabla e on the market today.

We submitted our NDA for the 2.0 mg nefe fff yff dose for adults and children grff eater than 30 kg in weight to the FDA in the third
quarter of 2022. Our NDA was accepted for review by FDA in the fourth quarter of 2022 with an anticipated mid-2023 PDUFA target
action date. In the EU, our MAA for the 2.0 mg neffy dose for subjects greater than 30 kg in weight was filed and validated for review
by EMA in the fourff th quarter of 2022. We have also entered into partnerships for the development and commercialization of neffye in
regions outside of the U.S., including our partnerships with Alfresa Pharma in Japaa n and Pediatrix Therapeutics in China to develop
and commercialize neffy in those countries.

Furthermore, we also plan to pursue additional expansion in our pediatric labeling with nefe fff yff and are conducting a single-arm
pharmacokinetic study in subjects 4 to 18 years of age. The interim pediatric data including subjects greater than 30 kg in weight is
included in our initial NDA. We plan to submit a supplemental NDA (“sNDA”) for nefe fff yff for children weighing 15 to 30 kilograms to
the FDA in 2023. We also plan to submit a post-approval variation to EMA for 1.0 mg nefe fff yff following the potential approval of our
MAA for the 2.0 mg nefe fff yff dose.

In addition, we believe nefe fff yff may be able to target other conditions in addition to Type I allergic reactions, and we have
identified additional indications for further examination and potential future development.
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Our Strategy

Our strategy is focused on developing and commercializing nefe fff yff as a potentially first-in-class approved intranasal treatment for
the approximately 16 million patients in the United States wa ho have been diagnosed and experienced severe Type I allergic reactions
and are at risk of anaphyla axis, in geographia c regions outside of the United States and for other allergy indications. Key elements of our
strategy include:

• Obtaitt n Fii DFF A apprDD oval of nefe fff yff . Our NDA was accepted for review by FDA in the fourth quarter of 2022 with an anticipated
mid-2023 PDUFA target action date. If approved within our expected timeframe, nefe fff yff would be the first FDA-approved
emergency treatment for Type I allergic reactions that is not an injection and that has no needle, which we believe would be
an attractive treatment option for these patients. nefe fff yff has received Fast Track designation. However, the timing for
regulatory approvals is outside ARS Pharma’s control, may be delayed and is uncertain.

• ComCC mercialize neffy in the United Statett s. If nefe fff yff is approved by the FDA, we plan to initially commercialize it in the
United States by deploying a combination of direct promotion, virtual sales consultants, and non-personal promotion
intended to reach, at a minimum, the healthcare profeff ssionals that account for 45% of the current epinephrine prescriptions.
Our promotion will target high-prescribing allergists, pediatricians and primary care physicians through both traditional and
non-traditional professional channels. Through these efforts, combined with direct-to-consumer omnichannel strategies to
drive awareness and patients asking for neffy, we believe we can quickly and efficiently reach a majority of the
approximately 3.3 million patients in the United States who filled a prescription for an epinephrine intra-muscular injectable
device in 2021. In addition, we believe that the potential for nefe fyff to address the limitations of auto-injectors will allow us to
expand the market opportunity forff nefe fff yff over time to include the broader population of approximately 2.5 million patients
who have received a prescription, but either refused or discontinued treatment in the last three years, as well as the
approximately 11 million patients who are diagnosed and under the care of physicians, but have not been prescribed an
epinephrine intra-muscular injectabla e.

• ComCC mercialize neffy outstt ide of thtt e UnUU ited States with our parii tntt ers. We believe that there is significant commercial
potential for nefe fff yff in markets outside of the United States. In Europe, our MAA was filed and validated for review by EMA
in the fourth quarter of 2022. We intend to submit regulatory filings equivalent to an NDA in Japan and China in
collaboration with Alfresa Pharma and Pediatrix Therapeutics, respectively, to whom we have granted exclusive licenses in
those regions for the development and commercialization of nefe fff yff .

• ConCC duct additional studies of nefe fff y to addresff s additional TyTT pe I alleyy rgic reactions. There remains a significant unmet need
for treatments for allergies that can produce Type I reactions. We are conducting clinical studies to support the expansion of
labeling for nefe fff yff to outpat tient epinephrine use in other Type I allergy conditions for which epinephrine intra-muscular
injectables are not approved.
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Overview of Type I Allergic Reactions and Current Challenges

Overview of Type I Allergic Reactitt ons

The immune system plays an important role in monitoring and protecting the body against microbial threats. However, this
system can lead to overstated immune and inflff ammatory responses that results in adverse outcomes known as hypersensitivity
reactions. Type I allergic reactions are potentially life-threatening hypersensitivity reactff ions that can occur within minutes following
exposure to an allergen and need to be treated immediately to relieve troublesome symptoms, mitigate severity and avoid a potentially
faff tal event. These severe reactions are caused by exposure to a specific allergen, typically foods (most commonly, nuts, eggs,
shellfiff sh), drugs ar nd venoms and are mediated by immunoglobulin E IgE antibodies that bind to mast cells causing the release of
histamines. The histamines induce smooth muscle contraction in the airways and a wheal and flare response in the skin producing
swelling and inflff ammation. At the same time, widespread activation of mast cells leads to systemic effects of circulatory shock,ff
hypotension or vascular collapsa e, and in the most severe cases respiratory arrest and death. The severity of a Type I allergic reaction is
a function of the speed of onset and the number of organ systems affectff ed by the reaction. As such, early intervention within minutes
is critical in order to provide symptom relief and to prevent severe allergic reactions, known as anaphylaxis.
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Tabla e 1: Symptoms of Type I Allergic Reactions including Anaphylaxis

Body System Common Symptoms of Type I Allergic Reactions
Respiratoryrr Chest tightness, wheezing, difficulty breathing

Upper airway or laryngeal angioedema including swelling of throat

Cardiovascular Hypotension, presyncope (feeling faint), loss of consciousness

Dermatological Urticaria (hives) and pruritus (itching)

Gastrointestinal Abdominal pain and vomiting

* Reprinted with permission from Dr. Peii te Smith (Medical Media Kits) and Mary Johnson

Role of Epinephrine ill n Tii rTT eating Type I Allergic Reactitt ons

Epinephrine intra-muscular injectabla es are the only current out-of-hospital treatment for severe Type I allergic reactions and are
recommended to be prescribed to all patients who have experienced a severe Type I allergic reaction and have either experienced
anaphyla axis or are at risk of anaphylaxis. When properly used, these devices can allow for the early administration of epinephrine to
stop or reduce the intensity of the systemic allergic reaction before refractory anaphylaxis develops. Even a few minutes delay in the
administration of epinephrine can lead to the need for emergency services and/or hospitalizations, comorbir dities and life-threatening
symptoms or events, while also prolonging the significant negative impact on patient quality of life by delaying symptom relief.

EpiPen epinephrine autoinjector was first approved by the FDA for the emergency treatment of Type I hypersensitivity
reactions, including anaphylaxis, in December 1987. Other FDA-approved epinephrine intra-muscular injection products include
Twinject® appra oved in May 2003, Adrenaclick® appra oved in November 2009, and Auvi-Q® approved in Augusa t 2012. In June 2017,
the FDA appra oved Symjm epi™ epinephrine injection, which is a pre-filled syringe for the same indication. These injection devices were
appra oved by the FDA without pharmacokinetic data based on an assumption that injections and devices were all effectively the same
as the reference listed drug of intra-muscular injection with a needle and syringe. Intra-muscular injection with a needle and syringe is
considered the gold standard, and is almost exclusively used in non-community use clinical settings. Although there are no known
diffff eff rences in effff iff cacy or time to observed effff eff ct in clinical practice between these devices, current data indicates that different devices
deliver an intra-muscular dose of epinephrine with a range of PKs. A single dose with either an intra-muscular injection with needle
and syringe or an auto-injector device results in resolution of allergic reaction for approximately 90% of cases within 5 to 15 minutes.

Epinephrine works due to its agonistic effects on the body’s adrenergic receptors (alpha and beta receptors). By activating
alpha-1 receptors, epinephrine prevents and relieves airway edema, hypotension and shock. By activating beta-1 receptors,
epinephrine increases the rate and forff ce of cardiac contractions. Lastly, epinephrine’s effect on beta-2 receptors leads to
bronchodilation and decreased allergy causing mediator release by mast cells.
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Treatment guidelines recommend that epinephrine be administered immediately at the first sign of a severe allergic reaction.
Epinephrine is the only medication that can reverse severe allergic reactions and reduce hospitalization and death. Early administration
of epinephrine is associated with better outcomes and decreased likelihood of hospitalizations. The sooner epinephrine is administered
folff lowing allergen exposure, the less severe the systemic allergic reaction may become, and the less likely it will develop into an
anaphyla axis event. A short delay of even a feff w minutes in the recognition and treatment of anaphylaxis can lead to more serious
symptoms, including potential hypoxia or death. Additionally, accompanying symptoms of even non-life-threatening allergic reactions
can adversely impact health-related quality of life and can lead to loss of productivity, negatively impact social life, as well as lead to
depression and anxiety and feelings of fear, frustration, worry and lack of control. A second dose of epinephrine is required for
adequate treatment in about 10% of cases, irrespective of whether epinephrine was dosed using an auto-injector such as EpiPen or
needle and syringe.

While antihistamines such as diphenhydramine, also known as Benadryl® (marketed by Johnson & Johnson), can sometimes
relieve the dermatological symptoms and pruritus associated with severe Type I allergic reactions, treatment guidelines state that
antihistamines should never be administered instead of epinephrine because they do not reverse the cardiovascular symptoms such as
hypotension and shock, or respiratory distress. Instead, antihistamines can potentially mask symptoms and allow the disease to
continue to progress silently.

In the United States, dosing recommendations for epinephrine use by intra-muscular injection are from 0.1 mg to 0.5 mg
depending on weight with repeat dosing administered as needed to control a severe allergic reaction. 0.1 mg, 0.15 mg and 0.3 mg are
the approved doses fa or the eff pinephrine auto-injectors. Approximately 80% of epinephrine auto-injectors prescribed in the United
States for outpatient use are the 0.3 mg dose level for persons greater than 30 kg in weight, approximately 15% contaa in doses of 0.15
mg for peff rsons between 15 to 30 kg and less than 5% contain 0.1 mg doses for persons less than 15 kg. A low dose of epinephrine is
important for sff afety as overexposure to epinephrine can lead to adverse events.
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Limii itattt itt ons of ExiEE sii ting Epinephrine Productstt

* Reprinted from Rff ECAPEM (image described in the public-domain and freely available).

Epinephrine intra-muscular injectabla es have been proven to be highly effective if they are administered timely and effectively,
and work as intended, but the limitations of these products include painful aff ppla ication, inconvenient size and a complicated
mechanism of administration. These limitations discourage patients and caregivers from carrying these devices and administering
epinephrine in a timely manner. Both uptake and use of intra-muscular injection devices has been limited among eligible patients with
severe Type I allergic reactions at risk of anaphyla axis. Of the approximately 16 million people in the United States who have been
diagnosed and experienced Type I severe allergic reactions, only 3.3 million currently have an active and filled epinephrine
autoinjector prescription.

In studit es published in peer-reviewed journals, only 23% to 48% of patients self-administered with an auto-injector during a
severe Type I allergic reaction, likely due to less than half of patients actually carrying their prescribed injection device, and only half
administering even if the device was available. Across our market research studies, approximately 40% to 60% of patients reported
using an antihistamine first, which is not known to be effective, and if carrying an intra-muscular injectable, waited an average of 8 toff
18 minutes to administer the device. The principal device-related reasons for delay were presence of a needle, concern about serious
cardiac side effff eff cts, and potential pain. Patients, and particularly parents who administer to their child, perceive injection to be
traumatic, which leads to a fear and avoidance of administering timely treatment. Further, the potentially life-threatening nature of a
severe Type I allergic reaction is often accompanied with psychological stress and panic which can lead to delays or errors in proper
intra-muscular injection, which can result in hospitalization or even death. In a meta-analysis of 32 studies evaluating epinephrine
injectabla e administration techniques, 23% to 35% of participants failed to achieve the correct administration technique following
training.

Further, there is variabia lity in respect to whether auto-injector devices are abla e to reliably deliver a sufficient dose of
epinephrine. The FDA has reported that EpiPen device failures lead to multiple deaths and dozens of hospitalizations annually.

The injection needle can be painful and dangerous not just due to the risk of skin lacerations and the possibility of the needle
hitting a patient’s bone during administration, but also the risk of serious, sudden cardiovascular events resulting from accidental
blood vessel injection. In our clinical studies, we observed instances of potential accidental blood vessel injection in approximately
14% of patients dosing themselves with EpiPen.

In comparison, neffy is perceived by patients and parents as a potentially “game changing” device that, if approved, could
improve the management of severe Type I allergic reactions by addressing the current limitations of epinephrine intra-muscular
injectabla e devices.
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Clinical Development of neffff yff

nefe fff yff is designed to provide injection-like absorption of epinephrine at a 1.0 or 2.0 mg dose comparable to 0.3 mg injection, in a
small, easy-to-carry, easy-to-use, rapidly administered and reliable nasal spray. Based on our development work to date, we believe
nefe fff yff ’s “no needle, no injection” clinical profile supports differentiation over intra-muscular injections for the emergency treatment of
Type I allergic reactions, including anaphylaxis.

We submitted our NDA to the FDA in the third quarter of 2022 based on a rigorous clinical development program agreed upon
during pre-NDA meeting discussion with the FDA in mid-2021. Our NDA was accepted for review by FDA in the fourth quarter of
2022 with an anticipated mid-2023 PDUFA target action date. The FDA reference listed drug is intra-muscular needle-in-syringe
injection products but there are several approved epinephrine intra-muscular injection products, including intra-muscular auto-
injectors such as EpiPen, that establa ish a range of exposures that have indistinguishable efficacy, time to observed clinical eff ffect and
safeff ty.

During our pre-NDA meeting in mid-2021, FDA agreed that bracketing based on the primary parameters of Cmax, tmax and early
partial AUCs frff om the range of PKs observed in listed epinephrine injection products was the best approach to ensure efficacy and
safeff ty, while bracketing by AUC0-t was considered an important parameter to ensure safety. PD measures of epinephrine activity such
as systolic blood pressure and pulse rate were agreed to be supportive, and to be not meaningfully lower than injection. FDA also
agreed that successfulff ly demonstrating that neffy met these criteria in three primary studit es described below would be sufficient to
serve as a basis for our registration program for adults. Furthermore, FDA also agreed that a single study in pediatric subjects also
described below would be suffff iff cient to support our pediatric labeling.

We have completed three registrational clinical trials in adults using our 2.0 neffye dose for which we submitted our NDA to the
FDA in the third quarter of 2022. The adult registrational program using the 2.0 mg neffy was intended to generate bioavailability, PDs
and safeff ty data in three primary srr tudit es: (i) during single and repeat dosing in healthy subjects (EPI-15), (ii) during self-administration
by subjects with severe Type I allergies (EPI-17), and (iii) during rhinitis induced by a nasal challenge with an allergen (EPI-16). EPI-
15 was conducted in the United States on behalf of ARS Pharma by WCCT Global, Inc., a third-party contract research organization,
and selected for 59 healthy male or female volunteers between the ages of 18 to 55 years. EPI-16 was conducted in the United States
on behalf of ARS Pharma by Altasciences Clinical Los Angeles, Inc., a third-party contract research organization, and selected 36
male or female volunteers between the ages of 18 to 55 years with a positive history of seasonal allergic rhinitis related to tree or grass
allergens as demonstrated by skin prick test and nasal allergen challenge at screening. EPI-17 was conducted in the United States on
behalf of ARS Pharma by Novum Pharmaceutical Research Services, a third party contract research organization, and selected 45
male or female volunteers between the ages of 18 to 55 years who had an ongoing history of Type I allergies. To support our proposed
pediatric labeling, we are also conducting a single-arm pharmacokinetic study in subjects 4 to 18 years of age with either 1.0 mg or 2.0
mg of neffe yff depending on the subject’s weight (EPI-10). EPI-10 is being conducted in the United States by ARS Pharma and selected
42 male or female subjff ects between the ages of 4 and 18 years who have Type I allergies that required that the subject or caregiver
been prescribed an epinephrine product. The interim results of this study from 57 subjects including 16 subjects dosed with 2.0 mg
nefe fff yff were included in our initial NDA that was accepted for review by FDA in the fourth quarter of 2022.

In addition, we have completed two proof of concept clinical studies that evaluated the bioavailability of our 2.0 mg neffy dose.
These two earlier-stage studies were conducted in the United States on behalf of ARS Pharma by WCCT Global, Inc. and Altasciences
Clinical Los Angeles, Inc, respectively, and selected a total of 26 healthy male or female volunteers between the ages of 18 to 55
years, and 42 male or female volunteers between the ages of 18 to 55 years who had an ongoing history of type I allergies.rr
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2.0 mg neffe yff is intended to be the dose that is comparable to approved 0.3 mg epinephrine intra-muscular injectia on products forff
persons greater than 30 kg in weight, which represents approximately 80% of the prescriptions in the United States. 1.0 mg neffye is
intended to be the dose for persons 15 to 30 kg in weight. Our NDA for the 2.0 mg dose offf nefe fff yff for adults and children 30 kg and
greater in weight was accepted for rff eview by FDA in the fourth quarter of 2022 with an anticipated mid-2023 PDUFA target action
date. We plan to submit a supplemental NDA for tff he 1.0 mg dose of nefe fff yff in 2023 for subjects 15 to 30 kg in weight.

In our clinical studit es in both adults and children, 2.0 mg nefe fff yff gave comparable epinephrine exposures that were within the
range of approved intra-muscular injection products (needle-in-syringe products and EpiPen) on key pharmacokinetic parameters
(Cmax, tmax, early partial AUCs, AUC0-t). The integrated data analysis summarizing the key outcomes for registration are shown below.

The hemodynamic response, measured by systolic blood pressure and heart rate, after administration of nefe fyff was comparable to
some injection products including EpiPen, and was greater than 0.3 mg intra-muscular needle-with-syringe. These hemodynamic
responses were within normal physiologic ranges that are typically experienced during exercise or climbing stairs.

Across all the clinical trials, a total of more than 600 subjects have been exposed to nefe fff yff . All doses of neffy ranging from 0.5
mg to 2.0 mg single doses, as well as repeat doses up to 4 mg within 10 minutes, were well-tolerated by patients. There is no
meaningful pain upon administration offf neffe yff with average scores of 5 to 8 as assessed on a 100 mm visual analogue scale, across
studit es. There was no irritation observed based on formal scoring in all studies. Therff e were no serious treatment-related adverse
events, and adverse events reported have generally not resulted in side effeff cts more severe than grade 1, and were comparable to
injection products. Since nefe fff yff is given without needle, there was also no needle-related injuries or accidental blood vessel injections.

In contrast, for patients self-administering devices, which involved 132 subjects dosed fff or each of EpiPen and Symjepi,ff
appra oximately 14% of subjects dosed with EpiPen (auto-injector) and 2% of subjects dosed with Symjepi (pre-filled needle-in-
syringe) experienced a potential blood vessel injection leading to a rapid bolus dose of epinephrine, which could lead to serious side
effff eff cts including cardiovascular events and cerebral hemorrhage according to the FDA EpiPen label. No subjects dosed with neffye
experienced a blood vessel injection since it is not possible via the nasal route of administration.

Furthermore, our registrational self-administration study of 2.0 mgt nefe fyff by adults with severe Type I allergies (EPI-17) showed
no critical dosing errors with neffe yff as evaluated by human factors professionals. Furthermore, nefe fff yff also showed zero dosing errors in
two human faff ctor validation studies involving 150 subjects when used by trained adults or trained children across multiple
demographic groups, as well as when used by passers-byera s with no prior experience or training with an epinephrine device.
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Key feff aturt es of neffy demonstrated in our clinical, human factors or stability studies include:

Clinical Feature Supporting Clinical Data
Comparable PKs aa t a low dose of
epinephrine

Cmax, tmax and AUCs were within the range of approved intra-muscular injection products
with a low intranasal dose of 2.0 mg neffy (people >30 kg in weight) and 1.0 mg neffyff
(people 15 – 30 kg weight).

Robust PDs within a range comparable to
injection products with no risk of
accidental blood vessel injections

PD responses including systolic blood pressure and heart rate were within normal
physiologic changes and comparable to auto-injector products, with maximum changes
less that of the EpiPen.

nefe fff yff has no potential for the accidental blood vessel injections observed with injection
products such as EpiPen, which can lead to rapid and high epinephrine exposures that
cause rapid increases in systolic blood pressure and can lead to cerebral hemorrhage ora
other cardiovascular side effeff cts.

No meaningful pain or irritation afterff
administration

Visual analogue scale scores were an average of 5 to 8 on a 100 mm scale, and show no
meaningful pain (or burning or stinging sensation) after administration, attributable to
nefe fff yff being an aqueous formulation. There is also no irritation observed based on formal
scoring.

Needle containing intra-muscular injection products are known to be painful and cause
reluctance to dose.

Easy to use No critical dosing errors during self-administration with 2.0 mg neffy by type I allergy
adult subjects (EPI-17).

Zero percent error rate in two human factors studies with 150 persons, when used by
trained adults or trained children and when used by untrained passers-byers.

Easy to carry nefe fff yff is comparable in size to a wireless earbud case, and multiple neffye devices can fit in a
patient or parent’s pocket to satisfy guiff deline recommendations.

High reliability nefe fff yff ’s sprayer device is designed to deliver the effective dose more than 99.999% of theff
time, with no recalls or warnings among the millions of the same nasal sprayer devices
sold to date.

No breathing or inhalation required nefe fff yff is designed to be absorbed passively through the nasal mucosa without any
inhalation, sniffing or breathing required, with its particles too large to enter the lungs.

Injection-like absorption even with nasal
congestion

nefe fff yff reaches exposures comparable to approved injectable products even after ia nduction
of moderate to severe nasal rhinitis and/or edema (e.g., nasal congestion)

Shelf-ff life at least comparable to injectionff
products, but also with high temperaturt e
stabia lity

Drug sr tabia lity studies show that neffy has a shelf-life at least comparabla e to the 18 month
shelf-ff life of Eff piPen, but with high temperature stability, based on stability data from the
2.0 mg dose of neffye for 12 months and the 1.0 mg dose of nefe fff yff for 24 months.

nefe fff yff remains within specifications even when exposed to temperatures of 50oC (122oF)
for aff t least three months, or temperatures of 40t oC (104oF) for at least six months.

PlPP anll ned ClCC inicll al TrTT ials ill n Aii dditii ional Indicationstt

Epinephrine has been used empirically by physicians and included in treatment guidelines for multiple allergy conditions that do
not faff ll under the emergency treatment of Type I allergic reactions indication that epinephrine auto-injectors are labelled for. The
needle-free, portable, easy-to-use and potentially safer clinical profile of nefe fff yff supported by pharmacokinetic and pharmacodynamic
data could enabla e the broader adoption of epinephrine in the outpatient setting for these other indications. We are conducting proof offf
concept studies evaluating nefe fff yff in additional allergy indications where nefe fyff could potentially be used multiple times a year to treat
acute episodes.
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Development outside the United States

In Europe, our MAA was filed and validated for review by EMA in the fourth quarter of 2022.In the Day 120 commentff s, we
received during EMA’s review of our prior 1.0 mg dose neffy MAA submission, EMA required a preclinical dog anaphylaxis study,
which we completed with data showing no meaningful differences in epinephrine absorption of neffy in dogs in a normal state or an
anaphyla actic state. In April 2022, we voluntarily withdrew our 1.0 mg nefe fyff MAA submission to re-submit a 2.0 mg neffye MAA
submission and allow EMA to review both our 2.0 mg neffye and preclinical dog anaphylaxis study results.

We are also pursuing pediatric approval of neffe yff in Europe based on the same US pediatric study. We plan to submit a post-
appra oval variation to EMA for the 1.0 mg nefe fff yff follff owing the potential approval of the 2.0 mg nefe fff yff dose.

Our partners in Japaa n and China expect that they will fiff le for regulatory approval in their respective regions at end of 2023 or
early 2024 following our anticipated FDA appra oval of nefe fyff .

Commercialization Opportunity and Commercialization Plan

Type I Allergy Market Overview

nefe fff yff is a needle-frff ee, low-dose intranasal epinephrine nasal spray in clinical development for use as a rescue medication for
people with Type I severe allergic reactions including anaphylaxis. neffye was designed to provide injection-like absorption of
epinephrine, in a small, easy-to-carry, easy-to-use, rapidly administered, and reliable nasal spray device.

All systemic allergic reactions have the potential of progressing to anaphylaxis and becoming life-threatening. These reactions
can be unpredictable and progress quickly to develop severe symptoms within a few minutes after exposure and can progress to a life-
threatening event if not treated immediately. Patient and caregiver preparedness to act quickly and confidently during a severe allergic
reaction is imperative. Hesitation can lead to worse clinical outcomes and can be faff tal.

Epinephrine is the first-line treatment for tff he emergency treatment of Type I allergic reactions including anaphylaxis.
Epinephrine needs to be given as soon as symptoms occur because it is the only medication proven to stop a potentially life-
threatening allergic reaction.

Needle-frff ee and easy-to-use neffe yff may allow for imprff oved patient and caregiver preparedness to give epinephrine quickly,
confiff dently, and without hesitation that is caused by feff ar of the needle. Intended for use aff t the first signs of an allergic response, neffy
is designed to provide patients and their families with a new option to rapidly resolve symptoms and prevent progression to severe
anaphyla axis.

If appra oved for usff e, we believe our first-in-class nasal spray may transform the way we think about and use life-saving
epinephrine.

ExiEE sii titt nii g US MUU arMM kerr t OpporOO tunity

We estimate approximately 25 to 40 million people in the United States have experienced Type I allergic reactions. Of this
group, appra oximately 16 million people have been diagnosed and experienced severe Type I allergic reactions that may lead to
anaphyla axis, but only about 3.3 million of them filled a prescription in 2021 for an epinephrine intra-muscular injectable device,
including auto-injectors, equating to approximately 10 million devices.

Of those 3.3 million people, roughly half don’t carry these devices due to many drawbacks that can result in patient and
caregiver injury, herr sitation, and delays in administration principally because of apprehension and pain of needles. In turn, the failure
or delay of epinephrine delivery can allow the allergic reaction to progress in severity causing life-threatening symptoms or events that
potentially require emergency services and/or hospitalization.

We believe neffye could address the needs of not only the approximately 3.3 millioa n patients in the United States who currently
fiff ll intra-muscular injectable prescriptions, but also the more than 22 million eligible Type I allergy patients in the United States who
are at risk of severe allergic reactions that are not prescribed or do not fill their epinephrine prescriptions, including approximately 2.5
million forff mer injectabla e patients in the United States in the last three years that either refused to fill, or did not renew an
intramuscular injectable device prescription.

Based on market access research and data frff om IQVIA, we estimate that 2021 U.S. net sales for intra-muscular injectable
devices were approximately $1 billion. Approximately 80% of the epinephrine intra-muscular injectables sold in the United States in
2021 were for tff he 0.3 mg dose for adults and children greater than 30 kg in weight.
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We have conducted multiple market research studies with caregivers, generally parents, and patients with severe Type I allergic
reactions in the United States to evaluate potential market perceptions of nefe fff yff and currently availabla e epinephrine delivery devices.
Based on two independent quantitative market research studies including a total of 350 patients and 75 allergists, pediatricians and
primary care physicians, approximately 80% of patients with a current epinephrine arr uto-injector prescription stated that they would
prefeff r neffy. Furthermore, 100% of the physicians surveyed stated they would prescribe if their patient asked for neffy, indicating that
nefe fff yff prescriptions would likely be highly driven by patient preference and awareness of neffy.

In our market research, parents and people with current or prior epinephrine auto-injector prescriptions were asked if and when
they would adopt a new nasal spray device product such as nefe fff yff .

• A majority indicated they would adopt neffe yff within three months of it coming to market,

• 69% of patients indicated they would use neffy sooner than their current auto-injector device,

• 65 to 72% of patients indicated that they would use nefe fff yff first instead of an over-the-counter antihistamine

• 88% reported they would be more willing to use nefe fff yff in public.

These data suggest that neffe yff has the potential to be rapidly adopted by most of the approximately 3.3 million patients in the
United States today who fiff ll their epinephrine auto-injector prescription, if approved. These patients serve as our base estimate for the
current epinephrine market forff nefe fff yff .

Key potential growth levers for neffe yff within the existing epinephrine market for the emergency treatment of Type I allergic
reactions, which currently consists of only intra-muscular injectable products include:

• Consistent base market growth observed with the epinephrine intra-muscular injectable products. From 2007 to 2021,
the number of epinephrine intra-muscular injectable devices sold in the United States has increased by approximately 5%
annually based on IQVIA unit sales data, primarily due to the increasing size of the overall population affected by severe
Type I allergies, led by food-ff based allergies.

• Potential promotional lift due to new marketing and education efforts by a branded product such asff neffy. The
existing market for epinephrine intra-muscular injectable products is characterized by being highly promotionally sensitive,
particularly from a consumer perspective, and our market research has indicated that neffye ’s user-friendly product profile has
the potential to resonate significantly with consumers. We estimate that branded marketing of EpiPen prior to generic entry
contributed a promotional lift of 31% over base epinephrine intra-muscular injectable market trends. We plan to reach and
support patients directly through efficient direct-to-consumer advertising after educating professional physician practices and
securing appropriate payer coverage for neffye .

• Targeting the approximately 2.5 million former patients that either do not fill their epinephrine intra-muscular
injectables prescriptions or whose prescriptions have recently lapsed. The exodus of patients who have received
prescriptions frff om the market has been attributed to a number of faff ctors, including reduced promotional activities in recent
years, limited adherence program effff eff ctiveness (lapsed prescriptions) and patient adversity to currently marketed products
(i.e., fear of needles and concerns regarding poor reliabia lity). In our market research of 100 former patients who refused to
fill or renew a prescription, approximately 75% indicated a willingness to return to the market and request neffye if approved.
We hope to engage with these patients through programs to encourage appropriate epinephrine use with neffye and increase
consistency of epinephrine acquisition to help manage their condition.

• Increased per patient device acquisition by patients and parents. In our market research of 350 patients with an active
intra-muscular injectable prescription, approximately 70% to 80% of patients reported an intention to acquire additional
devices compared to their current injectable device if neffy is approved by the FDA. Currently, we estimate only between
20% to 30% of patients currently obtain more than one pack (containing two devices) per year today.
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US MUU arket Expansion OMM pporOO tunity

While we believe the existing epinephrine intra-muscular injectables market is a large commercial opportunity forff neffye with
multiple independent opportunities for further growth, IQVIA claims data indicates that many diagnosed, identififf abla e eligible patients
do not receive prescriptions for intra-muscular injectables. Outside of the five million patients who were recently prescribed an
epinephrine injectable device, there are appra oximately 11 million patients who are under the care of physicians per IQVIA claims
data, but have not been prescribed an epinephrine intra-muscular injectable device, as well as another approximately 9 million patients
not currently under the care of physicians.

• Over time, targeting the approximately 11 million identified and diagnosed in-office patients in IQVIA claims data
with Type I allergic reactions that are eligible but have not been prescribed epinephrine device. In our market research,
physicians indicated they would prescribe nefe fff yff to more than half of the patients who were eligible, but do not currently
receive an intra-muscular injectable prescription.

• Development in new allergy indications. There are approximately 10 million patients with allergy conditions (e.g., urticaria
flares and asthma exacerbations) where epinephrine has never been formally developed as a prescription product, despite
being used in-hospital to resolve such acute symptoms. Such patients in other conditions experience multiple episodes each
year, and we believe they would likely use multiple neffye each year to resolve their symptoms. Therefore, the market
opportunit ty for treating such conditions may be as large as the type I allergy including anaphylaxis indication.

We are conducting a randomized, placebo-controlled proof of concept study evaluating the safety and effiff cacy of neffye in
approximately 24 subjects with frequent urticaria flares. We expect to complete enrollment and report topline data from this
study it n the second half of 2023.

Ex-EE US MUU arket OMM pportunityOO

• Outside of the United States, we estimate that there are an additional 15 million patients in Europe, and over 30 million
patients in Asia including China and Japan, that experience Type I allergic reactions that are clinically appropriate for being
prescribed neffy.

• In 2021, epinephrine intra-muscular injectable sales outside the United States were approximately $250 million based on
IQVIA data. In Europe and Japan, sales of epinephrine injectable devices are approximately $160 million. We believe
education around Type I allergic reactions and marketing of intra-muscular injectables has been limited in these regions, and
that promotion and the availability of nefe fff yff would significantly expand the market.

• Market research conducted in Europe with 120 patients who have an epinephrine auto-injector prescription indicated that
98% would prefeff r neffe yff , and that they would acquire approximately twice as manya neffy devices compared to their current
injectabla e device, if approved.

• To target these opportunit ties outside of the United States, we have entered into licensing and collaboration agreements with
Alfresa Pharma for Japanese rights to nefe fyff and Pediatrix Therapeutics (founded by F-Prime Capital, Eight Roads and
Creacion Ventures) for Chinese rights to neffy. We intend to pursue strategic partnerships for the commercialization of neffy
in additional regions outside of the United States, subject to FDA approval of neffye .

• We previously entered into a licensing and collaboration agreement with Ra ecordati for development and commercialization
rights in the EU, Iceland, Liechtenstein, Norway, Switzerland, the United Kingdom, Russia/CIS, TurRR key, the Middle East
and French-speaking African countries. In the first quarter of 2023, we entered into an agreement with Recordati to
terminate our prior agreement with it and reacquire Recordati’s rights to develop and commercialize nefe fyff .
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ComCC mercial StSS rtt atett gye

We believe that the epinephrine market is a highly consumer driven market. We expect this to be especially true for neffye ,
given that 100% of the physicians surveyed in our quantitative market research studit es indicated that they would prescribe neffy if
asked by a patient and approximately 70% of physicians would recommend neffy. As a result, we believe that driving consumer
awareness, so that patients and parents ask their healthcare provider for neffy, while minimizing both access and educational barriers
to acceptance is essential.

Our plan to execute on our go-to-market strategy for neffy includes the following:

We plan to create healthcare professional and consumer awareness and anticipation prior to launch. We are refiniff ng our
go-to-market strategy and creating awareness about our company and our technology. We expect to expand medical affairs
capaa bila ities prior to commercial launch to establish additional relationships with key opinion leaders and gain insight into current
practice patterns and burdens. The medical affff aff irs team will also collaborate with the commercial team to help payers fully undersa tand
nefe fff y’ff s value proposition and the limitations associated with needle injectors. We also plan to begin to raise awareness and support
meaningful education tff hrough partnership with patient advocacy groups and medical societies as well as a disease education campaign
including through social media and digital.

Based on the unmet needs that we identified, our pre-launch activities may be focused on delivering disease awareness
and education surrounding the appropriate epinephrine use to prevent anaphylaxis to allergists and pediatricians as well as
parents and patients in partnership with allergy and professional advocacy groups. These disease education efforts will more
specififf cally reinforce the importance of early administration of epinephrine at the first sign of a severe Type I allergic reaction, help
stakeholders understand the factors that are associated with hesitation to fill and use epinephrine earlier in a reaction, and the
importance of alternative epinephrine delivery optrr ions to support those affected by severe allergic reactions. In our market research,
42% of patients who had used an epinephrine injectable device during a recent episode reported that they delayed use by an average of
appra oximately 9 minutes. If nefe fff yff were available, these patients reported that they would reduce their average wait time to use by 45%.
Additionally, 47% of patients reported they were more likely to fill prescriptions and 86% of patients reported they would carry neffy
with them. We believe a broad understanding of this evidence will help to establish and increase the urgency to treat patients with
nefe fff yff and support our rapid launch uptake following FDA approval, if achieved.

We plan to initially commercialize nefe fff yff in the United States with a combination of direct promotion, virtual sales
consultants, and non-personal promotion intended to reach, at a minimum, the healthcare professionals that account for 45%
of the current epinephrine prescriptions. Our promotion will focus the launch on the highest potential practicing allergists,
pediatricians, and primary care physicians. In our market research, approximately 80% of patients see their treating physicians at
least every six months, and 98% at least once a year. We plan to optimize our field representatives based on planned research on
current market dynamics, geo-targeting and assessment of current professional-ff industry irr nteraction preferences initially to reach these
profeff ssionals. We expect significant reach to be achieved based on expanded use of non-personal promotional tactics and virtual sales
representatives to reach healthcare profeff ssionals and focus on the sequential activation of patient demand through direct-to-consumer
tactics that will help also drive physician awareness due to overlapping exposure.
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We intend to partner with patient advocacy organizations as well as influencers and leverage an omnichannel strategy
including direct-to-patient and parent tactics, social and traditional media, digital presence, and additional public relations to
drive awareness, for pff atients to ask for nefe fff yff , and communicate our value proposition. The pent-up patient demand that we
believe is ready to be activated by nefe fff yff is reflected in our market research where 87% of patients indicated a high liff kelihood to
proactively visit their physician in-person and ask about getting a new prescription for neffy (43% of patients indicating a 10 out of 10
likelihood, and 44% of patients indicating a 7-9 out of 10 likelihood). Our research also showed that physicians would recommend
nefe fff yff to appra oximately 70% of their patients. In addition, the severe Type I allergy market has historically been highly promotionally
sensitive, and in recent years, there has been limited investment in education or promotion, which we believe provides an opportunity
for sff ignififf cant promotional lift from our planned marketing efforts.

We intend to establish nefe fff yff as the dominant and most recognized brand in the category. We believe nefe fff yff ’s potential
brand recognition and user-friendly profile can be an important driver of growth and source of competitive diffeff rentiation, especially
as the fiff rst “no needle, no injection” solution for sff evere Type I allergic reactions. We have designed nefe fff yff to offer healthcare
profeff ssionals, patients and caregivers a simple, injection-free, portaff bla e, highly reliable and user-friendly alternative that facilitates
early administration of epinephrine to provide rapia d symptom relief and to stop the allergic reaction from progressing to more serious
events. We believe the attractiveness and meaningful differentiation of nefe fyff across both physicians and payers will stimulate a high
patient and parent desire to switch to or return to managing their condition with nefe fff yff .

We intend to secure affff ordabff le market access for all consumers by optimizing contracting, co-pay support and
distribution of neffy. To ensure access and affordability for nefe fff yff , we plan to engage with payors to convey the clinical rationale and
value proposition of neffy. To date, we have conducted extensive market research with approximately 50 decision-makers at payors to
help forff ecast the potential commercial opportunity for nefe fff yff in the United States. Health insurers surveyed have indicated that neffye is
perceived as differentiated brand from epinephrine auto-injector products, with its needle-free route of administration and increased
likelihood of being carried as the most important product attributes. Based on these analyses and our planned contracting strategy, we
believe payers can support favorable and broad market access for nefe fff yff . Further, we will offer comprehensive patient support programs
in the forff m of co-pay buydowns to help ensure access and affordability for all patients.ff

We intend to expand the market beyond the 3.3 million patients currently filling epinephrine injection device
prescriptions. We believe that the severe Type I allergy market is currently significantly underpenetrated due to the lack of, and
limitations in, current treatment options. We believe the availability of nefe fyff could drive increased device uptake among the existing
3.3 million patients currently filling epinephrine injection device prescriptions, adoption by the approximately 2.5 million patient that
receive, but do not fiff ll their prescription, and the 11 million patients diagnosed and managed by physicians who do not currently have
an epinephrine auto-injector, especially those incorrectly using antihistamines as a substitute. Other launches of intranasal products for
emergency use into previously injection-only markets such as NARCAN (marketed by Emergent BioSolutions), VALTOCO
(marketed by Neurelis), NAYZILAM (marketed by UCB) and BAQSIMI (marketed by Eli Lilly) have rapidly captured a significant
percentage of the existing market, and also expanded their respective markets. Both products use the same device that we have chosen
forff nefe fff yff . We believe that NARCAN’s widespread use clearly demonstrates market uptake in response to the advantages of an
intranasal product via proven device over injection, considering in particular that NARCAN iAA s used in life threatening rescue
situat tions where reliable administration is required for confideff nt administration, similar to severe Type I allergic reactions. Beyond
just reliabia lity, we believe that an intranasal product has unique advantages for treating a severe Type I allergic reaction due to patient
and parent feff ar and avoidance of injection and because time is of the essence. This perspective is distinct from other diseases with
chronic use of injection products, administration by a trained professional is required, or where the injection is more manageable and
tolerated. In our market research, respondents have described nefe fff yff as “game-changing” and we believe nefe fff yff , if approved, can make a
signififf cant difference in patient lives and outcomes.

If approved, we plan to establish a distribution channel in the United States for the commercialization of neffye . We
expect to sell neffy to wholesalers, who, in turn, will sell our nefe fff yff to retailors and other customers. We expect to use a third-party
logistics provider for keff y services related to logistics, warehousing and inventory management, distribution, contract administration,
order management and chargeback processing and accounts receivable management. We also plan to explore other non-traditional
distribution channels including telemedicine.

To target markets outside of the United States, we have entered into strategic partnerships with several pharmaceutical
companies to obtain regulatory approval and market neffye . These include Alfresa Pharma for Japan and Pediatrix Therapeutics for
China. We intend to pursue strategic partnerships for the commercialization of nefe fff yff in additional regions outside of the United States,
subject to FDA appra oval of nefe fff yff . We anticipate that in certain markets additional clinical trials of neffy may be required to obtain
regulatory approval and/or ensure market access.rr
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Competition

Our industry irr s highly competitive and subject to rapid technological changes. Our potential competitors include large
pharmaceutical and biotechnology companies, specialty pharmaceutical and generic drug companies, academic institutions,
government agencies and research institutions. Many of our potential competitors have substantially greater financial, technical,
commercial and human resources than we do and signififf cantly more experience in the discovery, development and regulatory approval
of product candidates and the commercialization of those products. We believe that the key competitive factors that will affect the
development and commercial success of nefe fff yff and the other product candidates that we may develop are their efficacy, safety and
tolerability profiff le, convenience in dosing, product labeling, value and price, in addition to whether there are alternative therapies
appra oved for other indications and prescribed for off-label use and the availability of reimbursement from the government and other
third parties. Our commercial opportunit ty could be reduced if our competitors have products which are better in one or more of these
categories.

We expect that, if approved, nefe fff yff would compete with a number of existing products and other product candidates that target
Type I allergic reactions, including certain products that are or may become generic products. Additionally, the development of new
treatment methods for the diseases we are targeting could render our current or future product candidates non-competitive or obsolete.

We anticipate that, if approved, nefe fff yff will compete primarily against epinephrine intra-muscular injectabla e products, for the
emergency treatment of Type I allergic reactions including EpiPen and its generics, which are marketed by Viatris, Inc. and Teva
Pharmaceuticals, Inc., respectively; Adrenaclick, which is marketed by Amneal Pharmaceuticals, Inc.; Auvi-Q, which is marketed by
Kaleo, Inc.; and Symjepi, which is marketed by Sandoz, Inc., a Novartis division.

We are not aware of any other company that has a “no needle, no injection” epinephrine product candidate in clinical
development in the United States that has demonstrated PKs bracketed by the approved injection products for all pharmacokinetic
parameters requested by the FDA. We are also not aware of any “no needle, no injection” epinephrine product candidate for the
pediatric population that is in clinical development.

We are aware of several companies developing higher dose intranasal candidates including Bryn Pharma, Hikma
Pharmaceuticals, Inc. (previously INSYS Therapeutics, Inc.), Nasus Pharma and Orexo AB. Amphastar Pharmaceuticals, Inc. is
reported to be developing an intranasal candidate, but has not disclosed its dose. Aquestive Therapea utics is developing a sublingual
candidate based on a prodrug of epinephrine.

Manufacturing and Supply

We do not own or operate manufacturing faff cilities for the production of nefe fff yff , nor do we have plans to develop our own
manufacturing operations for clinical materials or commercial products in the foreseeable future. We currently depend on third-party
contract manufacturing organizations (“CMOs”) for all of our required raw materials, drug substance and drug product for our
preclinical research and clinical trials.

We currently rely on suppliers for raw materials including drug substance and multiple manufacturers for our product candidates
and expect to rely on third-party suppliers and manufacturers for the commercial supply of any approved products. We currentlya
employ internal resources and third-party consultants as needed to manage our CMOs. These CMOs offer a comprehensive range of
contract manufacturing and packaging services and have successfully handled the scale up of nefe fff yff in preparation forff
commercialization.

nefe fff yff is presented as a nasal spray in aqueous solution with epinephrine as the active pharmaceutical ingredient (“API”) filled
into glass vials and closed with a rubber stopper r and assembled into the unit dose sprayer device. Over time, epinephrine is oxidized
and loses potency resulting in a finite shelf-life, and the neffye solution inside the unit dose sprayer changes to an amber to brown color.

Epinephrine is the API used in nefe fff yff . We intend to use Cambrex Profarmco (“Cambrex”) as one of our commercial sources for
epinephrine API. Cambrex holds a U.S. drug mrr aster file for epinephrine produced at its facility in Italy, and its manufacturing processff
is fulff ly validated. We have entered into a commercial supply agreement with Cambrex, and while we believe that Cambrex has
suffff iff cient capacity to satisfy our long-term requirements, there are several sources of API available, and we intend to launch with a
second source of API and are in the process of qualifying this second API source.

Dodecyl maltoside or Intravail is purchased through our license agreement with Aegis Therapeutics, Inc. from two
manufacturt ers, Dr. Reddy Laboratories and Inalco, which are based in India and Italy, respectively.

The unit dose sprayer device used to delivery drug product in nefe fff yff is produced by Aptar Pharma (“Aptar”). Aptar produces
devices in France and we believe Aptar has sufficient capacity to satisfy our long-term requirements. The patent for the Aptar unit
dose nasal spray device expired in early 2020, and we believe there will be generic supplies available soon after launch.



24

Manufaff cturt ing drug product for nefe fff yff is conducted by Renaissance Pharmaceuticals, Inc. (“Renaissance Pharma”), which has
been actively involved in supporting the manufacture of neffy devices in our clinical development. We intend to use its faff cility in
Lakewood, New Jersey as our primary source for drug product manufacturing and final packaging. We have entered into a
commercial supply agreement with Renaissance Pharma, and believe they have sufficient capacity to satisfy our long-term
requirements, although we are evaluating alternating sourcing options.

Ongoing stabia lity studit es demonstrate that neffe yff is stable at room temperature for at least 18 months, based on stability data from
the 2.0 mg dose of neffy for 12 mff onths and the 1.0 mg dose of nefe fff yff for 24 months, and we plan to continue to conduct ongoing
registration stability studies that we anticipate will enable us to indicate on our labea l, if approved, that nefe fyff is stable at room
temperature for 18 months at 25t oC. We have also conducted studies indicating that nefe fyff is also stabla e at temperature excursions
including 40oC for up to six months, and aff t 50oC for up tff o three months.

Intellectual Property

We strive to protect our intranasal epinephrine product candidates by seeking, maintaining, and defending our patent rights in
the United States and internationally. Our policy is to pursue, maintain and defend patent rights in strategic areas, whether developedff
internally or licensed from third parties, and to protect the technology, inventions and improvements that are commercially important
to the development of our business. We also rely on trade secrets that may be important to the development of our business.

We co-own or exclusively license the patents and patent applications relating to our intranasal epinephrine product candidates.
As of December 31, 2022, our patent portfolio consisted of issued patents and pending patent applications that we co-own or
exclusively license from Aegis Therapeutics LLC in tff he United States and other countries throughout the world. In total, as of that
date, our patent portfolio consisted of four issued U.S. patents, one granted Australian patent, one granted Japanese patent, one granted
Chinese patent, one granted patent in South Korea, one granted European patent, three granted United Kingdom patents, three pending
U.S. non-provisional patent applications, and over fifteen pending foreign patent applications directed to intranasal epinephrine
forff mulations and methods of their use. These issued patents and pending patent applications are expected to expire as early as 2038,
absa ent any patent term adjustments or patent term extensions for regulatory delay.

In addition to patent protection, we also rely on trademark registration, trade secrets, know how, and other proprietary
inforff mation to develop and maintain our competitive position. We seek trademark protection in the United States and in certain other
jurisdictions where available and when we deem appropriate. We currently have registrations for our “a neffy” mark in the United States
as well as in foreign jurisdictions, including the United Kingdom, European Union, and Japan.

Our commercial success will depend in part on obtaining and maintaining patent protection and trade secret protection of our
current and futff urt e product candidates and the methods used to develop and manufacture them, as well as successfully defending theseff
patents against third-party challenges. Our ability to stop third parties from making, using, selling, offering to sell or importing our
products depends on the extent to which we have rights under valid and enforceable patents or trade secrets that cover these activities.
We cannot be sure that patents will be granted with respect to any of our pending patent applications or with respect to any patent
appla ications filed by us in the futff urt e, nor can we be sure that any of our existing patents or any patents that may be granted to us in the
futff urt e will be commercially useful in protecting our product candidates and processes. For this and more comprehensive risks related
to our intellectual property, please see “t Risk Factors—Risks Related to Our Intellectual Property.rr ”

The term of individual patents depends upon the legal term of the patents in the countries in which they are obtained. In most
countries in which we file, the patent term is 20 years from the earliest date of filing a non-provisional patent application. In the
United States, the patent term of a patent that covers an FDA-approved drug may alsr o be eligible for patent term extension, which
permits patent term restoration as compensation for the patent term lost during the FDA regulatory review process. The Drug Price
Competition and Patent Term Restoration Act of 1984 (the “Hatch-Waxman Act”) permits a patent term extension of up to five years
beyond the expiration of the patent. The length of the patent term extension is related to the length of time the drug is under regulatory
review. Patent term extension cannot extend the remaining term of a patent beyond a total of 14 years from the date of product
appra oval, only one patent applicable to an appra oved drug may be extended and only those claims covering the approved drug, a
method for using it, or a method for manufacturing it may be exteff nded. Similar provisions are available in Europe and other foreign
jurisdictions to extend the term of a patent that covers an approved drug. In the future, if and when our products receive FDAff
appra oval, we expect to apply for patent term extensions on patents covering those products. We plan to seek patent term extensions to
any of our issued patents in any jurisdiction where these are available, however there is no guarantee that the applicable authorities,
including the FDA in the United States, will agree with our assessment of whether such extensions should be granted, and if granted,
the length of such extensions. For more information regarding the risks related to our intellectual property, see “Risk Factors—Risks
Related to Our IntII ellectual Propertytt .”
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We also seek to protect our intellectual property in part by entering into confidentiality agreements with companies with whom
we share proprietary and confidential information in the course of business discussions, and by having confidentiality terms in our
agreements with our employees, consultants, scientific advisors, clinical investigators, and other collaborators and contractors and also
by requiring our employees, commercial contractors, and certain consultants and investigators, to enter into invention assignment
agreements that grant us ownership of any discoveries or inventions made by them while in our employ. However, such
confiff dentiality agreements and invention assignment agreements can be breached, and we may not have adequate remedies for any
such breach. For more information regarding the risks related to our intellectual property, see “Risk Factors—Risks Related to Our
IntII ellectual Property.tt ”

The patent positions of specialty pharmaceutical companies like ours are generally uncertain and involve complex legal,
scientififf c and factual questions. Our commercial success will also depend in part on not infringing upon the proprietary rights of third
parties. It is uncertain whether the issuance of any third-party patent would require us to alter our development or commercial
strategies, or our drugs or procer sses, obtain licenses or cease certain activities. Our breach of any license agreements or our failure to
obtain a license to proprietary rights required to develop or commercialize our future products may have a material adverse impact on
us. If third parties prepare and file patent applications in the United States that also claim technology to which we have rights, we may
have to participate in interference or derivatff ion proceedings in the U.S. Patent and Trademark Office (the “USPTO”) to determine
priority of invention. For more information, see “Risk Factors—Risks Rkk elated to Our Intellectual Property.”

Our Collaboration and Licensing Agreements

License Agreement with Aegis

In June 2018, we entered into a license agreement with Aegis Therapeutics, LLC (“Aegis”), which was amended in July 2020
and January 2021. Prr ursuant to the agreement, Aegis granted us an exclusive, worldwide, sublicensable license under patents and
know-how relating to the INTRAVAIL drug der livery technology to rrr esearch, develop, make (subject to Aegis supplying the
INTRARR VAIL drug delivery technology to us under a supply agreement), use, sell, offer for sale, import, and otherwise commercialize
products incorporr ating epinephrine compounds (“Aegis Licensed Compounds”), including the nefe fff yff nasal spray. During the term of
the agreement, we are required to use commercially reasonable efforts to obtain regulatory approval for products containing one or
more Aegis Licensed Compounds and using the excipient (including INTRARR VAIL) (“Aegis Licensed Products”) and to thereafter
maximize sales of the Aegis Licensed Products, and Aegis may not directly or indirectly exploit an Aegis Licensed Product or Aegis
Licensed Compound or derivatives thereof without our consent.

Under the agreement, Aegis received an upfrff ont license fee of $50,000 and is entitled to receive development milestone
payments of up to $3.95 million in aggregate and commercialization milestone payments up to $16.0 million in the aggregate for each
Aegis Licensed Product. We made a $0.5 million milestone payment to Aegis upon the achievement of a regulatory milestone during
2019, and a $1.0 million payment to Aegis upon the FDA’s acceptance of our US NDA filing, which occurred in the third quarter of
2022. We will be required to pay Aegis a milestone payment of $2.5 million contingent upon the FDA approval of the first Aegis
Licensed Product and a milestone payment of $5.0 million contingent upon first commercial sale of the first Aegis Licensed Product.
Additionally, Aegis is entitled to receive a low- to mid-single-digit percentage royalty, subject to reductions under certain conditions
including due to generic competition or below threshold levels of profitability in specific countries around the world, on net sales of
all Aegis Licensed Products during the applicable royalty term, which commences on the first commercial sale of a Aegis Licensed
Product in a country and ends upon the later of the expiration of arr ll licensed patents covering such Aegis Licensed Product in such
country or 15 yerr ars after the date of the first commercial sale of the Aegis Licensed Product in such country (“Aegis Royalty Term”).

The agreement will continue until the expiration of the last-to-expire Aegis Royalty Term, unless sooner terminated. We have
the right to terminate the agreement at any time afteff r a specified notice period to Aegis. Either party may terminate the agreement for
uncured material breach of the other party, or upon notice for insolvency-related events of the other party that are not discharged
within a defined time period.
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ColCC lll aborll ation antt d License Agreement with Alfresaff

In April 2020, we entered into a collabora ation and license agreement with Alfresa Pharma Corporation (“Alfresa”). Pursuant tor
the agreement, we granted Alfresa (i) an exclusive, sublicensable license under our patents relating to nefe fff yff to develop, use and import
epinephrine compositions (“Alfresa Licensed Compositions”) and related products (“Alfresff a Licensed Products”) in Japan (the
“Alfrff esa Territory”rr ) and to promote, distribute, offer for sale and sell Alfresa Licensed Products in the Alfresff a Territory, and (ii) a
non-exclusive, sublicensable license to manufacture and commercialize Alfresa Licensed Products under the license described in
clause (i), under our technology to make and have made Alfresa Licensed Compositions and Alfresa Licensed Products in and outside
the Alfrff esa Territory srr olely for tff he purpose of exercising the license described in clause (i) in the Alfresa Territory. We expressly
reserved all rights to practice and grant licenses under our technology outside the scope of the licenses granted to Alfresa, including
the right to manufacture Alfrff esa Licensed Compositions and Alfresa Licensed Products in the Alfresa Territory. During the term of the
agreement, (1) we and Alfresa are obligated to use commercially reasonable efforts tff o develop a Alfresa Licensed Product throughout
the Alfrff esa Territory, arr nd (2) Alfresa is obligated to use commercially reasonable efforts to (A) seek pricing and reimbursement
appra oval, (B) seek and maintain regulatory approval for the Alfresa Licensed Products through the Alfresa Territory, and (C) market,
promote and otherwise commercialize Alfresa Licensed Products in the fiff eld throughout the Alfresa Territory.

Under the agreement, we received a one-time upfront payment of $2.0 million and earned $5 million upon the achievement of a
clinical milestone during 2021. We are eligible to receive regulatory milestones of up to $8.0 million in the aggregate. Further, we are
eligible to receive a negotiable transfer price expected to be in the low double-digit percentage on net sales subject to the regulatory
appra oval to commercialize neffy in Japaa n. We share the cost of any additional clinical studies required for approval of neffye in Japan.
Additionally, Alfrff esa is obligated to either (i) enter into a commercial supply agreement with us pursuant to which we will supply drug
product for cff ommercial sale at an agreed upon transfer price, or (ii) if Alfresa elects to manufacture its own supply of drug product,
pay us a royalty payment on the net sales of drug product in the Alfresa Territory in an amount equal to monetary value we would
receive by supplying drug prr oduct to Alfresa at the transfer price.

The agreement will continue until the later of (i) expiration of the last-to-expire valid claim of our patents or joint patent with
Alfrff esa covering the composition, method of manufacture or method of use in the field of any Alfresa Licensed Product in the Alfresaff
Territory, and (ii) 10 years after the first commercial sale of arr ny Alfresa Licensed Product in the Alfresa Territory. Alfresa has the
right to terminate the agreement (1) at any time aftff er a specified notice period to us, or (2) upon notice to us if a binding decision is
rendered invalidating any of our patents. Either party may terminate the agreement for uncured material breach of the other party, or
upon notice for insolvency-related events of the other party that are not discharged within a defined time period.

ColCC lll aborll ation antt d Distribution Agreement with Pediatrix

In March 2021, we entered into a collaboration and distribution agreement with Pediatrix Therapeutics (“Pediatrix”). Pursuant to
the agreement, we granted Pediatrix (i) an exclusive, royalty-bearing, sublicensabla e license under our patents relating to neffye to
develop, use, register and import epinephrine compositions (“Pediatrix Licensed Compositions”) and related products (“Pediatrix
Licensed Products”) in China, Macau, Hong Kong and Taiwan (the “Pediatrix Territory”) and to promote, offer for sale and sell
Pediatrix Licensed Products in the Pediatrix Territory; and (rr ii) an exclusive, royalty-bearing, sublicensable license to manufacture
Pediatrix Licensed Compositions and Pediatrix Licensed Products solely for the purpose of er xercising the license described in clause
(i) in the Pediatrix Territory. We expressly reserved all rights to practice and grant licenses under our technology outside the scope of
the licenses granted to Pediatrix. During the term of the agreement, Pediatrix is obligated to use commercially reasonable efforts to (1)
develop the Pediatrix Licensed Products throughout the Pediatrix Territory, (2) prepare, obtain, maintain and renew all necessaryrr
regulatory approvals for the Pediatrr rix Licensed Products in the Pediatrix Territory, and (3) market, promote and otherwise
commercialize the Pediatrix Licensed Products throughout the Pediatrix Territory.

Under the agreement, we received a one-time upfront payment of $3.0 million and are eligible to receive a regulatory milestone
payment of $4.0 million and net sales milestone payments of up to $80.0 million in the aggregate. We will receive a per unit supply
price for any sff ale of commercial supply to Pediatrix. Additionally, we are eligible to receive a tiered royalty on the net sales of all
Pediatrix Licensed Products during the applicable royalty term, which is less than one percent below a minimum annual sales
threshold, and increasing to low-to-mid double-digit percentages above the minimum annual sales threshold, subject to reductions
under certain conditions including due to generic competition. Pediatrix’s obligation to pay us royalties continues on a Pediatrix
Licensed Product-by- Pediatrix Licensed Product and region-by-region basis in the Pediatrix Territory, until the latest of (i) expiration
of the last-to-expire valid claim of our patents covering such Licensed Product in such region; (ii) the expiration of all regulatory
exclusivities that cover such Licensed Product in such region; or (iii) ten years after the first commercial sale of such Pediatrix
Licensed Product in such region (the “Pediatrix Royalty Term”).

The agreement will continue until the expiration of the last-to-expire Pediatrix Royalty Term. Pediatrix has the right to terminate
the agreement at any time after a specified notice period to us. Either party may terminate the agreement for uncured material breach
of the other party, or upon notice for insolvency-related events of the other party that are not discharged within a defined time period.
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ManMM ufu acff turinii g Agreement with Renaissance

In September 2020, we entered into a manufacturing agreement with Renaissance Lakewood, LLC (“Renaissance”). Pursuant to
the agreement, Renaissance agreed to manufaff cturt e forff , and provide to us, nefe fff yff nasal unit dose sprays (“Renaissance Products”). We
are obligated to provide Renaissance with certain supplies to manufacture the Renaissance Products and to purchase from Renaissance
a mid double-digit percentage of our annual aggregate Renaissance Product requirements in the EU, and a high double-digit
percentage of our annual aggregate Renaissance Product requirements in the U.S. The agreement contains conventional commercial
pharmaceutical manufacturing provisions including certain minimum purchase amounts to be determined in the future based on
forff ecast needs and minimum batch size projections. We may also request Renaissance perform certain services related to the
Renaissance Product, for wff hich we will pay reasonable compensation to Renaissance.

The initial term of the agreement commenced on the date it was entered into and continues (a) for Renaissance Product
designated for commercial sale in the U.S. until the earlier of the fifth anniversary of the (i) target U.S. launch date aff nd (ii) the initial
U.S. launch date (“U.S. Initial Term”), and (b) for Renaissance Product designated for commercial sale in the EU and other countries,
the earlier of the fifff tff h anniversary of (rr i) the target EU launch date and (ii) the initial EU launch date (“EU Initial Term”), in each case
unless earlier terminated by one of the parties. The U.S. Initial Term and EU Initial Term automatically renew for successive two-year
terms (“Renewal Term”). Either party may elect not to renew the U.S. Renewal Term and/or the EU Renewal Term by providing the
requisite prior notice to the other party. Either party may terminate the agreement (1) for uncured material breach of the other party,
(2) upon notice for insolvency-related events of the other party that are not discharged within a defined time period, (3) on a product-
by-product basis if the manufacture, distribution or sale would materially contravene any applicable law, (4) by providing the requisite
notice if (a) we have not submitted a regulatory frr iff ling for any Renaissance Product in the U.S. on or before June 30, 2022, (b) the
authorization and appra oval to distribute or sell Renaissance Product in the U.S. is not granted on or before the target U.S. launch date,
(c) the authorization and approval representing more than a targeted number of units of Renaissance Product sold in the U.S. during
the last calendar year is withdrawn by the FDA, or (d) we decided in our sole discretion to cease commercializing the Renaissance
Product in the U.S., (5) in the case of a forff ce majeure event that continues for six months or more, or (6) a violation by the other party
of trade control or anti-corruption laws.

Government Regulation and Product Approval

As a pharmaceutical company that operates in the United States, we are subject to extensive regulation. Government authorities
in the United States (at the federal, state and local level) and in other countries extensively regulate, among other things, the research,
development, testing, manufacturing, quality control, approval, labeling, packaging, storage, record-keeping, promotion, advertising,
distribution, post-appra oval monitoring and reporting, marketing and export and import of drug products such as those we are
developing. Product candidates that we develop must be approved by the FDA, before they may be legally marketed in the United
States and by the appropriate forff eign regulatory arr gency before they may be legally marketed in foreign countries. Generally, our
activities in other countries will be subject to regulation that is similar in nature and scope as that imposed in the United States,
although there can be important differences. Additionally, some significant aspects of regulation in Europe are addressed in a
centralized way, but country-rr specific regulation remains essential in many respects.

Regulation of Combination Products in the United States

nefe fff yff is comprised of drug and delivery device components that would normally be subject to different regulatory frameworks
by the FDA and frff equently regulated by different centers at the FDA. These products are known as combination products. Under the
Federal Food, Drug and Cosmetic Act (“FDCA”), the FDA is charged with assigning a center with primary jurisdiction, or a lead
center, for rff eview of a combination product. The determination of which center will be the lead center is based on the “primary mode
of action” of the combination product. Thus, if the primary mode of action of a drug-device combination product is attributable to the
drug prr oduct, the FDA center responsible for premarket review of the drug product would have primary jurisdiction for the
combination product.

A combination product with a primary mode of action attributabla e to the drug component, such as neffye , generally would be
reviewed and appra oved pursuant to the drug approval processes set forth in the FDCA. In reviewing the NDA for such a product,
however, FDA reviewers would consult with their counterparts in the device center tr o ensure that the device component of the
combination product – the sprayer - met applia cabla e requirements regarding safety, effectiveness, durability and performance. In
addition, under FDA regulations, combination products such as nefe fyff are subject to cGMP requirements applicable to both drugs and
devices, including the Quality System Regulations applicable to medical devices.
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U.SUU . DSS rug Du evelopment Process

In the United States, the FDA regulates drugs under r the FDCA, and implementing regulations. A new drug must be approved by
the FDA through the NDA process beforff e it may be legally marketed in the United States. Drugs are also subject to other federal, state
and local statutes and regulations. The process of obtaining regulatory arr pprovals aa nd the subsequent compliance with appropriate
feff deral, state, local and foreign statutes and regulations require the expenditure of substantial time and financial resources. Failure to
comply with the applicable U.S. requirements at any time during the product development process, approval process or after approval,
may subject an applicant to administrative or judicial sanctions. FDA sanctions could include, among other actions, refusal to approve
pending applia cations, withdrawal of an appra oval, a clinical hold, warning letters, product recalls or withdrawals from the market,
product seizures, total or partial suspension of production or distribution injunctions, fines, refusals of government contracts,
restitutit on, disgorgement or civil or criminal penalties. Any agency or judicial enforcement action could have a material adverse effect
on us. The process required by the FDA beforff e a drug mr ay be marketed in the United States generally involves the following:

• completion of extensive preclinical laboratory tests, preclinical animal studies and formulation studies in accordance with
applicable regulations, including the FDA’s Good Laboratory Practice (“GLP”) regulations and other applicable regulations;

• submission to the FDA of an investigational new drug (“IND”), which must become effeff ctive before human clinical trials
may begin;

• appra oval by an independent institutional review board (“IRB”) at each clinical site before each trial may be initiated;

• perforff mance of adequate and well-controlled human clinical trials in accordance with appla icable regulations, including the
FDA’s good clinical practice (“GCP”) regulations to establish the safety and efficacy of the proposed drug for its proposed
indication;

• submission to the FDA of an NDA aftff er completion of all pivotal trials;

• a determination by the FDA within 60 days of its receipt of an NDA to file the NDA for review;ff

• satisfaff ctory completion of arr n FDA pre-approval inspection of the manufacturing facility or facilities where the drug is
produced to assess compliance with cGMP requirements to assure that the facilities, methods and controls are adequate to
preserve the drug’s identity, strength, quality and purity;

• potential FDA audit of the preclinical and/or clinical trial sites that generated the data in support of the NDA to assess
compliance with GCP regulations;

• satisfactory completion of an FDA advisory committee review, if applicable; anda

• FDA review and approval of the NDA prior to any commercial marketing or sale of the drug in the United States.

Beforff e testing any compounds with potential therapeutic value in humans, the product candidate enters the preclinical testing
stage. Preclinical tests include laboratory evaluations of product chemistry, toxicity and formulation, as well as animal studies, to
assess the potential safety and activity of the product candidate. The conduct of the preclinical tests must comply with federal
regulations and requirements including GLP requirements. The sponsor must submit the results of the preclinical tests, together with
manufacturing inforff mation, analytical data, any available clinical data or literature and a proposed clinical protocol, to the FDA as part
of the IND. An IND is a request for aff uthorization from the FDA to administer an investigational drug product to humans. The central
focff us of an IND submission is on the general investigational plan and the protocol(s) for human trials. Some preclinical testing may
continue even after the IND is submitted. The IND automatically becomes effective 30 days after receipt by the FDA, unless the FDA
raises concerns or questions regarding the proposed clinical trials and places the IND on clinical hold within that 30-day time period.
In such a case, the IND sponsor and the FDA must resolve any outstanding concerns before the clinical trial can begin. The FDA may
also impose clinical holds on a product candidate at any time before or during clinical trials due to safety concerns or non-compliance.
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Clinical trials involve the administration of the product candidate to healthy volunteers or patients under the supervision of
qualifieff d investigators, generally physicians not employed by or under the trial sponsor’s control, in accordance with GCPs, which
include the requirement that all research subjects provide their informed consent for their participation in any clinical trial. Clinical
trials are conducted under protocols detailing, among other things, the objectives of the clinical trial, dosing procedures, subject
selection and exclusion criteria and the parameters to be used to monitor subject safeff ty and assess efficacy. Each protocol, and any
subsequent amendments to the protocol, must be submitted to the FDA as part of the IND. Further, each clinical trial must be
reviewed and appra oved by an independent IRB at or servicing each institution at which the clinical trial will be conducted. An IRB is
charged with protecting the welfare and rights of trial participants and considers such items as whether the risks to individuals
participating in the clinical trials are minimized and are reasonable in relation to anticipated benefits. The IRB also approves the
inforff med consent form that must be provided to each clinical trial subject or his or her legal representative and must monitor the
clinical trial until completed. There are also requirements governing the reporting of ongoing clinical trials and completed clinical trial
results to public registries.

Human clinical trials are typically conducted in three sequential phases that may overlap or be combined:

• Phase 1. The drug ir s initially introduced into healthy human subjects and tested for safety, dosage tolerance, absorption,
metabolism, distribution and excretion, the side effects associated with increasing doses and if possible, to gain early
evidence of effectiveness. In the case of some products for severe or life-threatening diseases, especially when the product
may be too inherently toxic to ethically administer to healthy volunteers, the initial human testing is often conducted in
patients.

• Phase 2. The drug ir s evaluated in a limited patient population to identify possible adverse efff fects aff nd safeff ty risks, to
preliminarily evaluate the efficacy of the product for specific targeted diseases or conditions and to determine dosage
tolerance, optimal dosage and dosing schedule. Multiple Phase 2 clinical trials may be conducted to obtain information prior
to beginning larger and more expensive Phase 3 clinical trials.

• Phase 3. The drug irr s administered to an expanded patient population to further evaluate dosage and clinical efficacy at
geographia cally dispersed clinical trial sites. These clinical trials are intended to establish the overall benefit/risk ratio of the
product and provide an adequate basis for product approval. Generff ally, two adequate and well-controlled Phase 3 clinical
trials are required by the FDA for appra oval of an NDA.

Post-appra oval studit es, or Phase 4 clinical trials, may be conducted after initial marketing approval. These trials are used to gainff
additional experience frff om the treatment of patients in the intended therapeutic indication. In certain instances, FDA may mandate the
perforff mance of Phase 4 trials. In certain instances, the FDA may mandate the performance of Phase 4 clinical trials as a conditiff on of
appra oval of an NDA.

During the development of a new drug, sponsors are given opportunities to meet with the FDA at certain points. These points
may be prior to submission of an IND, at the end of Phase 2, and before an NDA is submitted. Meetings at other times may be
requested. These meetings can provide an opportunity for the sponsor to share information about the data gathered to date, for tff he
FDA to provide advice, and for the sponsor and the FDA to reach agreement on the next phase of development. Sponsors typically use
the meetings at the end of the Phase 2 trial to discuss Phase 2 clinical results and present plans for the pivotal Phase 3 clinical trials
that they believe will support approval of the new drug.

Progress reports detailing the results of the clinical trials must be submitted at least annually to the FDA and written IND safety
reports must be submitted to the FDA and the investigators for serious and unexpected AEs or any finding from tests in laboratoryff
animals that suggests a signififf cant risk for human subjects. Phase 1, Phase 2 and Phase 3 clinical trials may not be completed
successfulff ly within any specified period, if at all. The FDA, the IRB, or the sponsor may suspend or terminate a clinical trial at any
time on various grounds, including a finding that the research subjects or patients are being exposed to an unacceptable health risk.
Similarly, an IRB can suspend or terminate approval of a clinical trial at its institution if the clinical trial is not being conducted in
accordance with the IRB’s requirements or if the drug has been associated with unexpected serious harm to patients. Additionally,
some clinical trials are overseen by an independent group of qualified experts organized by the clinical trial sponsor, known as a data
safeff ty monitoring board or committee. This group provides authorization for whether or not a trial may move forward at designatedff
check points based on access to certain data from the trial.

Concurrent with clinical trials, companies usually complete additional animal studit es and must also develop additional
inforff mation about ta he chemistry and physical characteristics of the drug as well as finalize a process for manufacturing the product iff n
commercial quantities in accordance with cGMP requirements. The manufaff cturing process mt ust be capaa bla e of consistently producing
quality batches of the product candidate and, among other things, must develop methods for testing the identity, strength, quality and
purity of the fiff nal drug. Additionalr ly, appra opriate packaging must be selected and tested and stability studies must be conducted to
demonstrate that the product candidate does not undergo unacceptable deterioration over its shelf life.
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U.SUU . Review and ApprSS oval PrPP ocesses

Assuming successful cff ompletion of all required testing in accordance with all applicable regulatory requirements, the results of
product development, preclinical studies and clinical trials, along with descriptions of the manufacturing process, analytical tests
conducted on the chemistry of the drug, proposed labeling arr nd other relevant information are submitted to the FDA as part of an NDA
requesting approval to market the product. Data may come from company-sponsored clinical trials intended to test the safety and
effff eff ctiveness of a use of a product, or from a number of alternative sources, including studies initiated by investigators. To support
marketing approval, the data submitted must be suffff icient in quality and quantity to establish the safety and effectiveness of theff
investigational drug product to the satisfaff ction of the FDA. The submission of an NDA is subject to the payment of substantial user
feff es; a waiver of such fees may be obtained under certain limited circumstances.

In addition, the Pediatric Research Equity Act (“PREA”) requires a sponsor to conduct pediatric clinical trials for most drugs,
for a new active ingredient, new indication, new dosage forff m, new dosing regimen or new route of administration. Under PREA,
original NDAs and supplements must contain a pediatric assessment unless the sponsor has received a defeff rral or waiver. The required
assessment must evaluate the safety and effectiveness of the product for the claimed indications in all relevant pediatric
subpopulations and support dosing and administration for each pediatric subpopulation for which the product is safe and effff eff ctive. The
sponsor or FDA may request a defeff rral of pediatric clinical trials for some or all of the pediatric subpopulations. A deferral may be
granted for sff everal reasons, including a finding that the drug ir s ready for approval for use in adults before pediatric clinical trials are
complete or that additional safety or effectiveness data need to be collected before the pediatric clinical trials begin. The Fff DA must
send a non-compliance letter to any sponsor that fails to submit the required assessment, keep a deferral current or fails to submit a
request for approval of a pediatric formulation. Unless otherwise required by regulation, the Pediatric Research Equity Act does not
appla y to any drug for an indication for which orphan designation has been granted. However, if only one indication for a product has
orphar n designation, a pediatric assessment may still be required for any applications to market that same product for the non-orphanff
indication(s).

The FDA reviews all NDAs submitted before it accepts them for fiff ling and may request additional information rather than
accepting an NDA for fff iff ling. The FDA must make a decision on accepting an NDA for filing within 60 days of receipt. Off nce the
submission is accepted for filing, the FDA begins an in-depth review of the NDA. Under the PDUFA guidelines that are currently in
effff eff ct, the FDA has a goal of ten months from the date of “fiff ling” of a standard NDA for a new molecular entity to review and act on
the submission. This review typically takes twelve months from the date the NDA is submitted to FDA because the FDA has
appra oximately two months to make a “filff ing” decision after it the application is submitted The FDA does not always meet its PDUFA
goal dates for staff ndard and priority NDAs, and the review process is often significantly extended by FDA requests for additional
inforff mation or clarificff ation.

Aftff er the NDA submission is accepted for filing, the FDA reviews the NDA to determine, among other things, whether the
proposed product is safe and effective for its intended use and whether tff he product is being manufactured in accordance with cGMP to
assure and preserve the product’s identity, strength, quality and purity. The FDA may refer applications for novel drug products or
drug prr oducts which present difficult questions of safety or effiff cacy to an advisory committee, typically a panel that includes
clinicians and other experts, for review, evaluation and a recommendation as to whether the application should be approved and under
what conditions. The FDA is not bound by the recommendations of an advisory committee, but it considers such recommendations
carefullff y when making decisions and typically follows the advisory committee’s recommendations.

Beforff e appra oving an NDA, the FDA will inspect the facilities at which the product is manufactured. The FDA will not approve
the product unless it determines that the manufacturing processes and faff cilities are in compliance with cGMP requirements and
adequate to assure consistent production of the product within required specifications. Additionally, before approving an NDA, the
FDA may inspect one or more clinical sites to assure compliance with GCP requirements. After the FDA evaluates the application,
manufacturt ing process and manufacturt ing faff cilities, it may issue an approval letter or a Complete Response Letter. An approval letter
authorizes commercial marketing of the drug with specific prescribing information for specific indications. A Complete Response
Letter indicates that the review cycle of the application is complete and the application will not be approved in its present form. A
Complete Response Letter usually describes all of the specififf c deficiencies in the NDA identified by the FDA. The Completeff
Response Letter may require additional clinical data and/or (an) additional pivotal Phase 3 clinical trial(s), and/or other significant andff
time-consuming requirements related to clinical trials, preclinical studies or manufaff cturing. If a Complete Response Letter is issued,
the applia cant may either resubmit the NDA, addressing all of the deficiencies identified in the letter, or withdraw the application. Even
if such data and information are submitted, the FDA may ultimately decide that the NDA does not satisfy the criteria for approval.



31

If a product receives regulatory approval, the approval may be significantly limited to specific diseases and dosages or the
indications for use may otherwise be limited, which could restrict the commercial value of the product. Further, the FDA may require
that certain contraindications, warnings or precautions be included in the product labeling or may condition the approval of the NDA
on other changes to the proposed labeling, development of adequate controls and specififf cations, or a commitment to conduct one or
more post-market studies or clinit cal trials. For example, the FDA may require Phase 4 testing, which involves clinical trials designed
to furff ther assess a drug safety and effectiveness, and may require testing and surveillance programs to monitor the safety of approved
products that have been commercialized. The FDA may also determine that a risk evaluation and mitigation strategy (“REMS”) is
necessary trr o assure the safe use of the drug. If the FDA concludes a REMS is needed, the sponsor of the NDA must submit a proposed
REMS; the FDA will not approve the NDA without an approved REMS, if required. A REMS could include medication guides,
physician communication plans, or elements to assure safe use, such as restricted distribution methods, patient registries and other risk
minimization tools.

Fast Track Designation

The FDA has a number of programs intended to expedite the development or review of products that meet certain criteria. For
example, the FDA has a fast track designation program that is intended to expedite or facilitate the process for reviewing new drug
products that meet certain criteria. Specifically, new drugs are eligible for fast track designation if they are intended to treat a serious
or lifeff -threatening disease or condition and demonstrate the potential to address unmet medical needs for the disease or condition. Fast
track designation appla ies to the combination of the product and the specific indication for which it is being studied. The sponsor of a
faff st track product has opportunities for more frequent interactions with the applicable FDA review team during product development
and, once an NDA is submitted, the product candidate may be eligible for priority review. With regard to a fast track product, the FDA
may consider for rff eview sections of the NDA on a rolling basis before the complete application is submitted, if the sponsor provides a
schedule for the submission of the sections of the NDA, the FDA agrees to accept sections of the NDA and determines that the
schedule is acceptable, and the sponsor pays any required user fees upon submission of the first section of the NDA.

Any product submitted to the FDA for approval, including a product with a fast track designation, may also be eligible for other
types of FDA programs intended to expedite development and review, such as priority. A product is eligible for priority review if it is
designed to treat a serious condition, and if approved, would provide a significant improvement in the treatment, diagnosis or
prevention of a serious condition compared to marketed products. The FDA will attempt to direct additional resources to the
evaluation of an application for a new drug designated for priority review in an effort to facilitate the review. The FDA endeavors to
review applications with priority review designations within six months of the filing date as compared to ten months for review of new
molecular entity NDAs under its current PDUFA review goals.

Fast track designation and priority review do not change the standards for approval but may expedite the development or
approval process. Even if a product qualifies for one of these programs, the FDA may later decide that the product no longer meets the
conditions for qualification or decide that the time period for FDA review or approval will not be shortened. In addition, suchff
designations or shortened review periods may not provide a material commercial advantage.

PosPP t-tt A- pprA oval Requirements

Any drug prr oducts manufaff ctured or distributed pursuant to FDA approvals are subject to continuing regulation by the FDA,
including, among other things, record-keeping requirements, reporting of adverse experiences with the product, providing the FDA
with updated safety and efficacy information, product sampling and distribution requirements, and complying with FDA promotion
and advertising requirements. After approval, most changes to the approved product, such as adding new indications or other labeling
claims, are subject to prior FDA review and approval. There also are continuing, annual program fees for any marketed products.

In addition, quality control and manufacturing procedures must continue to conform to applicable manufacturing requirements
after approval to ensure the long-term stability of the drug product. cGMP regulations require among other things, quality control and
quality assurance as well as the corresponding maintenance of records and documentation and the obligation to investigate and correct
any deviations from cGMP. Drug manufacturers and other entities involved in the manufacture and distribution of approved drugs are
required to register their establa ishments with the FDA and certain state agencies, and are subject to periodic unannounced inspections
by the FDA and certain state agencies for compliance with cGMP and other laws. Accordingly, manufacturers must continue to
expend time, money, and effort in the area of production and quality control to maintain cGMP compliance. In addition, changes to
the manufacturing process are strictly regulated, and depending on the significance of the change, may require prior FDA approval
before being implemented. Other types of changes to the approved product, such as adding new indications and additional labeling
claims, are also subject to further FDA review and approval.
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The FDA may withdraw appra oval if compliance with regulatory requirements and standards is not mrr aintained or if problems
occur after the product reaches tff he market. Later discovery of previously unknown problems with a product, including adverse events
of unanticipated severity or frequency, or with manufacturing processes, or failure to comply with regulatory requirements, may result
in revisions to the approved labeling to add new safety information, imposition of post-market studies or clinical studies to assess new
safeff ty risks, or imposition of distribution restrictions or other restrictions under a REMS program. Other potential consequences
include, among other things:

• restrictions on the marketing or manufaff cturing of tt he product, complete withdrawal of the product from the market or
product recalls;

• fiff nes, warning letters, or untitled letters;

• clinical holds on clinical studit es;

• refusff al of the FDA to appra ove pending applications or supplements to approved applications, or suspension or revocation of
product approvals;

• product seizure or detention, or refusff al to permit the import or export of products;

• consent decrees, corporr ate integrity agreements, debarment or exclusion from federal healthcare programs;

• mandated modification of promotional materials and labeling and the issuance of corrective information;ff

• the issuance of safety alerts, Dear Healthcare Provider letters, press releases and other communications containing warnings
or other safety information about the product; or

• injunctions or the imposition of civil or criminal penalties.

The FDA also may require post-marketing testing, known as Phase 4 testing, and surveillance to monitor the effects of an
appra oved product. Discovery of previously unknown problems with a product or the failure to comply with applicable FDA
requirements can have negative consequences, including adverse publicity, judicial or administrative enforcement, warning letters
frff om the FDA, mandated corrective advertising or communications with doctors, and civil or criminal penalties, among others. Newly
discovered or developed safety or effectiveness data may require changes to a product’s approved labeling, including the addition of
new warnings and contraindications, and also may require the implementation of other risk management measures.

The FDA closely regulates the marketing, labea ling, advertising and promotion of drug products. A company can make only
those claims relating to safeff ty and effff icff acy, purity and potency that are approved by the FDA and in accordance with the provisions of
the approved la abea l. The FDA and other agencies actively enforce the laws and regulations prohibiting the promotion of off label uses.
Failure to comply with these requirements can result in, among other things, adverse publicity, warning letters, corrective advertising
and potential civil and criminal penalties. Physicians may prescribe, in their independent professional medical judgment, legally
availabla e products for uses that are not described in the product’s labeling and that difff fer from those tested and approved by the FDA.ff
Physicians may believe that such offff -ff labea l uses are the best treatment for many patients in varied circumstances. The FDA does not
regulate the behavior of physicians in their choice of treatments. The FDA does, however, restrict manufacturer’s communications on
the subject of off-label use of their products. The federal government has levied large civil and criminal fines against companies for
alleged improper promotion of offff -ff labea l use and has enjoined companies from engaging in off-label promotion. The FDA and other
regulatory agencies have also required that companies enter into consent decrr rees or permanent injunctions under which specifiedff
promotional conduct is changed or curtailed. However, companies may share truthful and not misleading information that is otherwise
consistent with a product’s FDA-approved labelling.
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HatHH ctt h-WaxmWW an Act

Section 505 of the FDCA describes three types of marketing applications that may be submitted to the FDA to request
marketing authorization for a new drug. A Section 505(b)(1) NDA is an application that contains full reports of investigations of
safeff ty and effff iff cacy. A 505(b)(2) NDA is an application that contains full reports of investigations of safety and efficacy but where at
least some of the inforff mation required for approval comes from investigations that were not conducted by or for the applicant and for
which the appla icant has not obtained a right of reference or use from the person by or for whom the investigations were conducted.
This regulatory parr thway enables the applicaa nt to rely, in part, on the FDA’s prior findings of safety and efficacy for an existing
product, or published literature, in support of its appla ication. Section 505(j) establishes an abbreviated approval process for a generic
version of appra oved drug products through the submission of an Abbreviated New Drug Application (“ANDA”). An ANDA provides
for mff arketing of a generic drug product that has the same active ir ngredients, dosage form, strength, route of administration, labeling,
perforff mance characteristics and intended use, among other things, to a previously approved product. ANDAs are termed
“abbra eviated” because they are generally not required to include preclinical (animal) and clinical (human) data to establish safety and
effff iff cacy. Instead, generic applicants must scientifically demonstrate that their product is bioequivalent to, or performs in the same
manner as, the innovator drug through in vitro, in vivo, or other testing. The generic version must deliver the same amount of active
ingredients into a subject’s bloodstream in the same amount of time as the innovator drug and can often be substituted by pharmacists
under prescriptions written for the refeff rence listed drug. In seeking approval for a drug through an NDA, applicants are required to list
with the FDA each patent with claims that cover the applicant’s drug or a method of using the drug. Ur pon approval of a dra ug, er ach of
the patents listed in the application for tff he drug irr s then published in the FDA’s Approved Drug Products with Therapeutic Equivalence
Evaluations, commonly known as the Orange Book. Drugs listed in the Orange Book can, in turn, be cited by potential competitors in
support of appra oval of an ANDA or 505(b)(2) NDA.

Upon submission of an ANAA DA or a 505(b)(2) NDA, an applicant must certify to the FDA that (1) no patent information on the
drug prr oduct that is the subject of the application has been submitted to the FDA; (2) such patent has expired; (3) the date on which
such patent expires; or (4) such patent is invalid or will not be infringed upon by the manufacture, use or sale of the drug product forr
which the appla ication is submitted. Generally, the ANDA or 505(b)(2) NDA cannot be approved until all listed patents have expired,
except where the ANDA or 505(b)(2) NDA applicant challengeAA s a listed patent through the last type of certification, also known as a
paragraph Ia V certification. If the applicant does not challenge the listed patents or indicates that it is not seeking approval of a patented
method of use, the ANDA or 505(b)(2) NDA appla ication will not be approved until all of the listed patents claiming the referenced
product have expired. If the ANDA or 505(b)(2) NDA applicant has provided a Paragraph IV certification to the FDA, the applicant
must send notice of the Paragraph IV certification to the NDA and patent holders once the application has been accepted for filing by
the FDA. The NDA and patent holders may then initiate a patent infringement lawsuit in response to the notice of the paragraph IV
certififf cation. If the paragraph IV certification is challenged by an NDA holder or the patent owner(s) asserts a patent challenge to the
paragraph Ia V certification, the FDA may not approve that application until the earlier of 30 months from the receipt of the notice offf
the paragraph Ia V certification, the expiration of the patent, when the infringement case concerning each such patent was favorably
decided in the applicant’s favor or settled, or such shorter or longer period as may be ordered by a court. This prohibition is generally
refeff rred to as the 30-month stay. In instances where an ANDA or 505(b)(2) NDA applicant fiff les a paragraph IV certification, the NDA
holder or patent owner(s) regularly take action to trigger the 30-month stay, recognizing that the related patent litigation may take
many months or years to resolve. Thus, approval of an ANDA or 505(b)(2) NDA could be delayed for a significant period of time
depending on the patent certification the applicant makes and the reference drug sponsor’s decision to initiate patent litigation.

The Hatch-Waxman Act establishes periods of regulatory err xclusivity for certain approved drug products, during which the FDA
cannot approve (or in some cases accept) an ANDA or 505(b)(2) application that relies on the branded reference drug. For example,
the holder of an NDA, including a 505(b)(2) NDA, may obtain five years of exclusivity upon approval of a new drug containing newa
chemical entities that have not been previously approved by the FDA. A drug is a new chemical entity if the FDA has not previously
appra oved any other new drug containing the same active moiety, which is the molecule or ion responsible for the therapeutiff c activity
of the drug srr ubstance. During the exclusivity period, the FDA may not accept for review an ANDA or a 505(b)(2) NDA submitff ted by
another company that contains the previously approved active moiety. However, an ANDA or 505(b)(2) NDA may be submitted after
four years if it contains a certification of patent invalidity or non-infringement. The Hatch-Waxman Act also provides three years offf
marketing exclusivity to the holder of an NDA (including a 505(b)(2) NDA) for a particular condition of approval, or change to a
marketed product, such as a new formulation for a previously approved product, if one or more new clinical studies (other than
bioavailability or bioequivalence studies) was essential to the approval of the application and was conducted/sponsored by the
applicant. This three-year exclusivity period protects against FDA approval of ANDAs and 505(b)(2) NDAs for the condition of the
new drug’s approval. As a general matter, the three year exclusivity does not prohibit the FDA from approving ANDAs or 505(b)(2)
NDAs for geff neric versions of the original, unmodified drug product. Five-year and three-year exclusivity will not delay the
submission or appra oval of a full NDA; however, an applicant submitting a full NDA would be required to conduct or obtain a right of
reference to all of the preclinical studies and adequate and well-controlled clinical trials necessary to demonstrate safety and efficacy.
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Pediatric exclusivity is another type of non-patent market exclusivity in the United States. Pediatric exclusivity, if granted, adds
six months to existing exclusivity periods and patent terms. This six-month exclusivity, which runs from the end of other exclusivity
protection or patent term, may be granted based on the voluntary completion of a pediatric trial in accordance with an FDA-issued
“Written Request” for such a trial.

Othtt er HeHH altll htt care Laws

In the United States, we are subject to a number of federal and state healthcare regulatory laws that restrict business practices in
the healthcare industry. These laws include, but are not limited to, federal and state anti-kickback laws, false claims laws, data privacy
and security laws, and other healthcare frff aud and abuse laws, such as transparency laws regarding payments or other items of value
provided to healthcare providers.

The U.S. feff deral Anti-Kickback Statute prohibits, among other things, any person or entity from knowingly and willfully
offff eff ring, paying, soliciting, receiving or providing any remuneration, directly or indirectly, overtly or covertly, to induce or in return
for purff chasing, leasing, ordering, or arranging for or recommending the purchase, lease, or order of any good, facility, item or service
reimbursable, in whole or in part, under Medicare, Medicaid or other federal healthcare programs. The term “remuneration” has been
broadly interprrr eted to include anything of value. This statute has been interpreted to apply to arrangements between pharmaceuticalr
manufacturt ers on the one hand and prescribers, purchasers and formulary managers on the other hand. Although there are a number of
statutt ory exceptions arr nd regulatory safe harbors protecting certain common activities from prosecution or other regulatory sanctions,
the exceptions and safe haff rborr s are drawn narrowly and practices that involve remuneration that are alleged to be intended to induce
prescribing, purchases, or recommendations may be subject to scrutiny if they do not qualify for an exception or safe harbor. Failure to
meet all of the requirements of a particular applicable statutory exception or regulatory safe harbor does not make the conduct per se
illegal under the federal healthcare program anti-kickback statute. Instead, the lff egality of the arrangement will be evaluated on a case-
by-case basis based on a cumulative review of all its facts and circumstances. Several courts have interpreted the statute’s intent
requirement to mean that if any one purpose of an arrangement involving remuneration is to induce referrals of federal healthcare
covered business, the federal healthcare program anti-kickback statute has been violated. Additionally, the intent standard under the
feff deral anti-kickback statute was amended by the Patient Protection and Affordable Care Act, as amended by the Health Care and
Education Reconciliation Act (collectively, the “ACA”) to a stricter standard such that a person or entity no longer needs to have
actual knowt ledge of the statute or specific intent to violate it in order to have committed a violation. In addition, the ACA codified
case law that a claim including items or services resulting from a violation of the federal healthcare program anti-kickback statute
constitutet s a faff lse or frff audulent claim for purposes of the federal civil False Claims Act.

The feff deral false claims, including the civil False Claims Act, prohibit, among other things, any person or entity from
knowingly presenting, or causing to be presented, a faff lse, fictitious or fraudulent claim for payment to, or approval by, the federal
government, knowingly making, using, or causing to be made or used a false record or statement material to a false or fraudulent
claim to the federal government, or knowingly making a false statement to avoid, decrease or conceal an obligation to pay money to
the U.S. federal government. A claim includes “any request or demand” for money or property presented to the U.S. goverff nment.
Actions under the civil False Claims Act may be brought by the Attorney General or as a qui tam action by a private individual in the
name of the government. Moreover, a claim including items or services resulting from a violation of the U.S. federal Anti-Kickback
Statute constitutes a faff lse or frff audulent claim for purff poses of the federal civil False Claims Act.rr

In addition, the federal civil monetary penalties law, subject to certain exceptions, prohibits, among other things, the offer orff
transfeff r of remuneration, including waivers of copayments and deductible amounts (or any part thereof), to a Medicare or state
healthcare program beneficiary if the person knows or should know it is likely to influence the beneficiary’s selection of a particular
provider, practitioner or supplier of services reimbursable by Medicare or a state healthcare program.

Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act of 1996 (“HIPAA”) created additional federal criminal statutes that
prohibit, among other actions, knowingly and willfully executing, or attempting to execute, a scheme to defraud any healthcare benefit
program, including private third party payors, knowingly and willfully embezzling or stealing from a healthcare benefit program,
willfully obstructing a criminal investigation of a healthcare offeff nse, and knowingly and willfully falsifying, concealing or covering
up a material fact or making any materially false, fictitious or fraudulent statement in connection with the delivery of or payment for
healthcare benefits, items or services. Similar to the U.S. federal Anti-Kickback Statute, a person or entity does not need to have actual
knowledge of the statute or specific intent to violate it in order to have committed a violation.

In addition, HIPAA, as amended by Health Information Technology for Economic and Clinical Health Act of 2009
(“HITECH”), imposes certain requirements on covered entities, which include certain healthcare providers, health plans and
healthcare clearinghouses, and their business associates and covered subcontractors that receive or obtain protected health information
in connection with providing a service on behalf of a covered entity relating to the privacy, security and transmission of individually
identififf abla e health information.
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The feff deral Physician Payments Sunshine Act requires certain manufaff cturers of drugs, devices, biologics and medical supplies
for wff hich payment is available under Medicare, Medicaid or the Children’s Health Insurance Program, with specific exceptions, to
report annually to CMS inforff mation related to payments or other transfers of value made to physicians (defined to include doctors,
dentists, optometrists, podiatrists and chiropractors), other health care professionals (such as physicians assistants and nurse
practitioners), and teaching hospitals, as well as information regarding ownership and investment interests held by physicians and their
immediate faff mily members.

Similar state and local laws and regulations may also restrict business practices in the pharmaceutical industry, such as state
anti-kickback and false claims laws, which may apply to business practices, including but not limited to, research, distribution, sales
and marketing arrangements and claims involving healthcare items or services reimbursed by non-governmental third-party payors,
including private insurers, or by patients themselves; state laws that require pharmaceutical companies to comply with the
pharmaceutical industry’s voluntary compliance guidelines and the relevant compliance guidance promulgated by the federal
government, or otherwise restrict payments that may be made to healthcare providers and other potential refeff rral sources; state laws
and regulations that require drug mr anufaff cturers to fiff le reports relating to pricing information and marketing expenditures or which
require tracking gifts and other remuneration and items of value provided to physicians, other healthcare providers and entities; and
state and local laws that require the registration of pharmaceutical sales representatives.

Violations of any of these laws and other appla icable healthcare fraud and abuse laws may be punishable by criminal and civil
sanctions, including significant fines and civil monetary penalties, the possibility of exclusion from feff deral healthcare programs
(including Medicare and Medicaid), disgorgement and corporate integrity agreements, which impose, among other things, rigorous
operational and monitoring requirements on companies. Similar sanctions and penalties, as well as imprisonment, also can be imposed
upon executive officers and employees of such companies.

CovCC erage and Reimbursementii

Sales of any pharmaceutical product depend, in part, on the extent to which such product will be covered by third-party payors,
such as federal, state and foreign government healthcare programs, commercial insurance and managed healthcare organizations, and
the level of reimbursement for such product by third-party payors. In the United States, no uniform policy exists for coverage and
reimbursement for pharmaceutical products among third-ff party payors. Therefore, decisions regarding the extent of coverage and
amount of reimbursement to be provided are made on a plan-by-plan basis. The process for determining whether a third-party payor
will provide coverage for a product typically is separate from the process for setting the price of such product or for establishing the
reimbursement rate that the payor will pay for the product once coverage is approved. There is significant uncertainty related to the
insurance coverage and reimbursement of newly approved products. Some third-party payors require pre-approval of coverage for
new drugs berr forff e they will reimburse healthcare providers who use such therapies. Generally, third-party payors limit coverage and
reimbursement for new medicaff tion prior to a formal review by the payors’ pharmacy and therapeutics committees. As such, several
third-party payors have indicated that our products may be subject to denial or limited coverage prior to formal review. There may be
signififf cant delays in obtaining reimbursement for newly-approved drugs, and coverage may be more limited than the purposes for
which the drug or therapea utic biologic is approved by the FDA or similar foreign regulatory authorities. Additionally, we may need to
conduct expensive pharmaco-economic studies to demonstrate the medical necessity and cost-effeff ctiveness of our product candidates.
There can be no assurance that our product candidates will be considered medically necessary or cost-effective.

Third-party payors may limit coverage to specific products on an approved list, also known as a formulary, which might not
include all of the FDA-approved products for a particular indication, or place products at certain formulary levels that result in lower
reimbursement levels and higher cost-sharing obligation imposed on patients. One third-party payor’s decision to cover a particular
medical product or service does not ensure that other payors will also provide coverage for the medical product or service and the
level of coverage and reimbursement can differ significantly from payor to payor. As a result, the coverage determination process will
oftff en require us to provide scientific and clinical support for the use of our products to each payor separately and can be a time-
consuming process, with no assurance that coverage and adequate reimbursement will be applied consistently or obtained in the first
instance. Additionally, a third-party payor’s decision to provide coverage for a product does not imply that an adequate reimbursement
rate will be approved. Further, coverage policies and third-party reimbursement rates may change at any time. Even if favorable
coverage and reimbursement status is attained, less favorable coverage policies and reimburff sement rates may be implemented in the
futff urt e.

Moreover, as a condition of participating in, and having products covered under, certain federal healthcare programs, such as
Medicare and Medicaid, we are subject to federal laws and regulations that require pharmaceutical manufacturers to calculate and
report certain price reporting metrics to the government, such as Medicaid Average Manufacturer Price (“AMP”), and Best Price,
Medicare Average Sales Price, the 340B Ceiling Price, and Non-Federal AMP reported to the Department of Veteran Affairs, and with
respect to Medicaid, pay statutory rebates on utilization of manufaff cturers’ products by Medicaid beneficiaries.
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In international markets, reimbursement and healthcare payment systems vary significantly by country, and many countries have
instituted price ceilings on specififf c products and therapies. For example, the European Union provides options for its member states to
restrict the range of medicinal products for which their national health insurance systems provide reimbursement and to control the
prices of medicinal products for human use. A member state may approve a specififf c price for the medicinal product or it may instead
adopt a system of direct or indirect controls on the profitability of the company placing the medicinal product on the market.
Pharmaceutical products may face competition from lower-priced products in foreign countries that have placed price controls on
pharmaceutical products. Furthermore, there can be no assurance that a product will be considered medically reasonable and necessary
for a sff pecific indication, that a product will be considered cost-effeff ctive by third-party payors, that an adequate level of reimbursement
will be established even if coverage is available or that the third-party payors’ reimbursement policies will not adversely affect the
abia lity to sell a product profitably.

Healthcare Reform

In the United States and certain foreign jurisdictions, there have been, and we expect there will continue to be, a number of
legislative and regulatory changes to the healthcare system. For example, implementation of the ACA substantially changed the way
healthcare is financed by both governmental and private insurers in the United States and significantly affected the pharmaceutical
industry. Trr he ACA, among other things, increased the minimum level of Medicaid rebates payable by manufacturers of brand name
drugsr ; required collection of rebates for drugs paid by Medicaid managed care organizations; required manufacturers to participate in
a coverage gap dia scount program, under which they must agree to offer point-of-sale discounts (increased to 70 percent, effective as of
January 1, 2019) ofrr f negotiated prices of applff icabla e brand drugs to eligible beneficiaries during their coverage gap period, as a
condition for tff he manufacturer’s outpatient drugs tr o be covered under Medicare Part D; imposed a non-deductible annual fee on
pharmaceutical manufacturers or importers who sell certain “branded prescription drugs” to specified federal government programs,
implemented a new methodology by which rebates owed by manufacturers under the Medicaid Drug Rebate Program are calculated
for drugs that are inhaled, infused, instilled, implanted, or injected expanded the types of entities eligible for the 340B drug discount
program; expanded eligibility criteria for Medicaid programs; created a new Patient-Centered Outcomes Research Institute to oversee,
identify priorities in, and conduct comparative clinical effectiveness research, along with funding for such research; and established a
Center for Medicare Innovation at CMS to test innovative payment and service delivery models to lower Medicare and Medicaidff
spending, potentially including prescription drug spendir ng.

Since its enactment, there have been judicial, administrative, executive, and Congressional legislative challenges to certain
aspects of the ACA. For example, on June 17, 2021, the U.S. Supreme Court dismissed a challenge on procedural grounds that argued
the ACA is unconstitutional in its entirety because the “individual mandate” was repealed by Congress. Further, prior to the U.S.
Supreme Court rulir ng, on January 28, 2021, President Biden issued an executive order to initiate a special enrollment period for
purposes of obtaining health insurance coverage through the ACA marketplace. The executive order also instructed certain
governmental agencies to review and reconsider their existing policies and rules that limit access to healthcare, including among
others, reexamining Medicaid demonstration projects and waiver programs that include work requirements, and policies that create
unnecessary barriers to obtaining access to health insurance coverage through Medicaid or the ACA. In addition, on August 16, 2022,
President Biden signed the Inflation Reduction Act of 2022 (“IRA”) into law, which among other things, extends enhanced subsidies
for individuals purchasing health insurance coverage in ACA marketplaces through plan year 2025. The IRA also eliminates the
“donut hole” under the Medicare Part D program beginning in 2025 by significantly lowering the beneficiary maximum out-of-pocket
cost and creating a new manufacturer discount program. It is unclear how such challenges and the healthcare reform measures of the
Biden administration will impact the ACA.

Other legislative changes have been proposed and adopted since the ACA was enacted, including aggregate reductions of
Medicare payments to providers of 2% per fiscal year pursuant to the Budget Control Act of 2011which went into effect on April 1,
2013, and due to subsequent legislative amendments, will remain in effect until 2031, unless additional Congressional action is taken.
Under current legislation, the actual reduction in Medicare payments will vary from 1% in 2022 to up to 4% in the final fiscal year of
this sequester. In addition, on January 2, 2013, the American Taxpayer Relief Act of 2012 was signed into law which, among other
things, furff ther reduced Medicare payments to several types of providers, including hospitals, imaging centers and cancer treatment
centers, and increased the statute of limitations period for the government to recover overpayments to providers from three to five
years. Congress is considering additional health reform measures.
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Moreover, there has been heightened governmental scrutiny over the manner in which manufacturers set prices for their
marketed products, which has resulted in several U.S. Presidential executive orders, congressional inquiries, and proposed and enacted
legislation designed, among other things, to bring more transparency to product pricing, review the relationship between pricing and
manufacturer patient programs and reforff m government program reimbursement methodologies for pharmaceutical products. For
example, at the federal level, in July 2021, the Biden administration released an executive order, “Promoting Competition in the
American Economy,” with multiple provisions aimed at prescription drugs. In response to Biden’s executive order, on September 9,
2021, the U.S. Department of Health and Human Services (“HHS”) released a Comprehensive Plan for Addressing High Drug Prices
that outlines principles for drug pricing reform and sets out a variety of potential legislative policies that Congress could pursue as
well as potential administrative actions HHS can take to advance these principles. In addition, the IRA, among other things, (i) directs
HHS to negotiate the price of certain high-expenditure, single-source drugs and biologics covered under Medicare, and subject drug
manufacturt ers to civil monetary perr nalties and a potential excise tax by offering a price that is not equal to or less than the negotiated
“maximum fair priceff ” for sff uch drugs and biologics under the law, and (ii) imposes rebates with respect to certain drugs and biologics
covered under Medicare Part B or Medicare Part D to penalize price increases that outpace inflation. The IRA permits HHS to
implement many of these provisions through guidance, as opposed to regulation, for the initial years. These provisions will take effect
progressively starting in fiscal year 2023, although they may be subject to legal challenges. It is currently unclear how the IRA will be
implemented but is likely to have a significant impact on the pharmaceutical industry. Further, the Biden administration released an
additional executive order on October 14, 2022, directing HHS to submit a report on how the Center for Medicare and Medicaid
Innovation can be further leveraged to test new models for lowering drug costs for Medicare and Medicaid beneficiaries. It is unclear
whether this executive order or similar policy initiatives will be implemented in the future. In addition, the American Taxpayer Relief
Act of 2021, effective January 1, 2024, would eliminate the statutory cap on rebate amounts owed by drug manufacturers under the
Medicaid Drug Rr ebate Program (“MDRP”), which is currently capped at 100% of the AMP for a covered outpatient drug.

Individual states in the United States have also become increasingly active in implementing regulations designed to control
pharmaceutical product pricing, including price or patient reimbursement constraints, discounts, restrictions on certain product access
and marketing cost disclosure and transparency measures and, in some cases, mechanisms to encourage importation from other
countries and bulk purchasing. In addition, regional healthcare authorities and individual hospitals are increasingly using bidding
procedures to determine which drugs and suppliers will be included in their healthcare programs. Furthermore, there has been
increased interest by third-party payors and governmental authorities in reference pricing systems and publication of discounts and list
prices.

We expect additional state and federal healthcare reform measures to be adopted in the future, any of which could limit the
amounts that federal and state governments will pay for healtff hcare products and services.

Data Ptt rPP ivacy and Sec curity Lawsii

Numerous state, local, federal and foreign laws, including consumer protection laws and regulations related to data privacy,
security, and protection, govern the collection, dissemination, use, access to, confidentiality, and security of personal information,
including health-related information. Such obligations may include, without limitation, HIPAA, the Federal Trade Commission Act,
the California Consumer Privacy Act of 2018 (“CCPA”), the Canadian Personal Information Protection and Electronic Documents
Act, Canada’s Anti-Spam Legislation, the European Union’s General Data Protection Regulation 2016/679 (“EU GDPR”), and the EU
GDPR as it forff ms part of United Kingdom (“UK”) law by virtue of section 3 of the European Union (Withdrawal) Act 2018 (“UK
GDPR”).HIPAA, as amended by HITECH, imposes obligations, including mandatory contractual terms, on certain covered healthcare
providers, health plans, and healthcare clearinghouses and their respective business associates and covered subcontractors that perform
services for them that involve the use, or disclosure of, individually identifiable health information with respect to safeff guarding the
privacy, security and transmission of individually identifiable health information. In addition, certain state and non-U.S. laws, such as
the CCPA, the CPRA aRR nd the GDPR, govern the privacy and security of personal information, including health-related information in
certain circumstances, some of which are more stringent than HIPAA and many of which differ from each other in significant ways
and may not have the same effect, thus complicating compliance efforts. Failure to comply with these laws, where applicable, can
result in the imposition of significant civil and/or criminal penalties and private litigation. Privacy and security laws, regulations, and
other obligations are constantly evolving, may conflict with each other to make compliance efforts more challenging, and can result in
investigations, proceedings, or actions that lead to significant penalties and restrictions on data processing.

In addition, Congress and various other states have enacted or are considering new laws and regulations regarding the privacy
and security of heath and other personal information to which we may become subject. Further, all 50 states have passed laws
regulating the actions that a business must take if it experiences a data breach, such as prompt disclosure to affected customers. In
addition to data breach notification laws, some states have enacted statutt es and rulrr es requiring businesses to reasonably protect certain
types of personal information they hold or to otherwise comply with certain specified data security requirements for personal
inforff mation. We intend to continue to protect all personal information in our control and to comply with all applicable laws regarding
the protection of such inforff mation.
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The CCPA and EU GDPR are examples of the increasingly stringent and evolving regulatory frameworks related to personal
data processing that may increase our compliance obligations and exposure for any noncompliance. For example, the CCPA regulates
the processing of personal inforff mation of California residents and increases the privacy and security obligations of covered companies
handling such personal information, including requiring covered companies to provide new disclosures to California residents, and
affff orff ds such residents new abila ities to opt-out of certain sales of personal information. The CCPA provides for civil penalties for
violations, as well as a private right of action for cff ertain data breaches that result in the loss of personal information that may increase
the likelihood of, aff nd risks associated with, data breach litigation. Moreover, the California Privacy Rights Act, or the CPRA, – aff
consumer privacy ballot initiative that amends and expands the CCPA became effective on January 1, 2023, and expands the CCPA.
The CPRA aRR ffff orff ds Califorff nia residents significantly more control over their personal information, imposes heightened compliance
obligations on covered companies, and establa ishes a new enforcement agency dedicated to consumer privacy. While aspects of the
CCPA and CPRA aRR nd its interpretation remain to be deter rmined in practice, they create further uncertainty and may result in
additional costs and expenses in an effort to comply.

Foreign data privacy and security laws (including but not limited to the EU GDPR and UK GDPR) impose significant andff
complex compliance obligations on entities that are subject to those laws. As one example, the EU GDPR applies to any company
establa ished in the EEA and to companies established outside the EEA that process personal data in connection with the offering of
goods or services to data subjects in the EEA or the monitoring of the behavior of data subjects in the EEA. These obligations may
include limiting personal data processing to only what is necessary for sff pecified, explicit, and legitimate purposes; requiring a legal
basis for peff rsonal data processing; requiring the appointment of a data protection officer in certain circumstances; increasing
transparency obligations to data subjects; requiring data protection impact assessments in certain circumstances; limiting the collection
and retention of personal data; increasing rights for data subjects; formalizing a heightened and codified standard of data subject
consents; requiring the implementation and maintenance of technical and organizational safeguards for personal data; mandating
notice of certain personal data breaches to the relevant supervisory authority(ies) and affected individuals; and mandating the
appoia ntment of representatives in the UK and/or the EU in certain circumstances.

ThTT e U.SUU . FSS orFF eign Ci orCC rupt PrPP actitt ces Act

The U.S. Foreign Corrupt Pr ractices Act of 1977 (“FCPA”) prohibits any U.S. individual or business from paying, offering, or
authorizing payment or offff ering of anything of valueff , directly or indirectly, to any foreign official, political party or candidate for theff
purposrr e of inflff uencing any act or decision of the foreign entity in order to assist the individual or business in obtaining or retaining
business. The FCPA also obligates companies whose securities are listed in the United States to comply with accounting provisions
requiring the company to maintain books and records that accurately and fairly reflect all transactions of the corporation, including
international subsidiaries, and to devise and maintain an adequate system of internal accounting controls for internationaff l operations.

Europe / Rest of World Government Regulation

In addition to regulations in the United States, we will be subject to a variety of regulations in other jurisdictions governing,
among other things, clinical trials and any commercial sales and distribution of our products. Whether or not we or our potential
collaborators obtain FDA appra oval for a product, we must obtain the requisite approvals from regulatory authorities in foreignff
countries prior to the commencement of clinical trials or marketing of the product in those countries. Certain countries outside of the
United States have a similar process that requires the submission of an application for a clinical trial authorization (“CTA”) much like
the IND prior to the commencement of human clinical trials. In the EU, for example, a CTA must be submitted to each country’sff
national health authority and an application made to an independent ethics committee, much like the FDA and IRB, respectively. Once
the CTA is appra oved in accordance with a country’rr s requirements and a favorable ethics committee opinion has been issued, clinical
trial development may proceed.

The requirements and process governing the conduct of clinical trials are to a significant extent harmonized at the EU level, but
could vary frr rff om country trr o country. Irr n all cases, the clinical trials must be conducted in accordance with GCP and the applicable
regulatory rrr equirements and the ethical principles that have their origin in the Declaration of Helsinki.

To obtain regulatory approval of an investigational drug or biological product under EU regulatory systems, we must submit a
marketing authorization application either under the so-called centralized or national authorization procedures. The application used to
file an NDA in the United States is similar to that required in the EU, but the exact requirements for authorization may vary.

Centralized Procedure. The centralized procedure provides for the grant of a single marketing authorization by the European
Commission following a favorable opinion by the EMA that is valid in all EU member states, as well as Iceland, Liechtenstein and
Norway. The centralized procedure is compulsory for medicines produced by specified biotechnological processes, products
designated as orphan medicinal products, and products with a new active substance indicated for the treatment of specified diseases,
such as HIV/AIDS, cancer, diabetes, neurodegenerative disorders or autoimmune diseases, other immune dysfuncff tions and viral
diseases. The centralized procedure is optional for other products that represent a significant therapeutic, scientific or technical
innovation, or whose authorization would be in the interest of public health or which contain a new active substance for indicationsff
other than those specified to be compulsory.
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NatNN ional Authorization Procedures. There are also two other possible routes to authorize medicinal products in several EU
countries, which are available for investigational medicinal products that fall outside the scope of the centralized procedure:

• Decentralized procedure. Using the decentralized procedure, an applicant may apply for simultaneous authorizations in more
than one EU Member State of medicinal products that have not yet been authorized in any EU Member State and that do not
faff ll within the mandatory srr cope of the centralized procedure.

• Mutuat l recognition procedure. In the mutual recognition procedure, a medicine is first authorized in one EU Member State,
in accordance with the national procedures of that country. Following this, further marketing authorizations can be sought
from other EU countries in a procedure whereby the countries concerned agree to recognize the validity of the original,
national marketing authorization.

The EU also provides opportunities for market exclusivity. For example, upon receiving marketing authorization, new chemical
entities generally receive eight years of data exclusivity and an additional two years of market exclusivity. If granted, data exclusivity
prevents regulatory authorities in the EU from referencing the innovator’s data to assess a generic or biosimilar application. During the
additional two-year period of market exclusivity, a generic or biosimilar marketing authorization can be submitted, and the innovator’s
data may be referenced, but no generic or biosimilar product can be marketed until the expiration of the market exclusivity. However,
there is no guarantee that a product will be considered by the EU’s regulatory authorities to be a new chemical entity, and products
may not qualify fff or data exclusivity.ff

The EMA grants orphan drug designation to promote the development of products for the treatment, prevention or diagnosis of
lifeff -threatening or chronically debilitating conditions affecting not more than five in 10,000 people in the EU. In addition, orphan drugr
designation can be granted if the drug is intended for a life threatening or chronically debilitating condition in the EU and without
incentives it is unlikely that sales of the drug in the EU would be sufficient to justify the investment required to develop the drug.
Orphan drug designation is only available if there is no other satisfactory method approved in the EU of diagnosing, preventing or
treating the condition, or if such a method exists, the proposed orphan drug will be of significant benefit to patients. Orphan drug
designation provides opportunities for fff rff ee or reduced-fee protocol assistance, fee reductions for marketing authorization applications
and other post-authorization activities and ten years of market exclusivity following drug approval, which can be extended to 12 years
if trials are conducted in accordance with an agreed-upon pediatric investigational plan. The exclusivity period may be reduced to six
years if the designation criteria are no longer met, including where it is shown that the product is sufficiently profitable not to justify
maintenance of market exclusivity. Orphan drug designation does not convey any advantage in, or shorten the duration of, the
regulatory review and approval process.

In the EU, early access mechanisms for iff nnovative medicines (such as compassionate use programs and named patient supplies),
pricing and reimbursement, and promotion and advertising, amongst other things, are subject to national regulations and oversight by
national competent authorities and therefore significantly vary from country to country.

Sanctions for non-ff compliance with the aforementioned requirements, which may include administrative and criminal penalties,
are generally determined and enforff ced at national level. However, under the EU financial penalties regime, the EMA can investigate
and report on alleged breaches of the EU pharmaceutical rules by holders of a marketing authorization for centrally authorized
medicinal products and the European Commission could adopt decisions imposing significant financial penalties on infringing
marketing authorization holders.

The United Kingdom left tff he EU on January 31, 2020. Frr ollowing the transition period which ended on December 31, 2020,
Brexit could materially impact the regulatory regime with respect to the development, manufacture, importation, approval and
commercialization of our product candidates in the United Kingdom in the coming years.

For other countries outside of the EU, such as countries in Eastern Europe, Latin America or Asia, the requirements governing
the conduct of clinical trials, product licensing, pricing and reimbursement vary from country to country. In all cases, again, theff
clinical trials are conducted in accordance with GCP and the applicable regulatory requirements and the ethical principles that have
their origin in the Declaration of Helsinki.

If we or our potential collaborators faff il to comply with applicabla e foreign regulatory requirements, we may be subject to, among
other things, fines, suspension or withdrawal of regulatory approvals, product recalls, seizure of products, operating restrictions and
criminal prosecution.

Corporate Inforff mation

Our corporr ate headquarters are located at 11682 El Camino Real, Suite 120, San Diego, California 92130, and our telephone
number is (858) 771-9307. Our corporrr ate website address is www.ars-pharma.com. Information contained on, or accessible through,
our website shall not be deemed incorporated into and is not a part of this Annual Report on Form 10-K. Our periodic and current
reports are availabla e on our website, free of charge, as soon as reasonably practicable after filing. We have included our website in this
Annual Report on Form 10-K solely as an inactive textuat l reference.
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On November 8, 2022 (the “Closing Date”), Silverback Therapeutics, Inc., a Delaware corporation (“Silverback”), now known
as ARS Pharmaceuticals, Inc., completed its reverse merger (the “Merger”) with privately-held ARS Pharmaceuticals, Inc. (“ARS
Pharma”), in accordance with the terms of the agreement and plan of merger and reorganization, dated July 21, 2022, as amended on
August 11, 2022 and October 25, 2022 (the “Merger Agreement”), whereby Sabre Merger Sub, Inc. (“Merger Sub”), a Delaware
corporr ation and wholly-owned subsidiary of Srr ilverback, merged into ARS Pharma, witr h ARS Pharma surviving as Silverback’s
wholly-owned subsidiary. Prr ursuant to the Merger Agreement, Silverbar ck changed its name to ARS Pharmaceuticals, Inc. See Item 7-
Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations of this Annual Report and Note 3- Merger
and Related Transactions of our fiff nancial statements for the year ended December 31, 2022 included in Item 8 of this Annual Report
for mff ore inforff mation regarding the Merger.

Employees

As of December 31, 2022, we had seventeen full-time employees and three part-time employees. Of these employees, two held
Ph.D. or M.D. degrees. None of our employees are represented by labor unions or covered by collective bargaining agreements. We
consider our relationship with our employees to be good.

Item 1A. Risk Factors

We opeWW rate in a dynamic and rapidly changing environment that involves numerous risks and uncertainties. Certain factors may
have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations, and you should carefully consider them.
Accordingly, in evaluating our business, we encourage you to consider the folff lowing discussion of risk factors, in its entirety, inii
addition to other information contained in this Annual Reporff t and our other public filings with the SEC. Other events that we do not
currently anticll ipati e or that we currently deem immaterial may also affect our results of operations and financial condition.ll

Risks Related to Our Financial Position and Need for Capital

We arWW e a clill nii ical-stage biopharmaceutical company and have incurred signi ificant losi ses since our inception. We anticipate that wii e
wilii l continue to incur significant losses for the foreseeable future.ll

Investment in biopharmaceutical product development is highly speculative because it entails substantial upfront capital
expenditures and significant risk that any potential product candidate will fail to demonstrate adequate effect or an acceptable safety
profiff le, gain regulatory approval and become commercially viable. Our only product candidate, nefe fff yff , is in the clinical stage of
development. We have no products approved for commercial sale and have not generated any revenue from product sales to date, and
we will continue to incur signififf cant research and development and other expenses related to our clinical development and ongoing
operations. As a result, we are not profitable and have incurred losses in each period since our inception. Since our inception, we have
devoted substantially all of our efforts and financial resources to organizing and staffing our company, business planning, raising
capia tal, performing research and development activities, and providing general and administrative support for these operations. Our
fiff nancial condition and operating results, including net losses, may fluctuate significantly from quarter to quarter and year to year.
Accordingly, you should not rely upon the results of any quarterly or annual periods as indications of future operating performance.
Additionally, net losses and negative cash flows have had, and will continue to have, an adverse effect on Our stockholders’ equity
and working capital. Our net losses were appra oximately $34.7 million and $20.2 million for the years ended December 31, 2022 and
2021, respectively. As of December 31, 2022, we had an accumulated deficit of $76.9 million. We expect to continue to incur
signififf cant losses for the foreseeable fa utff urt e, and we expect these losses to increase as we continue our research and development of,ff
and seek regulatory approvals and prepare for cff ommercialization for our product candidate, nefe fyff , an investigational, new formulation
of epinephrine, for the emergency treatment of Type I allergic reactions and potential additional indications.
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We anticipate that our expenses will increase substantially if and as we:

• continue to develop and conduct nonclinical studies and clinical trials for nefe fyff for the emergency treatment of Type I allergic
reactions and potential additional indications;

• seek regulatory approvals in the United States, the EU and other geographia c regions for nefe fff yff for the emergency treatment of
Type I allergic reactions and other indications that successfulff ly complete clinical development;

• seek to identify additional product candidates;

• initiate and continue research, preclinical and clinical development efforts for any future product candidates;

• experience any delays or encounter any issues with any of the above, including but not limited to failed studies, negative or
mixed clinical trial results, safety issues or other regulatory challenges, the risk of which in each case may be exacerbated by
COVID-19 or other health epidemic or pandemic;

• add clinical, scientific, operational, fiff nancial and management information systems and personnel, including personnel to
support our product candidate development and potential future commercialization efforts and help us comply with our
obligations as a public company;

• maintain, expand and protect our intellectual property portfolio;

• establa ish or expand our sales, marketing, distribution, manufacturing, supply chain and other commercial infrastructure in the
future to commercialize any products for which we may obtain regulatory arr pproval; anda

• acquire or in-license other product candidates and technologies.

Our expenses could increase beyond our expectations if we are required by the FDA, the EMA or other regulatory authorities to
perforff m clinical trials or conduct nonclinical studies in addition to those that we currently expect, or if there are any delays in
completing our clinical trials or the development of neffy, or if we choose to develop any futff ure product candidates.t

We hWW ave never generated revenue from product sales and may never be profitable.

Our abia lity to become and remain profiff tabla e depends on our abia lity to generate significant revenue from product sales. We do
not expect to generate significant revenue, if any, unless and until we, either alone or with a collaborator, are able to obtain regulatory
appra oval for, and successfully commercialize, nefe fff yff for its initial indication aff nd potential additional indications. Successful
commercialization of nefe fyff will require achievement of many key milestones, which vary by jurisdiction and may include
demonstrating safeff ty and efficacy in clinical trials, and obtaining regulatory approval for nefe fff yff . If neffy is approved, we, or any of our
current or futurff e licensing and collabora ation partners must also comply with post-approval requirements, such as those relating to
marketing and manufacturing. Finally, obtaining adequate coverage and reimbursement for nefe fff yff from private or government payors
will be crucial to neffy’s commercial success. Because of the uncertainties and risks associated with these activities, we are unable to
accurately and precisely predict the timing and amount of revenues, the extent of any further losses or if or when we might achieve
profiff tabila ity. We and any current and future licensing and collaboration partners may never succeed in these activities and, even if we
do, or any current or future licensing and collaboration partners do, we may never generate revenues that are large enough for us to
achieve profiff tabia lity. Even if we do achieve profiff tabia lity, we may not be able to sustain or increase profitability on a quarterly or
annual basis.

Our faff ilure to become and remain profitable may depress the market price of our common stock and could impair our ability to
raise capital, expand our business or continue our operations.

We hWW ave a limited operating hisll tortt y anr d only one curll rent product candidate, neffy, which is in the clinical stage of
development and has no commercial salell s, ws hich may make it diii fficult to evaluate the prospects for our fi uff ture viability.ii

We are a biopharmaceutical company founded in 2015 as ARS Pharmaceuticals, Inc., and our operations to date have been
limited to organizing, staffing and financing our company, raising capital, and conducting research and development activities,
including preclinical and nonclinical studies and clinical trials, for our only product candidate, neffy. We have not yet demonstrated an
abia lity to generate product revenues, obtain regulatory approvals, manufacture a commercial product, or arrange for a third parff ty to do
so on our behalf, or cff onduct sales and marketing activities necessary for sff uccessful product commercialization. Accordingly, you
should consider our prospects in light of the costs, uncertainties, delays and difficulties frequently encountered by companies in
clinical development, especially clinical-stage biopharmaceutical companies such as us. Any predictions you make about our future
success or viabia lity may not be as accurate as they could be if we had a longer operating history or a history of successfully developing
and commercializing pharmaceutical products.



42

We may encounter unforeseen expenses, difficulties, complications, delays and other known or unknown factors in achieving
our business objectives. We are preparing to transition from a company with a development focus to a company capable of supporting
commercial activities. We may not be successful in such a transition.

We mWW ay need additional funding, and if we are unable to raise capital when needed, we could be forced to delay, reduce orii
elill miii nii ate our product dett velopmll ent actitt vititt es or commercialization efforts.ii

Our operations have consumed significant amounts of cash since inception. Based upon our current operating plan, we believe
that our cash and cash equivalents will fund our opeff rating and capital expenses for at least three years. We expect our spending levels
to increase in connection with seeking regulatory approval and preparing for commercialization of neffye for the emergency treatment
of Type I allergic reactions. In addition, if we obtain regulatory approval for the marketing of neffy, we expect to incur significant
expenses related to commercial launch, product sales, medical affairs, marketing, manufaff cturing and distribution. Furt ther, we expect
to incur additional costs associated with operating as a public company. Even if our nonclinical and clinical development of neffye is
successful aff nd we are able to gain marketing approval for nefe fff yff for the emergency treatment of Type I allergic reactions in the
timefrff ame we anticipate, we may require significant additional amounts of cash in order to launch and commercialize neffye for this
indication in the United States or for any additional indications for whichff neffye receives regulatory arr pproval. Ia n addition, other
unanticipated costs may arise in the course of our development efforts. Bff ecause the outcome of our ongoing and anticipated clinical
trials and timeframe for regulatory approvals forrr nefe fyff is highly uncertain, we cannot reasonably estimate the actuat l amounts of cash
necessary trr o successfully complete the development and commercialization of neffy for any indication we are pursuing.

Our futff urt e capital requirements depend on many factors, including:a

• the scope, progress, results and costs of researching and developing nefe fff yff for the emergency treatment of Type I allergic
reactions and potential additional indications, as well as any future product candidates we may develop;

• the timing of, and the costs involved in, obtaining regulatory approval for the marketing of nefe fyff for the emergency treatment
of Type I allergic reactions and potential additional indications, and any future product candidates we may develop and
pursue;

• the number of future product candidates that we may pursue and their development requirements, if any;

• if appra oved, the costs of commercialization activities forff nefe fff yff for any approved indications, or the similar cost of any other
product candidate that receives regulatory approval to the extent such costs are not the responsibility of any current or future
licensing and collaboration partners, including the costs and timing of establisa hing product sales, marketing, distribution and
manufacturing capabilities;

• subject to receipt of regulatory approval, revenue received from commerff cial sales of nefe fff yff for any approved indications or
from future product candidates, if any;

• the amount and timing of potential royalty and milestone payments to our current or future licensing and collaboration
partners;

• the receipt of licensing fees, royalties and potential milestone payments under our current or future out-licensing
arrangements;

• the extent to which we in-licenses or acquire rights to other products, product candidates or technologies;

• our headcount growth and associated costs as we expand our personnel, including personnel to support our product candidate
development and potential future commercialization efforts and help us comply with our obligations as a public company;

• the costs of preparing, filing and prosecuting patent applications, maintaining and protecting our intellectual property rights,
including enforff cing and defending intellectual property related claims; and

• the ongoing costs of operating as a public company.

We cannot be certain that additional funding will be available on acceptabla e terms, or at all. The global credit and financial
markets have experienced extreme volatility and disruptr ions, including diminished liquidity and credit availability, declines in
consumer confidence, declines iff n economic growth, increases in unemployment rates, inflation, bank failures and uncertainty about
economic stability. If the equity and credit markets deteriorate, it may make any necessary debt or equity financing more difficultff ,
more costly or more dilutive.
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We believe that our existing cash and cash equivalents will be sufficient to fund our planned operations for at least three years.
This estimate may prove to be wrong, and we could use our availabla e capital resources sooner than we currently expect. Further,
changing circumstances, some of which may be beyond our control, could cause us to consume capital significantly faster than we
currently anticipate, and we may need to seek additional funds sooner than planned.

We have no committed source of additional capital other than potential milestone payments and royalties under our
collaboration and licensing agreements. If we are unable to raise additional capital in sufficient amounts or on terms acceptable to us,
we may have to signififf cantly delay, scale back or discontinue the development or potential commercialization of nefe fyff for additional
indications. We may need to seek licensing and collaboration partners for neffye for commercialization in additional indications on
terms that are less favorable than might otherwise be available or relinquish or license on unfavorable terms our rights to neffy in
markets where we otherwise would seek to pursue development or commercialization ourselves. Any of the above events could
signififf cantly harm our business, prospects, fiff nancial condition, and results of operations.

Raising additional capital may cause dilution to our stockholders, restrict our operations or require us to relinquish rights to ourtt
tett chnologiell s or product candidate.

We expect our expenses to increase in connection with our planned operations. Based upon our current operating plan, we
believe that our cash and cash equivalents will fund our operating and capital expenses for at least three years. However, unlff ess and
until we can generate a substantial amount of revenue from nefe fff yff , we may seek to finance our future cash needs through public or
private equity offerings, royalty-based or debt financings, collaborations, licensing arrangements or other sources, or any combination
of the forff egoing. In addition, we may seek additional capital due to faff vorable market conditions or strategic considerations, even if we
believe that we have sufficient funds for our current or future operating plans.

To the extent that we raise additional capital through the sale of common stock, convertible securities or other equity securities,
stockholders’ interests may be diluted, and the terms of these securities could include liquidation or other preferences and anti-dilution
protections that could adversely affect our stockholders’ rights. In addition, new debt financing, if available, may result in fixed
payment obligations and may involve agreements that include restrictive covenants that further limit our ability to take specific
actions, such as incurring additional debt, making capital expenditures, creating liens, redeeming stock or declaring dividends, that
could adversely impact our ability to conduct our business. In addition, securing financing could require a substantial amount of time
and attention frff om our management and may divert a disproportionate amount of their attention away from day-to-day activities,
which may adversely affff eff ct their ability to oversee the development and potential futff ure commercialization oft neffye .

If we raise additional funds through collaborations or marketing, distribution or licensing arrangements with third parties, we
may have to relinquish valuabla e rights to our technologies, future revenue streams or product candidates or grant licenses on terms that
may not be favorable to us.

ChCC anges in tii ax ltt aw cll ould advll ersely affff eff ct our businii ess and financial condition.

The rules dealing with U.S. federal, state and local income taxation are constantly under review by persons involved in the
legislative process and by the Internal Revenue Service and the U.S. Treasury Department. Changes to tax laws (which changes may
have retroactive application) could adversely affect us or holders of our common stock. In recent years, many such changes have been
made and changes are likely to continue to occur in the future. Future changes in tax laws could have a material adverse effect on our
business, cash flff ow, fiff nancial condition, realization of tax assets or results of operations.

Risks Related to the Development of nefe fff yff or Any Future Product Candidates

We cWW urrently depend on thtt e success of nefe fff yff , wyy hich is our only current product candidate. Iii f wII e are unable to obttt ain rtt egue latorytt
approval forff , anr d successfs ully commerciff alill zii e, ne efe fff yff , or experiences significant delays iyy n doiii nii g so, our business will be materially
harmed.

We currently only have one product candidate, nefe fff yff , and our business and future success depends entirely on our ability toa
develop, obtain regulatory approval for, and then successfully commercialize, nefe fff yff , which is currently in clinical development for the
emergency treatment of Type I allergic reactions in adults and children age 4 to 18 years. This may make an investment in our
company riskier than similar companies that have multiple product candidates in active development that may be able to better sustaina
faff ilure of a lead product candidate.
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We currently have no products approved for marketing and are investing the majority of our efforts and financial resources in
the development of our sole product candidate, nefe fff yff , for the emergency treatment of Type I allergic reactions and potential other
indications. Successful cff ontinued development and ultimate regulatory approval ofrr nefe fff yff for our initial indication and potential
additional indications is critical to the future success of our business. We will need to successfully complete our clinical development
of nefe fff yff for tff he emergency treatment of Type I allergic reactions and other indications. The future regulatory and commercial success
of nefe fff yff and any future product candidates is subject to a number of risks, including the following:

• successful completion of nonclinical studies and clinical trials;

• successful patient enrollment in clinical trials;

• successful data from our nonclinical studies and clinical trials that support an acceptable risk-benefit profile of neffye or any
future product candidates in the intended populations and indications;

• satisfaction of applicable regulatory requirements, including to satisfy applicable rules governing combination products;ff

• potential unforff eseen safeff ty issues or adverse side effects;ff

• receipt and maintenance of marketing approvals from applicable regulatora y arr uthorities;

• remaining in compliance with post-marketing regulatory requirements;

• obtaining and maintaining patent and trade secret protection and regulatory exclusrr ivity for neffye or any future product
candidates;

• making arrangements or maintaining existing arrangements with third-party manufacturers, or establishing manufacturing
capabilities, for both clinical and commercial supplies of neffye or any future product candidates;

• entry into collaborations to further the development of neffy or any future product candidates;

• establishing sales, marketing and distribution capabilities and launching commercial sales of any approved products, whether
alone or in collabora ation with others;

• successfully launching commercial sales of neffy or any future product candidates, if and when approved;a

• acceptance of neffe yff or any futff urt e product candidates, if and when approved, by patients, the medical community and third-
party payors;

• obtaining and maintaining third-party coverage and adequate reimbursement;

• products, following approval, maintaining a contiff nued acceptable safety profile;ff

• effff eff ctively competing with other therapies;

• ensuring that we promote and distribute our products consistent with all applicable healthcare laws; and

• enforcing and defending intellectual property rights and claims.

Many of these risks are beyond our control, including the risks related to clinical development, the regulatory submission and
review process, potential threats to our intellectual property rights and the manufacturing, marketing and sales efforts of any current or
futff urt e collaboration partner. If we are unable to develop, ra eceive regulatory approval for, or successfully commercialize neffye for the
indications we are developing it for, or if we experience delays as a result of any of these risks or otherwise, our business will be
materially harmed.
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In addition, of the large number of products in development in the pharmaceutical industry, only a small percentage result in the
submission of an NDA to the FDA or a MAA to the EMA, and even fewer are approved for marketing and commercialization.
Furthermore, even if we receive regulatory approval to market nefe fff yff for any indication, any such approval may be subject to
limitations on the indications or uses or the patient populations for which we may market the product. Accordingly, even if we are able
to obtain the requisite financing to continue to fund our development activities, we cannot assure you that we will successfully
develop or commercialize neffe yff for aff ny indication. If we or any of our current or future licensing and collaboration partners are unable
to develop, or obtain regulatory arr ppra oval forff , or, if approved, successfully commercialize nefe fff yff for its initial indication or potential
additional indications, we may not be able to generate sufficient revenue to continue our business. In addition, our failure to satisfy
other regulatory rrr equirements could adversely affect our development efforts forff neffye in other indications.

ThTT e denial of regue latory approval for neffy could mean that we need to delay or even cease operatitt ons, and a delay in obtaining
such approval would dell lay commercializatill on of neffy and adversely impact our ability to generate revenue, business and results oftt
operatitt ons.

If we are not successful in commercializing nefe fff yff , or are signififf cantly delayed in doing so, our business will be materially
harmed, and we may need to curtail or cease operations. We currently have no pharmaceutical products approved for marketing, and
we may never obtain regulatory approval to market and commercialize nefe fff yff for any indication. The research, testing, manufacturing,
labea ling, approval, sale, marketing and distribution of pharmaceutical products are subject to extensive regulation by the FDA, the
EMA, and other regulatory agencies in the United States, EU and other countries, and such regulations differ from country to country.
We are not permitted to market nefe fff yff until we receive approval or marketing authorization from the relevant regulatory authority. The
FDA, the EMA or any other foreign regulatory agency can delay, limit or deny approval to market nefe fff yff for many reasons, including:

• our inabia lity to demonstrate to the satisfaff ction of the FDA, the EMA or any other appla icable foreign regulatory agency thata
neffy is safe and effective for the requested indication;ff

• our inabia lity to gain agreement from applicable foreign regulatory authorities thatff nefe fff yff is appropriate for approval under
applicable regulatory pathways;

• the FDA’s, the EMA’s or any other applicable foreign regulatory arr gency’s disagreement with the interpretation of data fromr
nonclinical and clinical studies and trials;

• our inabia lity to demonstrate that the clinical and other benefits of nefe fff yff outweigh any safety or other perceived risks;

• our inabia lity to enroll an adequate number of patients in and successfully complete our ongoing and any future clinical trials,
including our pediatric clinical study EPI-10;

• the FDA’s, the EMA’s or any other applicable foreign regulatory agency’s requirement for additional nonclinical or clinical
studies or trials, including studies to satisfy applicable rules governing combination products;

• the FDA’s, the EMA’s or any other applicable foreign regulatory arr gency’s having diffeff ring requirements for the trial
protocols used in our clinical trials;

• the FDA’s, the EMA’s or any other applicable foreign regulatory arr gency’s non-approval of the formulation, labeling and/or
the specifications of neffe yff ;

• the FDA’s, the EMA’s or any other applicable foreign regulatory agency’s failure to accept the manufacturing processes or
third-party manufaff cturt ers with which we contract; or

• the potential for approval policies or regulations of the FDA, the EMA or any other applicable foreign regulatory agencies to
significantly change in a manner rendering our clinical data insufficient for aff pproval.a

Of the large number of pharmaceutical products in development, only a small percentage successfully complete the FDA, the
EMA or other regulatory approval processes and are commercialized.
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Even if we eventually complete clinical testing and receives approval of an NDA, MAA or other foreign marketing
authorization forff nefe fyff , the FDA, the EMA or other appla icable foreign regulatory arr gency may grant approval contingent on the
perforff mance of costly additional clinical trials, which may be required after approval. The FDA, the EMA or other applicable foreign
regulatory agency may also approverr nefe fff yff for a more limited indication and/or a narrower patient population than we originally
request, and the FDA, the EMA or any other applicable foreign regulatory agency may not approve the labeling that wa e believe is
necessary or derr sirable for tff he successful cff ommercialization of neffy. Any delay in obtaining, or inability to obtain, applicable
regulatory approvals would delay or preverr nt commercialization of nefe fff yff and would materially adversely impact our business and
prospects.

We hWW ave never commercialized a product and may experience delays or unexpected costs or difficulties in obtaining regulatoryll
approval for nff efe fff y fff or iff tii s itt nii itii ial indication or potenttt ial additional indications.tt

We have never obtained regulatory approval for, or commercialized, a pharmaceutical product. It is possible that the FDA and
the EMA may refuse to accept any or all of our submitted or planned NDAs and MAAs for sff ubstantive review or may conclude after
review of our data that an application is insuffff iff cient to obtain regulatory approval for neffye or any future product candidates. For
example, the EMA required us to submit our preclinical dog anaphylaxis study results during the review process of our prior 1.0 mg
dose of nefe fff yff MAA submission. If the FDA and the EMA do not initially approve any of our submitted or planned NDAs or MAAs,
such regulatory authorities may require that we conduct additional costly clinical, nonclinical or manufacturing validation studies
beforff e they will reconsider futff urt e applications. Depending on the extent of these or any other required studies, approval of any NDA,
MAA or other appla ication that we submit may be significantly delayed, possibly for sff everal years, or may require us to expend more
resources than we have available. Any failure or delay in obtaining regulatory approvals would prevent us from commercializia ng neffye
for aff ny indication or any other product candidate, generating revenues and achieving and sustaining profitabia lity. It is also possible
that additional studies, if performed and completed, may not be considered sufficient by the FDA or EMA to approve any NDA, MAA
or other application that we submit. For example, the FDA has ina dicated that the ongoing pediatric clinical trial, EPI-10, would be
suffff iff cient to support a submission of our NDA for pediatric approval of a 2.0 mg dose of neffy for children weighing more than 30 kg,
and to support a separate submission for pediatric approval of a 1mg dose of neffy for children weighing between 15 and 30 kg;
however, the FDA has not reviewed our complete clinical data, to date, and therefore there is no guarantee that the FDA will
determine that the NDA currently under review by the FDA for approval of a 2.0 mg dose offf nefe fff yff for children weighing more than 30
kg or any futff urt e NDA is sufficient for issuing a marketing approval of nefe fyff for the emergency treatment of Type I allergic reactions in
children. If any of these outcomes occur, we may be forced to abaa ndon the development of neffff yff or any future product candidates,
which would materially adversely affff eff ct our business and could potentially cause us to cease operations. We face similar risks for
appla ications in other foreign jurisdictions. In addition, difficulties in obtaining approval offf nefe fff yff for the emergency treatment of Type I
allergic reactions, could adversely affect our efforts to seek approval from regulatory authorities for neffy for use in other potential
indications.

ThTT e regue latll ortt y apprr oval processes of the FDAFF , the EMA and other comparable foreign authoritii itt es are lengthy, time-consuming
and inii herentltt y ull nprn edictable, and if we are ultimately unable to obtain regulatory approval for neffy or any futurn e product
candidatett s, ous r businii ess will be substantially harmed.

We, and any current and future licensing and collaboration partners, are not permitted to commercialize, market, promote or sell
any product candidate in the United States or the EU without obtaining regulatory approval from the FDA or the EMA, respectively.
Regulatory arr uthorities in other jurisdictions may have similar requirements. The time required to obtain approval by the FDA, the
EMA and other comparable foreign regulatory arr uthorities is unpredictable, but typically takes many years following the
commencement of clinical trials and depends upon numerous factors, including substantial discretion of such regulatory authorities. In
addition, appra oval policies, regulations, or the type and amount of preclinical and clinical data necessary to gain approval may change
during the course of a product candidate’s clinical development and may vary among jurisdictions. To date, other than the NDA for
nefe fff yff that we submitted to the FDA in the third quarter of 2022 and our MAA for nefe fff yff that was filed and validated for review by the
EMA in the fourff th quarter of 2022, we have not submitted any product approval submissions for nefe fyff or any other product candidate
to the FDA, EMA or other comparable foreign regulatory authorities for nefe fff yff and there can be no assurance that we will receive such
appra oval from such regulatory authorities after submitting any product approval application.
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Clinical testing is expensive, difficult to design and implement, can take many years to complete and is inherently uncertain as
to outcome. We cannot guarantee that any clinical trials will be conducted as planned or completed on schedule, if at all. The clinical
development of nefe fff yff or any futff urt e product candidates is susceptible to the risk of failure inherent at any stage of development,
including failure to demonstrate safety or efficacy in a clinical trial or across a broad population of patients, the occurrence of adverse
events that are severe or medically or commercially unacceptable, failure to comply with protocols or applicable regulatory
requirements, and determination by the FDA, the EMA or any other comparable foreign regulatory authority that a product candidateff
may not continue development or is not approvable. Additionally, our expenses could increase if it is required by the FDA, the EMA
or any other comparable foreign regulatory arr uthority to perform clinical trials or studies in addition to those currently expected, or if
there are any delays in completing our clinical trials or the development of neffy for additional indications. It is possible that even if
nefe fff yff or any futff urt e product candidate has a beneficial effect, that effect will not be detected during clinical evaluation as a result of one
or more of a variety of factors, including the size, duration, design, measurements, conduct or analysis of our clinical trials.
Conversely, as a result of the same factors, our clinical trials may indicate an apparff ent positive effect of neffy or any future product
candidate that is greater than the actuat l positive effff eff ct, if any. Similarly, in our clinical trials we may fail to detect toxicity of or
intolerabia lity caused by nefe fff yff or any future product candidate, or mistakenly believe that neffye or any future product candidates are
toxic or not well-tolerated when that is not in fact the case.

nefe fff yff and any future product candidates could fail to receive regulatory arr pproval for many reasons, including the following:a

• the FDA, the EMA or other comparable foreign regulatory authorities may disagree as to the design or implementation of our
clinical trials;

• we may be unable to demonstrate to the satisfaction of the FDA, the EMA or other comparable foreign regulatory authorities
that a product candidate is safe and effective for its proposed indication and, if necessary, that a product candidate and any
active components thereof are safe and effective for the proposed indication;

• the FDA, the EMA or other comparable foreign regulatory authorities may find deficiencies with regards to the formulation
components or specifications of neffy, including, without limitation, with respect to appearance, identity, impurities, or
particle size;

• the results of clinical trials may not meet the level of evidence or criteria required by the FDA, the EMA or other comparable
foreign regulatory authorities for approval;

• we may be unable to demonstrate that a product candidate’s clinical and other benefits outweigh its safety risks;

• the FDA, the EMA and comparable authorities in other countries may disagree with our interpretation of data from clinical
trials or nonclinical studies and may require additional trials or studies to support marketing approval;

• the data collected from clinical trials of nefe fff yff or any future product candidates may not be sufficient to sff upport the submission
of an NDA or other submission to the FDA or to obtain regulatory approval in the United States, the EU or elsewhere;

• the FDA, the EMA or other comparable foreign regulatory authorities may find deficiencies wff ith clinical trial sites or fail to
approve the manufacturing processes or facilities of third-party manufacturers with which we contract for clinical and
commercial supplies; and

• the appra oval policies or regulations of the FDA, the EMA or other comparable foreign regulatory authorities may significantly
change in a manner rendering our clinical data insufficient for approval.

This lengthy approval process as well as the unpredictability of clinical trial results may result in us failing to obtain regulatory
appra oval to market neffe yff or any futff urt e product candidate we develop, which would significantly harm our business, results of
operations and prospects. Although we have successfully completed a pre-NDA meeting with the FDA, there is no assurance that the
endpoints and trial designs used for the approval of a new formulation of epinephrine fff or the emergency treatment of Type I allergicff
reactions will be acceptable for neffe yff . The FDA, the EMA and other comparable foreign authorities have substantial discretion in the
appra oval process and determining when or whether regulatory approval will be obtained for any product candidate that we develop.
Even if we believe the data collected from current or future clinical trials of nefe fff yff or any futff ure product candit dates are promising, such
data may not be sufficient to support approval by the FDA, the EMA or any other regulatory authority.
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There can be no assurance that the FDA and other regulatory agencies, including the EMA, will not require additional clinical
trials or studies to support an application for the marketing of neffye in the emergency treatment of Type I allergic reactions or any
other indication. This may be the case particularly as these regulatory authorities may consult with one another or as we may be
required to apprise the respective agencies of studies we are conducting of nefe fff yff in conjunction with our requests for marketing
appra oval or in response to requests and updates from the respective agency.

However, the FDA may not be able to continue its current pace and approval timelines could be extended, including where aa
pre-appra oval inspection or an inspection of clinical sites is required and due to the COVID-19 pandemic and travel restrictions the
FDA is unabla e to complete such required inspections during the review period.

With respect to new sites or facilities in the European Economic Area (“EEA”), which have never had a current Good
Manufacturing Practices (“cGMP”) inspection or authorization, the EMA has stated that a distant assessment may be conducted in
order to evaluate if the site could be authorized without an on-site pre-approval inspection. If an approval is granted, it should be
indicated that the certificate has been granted on the basis of a distant assessment and an on-site inspection should be conducted when
circumstances permit. If a cGMP certificate cannot be granted as a result of the distant assessment, a clock-stop in the regulatory
appra oval process will be imposed until an on-site inspection is possible. In addition, even if we were to obtain approval, regulatory
authorities may approve neffy or any futff urt e product candidates for fewer or more limited indications, may not approve the price we
intend to charge for our products, may grant approval contff ingent on the performance of costly post-marketing clinical trials, or may
appra ove a product candidate with a label that does not include the labeling claims necessary or desirable fa or the sff uccessful
commercialization of that product candidate. Any of the foregoing scenarios could materiaff lly harm the commercial prospects for neffye
or any future product candidates.

If tII htt e FDFF A doeDD s not conclude thtt at nefe fff y or anff y fn uff ture product candidates satisfy the requirs ements ftt or the Section 505(b)(2)ff
regue latll ortt y apprr oval pathway, or if the requirements for such product candidates under Section 505(b)(2) are not as we expect, theff
approval pathtt way for tff htt ose product candidates will lill keii ly take signi ificantly longer, cosi t signififf cantly mortt e and entail sitt gni ificantly
greatett r complill catitt ons and risks than anticipated, and in either case may not be successful.s

While we believe that we will have the necessary supporting data to submit a marketing application under Section 505(b)(2) of
the Federal Food, Drug and Cosmetic Act (“Section 505(b)(2)”) regulatory pathway to the FDA for nefe fyff for the emergency treatment
of Type I allergic reactions for adults and children greater than 30 kg in weight, and upon completion of our ongoing pediatric study,
EPI-10, for cff hildren between 15 and 30 kg in weight, there can be no assurance that the FDA will agree that the Section 505(b)(2)
pathway is appra opriate or will approve any such application or any future application for additional indication or future product
candidates.

The Hatch Waxman Act added Section 505(b)(2) to the FDCA. Section 505(b)(2) permits the filing of an NDA where at least
some of the information required for approval comes from studies that were not conducted by or for the applicant and for which the
appla icant has not obtained a right of reference. Section 505(b)(2), if available to us, would allow an NDA we submit to the FDA to
rely in part on data in the public domain or the FDA’s prior conclusions regarding the safety and effectiveness of approved
compounds, which could expedite the development program for our future product candidates by potentially decreasing the amount of
nonclinical and/or clinical data that we would need to generate in order to obtain FDA approval. This pathway does not, however,
expedite the FDA review process timelines.

If the FDA does not allow us to pursue the Section 505(b)(2) regulatory pathway as anticipated, we may need to conduct
additional nonclinical studies and/or clinical trials, provide additional data and information, and meet additional standards for
regulatory approval. If this were to occur, the time and financial rrr esources required to obtain FDA approval for neffy or any future
product candidate, and complications and risks associated with such product candidates, would likely substantially increase.
Moreover, inability to pursue the Seca tion 505(b)(2) regulatory parr thway could result in new competitive products reaching the market
more quickly than any product candidates we develop, which could adversely impact our competitive position and prospects. Even if
we are allowed to pursue the Section 505(b)(2) regulatory pathway, we cannot assure you that nefe fff yff or any future product candidates
we develop will receive the requisite appra oval for cff ommercialization.
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In addition, notwithstanding the appra oval of a number of products by the FDA under Section 505(b)(2), certain pharmaceutical
companies and others have objected to the FDA’s interpretation of Section 505(b)(2). If the FDA’s interpretation of Section 505(b)(2)
is successfulff ly challenged, the FDA may change its Section 505(b)(2) policies and practices, which could delay or even prevent the
FDA from appra oving any NDA that we submit under Section 505(b)(2). In addition, the pharmaceutical industry irr s highly
competitive, and Section 505(b)(2) NDAs are subject to certain requirements designed to protect the patent rights of sponsors of
previously appra oved drugs that are referenced in a Section 505(b)(2) NDA. These requirements may give rise to patent litigation and
mandatory delays in appra oval of our NDAs for up to 30 months or longer depending on the outcome of any litigation. It is not
uncommon for a manufaff cturt er of an approved product to file a citizen petition with the FDA seeking to delay approval of, or ia mpose
additional appra oval requirements forff , pending competing products. If successful, such petitions can signififf cantly delay, or even
prevent, the approval of a new product. Even if the FDA ultimately denies such a petition, the FDA may substantially delay approval
while it considers and responds to the petition. In addition, even if we are able to utilize the Section 505(b)(2) regulatory pathway,
there is no guarantee this would ultimately lead to streamlined product development or earlier approval. Finally, a competitor might
receive FDA approval before nefe fyff and obtain non-patent market exclusivity, which could delay approval of nefe fff yff .

We mWW ay inii cur unexpeee cted costs or experience delays in completing, or ultll itt mately be unable to complete, the development andii
commercialization of neffy or any future product candidates.

To obtain the requisite regulatory approvals to market and commercialize neffye and any future product candidates, we must
demonstrate through extensive nonclinical studies and clinical trials that such product candidates are safe and effective for theirff
intended use in humans. Nonclinical and clinical testing are expensive and can take many years to complete, and their outcome is
inherently uncertain. Failure can occur at any time during the clinical trial process and our future clinical trial results may not be
successfulff .

We may experience delays in completing our clinical trials or nonclinical studies and initiating or completing additional studies
or clinical trials. We may also experience numerous unforeseen events during our clinical trials that could delay or prevent our ability
to receive marketing approval or commercialize nefe fff yff or any future product candidates we develop, including:

• regulators, or IRBs or other reviewing bodies may not authorize us or our investigators to commence a clinical trial, or to
conduct or continue a clinical trial at a prospective or specific trial site;

• we may not reach an agreement on acceptable terms with prospective CROs and clinical trial sites, the terms of which can be
subject to extensive negotiation and may vary significantly among different CROs aff nd trial sites;

• a delay in receiving study or clinical trial material from outside the United States;

• the number of subjects or patients required for clinical trials of nefe fff yff in an indication or any future product candidate may be
larger than we anticipate, enrollment in these clinical trials may be insufficient or slower than we anticipate, and the number
of clinical trials being conducted at any given time may be high and result in fewer available patients for any given clinicalff
trial, or patients may drop out of these clinical trials at a higher rate than we anticipate;

• our third-party contractors, including those manufacturing nefe fff yff or any future product candidates or conducting clinical trials
on our behalf, may fail to comply with regulatory requirements or meet their contractual obligations to us in a timely manner,
or at all;

• we may have to amend clinical trial protocol(s) submitted to regulatory arr uthorities or conduct additional studies to reflect
changes in regulatory rrr equirements or guidance, which we may be required to resubmit to an IRB and regulatory authorities
for re-examination;

• unforff eseen safeff ty events may occur during the course of a clinical trial and these events may result in the temporary
suspension or termination of a clinical trial, or require urgent safety measures or restrictions to protect human subjects during
the conduct of a clinical trial;

• regulators, IRBs or other reviewing bodies may fail to approve or subsequently find fault with the manufacturing processes or
facilities of third-party manufacturers with which we have entered and may enter into agreement for clinical and commercial
supplies, or the supply or quality of neffe yff or any future product candidate or other materials necessary to conduct clinical trials
of nefe fff yff or any future product candidates may be insufficient, inadequate or not available at an acceptable cost, or we maya
experience interruptions in supply; andr

• the potential for approval policies or regulations of the FDA, the EMA or any other applicable foreign regulatory agencies to
signififf cantly change in a manner rendering our clinical data insufficient for approval.
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Regulators, IRBs of the institutions in which clinical trials are being conducted, or data monitoring committees may suspend or
terminate a clinical trial due to a number of faff ctors, including failure to conduct the clinical trial in accordance with regulatory
requirements or our clinical protocols, inspection of the clinical trial operations or trial site by the FDA or other regulatory authorities
resulting in the imposition of a clinical hold, unforeseen safety issues or adverse side effects, failure to appear to demonstrate a benefit
frff om using a drug, changes in governmental regulations or administrative ar ctions or lack of adequate funding to continue the clinical
trial.

Negative or inconclusive impressions of the results from our earlier clinical trials of nefe fff yff for the emergency treatment of Type I
allergic reactions or any other clinical trial or nonclinical studies in animals that we have conducted, could mandate repeated or
additional nonclinical studies or clinical trials and could delay marketing approvals or result in changes to or delays in nonclinical
studit es or clinical trials of nefe fff yff for otheff r indications. While data from our studit es of nefe fff yff demonstrated nasally delivered epinephrine
reached blood levels comparable to those of already approved epinephrine injectable products, we do not know whether any future
clinical trials or studies that we may conduct will demonstrate adequate effiff cacy and safety necessary to result in obtaining regulatory
appra oval to market neffe yff for iff ts initial indication or potential additional indications, or any future product candidate. If later stage
clinical trials, including our ongoing pediatric clinical study, EPI-10, do not produce favorable results that meet regulatory authority
criteria, our abia lity to obtain regulatory arr ppra oval for neffy for the emergency treatment of Type I allergic reactions or potential
additional indications, or any futff urt e product candidate, may be adversely impacted.

Our faff ilure to successfully initiate and complete clinical trials of nefe fff yff for the emergency treatment of Type I allergic reactions
or potential additional indications and to demonstrate the efficacy and safety of nefe fff yff , necessary to obtain regulatory approval torr
market nefe fff yff would significantly harm our business. Our product candidate development costs will also increase if we experience
delays in testing or regulatory approvals and we may be required to obtain additional funds to complete clinical trials. We cannot
assure you that our clinical trials will begin as planned or be completed on schedule, if at all, or that we will not need to restructure our
trials aftff er they have begun. Significant clinical trial delays also could shorten any periods during which we may have the exclusive
right to commercialize neffe yff or any futff urt e product candidates or allow our competitors to bring products to market before we do and
impair our abia lity to successfulff ly commercialize such product candidates, which may harm our business and results of operations. In
addition, many of the factors that cause, or lead to, delays of clinical trials may ultimately lead to the denial of regulatory approval of
nefe fff yff or any futff urt e product candidate.

ThTT e resultll s of ett arlyll -stage clinical trials and preclinical studies may not be predictive of future results. Initial dattt a in our clinitt cal
trtt ials mll ay not be inii dicative of results obtained when these trials are completed or in later stage trials.tt

The results of preclinical studies may not be predictive of the results of clinical trials, and the results of any early-stage clinical
trials we commence may not be predictive of the results of the later-stage clinical trials. In addition, initial data in clinical trials may
not be indicative of results obtained when such trials are completed. There can be no assurance that any of our ongoing, planned or
futff urt e clinical trials will ultimately be successful or support further clinical development or regulatory approval of neffye or any future
product candidates. There is a high failure rate for drugs aff nd biologics candidates proceeding through clinical trials. A number of
companies in the pharmaceutical and biotechnology industries have suffered significant setbacks in clinical development even after
achieving promising results in earlier studies, and any such setbacks in our clinical development could have a material adverse effect
on our business and operating results.

InII tett rim tii oplitt nii e and preliminary data from our clinical trials that we announce or publish from time to time may change as morett
patitt ent data bett come available and are subject to audit and verification procedures thtt at could result in material changes in the finalll
data.tt

From time to time, we may publish interim topline or preliminary data from our clinical trials. Interim data from clinical trials
that we may complete are subject to the risk that one or more of the clinical outcomes may materially change as patient enrollment
continues and more patient data become available. Preliminary or topline results also remain subject to audit and verification
procedures that may result in the final data being materially different from the preliminary data we previously published. As a result,
interim and preliminary data should be viewed with caution until the final data are available. Adverse differences between preliminary
or interim data and final data could significantly harm our reputation and business prospects.
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nefe fff y or anff y fn uff ture product candidate mtt ay cause undesirable side ell ffects, advere se everr nts, or have other properties that could delaytt
or prevent itii s rtt egue latll ortt y apprr oval, limit the commercial profile of an approved label, or result in significant negative consequencestt
folff lll owll ing regulatory approval, ill f obti aitt nii ed.

Undesirable side effects or adverse events caused by nefe fff yff , or any future product candidate, could cause us or regulatory
authorities to interrupt, delay or halt clinical trials and could result in a more restrictive label or the delay or denial of regulatory
appra oval by the FDA, the EMA or comparabla e forff eign regulatory authorities. Although our clinical studit es to date have demonstrated
that nefe fff yff is well-tolerated by patients with no serious treatment-related adverse events, and reported adverse events generally no more
severe than grade 1 and comparabla e with injection products, and with no meaningful pain or irritation based on formal scoring, results
of our ongoing or futff urt e clinical trials for nefe fyff or any future product candidate could reveal a high and unacceptable severity and
prevalence of side effects, adverse events, or unexpected characteristics. Many compounds that initially showed promise in clinical or
earlier stage testing are later found to cause undesirabla e or unexpected side effects or adverse events that prevented further
development of the compound.

If unacceptable side effects or adverse events arise in the development of neffye or any future product candidates, we, the FDA,
the EMA or comparable foreign regulatory authorities, the IRBs, or independent ethics committees at the institutions in which our
trials are conducted, or the independent safety monitoring committee could suspend or terminate our clinical trials or regulatory
authorities could order us to cease clinical trials or deny approval of nefe fff yff or any future product candidates for any or all tff argeted
indications. Treatment-emergent side effects and adverse events that are deemed to be drug-related could also affect subject
recruir tment or the ability of enrolled subjects to complete the trial or result in potential product liability claims. Undesirable side
effff eff cts or adverse events in one of our clinical trials for nefe fff yff in one indication could adversely affect enrff ollment in clinical trials,
regulatory approval and commercialization ofrr neffy in other indications. Additionally, there may be negative findings regarding
components of neffy or future product candidates by other parties. Any negative fiff ndings by third parties may impact the futureff
appra ovability or labeling of nefe fff yff or other product candidates we may develop. In addition, all side effects and adverse events may not
be appra opriately recognized or managed by the treating medical staff. Inadequate training in recognizing or managing the potentiaff l
side effff eff cts and adverse events of neffy or any futff urt e product candidates could result in patient injury or death. Any of these
occurrences may harm our business, fiff nancial condition and prospects significantly.

In addition, clinical trials of neffe yff are conducted in carefully defined sets of patients who have agreed to enter into clinical trials.
Consequently, it is possible that our clinical trials, or those of any future collaborator, may indicate an apparent positive effect of neffye
or a futff urt e product candidate that is greater than the actual positive effect, if any, or alternatively faff il to identify undesirable side
effff eff cts.

Finally, nefe fff yff is comprised of epinephrine and Intravail® that is delivered via an intranasal device. Intra-muscular injection of
epinephrine has been approved by the FDA and other regulatory authorities for the emergency treatment of Type I allergic reactions.
In addition, Intravail® has previously been included in the formulations of FDA approved products such as VALTOCO® andff
TOSYMRA® naRR sal sprays. The intranasal apparatus we use to deliver nefe fyff has been used to deliver several drugs approved by thea
FDA and other regulatory authorities, including VALTOCO®, TOSYMRA® and NARCAN®. Even ifR nefe fff yff were to receive
marketing approval or be commercialized, we would continue to be subject to the risks that the FDA, EMA or similar regulatory
authorities could revoke approval of intra-muscular epinephrine injection products, other drug formulations containing Intravail® or
utilizing the same intranasal apparatust , or that efficacy, manufacturing or supply issues could arise with epinephrine API, Intravail®
or our intranasal apparatus. This could result in our own products being removed from the market or being less commercially
successfulff .

ThTT e inii creasinii g use of social media platll ftt orff mrr s presents new risks and challenges.

Social media is increasingly being used to communicate about our clinical development activities and the indications neffy is
being developed to treat, and we intend to utilize appropriate social media in connection with our commercialization efforts following
regulatory approval ofrr nefe fyff , if any. Social media practices in the biotechnology and biopharmaceutical industries continue to evolve
and regulations and regulatory guidance relating to such use are err volving and not always clear. This evolution creates uncertainty and
risk of noncompliance with regulations applicable to our business, resulting in potential regulatory actions against us, along with the
potential for lff itigation related to off-label marketing or other prohibited activities and heightened scrutr iny by the FDA, the Federal
Trade Commission (“FTC”), the SEC and other regulators. For example, patients may use social media channels to comment on their
experience in an ongoing clinical trial or to report an alleged side effect or adverse event. If such disclosures occur, there is a risk thatff
trial enrollment may be adversely impacted, that we may fail to monitor and comply with applicable adverse event reporting
obligations or that we may not be able to defend our business or the public’s legitimate interests in the face of the political and market
pressures generated by social media due to restrictions on what we may say about our product candidates. There is also a risk of
inappropriate disclosure of sensitive or confiff dential information or negative or inaccurff ate posts or comments about us on any social
networking website. In addition, we may encounter attacks on social media regarding us, our management, neffye or future product
candidates. If any of these events were to occur or we otherwise fail to comply with applicable regulations, we could incur liability,
faff ce regulatory arr ctions or incur other harm to our business.
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If wII e faiff l tii o develop and commercitt alill zii e nefe fff y fff or additional indications or fail to discover, develop and commerff cialize other
product candidatett s, ws e may be unable tll o grtt ow our business and our ability to achieve our strategic objectives would be impaired.

Although the development and commercialization of nefe fff yff for the emergency treatment of Type I allergic reactions is our current
primary focus, as part of our longer-term growth strategy, we plan to evaluaterr neffy for use in other indications and may develop other
product candidates. We intend to evaluate internal opportunities from nefe fff yff and may do so for other potential product candidates or
choose to in-license or acquire other product candidates as well as commercial products to treat other indications like Type I allergic
reactions. These other potential product candidates will require additional, time-consuming development efforts prior to commercial
sale, including preclinical studies, clinical trials and approval by the FDA, the EMA and/or other applicable foreign regulatory
authorities. All product candidates are prone to the risks of failure that are inherent in pharmaceutical product development, including
the possibility that the product candidate will not be shown to be sufficiently safe and effective for approval by regulatory authoritieff s.
In addition, we cannot assure you that any such products that are approved will be manufactured or produced economically,
successfulff ly commercialized or widely accepted in the marketplace or be more effective than other commercially available
alternatives.

Research activities to identify product candidates require substantial technical, financial and human resources, whether or not
any product candidates are ultimately identified. Our research activities may initially show promise in identifying potential product
candidates, yet faff il to yield product candidates for clinical development for many reasons, including the following:

• the research methodology used may not be successful in identifying potential product candidates;

• competitors may develop alternatives that render our potential product candidates obsolete;

• product candidates that we develop may nevertheless be covered by third parties’ patents or other exclusive rights;

• a product candidate may, on further study, be shown to have harmful side effects or other characteristics that indicate it is
unlikely to be effective or otherwise does not meet applicable regulatory criteria;

• a product candidate may not be capable of being produced in commercial quantities at an acceptable cost, or at all; and

• a product candidate may not be accepted as safe and effective by patients, the medical community or third-party payors.

If we are unsuccessful in identifying and developing neffye for additional indications or other product candidates, its potential for
growth and achieving its strategic objectives may be impaired.

Even if ni efe fff y iff s approved for the eii merger ncy tc rtt eatment of Type I allergic reactions, there remains significant uncertainty as tott
whethtt er nefe fff y wff ilii l be successfullll y dell veloped and ultitt mii atett ly approved for any otn htt er indication we are exploring or pursuing.

As part of our longer-term growth strategy, we plan to evaluate and potentially develop nefe fff yff for other indications. Our
programs for sff uch other indications are at a very err arly stage and there remains significant uncertainty as to whether neffy will be
successfulff ly developed and ultimately approved for aff ny other indication we are exploring or pursuing. Even if neffy is approved for
the emergency treatment of Type I allergic reactions, there will remain significant uncertainty regarding whether nefe fyff will be
successfulff ly developed or appra oved for aff ny other indication. If we are unable to successfulff ly develop, or if regulatory authorities do
not appra ove, neffy for aff ny other indication, our potential for growth and achieving our strategic objectives may be impaired.

We mWW ay not be successfs uff l in ouii r efe fff orff ts ttt o ett xpanee d our pipeline by identifying additional indications for which to investigate neffy
in tii htt e future. We may eff xpend our limited resources to pursue a particular iee nii dicatitt on or formulation fff or nefff fy and fail to capitalizeff
on product candidates, indications or formulations that may be more profitable or for which there is a greatett r likelihood of
success.

Because we have limited financial and managerial resources, we are focused on specific indications for nefe fff yff . As a result, we
may fail to generate additional clinical development opportunities forff nefe fff yff for a number of reasons, including, that neffyff may in
certain indications, on further study, be shown to have harmful side effects, limited to no efficacy or other characteristics that suggest
it is unlikely to receive marketing approval and achieve market acceptance in such additional indications. In addition, we may forgo or
delay pursuit of opportunit ties with other indications that could have had greater commercial potential or likelihood of success.
Furthermore, research activities to identify aff dditional indications for nefe fff yff require substantial technical, financial and human rff esources.
We may not be able to develop neffe yff for aff ny additional indications based on resource allocation decisions and other reasons. Our
resource allocation decisions may cause us to fail to capitalize on viable commercial products or profitable market opportunities. Our
spending on current and future research and development activities for specific indications may not yield any commercially viablea
products.
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Additionally, we may pursue in-licenses or acquisitions of development-stage assets or programs, which entails additional risk
to us. Identifying, selecting and acquiring promising product candidates requires subsff tantial technical, financial and human resources
expertise. Effff orff ts to do so may not result in the actual acquisition or license of a particular product candidate, potentially resulting in a
diversion of our management’s time and the expenditure of our resources with no resulting benefit.

For example, if we are unable to identify prff ograms that ultimately result in approved products, we may spend material ama ounts
of our capia tal and other resources evaluating, acquiring and developing products that ultimately do not provide a return on our
investment.

ComCC pem tittt itt ve products may reduce or elimii inii ate ttt htt e commercial opportunity for neffy for its current or future indications. If ourtt
compem titii ortt s develop tecrr hnologies or product candidates more rapidly than us, or their technologies or product candidates are mors e
efe fff eff ctive or safeff r thtt an ours, our ability to develop and successfully commercialize neffy may be adverff sely affected.rr

The clinical and commercial landscape for the emergency treatment of Type I aa llergic reactions is highly competitive and
subject to signififf cant technological change. We face competition with respect to our current indications for neffye and will face
competition with respect to any future indications of neffye or other product candidates that we may seek to develop or commercialize
in the futurff e frff om large pharmaceutical and biotechnology companies, specialty pharmaceutical and generic drug companies,
academic institutions, government agencies and research institutions. If approved, we anticipate that neffy will compete primarily
against epinephrine intra-muscular injectable products, for the emergency treatment of Type I allergic reactions including EpiPen®
and its generics, which is marketed by Viatris, Inc. and Teva Pharmaceuticals, Inc.; Adrenaclick®, which is marketed by Amneal
Pharmaceuticals, Inc.; Auvi-Q®, which is marketed by Kaleo, Inc.; and Symjepi®, which is marketed by Sandoz, Inc., a Novartis
division. Several other companies are also clinically developing larger dose intranasal epinephrine product candidates that may
compete with nefe fff yff , including Bryn Pharma, Nasus Pharma and Hikma Pharmaceuticals, Inc. (previously INSYS Therapeutics, Inc.),
Amphastar Pharmaceuticals is developing an intranasal candidate with an undisclosed dose, and Aquestive Therapea utics is developing
a sublingual candidate based on a prodrug of epinephrine. If nefe fff yff is approved for other indications, it would also compete with a range
of other therapeutic treatments that are well established or in development.

Many of our potential competitors have substantially greater financial, technical, commercial and human resources than we do
and significff antly more experience in the discovery, development and regulatory approval of product candidates and the
commercialization of those products. Accordingly, our competitors may be more successful than we may be in obtaining regulatory
appra oval for therapies and achieving widespread market acceptance. Our competitors’ products may be more effective, safeff r, or more
effff eff ctively marketed and sold, than any product candidate we may commercialize and may render nefe fff yff or any future product
candidates obsolete or non-competitive beforff e we can recover development and commercialization expenses. In addition, our
competitors may succeed in developing, acquiring or licensing technologies and drug products that are more effective or less costly
than neffe yff or any futff ure product candidates that we may develop, which could render such product candidates obsolete andt
noncompetitive.

If we obtain approval for nefe fff yff or any other futff ure product candidate, we may face competition based on many different factors,t
including the efficacy, safety and tolerability of our products, the ease with which our products can be administered, the timing and
scope of regulatory arr ppra ovals for tff hese products, the availability and cost of manufaff cturing, marketing and sales capabilit ties, price,
reimbursement coverage and patent position. Such competitors could also recruit our employees, which could negatively impact our
level of expertise and our ability to execute our business plan.

In addition, our competitors may obtain patent protection, regulatory exclusivities or regulatory approval and commercialize
products more rapidly than we do, which may impact future approvals or sales of any of our product candidates that receive regulatory
appra oval. If the FDA or the EMA approves the marketing and commercial sale of neffy or any future product candidate, we will also
be competing with respect to marketing capabilities and manufaff cturing efficiency. We expect competition among products will bet
based on product efficacy and safety, the timing and scope of regulatory approvals, availability of supply, marketing and salesff
capaa bila ities, product price, reimbursement coverage by government and private third-party payors, regulatory exclusivities and patent
position. Our profiff tability and financial position will suffer if our product candidates receive regulatory approval but cannot compete
effff eff ctively in the marketplace.

Mergers and acquisitions in the pharmaceutical and biotechnology industries may result in even more resources being
concentrated among a smaller number of our competitors. Smaller and other early-stage companies may also prove to be significant
competitors, particularly through collabora ative arrangements with large and establisa hed companies. These third parties compete with
us in recruirr ting and retaining qualified scientific and management personnel and establishing clinical trial sites, as well as in acquiring
technologies complementary to, or necessary for, our activities.
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If tII htt e FDFF ADD , thtt e EMEE A or otMM htt er comparm able fll orff eign regulatory authori itii ies approve generic versions of neffy or any future producttt
candidate of outt rs trr htt at receives regue latll ortt y apprr oval, or sll uch authtt orities do not grant our products appropriate periods of non-
patett nt exclee usivitii y before approving generic versions of such products, the sales of such prtt oducts could be adversely affected.tt

In the United States, once an NDA is approved, the product covered thereby becomes a “reference listed drug” in the FDA’s
publication, “Approved Drug Products with Therapeutic Equivalence Evaluations,” or the Orange Book. Manufacturers may seek
appra oval of generic versions of reference listed drugs through submission of ANDAs in the United States. In support of an ANDA, a
generic manufacturer generally must show that its product has the same active ingredient(s), dosage form, strength, route of
administration, and adequate labeling as the reference listed drug and that the generic version is bioequivalent to the reference listed
drug, mr eaning, in part, that it is absorbed in the body at the same rate and to the same extent. Generic products may be significantly
less costly to bring to market than the reference listed drug and companies that produce generic products are generally able to offerff
them at lower prices. Moreover, third-party insurers require, and many states allow or require, substitution of therapeutically
equivalent generic drugs at the pharmacy level even if the branded drug is prescribed. Thus, folff lowing the introduction of a generic
drug, a sr ignificant percentage of the sales of any branded product or reference listed drug may be lost to the generic product.ff

The FDA may not fiff nally approve an ANDA for a generic product or a Section 505(b)(2) NDA of a competitor until any
appla icabla e period of non-patent exclusivity for the reference listed drug has expired. The FDCA provides a period of five years of non-
patent exclusivity for a new drug crr ontaining a new chemical entity (“NCE”). For the purposes of this provision, an NCE is a drug that
contains no active moiety that has previously been approved by the FDA in any other NDA. An active moiety is the molecule or ion
responsible for tff he physiological or pharmacological action of the drug substance. Specifically, in cases where such exclusivity has
been granted, an ANDA may not be fiff led with the FDA until the expiration of five years unless the submission is accompanied by a
Paragraph Ia V certification that a patent covering the listed drug is invalid, unenforceable or will not be infringed by the generic
product. In that case, the applicant may submit its applia cation four years following approval of the listed drug and seeff k to launch its
generic product even if we still have patent protection for our product unless an infringement suit is timely filed by the NDA or patent
holder in which case the FDA cannot approve the ANAA DA or a Section 505(b)(2) NDA for 30 months unless a court decision in favor
of the generic manufacturer is issued earlier.

ComCC pem tittt itt on thtt at neffy or any future products, if approved, may face from competitor versions of such products coule d nll egativee ly
imii pacm t our future revenue, profitability and cash flows and substantially limit our ability to obtain a return on our investments inii
thtt ose product candidatett s. Obtaitt nii inii g and mainii taining regulatott ry approval of neffy or anff y future product candidates in onen
jurisii diction does not mean that we will be successfs ul in obtaiff nii inii g regulatory approval of those product candidates in other
jurisii dictions.

Obtaining and maintaining regulatory approval ofrr nefe fff yff and any future product candidates in one jurisdiction does not guarantee
that we will be able to obtain or maintain regulatory approval in any other jurisdiction, while a faff ilure or delay in obtaining regulatory
appra oval in one jurisdiction may have a negative effect on the regulatory approval process in others. For example, even if a regulatory
authority, such as the EMA, grants marketing approval of neffye , comparable regulatory authorities in the United States and other
forff eign jurisdictions must also approve the manufaff cturing, marketing and promotion of neffy in those countries. Approval procedures
vary arr mong jurisdictions and can involve requirements and administrative review periods different from, and greater than, those in the
United States or the EU including additional nonclinical studies or clinical trials, as clinical trials conducted in one jurisdiction may
not be accepted by regulatory authorities in other jurisdictions. In many jurisdictions outside the United States including certain
jurisdictions in the EU, a product candidate must be approved for reimbursement before it can be approved for sale in that jurisdiction.
In some cases, the price that we intend to charge for our products is also subject to approval.

We have submitted and plan to submit additional marketing applications in the United States and in the EU. Regulatory
authorities in jurisdictions outside of the United States have requirements for approval of product candidates with which we must
comply prior to marketing in those jurisdictions and such regulatory requirements can vary widely from country to country. Obtaining
other regulatory arr ppra ovals and compliance with other regulatory requirements could result in significant delays, difficulties and costsff
for us aff nd could require additional nonclinical studies or clinical trials, which could be costly and time-consuming and could delay or
prevent the introduction of our products in certain countries. The foreign regulatory approval process involves all of the risks
associated with FDA approval. We do not have any product candidates approved for sale in any jurisdiction, including internationala
markets, and we do not have experience in obtaining regulatory approval in either domestic or international markets. If we fail to
comply with the regulatory requirements in international markets and/or obtain and maintain applicable marketing approvals, our
target market will be reduced and our abila ity to realize the full market potential of neffy or any future product candidates will be
harmed.
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We rWW eceived Fast Track designation for neffy in the United Statett s and may in the fuff ture pursue Fast Track designation for other
product candidatett s thtt at we may develop, but we might not receive such future designations, and Fast Track designations may not
lell ad to a faster devtt elopmll ent or regue latll ortt y rr eview or approval process.

If the FDA determines that a product candidate is intended for the treatment of a serious or life-threatening condition and
preclinical or clinical data demonstrate the potential to address an unmet medical need for this condition, the FDA may grant a product
candidate Fast Track designation. Fast Track designation is intended to expedite or facilitate the process for reviewing new drug
products meeting the specified criteria and gives the sponsor of a Fast Track product opportunities for more frequent interactions with
the applia cable FDA review team during product development and, once an NDA is submitted, the product candidate may be eligible
for prff iority review. We were granted Fast Track designation for nefe fff yff for the treatment of Type I allergic reactions and may in the
futff urt e request Fast Track designation for additional indications for nefe fff yff or for any future product candidates, however, we cannot
assume that any such applications will meet the criteria for that designation. The FDA has broad discretion whether or not to grant this
designation, so even if we believe a particular product candidate is eligible for this designation, we cannot assure you that the FDA
would decide to grant it. Even if we do receive Fast Track Designation, we may not experience a faster development process, review
or appra oval compared to conventional FDA procedures. The FDA may rescind the Fast Track designation if it believes that the
designation is no longer supported by data from our clinical development activities.

We mWW ay seek priority review by the FDA for neffy or a futurii e product candidate, and we may be unsuccessful. If we are successful,
thtt e designi ation may ntt ot actuallll y lell ad to a ftt asff tett r development or regulatory review or approval process.

A priority review designation means that the goal for the FDA to review an application is six months, rather than the standard
review period of ten months. We may in the future request priority review designation for neffye and any future product candidates,
however, we cannot assume that any application for priority review will meet the criteria for that designation. A product is eligible for
priority review if it is designed to treat a serious condition, and if approved, would provide a significant improvement in the treatment,
diagnosis or prevention of a serious condition compared to marketed products. The FDA has broad discretion with respect to whether
or not to grant priority review status tt o a product candidate, so even if we believe a particular product candidate is eligible for such
designation or status, the FDA may decide not to grant it. Moreover, a priority review designation does not necessarily mean a faster
development or regulatory review or approval process or necessarily confer any advantage with respect to approval compared to
standard FDA review and approval. Receiving priority review from the FDA does not guarantee approval within the six-month review
cycle or at all.
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PrPP oduct liabill lii ill tii y lawtt suits against us or any of our current and future licensing and collaboration partners could diverll t our
resources and attentitt on, cause us to incur substantial liabilities and lill mii it commerii cializatitt on of neffy or any future product
candidatett s.

We are exposed to potential product liability and professional indemnity risks that are inherent in the research, development,
manufacturing, marketing and use of pharmaceutical products. Currently, we have no products that have been approved forff
commercial sale; however, the use of neffe yff by us and any current and future licensing and collaboration partners in clinical trials, and
the sale of neffy, if approved, in the future, may expose us to liability claims. Product liability claims may be brought against us or our
partners by participants enrolled in our clinical trials, patients, health care providers, pharmaceutical companies, our current and future
licensing and collaboration partners or others using, administering or selling any of our future approved products. If we cannot
successfulff ly defend ourself against any such clff aims, we may incur substantial liabilities or be required to limit commercialization of
nefe fff yff or any futff ure product candidates. Regardless of the merits or eventt ual outcome, liability claims may result in:

• decreased demand for any of our future approved products;

• injury to our reputation;

• withdrawal of clinical trial participants;

• termination of clinical trial sites or entire trial programs;

• significant litigation costs, including with respect to potential class action lawsuits;

• substantial monetary awards to, or costly settlements with, patients or other claimants;

• product recalls or a change in the indications for which they may be used;

• loss of revenue;

• diversion of management and scientific resources from our business operations; and

• the inability to commercialize neffe yff or any futff ure product ct andidates.

Although the clinical trial process is designed to identify and assess potential side effeff cts and adverse events, clinical
development does not always fully characterize the safety and effiff cacy profile of a new drug, and it is always possible that a drug,
even afteff r regulatory approval, may exhibit unforeseen side effects. Ifrr nefe fff yff was to cause adverse events or side effects during clinicalff
trials or aftff er approval, we may be exposed to substantial liabilities. Physicians and patients may not comply with any warnings that
identify known poteff ntial adverse effff eff cts, side effff ects, aff nd patients who should not use nefe fff yff or any of our future product candidates. If
any of our current or future producd t candidates, including nefe fff yff , are approved for marketing and commercial sale, we will be highly
dependent upon consumer perceptions of us and the safety and quality of our products. We could be adversely affected if we are
subject to negative publicity associated with illness or other adverse effects resulting from patients’ use or misuse of our products orff
any similar products distributed by other companies.

Although we maintain product liability insurance coverage in the amount of up to $5.0 million in the aggregate, including
clinical trial liabia lity, this insurance may not fully cover potential liabilities that we may incur. The cost of any product liability
litigation or other proceeding, even if resolved in our faff vor, could be substantial. We will need to increase our insurance coverage if
we commercialize nefe fff yff or any future product candidate that receives regulatory approval. In addition, insurance coverage is becoming
increasingly expensive. If we are unabla e to maintain sufficient insurance coverage at an acceptable cost or to otherwise protect against
potential product liability claims, it could prevent or inhibit the development and commercial production and sale of neffye or any
futff urt e product candidates, which could harm our business, financial condition, results of operations and prospects.
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If wII e faiff l tii o comply with environmental, health and safety laws and regulationstt , we could becoms e subject to fines or penalties orff
inii cur costs ttt htt at could harm our business.

We are subject to numerous environmental, health and safety laws and regulations, including those governing laboratory
procedures and the handling, use, storage, treatment and disposal of hazardous materials and wastes. From time to time and in the
futff urt e, our operations may involve the use of hazardous and flammabla e materials, including chemicals and biological materials, and
may also produce hazardous waste products. Even if we contract with third parties for the disposal of these materials and waste
products, we cannot completely eliminate the risk of contamination or injury resulting from these materials. In the event of
contamination or injury resulting from the use or disposal of our hazardous materials, we could be held liable for any resulting
damages, and any liability could exceed our resources. We also could incur significant costs associated with civil or criminal fines and
penalties for failure to comply with such laws and regulations.

We maintain workers’ compensation insurance to cover us for costs and expenses we may incur due to injuries to our
employees, but this insurance may not provide adequate coverage against potential liabilities. However, we do not maintain insurance
for eff nvironmental liability or toxic tort claims that may be asserted against us.

In addition, we may incur substantial costs in order to comply with current or future environmental, health and safety laws and
regulations. Environmental laws and regulations may impair our research, development or production efforts. In addition, failure to
comply with these laws and regulations may result in substantial fines, penalties or other sanctions.

Our business activities may be subject to the FCPA and similar anti-bribery and anti-corruption laws of othtt er countries in which
we may operate, as well as U.S. and certain foreign export controls, trade sanctionse , ans d imii port laws and regulations. Compliancem
witii h these legal requirements could limit our ability to compete in foreign martt kerr ts and subject us to liability if we violate them.tt

If we furff ther expand our operations outside of the United States, we must dedicate additional resources to comply with
numerous laws and regulations in each jurisdiction in which we plan to operate. Our business activities may be subject to the Foreign
Corrupt Pr ractices Act (“FCPA”) and similar anti-bribery or anti-corruption laws, regulations or rules of other countries in which we
operate. The FCPA generally prohibits companies and their employees and third-party intermediaries from offering, promising, giving
or authorizing the provision of anything of value, either directly or indirectly, to a non-U.S. government official in order to influence
offff iff cial action or otherwise obtain or retain business. The FCPA also requires public companies to make and keep books and records
that accurately and fairly reflect the transactions of the corporation and to devise and maintain an adequate system of internal
accounting controls. Our business is heavily regulated and therefore involves significant interaction with public officials, including
offff iff cials of non-U.S. governments. Additionally, in many other countries, hospitals owned and operated by the government, and
doctors and other hospital employees would be considered foreign officials under the FCPA. Recently the SEC and Department of
Justice have increased their FCPA enforcement activities with respect to biotechnology and pharmaceutical companies. There is no
certainty that all of our employees, agents or contractors, or those of our affiliates, will comply with all applicable laws and
regulations, particularly given the high level of complexity of these laws. Violations of these laws and regulations could result in fines,ff
criminal sanctions against us, our officers or employees, disgorgement, and other sanctions and remedial measures, and prohibitions
on the conduct of our business. Any such violations could include prohibitions on our ability to offer nefe fff yff or any future product
candidates in one or more countries and could materially damage our reputation, brand, international activities, ability to attract and
retain employees, and business, prospects, operating results and financial condition.

In addition, neffff yff and any of our future product candidates and activities may be subject to U.S. and foreign export controls,
trade sanctions and import laws and regulations. Governmental regulation of the import or export of nefe fff yff or any future product
candidates, or our faff ilure to obtain any required import or export authorization forff nefe fff yff or any future product candidates, when
appla icabla e, could harm our international sales and adversely affect our revenue. Compliance with applicable regulatory requirements
regarding the export of nefe fyff or any futff urt e product candidates may create delays in the introduction of our product candidates in
international markets or, in some cases, prevent the export of our product candidates to some countries altogether. Furthermore, U.S.
export control laws and economic sanctions prohibit the shipment of certain products and services to countries, governments, and
persons targeted by U.S. sanctions. If we fail to comply with export and import regulations and such economic sanctions, penalties
could be imposed, including fines and/or denial of certain export privileges. Moreover, any new export or import restrictions, new
legislation or shiftff ing approaches in the enforff cement or scope of existing regulations, or in the countries, persons, or products targeted
by such regulations, could result in decreased use of nefe fff yff or any future product candidates by, or in our decreased ability to export
nefe fff yff or any futff urt e product candidates to existing or potential customers with international operations. Any decreased use of neffye or
any futff urt e product candidates or limitation on our ability to export or sell access to nefe fff yff or any future product candidates would likely
adversely affff eff ct our business.
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CyCC ber-rr atttt acks or other failures in our telecommunications or information technology systemstt , or those of our licenss ing and
collll aborll ation partners, CROs, third-party logistics provitt ders, distributors or other contractors or consultants, could result in
inii fn orff mrr atitt on thtt efe t, data cff orruption and significant disruption of our businii ess operations.

We, our licensing and collaboration partners, our CROs, third-party logistics providers, distributors and other contractors and
consultants utilize information technology (“IT”) systems and networks to process, transmit and store electronic information in
connection with our business activities. As use of digital technologies has increased, cyber incidents, including third parties gaining
access to employee accounts using stolen or inferred credentials, computer malware, viruses, spamming or other means, and deliberate
attacks and attempts to gain unauthorized access to computer systems and networks, have increased in frequency and sophistication.
Cyber-attacks also could include phishing attempts or e-mail fraud to cause payments or information to be transmitted to anff
unintended recipient. These threats pose a risk to the security of our, our licensing and collaboration partners’, our CROs’, third-party
logistics providers’, distributors’ and other contractors’ and consultants’ systems and networks, and the confidentiality, availability
and integrity of our data. There can be no assurance that we will be successful in preventing cyber-attacks or successfully mitigating
their effects. Similarly, there can be no assurance that our licensing and collaboration partners, CROs, thia rd-party logistics providers,
distributors and other contractors and consultants will be successful in protecting our clinical and other data that is stored on their
systems. Any cyber-attack, data breach or destruction or loss of data could result in a violation of applicable U.S. and international
privacy, data protection and other laws, and subject us to litigation and governmental investigations and proceedings by federal, state
and local regulatory entities in the United States and by international regulatory entities, resulting in exposure to material civil and/or
criminal liability. Further, our general liability insurance and corporate risk program may not cover all potential claims to which we
are exposed and may not be adequate to indemnify us for all liability that maybe imposed; and could have a material adverse effect on
our business and prospects. For example, the loss of clinical trial data from completed, ongoing or future clinical trials for neffye or any
of our futff urt e product candidates could result in delays in our development and regulatory approval efforts and significantly increase
our costs to recover or reproduce the data. In addition, we may suffer reputational harm or face litigation or adverse regulatory action
as a result of cyber-attacks or other data security breaches and may incur significant additional expense to implement further data
protection measures.

Risks Related to Our Dependence on Third Parties

We iWW nii tett nd to rtt ely completely on third parties to manufacture and distribute our supply of nefftt y anff d inii tett nd to rely on third parties tott
manufu acture and disff trtt ibute antt y fn uff ture product candidates.

We do not currently have, nor do we plan to acquire, the infrastructure or capability to manufacture or distribute commercial
quantities of neffy. Our ability to commercially supply nefe fff yff , if approved, depends, in part, on the ability of third-party manufacturers
to supply and manufactureff neffe yff , the raw materials, API and other important components related to the manufacture of neffye , including
Intravail® and our nasal sprayer apparatus. We also intend to rely on third parties to label and package the finished product. These
third-party manufacturers may have limited experience manufacturing nefe fff yff , the raw materials and API for nefe fff yff to be supplied to
patients in the United States. While we will work with our third-party suppliers and manufacturers to optimize the manufacturing
process forff neffy and any futff urt e product candidates, if approved, we cannot guarantee that such efforts will be sff uccessful. If we fail to
develop and maintain supply relationships with these third parties, we may be unable to successfully commercialize neffye or any futuret
product candidate, if approved.

We have entered into a commercial supply agreement with Renaissance Lakewood LLC (“Renaissance”), which has been
actively involved in supporting the manufacture of nefe fyff in our clinical development, and we intend to rely on Renaissance as the
primary sourrr ce for drug product manufacturing and fiff nal packaging. Unless and until we can secure an alternative source for drugff
product manufacturing and final packaging, our dependence on Rff enaissance will subject us to the possible risks of shortages,
interruptir ons and price fluctuations if neffe yff is appra oved for commercialization.
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We may be unable to maintain or establish required agreements with third-party manufacturers or to do so on acceptable terms.
Even if we are able to establish agreements with third-party manufacturers, reliance on third-party manufaff cturers entails additional
risks, including:

• the faff ilure of the third party to manufaff cture nefe fff yff or any future product candidates according to our schedule, or at all,
including if our third-party contractors give greater priority to the supply of other products over our products or product
candidates or otherwise do not satisfactorily perform according to the terms of the agreements between us and them;

• the reduction or termination of production or deliveries by suppliers, or the raising of prices or renegotiation of terms;

• the termination or nonrenewal of arrangements or agreements by our third-party contractors at a time that is costly or
inconvenient for us;

• the breach by the third-party contractors of our agreements with them;

• the faff ilure of third-party contractors to comply with appla icable regulatory requirements, whether related to neffyff or another
product;

• the faff ilure of the third party to manufaff cture our product candidates according to our specififf cations;

• the mislabeling of clinical supplies, potentially resulting in the wrong dose amounts being supplied or study drug or plat cebo
not being properly identified;

• clinical supplies not being delivered to clinical sites on time, leading to clinical trial interruptions, or of drug supplir es not
being distributed to commercial vendors in a timely manner, resulting in lost sales; and

• the misappropriation of our proprietary information, including our trade secrets and know-how.

We do not have complete control over all aspects of the manufacturing process of, and are dependent on, our contractff
manufacturing partners for compliance with cGMP regulations for manufacturing both active drug substances and finished drug
products. Third-party manufaff cturers may not be able to comply with cGMP regulations or similar regulatory requirements outside of
the United States. If our contract manufacturers cannot successfully manufacture material that conforms to our specifications and the
strict regulatory requirements of the FDA and other foreign regulatory authorities, this could affect the review of the NDA submitted
forff nefe fff yff or post-approval sales. In addition, other than to conduct audits, we do not have control over the ability of our contract
manufacturers to maintain adequate quality control, quality assurance and qualified personnel. If the FDA or a comparable foreign
regulatory authority does not approve these facilities for the manufacture of neffy or any future product candidates or if it withdrawsrr
any such appra oval in the future, we may need to find alternative manufaff cturing facilities, which would significantly impact our ability
to develop, obtain marketing appra ovals for or cff ommercialize neffy or any future product candidate. Our failurff e, or the failure of our
third-party manufacturers, to comply with applicable regulations could result in sanctions being imposed on us, including fines,
injunctions, civil penalties, application review delays, suspension or withdrawal of approvals, license revocation, import alerts,
seizures or recalls of product candidates or drugs, operating restrictions and criminal prosecutions, any of which could significantly
and adversely affff eff ct supplies of neffy or any of our future product candidates or drugs and harm our business and results of operations.
Our current and anticipated future dependence upon others for the manufacture of neffye or any future product candidates or drugs may
adversely affff eff ct our futff urt e profit margins and our ability to commff ercialize nefe fff yff or any future product candidate that receives
marketing approval on a timely and competitive basis.
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We rWW ely on tll htt irii d partitt es to condutt ct our nonclinical studies and clinical trials. If thesII e thtt ird parties do not successfully carry ouii t
thtt eir ci ontrtt actual duties, comply with applicable regulatory requirements or meet expeee cted deadlines, ous r development programs
and our abilill tii y ttt o stt eek or obtain regulatory approval for or commercialize neffy or any future product candidates may be delayed.ii

We are dependent on third parties to conduct our nonclinical studies and any clinical trials. Specifically, we have used and relied
on, and intend to continue to use and rely on, medical institutions, clinical investigators, CROs and consultants to conduct our
nonclinical studit es and past clinical trials in accordance with our clinical protocols and regulatory requirements. These CROs,
investigators and other third parties play a signififf cant role in the conduct and timing of these studies and trials. While we have and will
have agreements governing the activities of our third-party contractors, we have limited influence over their actual performance.
Nevertheless, we are responsible for ensuring that each of our clinical trials is conducted in accordance with the applicable protocol
and legal, regulatory and scientific standards, and our reliance on our CROs and other third parties does not relieve us of our
regulatory rrr esponsibilities. We and our CROs are required to comply with GCP requirements, which are regulations and guidelines
enforff ced by the FDA and comparabla e forff eign regulatory authorities for all of our product candidates in clinical development.
Regulatory arr uthorities enforce these GCPs through periodic inspections of trial sponsors, principal investigators and trial sites. If we
or any of our CROs or trial sites fail to comply with applicable GCPs, the clinical data generated in our clinical trials may be deemed
unreliable, and the FDA or comparable foreign regulatory authorities may require us to perform additional clinical trials beforeff
appra oving our marketing applications. In addition, our clinical trials must be conducted with products produced under cGMP
regulations. Our failure to comply with these regulatiff ons may require us to repeat clinical trials, which would delay the regulatory
appra oval process.

There is no guarantee that any of our CROs, investigators or other third parties will devote adequate time and resources to such
trials or studies or perform as contractually required. If any of these third parties fail to meet expected deadlines, adhere to our clinical
protocols or meet regulatory requirements, or otherwise performs in a substandard manner, our clinical trials may be extended,
delayed or terminated. In addition, many of the third parties with whom we contract may also have relationships with other
commercial entities, including our competitors, for whom they may also be conducting clinical trials or other development activities
that could harm our competitive position. In addition, principal investigators for our clinical trials are expected to serve as scientific
advisors or consultants to us from time to time and may receive cash or equity compensation in connection with such services. If these
relationships and any related compensation result in perceived or actual conflicts of interest, or the FDA concludes that the financial
relationship may have affected the interpretation of the study, the integrity of the data generated at the applicable clinical trial site may
be questioned and the utility of the clinical trial itself may be jeopardized, which could result in the delay or reje ection by the FDA of
any NDA we submit. Any such delay or rejee ction could prevent us from commercializing nefe fff yff or any future product candidates.

Our CROs have the right to terminate their agreements with us in the event of an uncured material breach. In addition, some of
our CROs have an ability to terminate theia r respective agreements with us if it can be reasonabla y demonstrated that the safety of the
subjects participating in our clinical trials warrants such termination, if we make a general assignment for the benefit of our creditors
or if we are liquidated. If any of our relationships with these third parties terminate, we may not be able to enter into arrangements
with alternative third parties on commercially reasonable terms or at all. Switching or adding additional CROs, investigators and other
third parties involves additional cost and requires our management’s time and focus. In addition, there is a natural transition period
when a new CRO commences work. As a result, delays occur, which can materially impact our ability to meet our desired clinical
development timelines. Though we carefully manage our relationships with our CROs, investigators and other third parties, there can
be no assurance that we will not encounter challenges or delays in the future or that these delays or challenges will not have a material
adverse impact on our business, fiff nancial condition and prospects.

We arWW e depeee ndent on inii tett rnrr atitt onal third-party licensees and assignees for the development and commercialization of neffy inii
several countries outstt ide the United States. The failure of these third parties to meet their contractual, regulatory or other
oblill gatii ons could adversrr ely afll fff eff ct our business.

We have entered into exclusive licensing and collaboration agreements for the development and commercialization of neffy with
Alfresa Pharma in Japan and Pediatrix Therapeutics in China, Macau, Hong Kong and Taiwan. As a result, we are dependent on these
parties to achieve regulatory arr pproval ofa nefe fff yff for mff arketing in these countries and for the commercialization of nefe fff yff , if approved.
The timing and amount of any milestone and royalty payments we may receive under these agreements, as well as the commercial
success of neffy in those regions outside of the United States, will depend on, among other things, the effortsff , allocation of resources
and successful commercialization of neffy by Alfrff esa Pharma and Pediatrix Therapeutics. We also depend on such licensing and
collaboration partners to comply with all applicable laws relative to the development and commercialization of nefe fff yff in those
countries. They may take actions or faff il to take actions that result in safeff ty issues with nefe fyff in their licensed territory, and such safety
issues could negatively impact nefe fff yff in countries outside of the licensed territory. We do not control the individual efforts of ourff
licensing and collaboration partners and have limited ability to terminate these agreements or have assigned assets returned to us if
such licensing and collabora ation partners do not perform as anticipated.
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The faff ilure of our licensing and collaboration partners to devote sufficient time and effort to the development and
commercialization of nefe fyff ; to meet their obligations to us, including for future royalty and milestone payments; to adequately deploy
business continuity plans in the event of a crisis; to adequately respond to the adverse impact of military action, sanctions and market
disruptr ions; and/or to satisfactorily resolve significant disagreements with us or address other factors could have an adverse impact on
our fiff nancial results and operations. In addition, if these third parties violate, or are alleged to have violated, any laws or regulations
during the performance of their obligations for us, including with respect to safety, patient and data privacy, antitrust, and bribery and
corruptr ion, it is possible that we could suffer financial and reputational harm or other negative outcomes, including possible legal
consequences and liabia lities. We may not be successful in enforcing the terms and conditions of our licensing and collaborationa
agreements in court or via agreed upon dispute resolution mechanisms, and even if we were to prevail in any such dispute, the
remedies may not be adequate to compensate us for the losses. Any termination, breach or expiration of any of these licensing or
collaboration agreements could have a material adverse effect on our financial position by reducing or eliminating the potential for us
to receive license feff es, milestones and royalties. In such an event, we may be required to devote additional efforts and to incur
additional costs associated with pursuing regulatory approval and commercialization of neffy. Alternatively, we may attempt to
identify aff nd transact with a new assignee or licensee, but there can be no assurance that we would be abla e to identify a suitable partner
or transact on terms that are favorable to us. For example, in Februar ry 2023, we terminated the Recordati License and Supply
Agreement, which eliminated the potential for us to receive milestone and royalty payments from Rff ecordati under the Recordati
License and Supply Agreement. We intend to pursue strategic partnerships for the commercialization of nefe fff yff in additional regions
outside of the United States, subject to FDA approval of nefe fff yff , including the regions previously licensed to Recordati, but there can be
no assurance that we would be able to identify a suitable partner or transaction on terms that are favorable to us. In addition, under the
termination agreement with Recordati (the “Termination Agreement”), we are obligated to pay certain milestone and royalty payments
to Recordati.

We mWW ay seek to enter into additional collaborations, licenses and other simii ilar arrangements for neffy or any future productii
candidate antt d may not be successfs ul in doing so, and even if we are, we may relinquish valuable rights and may not realize tff htt e
benefe iff tii s of stt uch relatll itt onshipsii .

We may seek to enter into collaborations, joint ventures, licenses and other similar arrangements for the development or
commercialization of nefe fyff in other geographic regions or of any future product candidatea s, due to capital costs required to develop or
commercialize neffy or any future product candidate or manufaff cturing constraints. Such collaborative efforts mff ay not be profitable.
We may not be successful in our efforts to establish or maintain such collaborations for nefe fyff or any future product candidates because
our research and development pipeline may be insufficient, our product candidates may be deemed to be at too early of a stage of
development for cff ollaborative effort or third parties may not view our product candidates as having the requisite potential to
demonstrate safety and efficacy or significant commercial opportunity. In addition, we face significant competition in seeking
appra opriate strategic partners, and the negotiation process can be time-consuming and complex. We may have to relinquish valuable
rights to our futurff e revenue streams, research programs or product candidates, or grant licenses on terms that may not be favorable to
us, as part of any such arrangement, and such arrangements may restrict us from entering into additional agreements with other
potential licensing and collaboration partners. We cannot be certain that, following a collaboration, license or strategic transaction, we
will achieve an economic benefit tff hat justififf es such transaction.

Even if we are successful iff n our effff orff ts to establa ish such collaborations, the terms that we agree upon may not be favorable to
us, and we may not be able to maintain such collaborations if, for example, the development or approval of neffye or any future product
candidate is delayed, the safety of nefe fyff or any futff urt e product candidate is questioned or the sales of an approved product candidate area
unsatisfaff ctory.

In addition, any potential futff urt e collabora ations may be terminable by our strategic partners, and we may not be able to
adequately protect our rights under these agreements. Furthermore, strategic partners may negotiate for certain rights to controlff
decisions regarding the development and commercialization of neffy or any future product candidate, if approved, and may not
conduct those activities in the same manner as we do. Any termination of collaborations we enter into in the future, or any delay in
entering into collaborations related to nefe fff yff or any future product candidate, could delay the development and commercialization offf
neffy or any futff urt e product candidate and reduce their competitiveness if they reach the market, which could have a material adverse
effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations.
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Our reliance on thtt irii d partitt es requiri es us to share our trade secrets, know-how and other proprietary information, which increases
thtt e possibilii itll y ttt htt at a competitt tii or will discovtt er thtt em or that our trade secrets will be misappropriatett d or disclosed.

Because we currently rely on third parties to manufacture neffye and to perform quality testing, we must, at times, share our
proprietary irr nforff mation, including trade secrets and know-how, with them. We seek to protect our proprietary information, in part, by
entering into confidentiality agreements, and, if applicable, material transfer agreements, collaborative research agreements,
consulting agreements or other similar agreements with our current and future licensing and collaboration partners, advisors,
employees and consultants prior to beginning research or disclosing proprietary information. These agreements typically limit the
rights of the third parties to use or disclose our proprietary information. Despite the contractual provisions employed when working
with third parties, the need to share trade secrets, know-how and other proprietary information increases the risk that such proprietary
inforff mation become known by our competitors, are intentionally or inadvertently incorporated into the technology of others or are
disclosed or used in violation of these agreements. We rely, in part, on trade secrets, know-how and other proprietary information to
develop and maintain our competitive position and a competitor’s discovery of our proprietary information or other unauthorized use
or disclosure would impair our competitive position and may have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition,
results of operations and prospects.

Risks Related to Commercialization of neffyff or Any Future Product Candidates

We cWW urrently have limited marketitt nii g, salell s or distribution infrastructure. If we are unable to fully develop our sales, marketing
and distribution capability on our own or thtt rough collaboru atitt ons with marketing partners, we may not be successful in
commercializing our product candidates.

We are currently building our marketing, sales or distribution capabilities. As a company we have not commercialized or
marketed any products to date. If nefe fff yff is appra oved for the emerff gency treatment of Type I allergic reactions or other future indications
or any future product candidate is approved, we will need to expand our sales and marketing organization, on our own and in
collaboration with third parties, and add further technical expertise and supporting distribution capaa bia lities to commercialize the
appra oved product in key territories, which will require substantial additional resources. Some or all of these costs may be incurred in
advance of any approval of neffe yff or any futff urt e product candidate. There are risks involved with both establishing our own sales,
marketing and distribution capabilities and entering into arrangements with third parties to perform these services. For example,
recruiting and training a commercial organization is expensive and time consuming and could delay any product launch. If the
commercial launch of nefe fff yff or any future product candidate for which we recruit a sales force and establisff h marketing capabilities is
delayed or does not occur for any reason, we would have prematurely or unnecessarily incurred these commercialization expenses.
This may be costly and our investment would be lost if we cannot retain or reposition our sales and marketing personnel. Any failure
or delay in the development of our or third parties’ internal sales, marketing and distribution capabilities would adversely impact the
commercialization of nefe fyff and any futff urt e product candidates.

Factors that may inhibit our efforts to commercialize nefe fff yff or any future product candidate on its own include:

• our inability to recruit and retain adequate numbers of effective sales and marketing personnel;

• the inability of sales personnel to obtain access to or persuade adequate numbers of allergists, pediatricians and other
physicians to prescribe any future products;

• the lack of complementary products to be offered by sales personnel, which may put us at a competitive disadvantage relative
to companies with more extensive product lines;

• the availability of adequate coverage by and reimbursement from third-party payors; and

• unforeseen costs and expenses associated with building out an independent sales and marketing organization.

We entered into exclusive licensing and collaboration agreements for the development and commercialization of neffye with
Alfrff esa Pharma in Japan and Pediatrix Therapeutics in China, Macau, Hong Kong and Taiwan. These licensing and collaboration
partners have direct sales forff ces and established distribution systems to serve as an alternative to our own sales force and distribution
systems. We may enter into additional licensing and collaboration agreements in other territories for the commercialization of neffye or
any futff urt e product candidates, however, we may be unable to enter into such agreements on favorabla e terms, if at all. Our product
revenue may be lower than if we directly marketed or sold our products, if approved. In addition, any revenue we receive will depend
in whole or in part upon the effff orts of these third parties, which mff ay not be successful and are generally not within our control.
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We also compete with many companies that currently have extensive, experienced and well-funded sales, distribution and
marketing operations to recruit, hire, train and retain marketing and sales personnel. We also faff ce competition in our search for third
parties to assist us with the sales and marketing efforts of neffye and any future product candidates, if approved. Without an internal
team or the support of a third-party to perforff m marketing and sales functions, we may be unable to compete successfully against these
more established companies.

If we do not expand our sales and marketing capabilities successfully, on our own and in collaboration with third parties, we
will not be successful iff n commercializing nefe fff yff or any future product candidates. If we are not successful in commercializing any
appra oved products, our future product revenue will suffer and we may incur signiff ficant additional losses.

Furthermore, our efforts to educate patients, caregivers, allergists, pediatricians and other physicians, and payors on the benefits
of nefe fff yff or any futff urt e product candidates may require more resources than we anticipate and may never be successful. Even if neffye or
any futff urt e product candidates are approved, if we are unable to successfully market our products successfully, we will not be able to
generate significant revenues from such products, if approved.

ThTT e markerr t for nff efe fff y anff d any fn uture product candidates we may develop may be smaller tff htt an we expect.tt

We have focused our development of nefe fff yff for tff he emergency treatment of Type I allergic reactions. We base our market
opportunit ty estimates on a variety of faff ctors, including our estimates of the number of people who have experienced severe Type I
allergic reactions and are at risk of anaphylaxis, the continued growth rate of our patient population, the number of those in our patient
population who we expect will fill a prescription for nefe fff yff , including those that currently do not fill prescriptions for epinephrine intra-
muscular injectable devices or whose prescriptions have lapsed, the estimated increase in per patient device acquisition ofa neffye as
compared to epinephrine intra-muscular injectable devices and the net sales of epinephrine intra-muscular injectable devices. These
estimates are based on many assumptions and may prove incorrect, and new studies or market research may reduce our estimated
patient population and potential device sales. If we are unable to advance neffy, including with respect to the emergency treatment of
Type I allergic reactions and other potential indications, or any future product candidates with attractive market opportunities or if our
market opportunit ties are smaller than we expected, our future product revenues may be smaller than anticipated, which would
adversely affff eff ct our business, fiff nancial condition, results of operations and prospects.

Any of oun r current and future product candidates for which we, or any current or future licensing and collaboration partners,
obtaitt n rii egue latll ortt y apprr oval in tii htt e fuff ture wilii l be sll ubject to ongoing obligations and contitt nii ued regulatory review, which may result
in sii igni ifi iff cant additional expense. If approved, neffy and any future product candidates could be subject to post-marketing
restrtt ictitt ons or witii htt drawal frff om thtt e market and we, or any current or future licensing and collaboration partners, may be subject ton
substantt titt al penalties if we, or they, fail to complm y wll ith regulatory requirements or if we, or they, experience unanticipatr ett d problems
witii h our products following approval.tt

neffy or any future product candidates for which we, or any current or future licensing and collaboration partners, obtainff
regulatory approval, as well as the manufacturing processes, post-approval studies, labeling, post-approval pharmacovigilancerr
monitoring, advertising and promotional activities for such product, among other things, will be subject to ongoing requirements of
and review by the FDA, the EMA and other applicable regulatory authorities. These requirements include submissions of safety and
other post-marketing information and reports, registration and listing requirements, requirements relating to manufacturing, quality
control, quality assurance and corresponding maintenance of records and documents, requirements regarding the distribution of
samples to physicians and recordkeeping. For certain commercial prescription drug products, manufacturers and other parties involved
in the supply chain must also meet chain of distribution requirements and build electronic, interoperable systems for product trackingff
and tracing and for notifyiff ng the FDA of counterfeit, diverted, stolen and intentionally adulterated products or other products that are
otherwise unfit for distribution in the United States. We and our contract manufaff cturers will also be st ubject to user fees and periodic
inspection by regulatory authorities to monitor compliance with these requirements and the terms of any product approval we may
obtain. Even if regulatory arr ppra oval of a product candidate is granted, the approval may be subject to limitations on the indications or
uses for which the product may be marketed or to the conditions of approval, including the requirement in the United States to
implement a Risk Evaluation and Mitigation Strategy or the inclusion of a Boxed Warning, which highlights a specific life-threatening
safeff ty risk.
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The FDA, the EMA and other regulatory authorities may also impose requirements for costly posff t-marketing studies or clinical
trials and surveillance to monitor the safeff ty or effff iff cacy of a product. For example, the FDA and other agencies, including the
Department of Justice, closely regulate and monitor the post-approval marketing and promotion of products to ensure that they are
manufactured, marketed and distributed only for the approved indications and in accordance with the provisions of the approved
labea ling. Regulatory authorities impose stringent restrictions on manufacturers’ communications regarding off-label use. However,ff
companies generally may share truthful and not misleading information that is otherwise consistent with a product’s approved
labea ling. If we, or any current or future licensing and collaboration partners, do not market nefe fff yff or any of our future product
candidates for wff hich we, or they, receive regulatory approval for only their approved indications, we, or they, may be subject to
warnings or enforcement action for off-label marketing if it is alleged that we are doing so. Violation of laws and regulations relating
to the promotion and advertising of prescription drugs may lead to investigations or allegations of violations of federal and state health
care fraud and abuse laws and state consumer protection laws, including the False Claims Act and any comparable foreign laws. In the
EU, the direct-to-consumer advertising of prescription-only medicinal products is prohibited. Violations of the rules governing the
promotion of medicinal products in the EU could be penalized by administrative measures, fines and imprisonment. These laws may
furff ther limit or restrict the advertising and promotion of our products to the general public, and may also impose limitations on our
promotional activities with health care profeff ssionals.

In addition, later discovery of previously unknown side effects, adverse events or other problems with our products or theirrr
manufacturt ers or manufacturing processes, or failure to comply with regulatory requirements, may yield various results, including:

• restrictions on the manufacturing of such products;

• restrictions on the labeling or marketing of such products;

• restrictions on product distribution or use;

• requirements to conduct post-marketing studies or clinical trials;

• warning letters or untitled letters;

• withdrawal of the products from the market;

• refusal to approve pending applications or supplements to approved applications that we submit;a

• recall of products;

• restrictions on coverage by third-party payors;

• fines, restitution or disgorgement of profits or revenues;

• exclusion from federal health care programs such as Medicare and Medicaid;

• suspension or withdrawal of regulatory arr ppra ovals;

• refusal to permit the import or export of products;

• product seizure; or

• injunctions or the imposition of civil or criminal penalties.

Even if wi e, or any current or future licensing and collaboration partners, obtains regulatory approvals for nn effy or any futuree
product candidatett , the terms of appre ovals anll d ongoinii g regulation of our products may limit how we manufacture and market our
productstt , ws hich could ill mii pair our ability to generate revenue.m

Once regulatory approval has been granted, an approved product and its manufaff cturer and distributor are subject to ongoingt
review and extensive regulation. We, and any current and future licensing and collaboration partners, must therefore comply wita h
requirements concerning advertising and promotion forff nefe fff yff or any future product candidate for which we or they obtain regulatory
appra oval. Promotional communications with respect to prescription drugs arr e subject to a variety of legal and regulatory restrictions
and must be consistent with the information in the product’s approved labeling. Thus, we and any current and future licensing and
collaboration partners will not be able to promote any products we develop for indications or uses for which they are not approved.
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In addition, manufacturers of approved products and those manufacturers’ facilities are required to comply with extensive FDA,
EMA and other forff eign regulatory requirements, including ensuring that quality control and manufacturing procedures conform to
cGMPs, which include requirements relating to quality control and quality assurance as well as the corresponding maintenance of
records and documentation and reporting requirements. We, our contract manufacturers, any current and future licensing and
collaboration partners and their contract manufacturers would be subject to periodic unannounced inspections by the FDA, the EMA
and other forff eign regulators to monitor and ensure compliance with cGMPs. Despite our efforts to inspect and verify regulatory
compliance, one or more of our third-party manufaff cturing vendors may be found on regulatory inspection by the FDA, the EMA or
other forff eign regulators to be not in compliance with cGMP regulations, which may result in shutdown of the third-party vendor or
invalidation of drug product lots or processes. In some cases, a product recall may be warrr ranted or required, which would materially
affff eff ct our abia lity to supply and market our drug products.

Accordingly, assuming we, or any current or future licensing and collaboration partners, receive regulatory approval for neffye or
one or more future product candidates, we, and any current and futff ure licensing and collaboration partners, and our and their contractt
manufacturt ers will continue to expend time, money and effort in all areas of regulatory compliance, including manufacturing,
production, product surveillance and quality control.

If we, and any current and future licensing and collaboration partners, are not able to comply with post-approval regulatory
requirements, we, and any current and future licensing and collaboration partners, could have the regulatory approvals fora neffye or any
futff urt e products withdrawn by regulatory authorities and our, or any current or future licensing and collaboration partners’, ability to
market any future products could be limited, which could adversely affect our ability to achieve or sustain profitability. Further, the
cost of compliance with post-approval regulations may have a negative effect on our operating results and financial condition.

Even if neffy or any fuff ture product candidate of ours rtt eceives regulatory approval, it may fail to achieve thtt e degree of mare ketrr
acceptance by allergiee sii ts, pediatricians and other physicians, patients, caregivers, third-party payors and others in the medicaltt
community nii ecessary for commercial success, is n wii hich case we may not generate signiftt iff cant revenues or become profitable.

We have never commercialized a product, and even if nefe fff yff for the treatment of any indication, or any future product candidate
of ours, is appra oved by the appropriate regulatory authorities for marketing and sale, it may nonetheless fail to gain sufficient market
acceptance by allergists, pediatricians and other physicians, patients, caregivers, third-party payors and others in the medical
community. Physicians may be reluctant to prescribe nefe fyff in place of well-established epinephrine intra-muscular injectable devices.
Further, patients and caregivers may be reluctant to switch unless their physicians recommend switching products or are required to
switch due to lack of coverage and adequate reimbursement. In addition, even if we are able to demonstrate nefe fff yff ’s or any future
product candidate’s safety and effff iff cacy to the FDA, the EMA and other regulators, safety or efficacy concerns in the medical
community may hinder market acceptance.
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Effff orff ts to educate patients, caregivers, the medical community and third-party payors on the benefits of nefe fff yff and any future
product candidates may require more resources than we anticipate, including management time and financial resources, and may not
be successfulff . If neffe yff or any futff urt e product candidate is approved but does not achieve an adequate level of market acceptance, we
may not generate significant revenues and we may not become prff ofitable. The degree of market acceptance of nefe fff yff and any future
product candidates, if approved for commercial sale, will depend on a number of factors, including:

• the efficacy and safety of the product;

• the potential advantages of the product compared to competitive therapies and our ability to successfully publicize these
advantages or highlight them in any marketing materials;

• the prevalence and severity of any side effects;

• our ability, or the ability of any current or future licensing or collaboration partners, to offer the product for sale at
competitive prices;

• the product’s convenience and ease of administration compared to alternative treatments;

• the willingness of the target patient population to try, and of physicians to prescribe, the product;

• limitations or warnings, including distribution or use restrictions contained in the product’s approved labeling;

• the strength of sales, marketing and distribution support;

• changes in the standard of care for the targeted indications for the product; and

• availabia lity and adequacy of coverage and reimbursement from government payors, managed care plans and other third-party
payors.

Any faff ilure by neffy or any future product candidate of ours that obtains regulatorff y approval to achieve market acceptance ora
commercial success would adversely affect our business prospects.

Recently ett nactett d and fuff ture lell gie sii lation may increase the difficulty and cosll t for us to obtain marketing approval of and
commercialize neffy or any future product candidates and affect the prices we may obtain.tt

In the United States and some foreign jurisdictions, there have been, and we expect there will continue to be, a number offf
legislative and regulatory changes and proposed changes regarding the healthcare system, including cost-containment measures, that
could reduce or limit coverage and reimbursement for newly approved drugs, prevent or delay marketing approval of neffye or any
futff urt e product candidates, restrict or regulate post-approval activities and affect our ability to profitably sell nefe fyff or any future product
candidates for wff hich we obtain marketing approval.

For example, in 2010, the Patient Protection and Affordable Care Act, as amended by the Health Care and Education
Reconciliation Act (collectively, the “ACA”), was signed into law. The ACA was intended, among other things, to broaden access to
health insurance, reduce or constrain the growth of healthcare spending, enhance remedies against fraud and abuse, add new
transparency requirements for the healthcare and health insurance industries, impose new taxes and fees on the health industry and
impose additional health policy reforff ms. The ACA and subsequent regulations increased the Medicaid rebates owed by manufacturers
under the Medicaid Drug Rebate Program for both branded and generic drugs and revised the definition of “average manufacturer
price” for rff eporting purposr es, which could furff ther increase the amount of Medicaid drug rebates to states. However, on March 11,
2021, President Biden signed the American Rescue Plan Act of 2021 into law, which eliminates the statutory Medicaid drug rebaterr
cap fa or sff ingle source and innovator multiple source drugs, beginning January 1, 2024. Frr urther, the ACA imposed a significant annual
feff e on companies that manufacture or import branded prescription drug products, increased the number of entities eligible for
discounts under the 340B program and included a discount on brand name drugs for Medicare Part D beneficiaries in the coverage
gap, or “donut hole.” Substantial provisions affecting compliance have also been enacted, which may require us to modify oura
business practices with healthcare practitioners.
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Since its enactment, there have been judicial, executive and Congressional challenges to certain aspects of the ACA. For
example, the Tax Cuts and Jobs Act of 2017 included a provision which repealed, effective January 1, 2019, the tax-based shared
responsibility payment imposed by the ACA on certain individuals who fail to maintain qualifying health coverage for all or part of a
year that is commonly referred to as the “individual mandate.” On June 17, 2021, the U.S. Supreme Court dismissed a challenge on
procedural grounds that argued the ACA is unconstitutional in its entirety because the individual mandate was repealed by Congress.
Prior to the U.S. Supreme Court ruling on January 28, 2021, President Biden issued an executive order that initiated a special
enrollment period for purposes of obtaining health insurance coverage through the ACA marketplace. The executive order also
instructed cr ertain governmental agencies to review and reconsider their existing policies and rules that limit access to healthcare,
including among others, reexamining Medicaid demonstration projects and waiver programs that include work requirements, and
policies that create unnecessary barriers to obtaining access to health insurance coverage through Medicaid or the ACA. In addition,
on August 16, 2022, President Biden signed the Inflation Reduction Act of 2022 (“IRA”) into law, which among other things, extends
enhanced subsidies for iff ndividuals purchasing health insurance coverage in ACA marketplaces through plan year 2025. The IRA also
eliminates the “donut hole” under the Medicare Part D program beginning in 2025 by significantly lowering the beneficiary maximumrr
out-of-ff pocket cost and creating a new manufacturer discount program. It is possible that the ACA will be subject to judicial or
Congressional challenges in the futff urt e. It is unclear how any such challenges, and the healthcare reform measures of the Biden
administration will impact the ACA and our business.

In addition, other legislative changes have been proposed and adopted in the United States since the ACA was enacted. These
changes include aggregate reductions to Medicare payments to providers of up to two percent per fiscal year pursuant to the Budget
Control Act of 2011, which went into effect on April 1, 2013, and due to subsequent legislative amendments, will remain in effect
until 2031, unless additional Congressional action is taken. Under current legislation, the actual reduction in Medicare payments will
vary frr rff om 1% in 2022 to up to 4% in the finaff l fiff scal year of this sequester. In addition, the American Taxpayer Relief Act of 2012 was
signed into law which, among other things, further reduced Medicare payments to several types of providers, including hospitals,
imaging centers and cancer treatment centers, and increased the statute of limitations period for the government to recover
overparr yments to providers frff om three to five years.

Recently there has also been heightened governmental scrutiny over the manner in which manufacturers set prices for their
marketed products, which has resulted in several U.S. Presidential executive orders, congressional inquiries and proposed and enacted
feff deral and state legislation designed to, among other things, bring more transparency to product pricing, review the relationship
between pricing and manufaff cturt er patient programs, and reform goverff nment program reimbursement methodologies for products. At
the feff deral level, in July 2021, the Biden administration released an executive order, “Promoting Competition in the American
Economy,” with multiple provisions aimed at prescription drugs. In response to Biden’s executive order, on September 9, 2021, the
U.S. Department of Health and Humans Services (“HHS”) released a Comprehensive Plan for Addressff ing High Drug Prices that
outlines principles for drug pricing reform and sets out a variety of potential legislative policies that Congress could pursue as well as
potential administrative actions HHS can take to advance these principles. In addition, the IRA, among other things, (i) directs HHS to
negotiate the price of certain high-expenditure, single-source drugs and biologics covered under Medicare, and subject drug
manufaff cturers to civil monetary penalties and a potential excise tax by offeff ring a price that is not equal to or less than the negotiated
“maximum fair price” for such drugs and biologics under the law, and (ii) imposes rebates with respect to certain drugs and biologicsff
covered under Medicare Part B or Medicare Part D to penalize price increases that outpace inflation. The IRA permits HHS to
implement many of these provisions through guidance, as opposed to regulation, for the initial years. These provisions will take effect
progressively starting in fiscal year 2023, although they may be subject to legal challenges. It is currently unclear how the IRA will be
implemented but is likely to have a significant impact on the pharmaceutical industry. Further, the Biden administration released an
additional executive order on October 14, 2022, directing HHS to submit a report on how the Center for Medicare and Medicaid
Innovation can be further leveraged to test new models for lowering drug costs for Medicare and Medicaid beneficiaries. It is unclear
whether this executive order or similar policy initiatives will be implemented in the future.

At the state level, legislatures have become increasingly aggressive in passing legislation and implementing regulations
designed to control pharmaceutical product pricing, including price or patient reimbursement constraints, discounts, restrictions on
certain product access and marketing cost disclosure and transparency measures, and, in some cases, designed to encourage
importation from other countries and bulk purchasing.

These laws and the regulations and policies implementing them, as well as other healthcare reform measures that may be
adopted in the future, may have a material adverse effect on our industry generally and on our ability to successfully develop and
commercialize neffy or any future product candidates.
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GovG ernments outside the United States may impose strict price controls, which may adversely affect our revenues, if any.ff

In some countries, including certain Member States of the EU, the pricing of prescription drugs is, in part, subject to
governmental control. Additional countries may adopt similar approaches to the pricing of prescription drugs. In such countries,
pricing negotiations with governmental authorities can take considerable time after receipt of regulatory approval for a product. Theff
EU provides options for the EU Member States to restrict the range of drff ug products for which their national health insurance systr ems
provide reimbursement and to control the prices of medicinal products for human use. EU Member States may approve a specific
price for a prff oduct or it may instead adopt a system of direct or indirect controls on the profitability of the company placing the
product on the market. Other EU Member States allow companies to fix their own prices for drug products, but monitor and control
prescription volumes and issue guidance to physicians to limit prescriptions. In addition, there can be considerable pressure by
governments and other stakeholders on prices and reimbursement levels, including as part of cost containment measures. Political,
economic and regulatory developments may further complicate pricing negotiations, and pricing negotiations may continue after
coverage and reimbursement have been obtained. Reference pricing used by various countries and parallel distribution, or arbitrage
between low-priced and high-priced countries, can further reduce prices. In some countries, we may be required to conduct a clinical
study or ott her studit es that compare the cost-effff eff ctiveness of nefe fff yff or any futff ure product candit dates to other available therapies in order
to obtain or maintain reimbursement or pricing appra oval, which is time-consuming and costly. We cannot be sure that such prices and
reimbursement will be acceptable ta o us. Publication of discounts by third-party payors or authorities may lead to further pressure on
the prices or reimbursement levels within the country of publication and other countries. If pricing is set at unsatisfactory levels or if
reimbursement of our products is unavailabla e or limited in scope or amount, our revenues from sales by us or our strategic partners
and the potential profitability of nefe fff yff or any future product candidates in those countries would be negatively affected.ff

ThTT e successfs uff l commercialization of neffy or any future product candidates, if approved, will depend in part on the extent to whichtt
governrr mental autt thorities and health insurers err stabltt ish covell rage, adequate reimbursement levrr els and fll avff orable pricing policies.
FaiFF lii ure to obtaitt n or maiii nii taitt n cii overage and adequate reimbursement for our products could limitt t ouii r ability to market those
products antt d decrease our abilii ity to generate revenue.ll

The availability of coverage and the adequacy of reimbursement by governmental healthcare programs such as Medicare and
Medicaid, private health insurers and other third-party payors are essential for mosff t patients to be abla e to afford prescription
medications such as neffy or any futff urt e product candidates, if approved. Our ability to achieve coverage and acceptable levels of
reimbursement for our products by third-party payors will have an effect on our ability to successfully commercialize those products.ff
Accordingly, we will need to successfully implement a coverage and reimbursement strategy for any approved product candidate.
Even if we obtain coverage for a giff ven product by a third-party payor, the resulting reimbursement payment rates may not be adequate
or may require co-payments that patients find unacceptably high. We cannot be sure that coverage and reimbursement in the United
States, the EU or elsewhere will be available for nefe fff yff or any future product candidate that we may develop, and any reimbursement
that may become available may be decreased or eliminated in the future.

Third-party payors increasingly are challenging prices charged for biopharmaceutical products and services, and many third-
party payors may refuse to provide coverage and reimbursement for particular drugs when an equivalent generic drug or a less
expensive therapy is available. It is possible that a third-party payor may consider nefe fff yff or any future product candidate as
substitutt able and only offer to reimburse patients for the less expensive product. Even if we are successful in demonstrating improved
effff iff cacy or improved convenience of administration with nefe fff yff or any future product candidates, pricing of existing drugs may limit
the amount we will be able to charge for neffy or any future product candidates. These payors may deny or revoke the reimbursement
status of a given product or establish prices for new or existing marketed products at levels that are too low to enable us to realize ant
appra opriate return on our investment in product development. If reimbursement is not available or is available only at limited levels,
we may not be abla e to successfullff y commercialize or obtain a satisfaff ctory financial return on nefe fff yff or any future product candidates
that we may develop.
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There is significant uncerff tainty related to third-party payor coverage and reimbursement of newly approved products. In the
United States, third-party payors, including private and governmental payors, such as the Medicare and Medicaid programs, play an
important role in determining the extent to which new drugs will be coverr ed. Some third-party payors may require pre-approval of
coverage for neff w or innovative devices or drug therapies before they will reimburse healthcare providers who use such therapies.a
There is signififf cant uncertainty related to third-party payor coverage and reimbursement of newly approved products. In the United
States, third-party payors, including private and governmental payors, such as the Medicare and Medicaid programs, play an important
role in determining the extent to which new drugs will be covered. Some third-party payors may require pre-approval of coverage for
new or innovative devices or drug therapies before they will reimburse healthcare providers who use such therapia es. Generally, third-
party payors limit coverage and reimbursement for new medication prior to a formal review by the payors’ pharmacy and therapeutics
committees. As such, several third-party payors have indicated that our products may be subject to denial or limited coverage prior to
forff mal review. There may be significant delays in obtaining reimbursement for newly-approved drugs, and coverage may be more
limited than the purposes for wff hich the drug or therapeutic biologic is approved by the FDA or similar foreign regulatory authorities.
Additionally, we may need to conduct expensive pharmaco-economic studit es to demonstrate the medical necessity and cost-
effff eff ctiveness of our product candidates. There can be no assurance that our product candidates will be considered medically necessary
or cost-effff eff ctive. It is difficult to predict at this time what third-party payors will decide with respect to the coverage and
reimbursement forff neffy or any futff urt e product candidates. Further, coverage policies and third-party reimbursement rates may change
at any time. Even if favorable coverage and reimbursement status is attained, less favorable coverage policies and reimbursement rates
may be implemented in the future. It is difficult to predict at this time what third-party payors will decide with respect to the coverage
and reimbursement for neffe yff or any futff urt e product candidates. Further, coverage policies and third-party reimbursement rates may
change at any time. Even if favorable coverage and reimbursement status is attained, less favorable coverage policies and
reimbursement rates may be implemented in the future.

Obtaining and maintaining reimbursement status is time consuming, costly and uncertain. The Medicare and Medicaid programs
increasingly are used as models for how private payors and other governmental payors develop their coverage and reimbursement
policies for drff ugs. However, no uniform policy for coverage ar nd reimbursement for products exists among third-party payors in the
United States. Thereforff e, coverage and reimbursement for products can differ significantly from payor to payor. As a result, the
coverage determination process is often a time consuming and costly process that will require us to provide scientific and clinical
support for tff he use of our products to each payor separately, with no assurance that coverage and adequate reimbursement will be
appla ied consistently or obtained in the firff st instance. Furthermore, rules and regulations regarding reimbursement change frequently,
in some cases at short notice, and we believe that changes in these rules and regulations are likely.

Outside the United States, international operations are generally subject to extensive governmental price controls and other
market regulations, and we believe the increasing emphasis on cost-containment initiatives in Europe and other countries has and will
continue to put pressure on the pricing and usage of neffy or any future product candidates. In many countries, the prices of medical
products are subject to varying price control mechanisms as part of national health systems. Other countries allow companies to fix
their own prices for medical products but monitor and control company profits. Additional foreign price controls or other changes in
pricing regulation could restrict the amount that we are able to charge forff nefe fff yff or any future product candidates. Accordingly, in
markets outside the United States, the reimbursement for nefe fff yff or any future product candidates may be reduced compared with the
United States and may be insuffff iff cient to generate commercially reasonabla e revenue and profits.

Moreover, increasing efforts by governmental and third-party payors in the United States and abroad to cap or reduce healthcarea
costs may cause such organizations to limit both coverage and the level of reimbursement for newly approved products and, as a
result, they may not cover or provide adequate payment for nefe fyff or any future product candidates. We expect to experience pricing
pressures in connection with the sale of nefe fff yff or any future product candidates due to the trend toward managed healthcare, the
increasing inflff uence of health maintenance organizations and additional legislative changes. The downward pressure on healthcare
costs in general, particularly prescription drugs and surgical procedures and other treatments, has become very intense. As a result,
increasingly high barriers are being erected to the entry of new products.

Ongoing healthcare legislative and regulatory reform measures may have a material adverse effect on our business and results of
operations.
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Our relatitt onships with customers, health care professionals and third-party payors may be subject to applicable healthcare laws,ii
which could ell xposee e us to pett naltill es, is nii cludinii g administrative, civil or cii riminii al penaltll itt es, damages, fines, imprisonment, exclusion
frff om partitt cipatiii on in federal healthcare programs such as Medicare and Medicaid, reputational harm, the curtailment orii
restrtt ucturinii g of our operations and dimiii nii isii hed future profits and earnings.ff

Healthcare professionals and third-party payors will play a primary role in the recommendation and prescription of neffye or any
futff urt e product candidates for which we obtain marketing approval. Our current and future arrangements with customers, healthcare
profeff ssionals and third-party payors may expose us to broadly appla icable fraud and abuse and other healthcare laws and regulationsa
that may constrain the business or financial arrangements and relationships through which we conduct research, market, sell and
distribute nefe fff yff or any future product candidates for which we obtain marketing approval. Restrictions under applicable federal and
state healthcare laws and regulations include the following, among others:

• the feff deral Anti-Kickback Statute prohibits, among other things, knowingly and willfully offering, paying, soliciting or
receiving remuneration to induce, or in return for, purchasing, leasing, ordering or arranging for the purchase, lease or order
of any healthcare item or service reimbursable under Medicare, Medicaid or other federally financed healthcare programs.
This statute has been interpreted to apply to arrangements between pharmaceutical manufacturers on the one hand and
prescribers, purchasers and formulary managers on the other. Although there are several statutory exceptions and regulatory
safe harbors protecting certain common activities from prosecution, the exceptions and safe haff rbors are drawn narrowly, and
practices that involve remuneration intended to induce prescribing, purchasing or recommending may be subject to scrutiny if
they do not qualify for an exception or safe harbor. Further a person or entity does not need to have actr ual knowledge of the
statute or specific intent to violate it in order to have committed a violation;

• feff deral civil and criminal false claims laws, including the False Claims Act, prohibit any person from knowingly presenting,
or causing to be presented, a false claim for payment to the feff deral government or knowingly making, or causing to be made,
a false statement to get a false claim paid. Over the past few years, several pharmaceutical and other healthcare companies
have been prosecuted under these laws for a variety of alleged promotional and marketing activities, including: allegedly
providing frff ee items and services, sham consulting fees and grants and other monetary benefits to prescribers; reporting to
pricing services inflated average wholesale prices that were then used by federal programs to set reimbursement rates;
engaging in off-label promotion that caused claims to be submitted to government healthcare programs for non-covered, off-
label uses; and submitting inflated best price information to the Medicaid Drug Rebate Program to reduce liability for
Medicaid rebates. In addition, the government may assert that a claim including items or services resulting from a violation of
the federal Anti-Kickback Statute constitutes a false or fraudulent claim for purposes of the federal False Claims Act;

• feff deral civil monetary penalties laws impose civil fines for, among other things, the offering or transfer of remuneration to a
Medicare or state healthcare program beneficiary if the person knows or should know it is likely to influence the beneficiary’s
selection of a particular provider, practitioner, or supplier of services reimbursable by Ma edicare or a state healthcare program,
unless an exception applies;

• the feff deral Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act of 1996 (“HIPAA”) which prohibits, among other things,
knowingly and willfully executing, or attempting to execute, a scheme to defraud any healthcare benefit program or obtain, by
means of false or fraudulent pretenses, representations, or promises, of any of the money or property owned by, or under the
custody or control of, any healthcare benefit program, regardless or the payor (e.g., public or private), willfully obstructing a
criminal investigation of a healthcare offense, and knowingly and willfully falsifying, concealing or covering up a material
fact or making any materially false, fictitious or fraudulent statement in connection with the delivery of or payment for
healthcare benefits, items or services; like the federal Anti-Kickback Statute, a person or entity does not need to have actual
knowledge of the statute or specific intent to violate it in order to have committed a violation;

• the feff deral Physician Payment Sunshine Act, which requires manufacturers of drugs, devices, biologics and medical supplies
for which payment is available under Medicare, Medicaid or the Children’s Health Insurance Program (with certain
exceptions) to report annually to the government information rff elated to payments or other “transfers of value” made to
physicians (defined to include doctors, dentists, optometrists, podiatrists and chiropractors), other healthcare professionals
(such as physician assistants and nurse practitioners) and teaching hospitals, as well as ownership and investment interests
held by physicians and their immediate family members;

• HIPAA, as amended by the Health Inforff mation Technology for Economic and Clinical Health Act of 2009 (“HITECH”), and
their respective implementing regulations, which impose obligations on “covered entities,” including certain healthcare
providers, health plans, and healthcare clearinghouses, as well as their respective “business associates” and their covered
subcontractors that create, receive, maintain or transmit individually identifiable health information for or on behalf of a
covered entity, with respect to safeguarding the privacy, security and transmission of individually identifiable health
inforff mation;
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• federal price reporting laws require manufactures to calculate and report complex pricing metrics to government programs,
where such reported prices may be used in the calculation of reimbursement and/or discounts on approved products;

• feff deral and state consumer protection and unfair competition laws broadly regulate marketplace activities and activities that
potentially harm consumers; and

• analogous state laws and regulations, such as state anti-kickback and falsff e claims laws, that may apply to sales or marketing
arrangements and claims involving healthcare items or services reimbursed by non-governmental third-party payors,
including private insurers; some state laws that require biotechnology companies to comply with the industry’s voluntary
compliance guidelines and the relevant compliance guidance promulgated by the federal government and may require drug
manufaff cturt ers to report information related to payments and other transfers of value to physicians and other healthcare
providers or marketing expenditures; some state laws that require biotechnology companies to report information on the
pricing of certain drug products; and some state and local laws require the registration or pharmaceutical sales representatives.

Because of the breadth of these laws and the narrowness of available statutory exceptions and regulatory safe harbors, it is
possible that some of our business activities, particularly any sales and marketing activities after nefe fff yff or any futff ure product candidatet
has been appra oved for marketing in the United States, could be subject to legal challenge and enforcement actions. If our operations
are found to be iff n violation of any of the laws described above or any other governmental regulations that apply to us, we may be
subject to signififf cant penalties, including administrative, civil and criminal penalties, damages, fines, exclusion from governmental
health care programs, a corporate integrity agreement or other agreement to resolve allegations of non-compliance, imprisonment, and
the curtailment or restrucr turt ing of our operations, any of which could adversely affect our ability to operate our business and our
fiff nancial results.

We arWW e subject to stt tringent and evolving U.S. and foreign laws, regulations, rules, contractual obligations, policies and other
oblill gatii ons related to data privacy and security. Our actual or perceived failure to comply with such obligations could lead tll ott
regue latll ortt y ir nii vestigations or actions; litigation; fines and penalties; disruptions of our business operationsi ; repuee tational harmtt ; loss
of revenue or profiff tii stt ; and othtt er adversrr e business consequences.

In the ordinary course of business, we collect, receive, store, process, generate, use, transfer, disclose, make accessible, protect,
secure, dispose of, transmit, and share (collectively, “process”) personal data and other sensitive information, including propriff etary
and confidential business data, trade secrets, intellectual property, data we collect about trial participants in connection with clinical
trials, sensitive third-party data, business plans, transactions, and financial information (collectively, “sensitive data”).

Our data processing activities may subject us to numerous data privacy and security obligations, such as various laws,
regulations, guidance, industry standards, external and internal privacy and security policies, contractual requirements, and other
obligations relating to data privacy and security.

In the United States, federal, state, and local governments have enacted numerous data privacy and security laws, including data
breach notification laws, personal data privacy laws, consumer protection laws (e.g., Section 5 of the Federal Trade Commission Act),
and other similar laws (e.g., wiretapping laws). For example, the California Consumer Privacy Act of 2018 (“CCPA”) applies to
personal inforff mation of consumers, business representatives, and employees, and requires businesses to provide specific diff sclosures in
privacy notices and honor requests of California residents to exercise certain privacy rights. The CCPA provides for civil penalties of
up to $7,500 per violation and allows private litigants affected by certain data breaches to recover significant statutory damages. Inff
addition, the Califorff nia Privacy Rights Act of 2020 (“CPRA”) expands the CCPA’s requirements, including by adding a new right forRR
individuals to correct their personal inforff mation and establishing a new regulatory agency to implement and enforce the law. Although
the CCPA exempts some data processed in the context of clinical trials, the CCPA increases compliance costs and potential liability
with respect to other personal data we maintain about California residents.

Other states, such as Virginia and Colorado, have also passed comprehensive privacy laws, and similar laws are being
considered in several other states, as well as at the federal and local levels. While these states, like the CCPA, also exempt some data
processed in the context of clinical trials, these developments may further complicate compliance efforts, and increase legal risk and
compliance costs for us aff nd the third parties upon whom we rely.

Outside the United States, an increasing number of laws, regulations, and industry standards may govern data privacy and
security. For example, the European Union’s General Data Protection Regulation (“EU GDPR”) and the United Kingdom’s GDPR
(“UK GDPR”), impose strict requirements for processing personal data.

For example, under the EU GDPR, companies may face temporary or definitive bans on data processing and other corrective
actions; fiff nes of up to 20 million Euros or 4% of annual global revenue, whichever is greater; or private litigation related to processing
of personal data brought by classes of data subjects or consumer protection organizations authorized at law to represent their interests.
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In addition, we may be unable to transfer personal data from Europe and other jurisdictions to the United States or other
countries due to data localization requirements or limitations on cross-border data flff ows. Europe and other jurisdictions have enacted
laws requiring data to be localized or limiting the transfer of personal data to other countries. In particular, the EEA and the UK have
signififf cantly restricted the transfeff r of personal data to the United States and other countries whose privacy laws it believes are
inadequate. Other jurisdictions may adopt similarly stringent interpretations of their data localization and cross-border data transfer
laws. Although there are currently various mechanisms that may be used to transfer personal data from the EEA and UK to the United
States in compliance with law, such as the EEA and UK’s standard contractual clauses, these mechanisms are subject to legal
challenges, and there is no assurance that we can satisfy or rely on these measures to lawfully transff fer personal data to the United
States. If there is no lawful mff anner for us to transfeff r personal data from the EEA, the UK, or other jurisdictions to the United States,
or if the requirements for a leff gally-compliant transfer aff re too onerous, we could face signififf cant adverse consequences, including the
interruptir on or degradation of our operations, the need to relocate part of or all of our business or data processing activities to other
jurisdictions at significant expense, increased exposure to regulatory actions, substantial fines and penalties, the inability to transfeff r
data and work with partners, vendors and other third parties, and injunctions against our processing or transferring of personal data
necessary trr o operate our business. Additionally, companies that transfer personal data out of the EEA and UK to other jurisdictions,
particularly to the United States, are subject to increased scrutiny from regulators, individual litigants, and activities groups. Some
European regulators have ordered certain companies to suspend or permanently cease certain transfers of personal data out of Europe
for aff llegedly violating the GDPR’s cross-border data transfer limitations.

Obligations related to data privacy and security are quickly changing, becoming increasingly stringent, and creating regulatory
uncertainty. Additionally, these obligations may be subject to differing applications and interpretations, which may be inconsistent or
conflict among jurisdictions. Preparing for and complying with these obligations requires us to devote significant resources and may
necessitate changes to our services, information technologies, systems, and practices and to those of any third parties that process
personal data on our behalf.

We may at times fail (or be perceiff ved to have failed) in our eff fforts to comply with our data privacy and security obligations.
Moreover, despite our efforts, our personnel or third parties on whom we rely may fail to comply with such obligations, which couldff
negatively impact our business operations. If we or the third parties on which we rely fail, or are perceived to have failed, to address
or comply with applicable data privaca y and security obligations, we could face significant consequences, including but not limited to:
government enforcement actions (e.g., investigations, fiff nes, penalties, audits, inspections, and similar); litigation (including class-
action claims); additional reporting requirements and/or oversight; bans on processing personal data; and orders to destroy or not use
personal data. Any of these events could have a material adverse effect on our reputation, business, or financial condition, including
but not limited to: loss of customers; interruptions or stoppages in our business operations (including clinical trials); inability to
process personal data or to operate in certain jurisdictions; limited ability to develop or commercialize our products; expenditure of
time and resources to defend any claim or inquiry; adverse publicity; or substantial changes to our business model or operations.

If ouII r infn ormation tecff hnology systems or data, or those of thirtt d parties upon which we rely, are or were compromised, we could
experience adverse consequences resulting from such compromise, inii cludinii g but not limited to regulatory investigations or actions;
litigation; fiff nii es and penalties; disruptions of our business operations; reputational harmrr ; loss of revenue or profits; and other
adverse consequences.

In the ordinary course of our business, we and the third parties upon which we rely process sensitive data, and, as a result, we
and the third parties upon which we rely face a variety of evolving threats, including but not limited to ransomware attacks, which
could cause security incidents. Cyber-attacks, malicious internet-based activity, online and offline fraud, and other similar activities
threaten the confidentiality, integrity, and availability of our sensitive data and information technology systems, and those of the third
parties upon which we rely. Such threats are prevalent and continue to rise, are increasingly difficult to detect, and come from a
variety of sources, including traditional computer “hackers,” threat actors, “hacktivists,” organized criminal threat actors, personnel
(such as through theft or misuse), sophisticated nation states, and nation-state-supported actors.

Some actors now engage and are expected to continue to engage in cyber-attacks, including without limitation nation-state
actors for geopolitical rff easons and in conjunction with military conflicts and defense activities. During times of war and other major
conflff icts, we and the third parties upon which we rely may be vulnerable to a heightened risk of these attacks, including retaliatory
cyber-attacks, which could materially disrupt our systems and operations, supply chain, and ability to produce, sell and distribute oura
services.

We and the third parties upon which we rely are subject to a variety of evolving threats, including but not limited to social-
engineering attacks (including through phishing attacks), malicious code (such as viruses and worms), malware (including as a result
of advanced persistent threat intrusions), denial-of-service attacks (such as credential stuffing), credential harvesting, personnelff
misconduct or error, ransomware attacks, supply-chain attacks, software bugs, server malfunctions, software or hardware failures, loss
of data or other information technology assets, adware, telecommunications faff ilures, earthquakes, fires, floods, and other similar
threats.
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In particular, severe ransomware attacks are becoming increasingly prevalent and can lead to significant interruptions in our
operations, loss of sensitive data and income, reputational harm, and diversion of funds. Extortion payments may alleviate the
negative impact of a ransomware attack, but we may be unwilling or unable to make such payments due to, for example, applicable
laws or regulations prohibiting such payments.

Remote work has become more common and has increased risks to our information technology systems and data, as more of our
employees utilize network connections, computers, and devices outside our premises or network, including working at home, while in
transit and in public locations. Additionally, futff urt e or past business transactions (such as acquisitions or integrations) could expose us
to additional cybersecurity risks and vulnerabilities, as our systems could be negatively affected by vulnerabilities present in acquired
or integrated entities’ systems and technologies. Furthermore, we may discover security issues that were not found during dueff
diligence of such acquired or integrated entities, and it may be difficult to integrate companies into our information technology
environment and security program.

In addition, our reliance on third-party service providers could introduce new cybersecurity risks and vulnerabilities, including
supply-chain attacks, and other threats to our business operations. We rely on third-party service providers and technologies to
operate critical business systems to process sensitive data in a variety of contexts, including, without limitation, cloud-based
infrff astrucr ture, data center facilities, encryption and authentication technology, employee email, content delivery to customers, and
other functions. We also rely on third-party service providers to provide other productsff , services, parts, or otherwise to operate our
business. Our abia lity to monitor these third parties’ information security practices is limited, and these third parties may not have
adequate information security measures in place. If our third-party service providers experience a security incident or other
interruptir on, we could experience adverse consequences. While we may be entitled to damages if our third-party service providers fail
to satisfy their privacy or security-related obligations to us, any award may be insufficient to cover our damages, or we may be unable
to recover such award. In addition, supply-chain attacks have increased in frequency and severity, and we cannot guarantee that third
parties’ infrastructure in our supply chain or our third-party partners’ supply chains have not been compromised.

Any of the previously identified or similar threats could cause a security incident or other interruption that could result in
unauthorized, unlawful, or accidental acquisition, modification, destruction, loss, alteration, encryption, disclosure of, or access to our
sensitive data or our information technology systems, or those of the third parties upon whom we rely. A security incident or other
interruptir on could disrupt our ability (and that of third parties upon whom we rely) to provide our services.

We may expend significant resources or modify our business activities (including clinical trials) to try to protect against security
incidents. Additionally, certain data privacy and security obligations may require us to implement and maintain specific security
measures or industry-standard or reasonable security measures trr o protect our information technology systems and sensitive data.

While we have implemented security measures designed to protect against security incidents, there can be no assurance that
these measures will be effective. We take steps to detect and remediate vulnerabilities, but we may not be able to detect and remediate
all vulnerabilities because the threats and techniques used to exploit the vulnerability change frequently and are often sophisticated in
naturt e. Therefore, such vulnerabilities could be exploited but may not be detected until after a security incident has occurred. These
vulnerabilities pose mata erial risks to our business. Further, we may experience delays in developing and deploying remedial measures
designed to address any such identified vulnerabia lities.

Applicable data privacy and security obligations may require us to notify relevant stakeholders of security incidentsff . Such
disclosures are costly, and the disclosure or the failure to comply with such requirements could lead to adverse consequences.

If we (or a third party upon whom we rely) experience a security incident or are perceived to have experienced a security
incident, we may experience adverse consequences, such as government enforcement actions (for example, investigations, fines,
penalties, audits, and inspections); additional reporting requirements and/or oversight; restrictions on processing sensitive data
(including personal data); litigation (including class claims); indemnification obligations; negative publicity; reputational harm;
monetary fund diversions; interruptions in our operations (including availability of data); financial loss; and other similar harms.
Security incidents and attendant consequences may cause customers to stop using our services, deter new customers from using our
services, and negatively impact our abila ity to grow and operate our business.

Our contracts may not contain limitations of liability, and even where they do, there can be no assurance that limitations of
liability in our contracts are suffiff cient to protect us from liabilities, damages, or claims related to our data privacy and security
obligations. We cannot be sure that our insurance coverage will be adequate or sufficient to protect us from or to mitigate liabilitiesff
arising out of our privacy and security practices, that such coverage will continue to be available on commercially reasonable terms or
at all, or that such coverage will pay future claims.

In addition to experiencing a security incident, third parties may gather, collect, or infer sensitive information about us from
public sources, data brokers, or other means that reveals competitively sensitive details about our organization and could be used to
undermine our competitive advantage or market position.
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Risks Related to Our Intellectual Property

Our commercial success depends on our ability to obtain and maintain see ufficient intellectual property protection for our productu
candidatett s and othtt er proprietartt y tr echnologitt es.

Our commercial success will depend, in part, on our ability to obtain and maintaa in patent protection in the United States and
other countries with respect to our product candidates. If we are unable to obtain or maintain patent protection with respect to our
product candidates, and their uses, our business, financial condition, results of operations and prospects could be materially harmed.

We generally seek to protect our proprietary position by filing or in-licensing patents or patent applications in the United States
and abra oad related to our product candidates that are important to our business, as appropriate. Our pending and future patent
appla ications cannot be enforced against third parties practicing the technology claimed in such appla ications unless, and until, patents
issue frff om such applications, and then only to the exta ent the issued claims cover the technology. There can be no assurance that our
patent appla ications will result in patents being issued or that issued patents will afford sufficient protection against competitors with
similar technology, nor can there be any assurance that the patents issued will not be infringed, desff igned around or invalidated by third
parties. Even issued patents may later be found invaff lid or unenforceabla e or may be modified or revoked in proceedings instituted by
third parties before various patent offices or in courts. The degree of future protection for our proprietary rights is uncertain. Only
limited protection may be available and may not adequately protect our rights or permit us to gain or keep any competitive advantage.
This faff ilure to obtain the intellectual property rights relating to our product candidates could have a material adverse effect on our
fiff nancial condition and results of operations.

The patent application process is subject to numerous risks and uncertainties, and there can be no assurance that we or any of
our potential future collaborators will be successful in protecting our product candidates by obtaining and defending patents.
Obtaining and enforcing patents is expensive and time-consuming, and we may not be able to file and prosecute all necessary or
desirabla e patent applications, or maintain and/or enforce patents that may issue based on our patent applications, at a reasonable cost
or in a timely manner. It is also possible that we will fail to identify patentable aspects of our research and development results before
it is too late to obtain patent protection.

Although we enter into non-disclosure and confiff dentiality agreements with parties who have access to patentable aspects of our
research and development output, such as our employees, corporate collaborators, outside scientific collaborators, CROs, contract
manufacturt ers, consultants, independent contractors, advisors and other third parties, any of these parties may breach these agreements
and disclose such results before a patent application is filed, thereby jeopardizing our ability to seek adequate patent protection.

If tII htt e scope of any patn ett nt protection we obtain is not sufficiently broad, or itt f wi e lose any of oull r patent protection, our ability toii
prevent our compem titors from commercializing similar or identical product candidates wii ould be advll ersely affected.ff

The patent position of pharmaceutical companies generally is highly uncertain, involves complex legal and factual questions and
has in recent years been the subject of much litigation, resulting in court decisions, including United States Supreme Court decisions,
which have increased uncertainties as to the abia lity to enforce patent rights in the future. In addition, the laws of foreign countries may
not protect our rights to the same extent as the laws of the United States, or vice versa.

Further, we may not be aware of all third-party intellectual property rights potentially relating to our research programs and
product candidates, or their intended uses, and as a result the potential impact of such third-party intellectual property rights upon the
patentabia lity of our own patents and patent appla ications, as well as the potential impact of such third-party intellectual property upon
our frff eedom to operate, is highly uncertain. Because patent applications are maintained as confiff dential for a certain period of time,
until the relevant application is published, we may be unaware of third-party patents that may be infringed by commercialization of
any of our product candidates, and we cannot be certain that we were the first to file a patent application related to a product candidate
or technology. Moreover, because patent applications can take many years to issue, there may be currently pending patent applications
that may later result in issued patents that our product candidates may infringe. In addition, identification of third-party patent rights
that may be relevant to our technology is difficult because patent searching is imperfect due to differences in terminology among
patents, incomplete databases and the difficulty in assessing the meaning of patent claims. There is also no assurance that there is not
prior art of which we are aware, but which we do not believe is relevant to our business, which may, nonetheless, ultimately be found
to limit our ability to make, use, sell, offer for sale or import our products that may be approved in the future, or impair our
competitive position. In addition, third parties may obtain patents in the future and claim that use of our technologies infringes upon
these patents. As a result, the issuance, scope, validity, enforceability, and commercial value of our patent rights are highly uncertain.
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Our patents or pending patent applications, or the patents or pending patent applications that we license, may be challenged in
the courts or patent offices in the United States and other foreign jurisdictions. For example, we may be subject to a third-party pre-
issuance submission of prior art to the USPTO or become involved in post-grant review procedures, derivations, reexaminations, or
inter parties review proceedings, in the United States or oppositions or similar proceedings in foreign jurisdictions, challenging our
patent rights. The legal threshold for initiating such proceedings may be low, so that even proceedings with a low probability of
success might be initiated. An adverse determination in any such challenges may result in loss of exclusivity or in patent claims being
narrowed, invalidated, or held unenforceable, in whole or in part, which could limit our ability to stop others from using or
commercializing similar or identical technology and products, or limit the duration of the patent protection of our technology and
products.

Given the amount of time required for tff he development, testing and regulatory review of new product candidates, patents
protecting such candidates might expire before or shortly after such candidates are commercialized. As a result, our intellectual
property may not provide us with sufficient rights to exclude others from commercializing products similar or identical to ours.

We mWW ay not be able to protect our intelll lll ell ctual property rights throughout the world, which could negatively impact our business.tt

Patents are of national or regional effff eff ct. Although we co-own or exclusively license four issued United States patents, one
granted Australia patent, one granted Japanese patent, one granted Chinese patent, one granted South Korea patent, one granted
European patent, and three granted United Kingdom patents for neffye and pending patent applications in the United States, Europe,
Japaa n, Australia, China, South Korea, and other foreign jurisdictions for neffy, filing, prosecuting and defending patents in all
countries throughout the world would be prohibitively expensive, and our intellectual property rights in some countries outside the
United States can be less extensive than those in the United States. In addition, the laws of some foreign countries do not protect
intellectuat l property rights to the same extent as federal and state laws in the United States. Consequently, we may not be able toa
prevent third parties from practicing our inventions in all countries outside the United States or from selling or importing products
made using our inventions in and into the United States or other jurisdictions. Competitors may use our technologies in jurisdictions
where we have not obtained patent protection to develop their own products and, further, may export otherwise infringing products to
territories where we have patent protection, but enforcement is not as strong as that in the United States. These competitor products
may compete with our product candidates, and our patents or other intellectual property rights may not be effective or sufficient to
prevent them from competing.

Many companies have encountered significant problems in protecting and defeff nding intellectual property rights in foreign
jurisdictions. The legal systems of certain countries, particularly certain developing countries, do not favor the enforcement of patents,
trade secrets and other intellectual property protection, particularly those relating to biotechnology products, which could make it
diffff iff cult for us tff o stop the infringement of our patents or marketing of competing products in violation of our proprietary rights
generally. As an example, European applications will soon have the option, upon grant of a patent, of becoming a Unitary Patent
which will be subject to the jurisdiction of the Unitary Patent Court (“UPC”). The option of a Unitary Patent will be a significant
change in European patent practice. As the UPC is a new court system, there is no precedent for the court, increasing the uncertainty.
Proceedings to enforff ce our patent rights in foreign jurisdictions, whether or not successful, could result in sff ubstantial costs and divert
our effff orff ts and attention from other aspects of our business, could put our patents at risk of being invalidated or interpreted narrowly
and our patent appla ications at risk of not issuing, and could provoke third parties to assert claims against us. We may not prevail in any
lawsuits that we initiate, and the damages or other remedies awarded, if any, may not be commercially meaningful. Accordingly, our
effff orff ts to enforce our intellectual property rights around the world may be inadequate to obtain a significant commercial advantage
frff om the intellectual property that we develop or license. Furthermore, while we intend to protect our intellectual property rights in our
expected significant markets, we cannot ensure that we will be able to initiate or maintain similar efforts in all jurisdictions in which
we may wish to market our product candidates. Accordingly, our efforts to protect our intellectual property rights in such countriesff
may be inadequate, which may have an adverse effect on our ability to successfully commercialize our product candidates in all of our
expected significant forff eign markets.

Various countries outside the United States have compulsory licensing laws under which a patent owner may be compelled to
grant licenses to third parties. In addition, many countries limit the enforceability of patents against government agencies or
government contractors. As a result, a patent owner may have limited remedies in certain circumstances, which could materially
diminish the value of such patent. If we are forced to grant a license to third parties with respect to any patents relevant to our
business, our competitive position may be impaired, and our business, financial condition, results of operations and prospects may be
adversely affected. Accordingly, our efforts to protect or enforce our intellectual property rights around the world may be inadequate
to obtain a significant commercial advantage from the intellectual property that we develop or license. Furthermore, while we intend
to protect our intellectual property rights in our expected significant markets, we cannot ensure that we will be able to initiate or
maintain similar efforts in all jurisdictions in which we may wish to market our product candidates. Accordingly, our efforts to protect
our intellectual property rights in such countries may be inadequate, which may have an adverse effect on our ability to successfully
commercialize our product candidates in all of our expected significant foreign markets.
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Further, the standards applied by the USPTO and foreign patent offices in granting patents are not always applied uniformly or
predictably. As such, we do not know the degree of future protection that we will have on our technologies, products and product
candidates. While we will endeavor to try to protect our technologies, products and product candidates with intellectual property rights
such as patents, as appropriate, the process of obtaining patents is time-consuming, expensive and unpredictable.

Further, geo-political actions in the United States and in foreign countries could increase the uncertainties and costs surrounding
the prosecution or maintenance of our patent applications or those of any current or future licensors and the maintenance, enforcement
or defeff nse of our issued patents or those of any current or futff ure licensorst . For example, the United States and foreign government
actions related to Russia’s invasion of Ukraine may limit or prevent filing, prosecution and maintenance of patent applications in
Russia. Government actions may also prevent maintenance of issued patents in Russia. These actions could result in abandonment or
lapsa e of the patents or patent applications that we own, co-own or exclusively license, resulting in partial or complete loss of patent
rights in RusRR sia. If such an event were to occur, it could have a material adverse effect on our business. In addition, a decree was
adopted by the Russian government in March 2022, allowing Russian companies and individuals to exploit inventions owned byRR
patentees that have citizenship or nationality in, are registered in, or have predominately primary place of business or profit-making
activities in the United States and other countries that Russia has deemed unfriendly without consent or compensation. Consequently,
we would not be able to prevent third parties frff om practicing the inventions that we own, co-own or exclusively license in Russia or
frff om selling or importing products made using the inventions that we own, co-own or exclusively license in and into Russia.
Accordingly, our competitive position may be impaired, and our business, financial condition, results of operations and prospects may
be adversely affected.

Recent patent reform legislation could increase the uncertainties and costs surrounding the prosecution of our patent applications
and the enforcement or defense of our issued patents.

On September 16, 2011, the Leahy-Smith America Invents Act (the “Leahy-Smith Act”) was signed into law in the United
States. The Leahy-Smith Act includes a number of significant changes to U.S. patent law. These include provisions that affect the way
patent appla ications will be prosecuted and may also affect patent litigation. In particular, under the Leahy-Smith Act, the United States
transitioned in March 2013 to a “first inventor to file” system in which, assuming that other requirements of patentabia lity are met, the
fiff rst inventor to file a patent applia cation will be entitled to the patent regardless of whether a third party was first to invent the claimed
invention. A third party that files a patent application in the USPTO after March 2013 but before we could therefore be awarded aff
patent covering any of our inventions even if we had made the invention before it was made by such third party. This will require us to
be cognizant going forward of the time from invention to fiff ling of a patent appla ication. Furthermore, our ability to obtain and maintain
valid and enforceable patents depends on whether the differences between our technology, or the technologies we license for our
product candidates, and the prior art allow the technology we use for our product candidates to be patentable over the prior art. Since
patent applications in the United States and most other countries are confidential for a period of time after filing or until issuance, we
cannot be certain that we were the first to either file any patent application related to our product candidates or invent any of the
inventions claimed in our patents or patent applications.

The Leahy-Smith Act also includes a number of significant changes that affeff ct the way patent applications will be prosecuted
and also may affect patent litigation. These include allowing third-party submission of prior art to the USPTO during patent
prosecution and additional procedures to attack the validity of a patent by USPTO administered post-grant proceedings, including Post
Grant Review, Inter Partes Review, and derivation proceedings. An adverse determination in any such submission or proceeding could
reduce the scope or enforceability of, or invalidate, our patent rights, which could adversely affect our competitive position. Because
of a lower evidentiary standard in USPTO proceedings compared to the evidentiary standard in United States federal courts necessary
to invalidate a patent claim, a third party could potentially provide evidence in a USPTO proceeding sufficient for the USPTO to hold
a claim invalid even though the same evidence would be insufficient to invalidate the claim if first presented in a district court action.
Accordingly, a third party may attempt to use the USPTO procedures to invalidate our patent claims that would not have been
invalidated if first challenged by the third party as a defendant in a district court action. Thus, the Leahy-Smith Act and its
implementation could increase the uncertainties and costs surrounding the prosecution of our patent applications and the enforcement
or defense of our issued patents, all of which could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, results of
operations and prospects.
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ChCC anges in patii ett nt law in the United States and other jurisdictions could diminish the value of patents in general, therll eby
imii pairing oum r abilii itll y to protect our product candidates.tt

As is the case with other pharmaceutical companies, our success is heavily dependent on intellectual property, particularly
patents relating to our product candidates. Obtaining and enforcing patents in the pharmaceutical industry involves both technological
and legal complexity and is therefore costly, time consuming and inherently uncertain. Changes in either the patent laws or
interprr etation of the patent laws, rules and regulations in the United States and other countries could increase the uncertainties and
costs surrounding the prosecution of patent applications and the enforcement or defense of issued patents. We cannot prff edict the
breadth of claims that may be allowed or enforff ced in the patents we own, co-own or license from third-parties. In addition, U.S.
Congress or other forff eign legislative bodies may pass patent reform legislation that is unfaff vorable to us.

Depending on decisions by the U.S. Congress, the U.S. federal courts, the USPTO, the laws and regulations governing patents
could change in unpredictable ways that could weaken our ability to obtain new patents or to enforce the existing patents we own, co-
own or license and patents we or our licensors might obtain in the future. For example, the U.S. Supreme Court has ruled on several
patent cases in recent years, either narrowing the scope of patent protection availabla e in certain circumstances or weakening the rights
of patent owners in certain situations. In addition to increasing uncertainty with regard to our ability to obtain patents in the future, this
combination of events has created uncertainty with respect to the value of patents, once obtained.

Depending on futff urt e actions by the U.S. Congress, the U.S. courts, the USPTO, or similar authorities in foreign jurisdictions,
the laws and regulations governing patents could change in unpredictable ways that could weaken our ability to obtain new patents or
to enforce the existing patents we own, co-own or license and patents that we or our licensors might obtain in the future.

Obtaitt nii inii g and mainii taitt nii inii g patent protection depends on ctt omplm ill ance witii h vtt arious procedural, document submissions, fee payment
and othtt er requirii ements imposed by governmental patent agencies, and our patent prrr otection could be rtt educed or eliminatett d for
non-complm ill ance with these requirements.

Periodic maintenance feff es, renewal fees, annuity feff es and various other governmental fees on patents and/or patent applications
will be due to be paid to the USPTO and various forff eign patent agencies at various stages over the lifetime of our patents and/or patent
appla ications. We have systems in place to remind us to pay these fees, and we rely on our outside patent annuity service to pay these
feff es when due. In addition, the USPTO and various foreign governmental patent agencies require compliance with a number of
procedural, documentary, frr ee payment and otff her similar provisions during the patent application process. We employ reputable law
fiff rms and other professionals to help us comply with these provisions. In many cases, an inadvertent lapse can be cured by payment of
a late feff e or by other means in accordance with the applicable rulea s. However, there are situations in which noncompliance can result
in abandonma ent or lapse of a patent or patent application, resulting in partial or complete loss of patent rights in the relevant
jurisdiction. If such an event were to occur, it could have a material adverse effect on our business. If we or our licensors fail to
maintain the patents and patent applications covering our product candidates, our competitors might be able to enter the market, which
would have a material adverse effect on our business, fiff nancial conditions, results of operations and growth prospects.

PatPP ett nt termrr s may be inadequate to prtt otett ct our compem titive position on our product candidates for an adequate amount of time and
may adversely affect our anticipated future revenues and operating earnings.

We rely on patent, trademark, trade secret and other intellectual property protection in the discovery, development,
manufacturt ing and sale of our product candidates. In particular, patent protection is important in the development and eventual
commercialization of our product candidates. Patents covering our product candidates normally provide market exclusivity, which is
important in order for our product candidates to become prff ofitable.

Patents have a limited lifespan. In the United States, the natural expiration of a patent is generally 20 years. In the United States,
if all maintenance feff es are timely paid, the natural expiration of a patent is generally 20 years from its earliest U.S. non-provisional
fiff ling date. Various extensions may be available, but the life of a patent, and the protection it affords, is limited. Given the amount of
time required for tff he development, testing and regulatory review of new product candidates, patents protecting such product
candidates might expire beforff e or shortly after such product candidates are commercialized. Even if patents covering our product
candidates are obtained, once the patent life has expired for a product, we may be open to competition from generic producff ts. As a
result, our patent portfolio may not provide us with sufficient rff ights to exclude others from commercializing products similar or
identical to ours.

The patents we currently co-own or exclusively license for nefe fff yff are expected to expire as early as 2038, absent any patent term
adjustments. The API in nefe fff yff is epinephrine, a generic API that is used in FDA-approved intra-muscular injectables. If neffye is
appra oved by the FDA under the 505(b)(2) regulatory pathway, our U.S. patents for nefe fff yff will not be eligible for patent term restoration
under the Drug Pr rice Competition and Patent Term Restoration Act of 1984. While we are planning to seek additional patent coverage
forff nefe fff yff , there can be no assurances that such additional patent protection will be granted, or if granted, that these patents will not be
infrff inged upon or otherwise held enforceable. Even if we are successful in obtaining a patent, patents have a limited lifespan. Without
patent protection, we may be open to competition from generic versions of neffye .
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We cWW annot ensure that patett nt righi ts rtt elatll ing to inventions described and claimed in our pending patett nt applill cations will itt ssue orii
thtt at patents bastt ed on our patent applicll atitt ons wilii l nll ot be challell nged and rendered invalid and/or unenforceable.

We co-own or exclusively license patent applications in our portfolff io relating to our product candidates that are pending at the
patent offff iff ces in the United States, Europe, Japan, and other foreign jurisdictions, however, we cannot predict:

• if and when patents may issue based on the patent applications wa e own, co-own or exclusively license;

• the scope of protection of any patent issuing based on the patent applications we own, co-own or exclusively license;

• whether the claims of any patent issuing based on the patent applications we own, co-own or exclusively license will provide
protection against competitors,

• whether or not third parties will find ways to invalidate or circumvent our patent rights;

• whether or not others will obtain patents claiming aspects similar to those covered by the patent applications we own, co-own
or exclusively license;

• whether we will need to initiate litigation or administrative proceedings to enforce and/or defend our patent rights which willff
be costly whether we win or lose;

• whether the patent applications that we own, co-own or exclusively license will result in issued patents with claims that cover
our product candidates or uses thereof; and/or

• whether we may experience patent office interruptr ion or delays to our ability to timely secure patent coverage to our product
candidates.

We cannot be certain that the claims in our pending patent applications directed to our product candidates will be considered
patentabla e by the USPTO or by patent officff es in forff eign countries. One aspect of the determination of patentability of our inventions
depends on the scope and content of the “prior art,” information that was or is deemed availabla e to a person of skill in the relevant art
prior to the priority date of the claimed invention. There may be prior art of which we are not aware that may affect the patentabiff lity of
our patent claims or, if issued, affect the validity or enforceability of a patent claim relevant to our business. There is no assurance that
there is not prior art of which we are aware, but which we do not believe is relevant to our business, which may, nonetheless,
ultimately be found to limit our abiff lity to make, use, sell, offer for sale or import our products that may be approved in the future, or
impair our competitive position. Even if the patents do issue based on the patent applications we own, co-own or exclusively license,
third parties may challenge the validity, enforceability or scope thereof, wff hich may result in such patents being narrowed, invalidated
or held unenforff ceable. Furthermore, even if they are unchallenged, patents in our portfolio may not adequately exclude third parties
frff om practicing relevant technology or prevent others from designing around our claims. If the breadth or strength of our intellectual
property position with respect to our product candidates is threatened, it could dissuade companies from collaborating with us to
develop, and threaten our ability to commercialize, our product candidates. In the event of litigation or administrative proceedings, we
cannot be certain that the claims in any of our issued patents will be considered valid by courts in the United States or foreign
countries.

We mWW ay not identifi y relevant third-party patents or may incorrectly interpret the rff elell vance, scope or expiration of a third-party
patett nt which might adversely affect our ability to develop and market our products.

As the pharmaceutical industry expands and more patents are issued, the risk increases that our product candidates may be
subject to claims of infrff ingement of the patent rights of third parties. There can be no assurance that our operations do not, or will not
in the futurff e, infrff inge existing or future third-party patents. Identification of third-party patent rights that may be relevant to our
operations is difficult because patent searching is imperfect due to diffeff rences in terminology among patents, incomplete databases
and the difficulty in assessing the meaning of patent claims. We cannot guarantee that any of our patent searches or analyses,
including the identification of relevant patents, the scope of patent claims or the expiration of relevant patents, are complete or
thorough, nor can we be certain that we have identified each and every third-party patent and pending application in the United States
and abroad that is relevant to our operations or necessary for the commerr rcialization of our product candidates in any jurisdiction.
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Numerous U.S. and forff eign patents and pending patent applications exist in our market that are owned by third parties. Our
competitors in both the United States and abroad, many of which have substantially greater resources and have made substantial
investments in patent portfolios and competing technologies, may have applied for or obtained or may in the futff ure apply for at nd
obtain, patents that will prevent, limit or otherwise interfere with our ability to make, use and sell our products. We do not always
conduct independent reviews of pending patent applications and patents issued to third parties. Patent applications in the United States
and elsewhere are typically published approximately 18 months after the earliest filing for which priority is claimed, with such earliest
fiff ling date being commonly referred to as the priority date. Certain U.S. patent applications that will not be filed outside the U.S. can
remain confidential until patents issue. In addition, patent appla ications in the United States and elsewhere can be pending for many
years beforff e issuance, or unintentionally abandoned patents or applications can be revived. Furthermore, pending patent applications
that have been published can, subject to certain limitations, be later amended in a manner that could cover our technologies, our
products or the use of our products. As such, there may be applications of others now pending or recently revived patents of which we
are unaware. These patent applications may later result in issued patents, or the revival of previously abandoned patents, that will
prevent, limit or otherwise interfere with our ability to make, use or sell our product candidates.

The scope of a patent claim is determined by an interpretation of the law, the written disclosure in a patent and the patent’s
prosecution history. Our interpretatirr on of the relevance or the scope of a patent or a pending application may be incorrect, which may
negatively impact our ability to market our products. We may incorrectly determine that our products are not covered by a third-party
patent or may incorrectly predict whether a third party’s pending application will issue with claims of relevant scope. Our
determination of the expiration date of any patent in the United States or abroad that we consider relevant may be incorrect, which
may negatively impact our ability to develop and market our product candidates. Our failure to identify and correctly interpret relevantr
patents may negatively impact our ability to develop and market our products.

We cannot provide any assurances that third-party patents do not exist which might be enforced against our current technology,
including our research programs, product candidates, their respective methods of use, and manufacture thereof, and could result inff
either an injunction prohibiting our manufacture or future sales, or, with respect to our future sales, an obligation on our part to pay
royalties and/or other forms of compensation to third parties, which could be significant.

If wII e are sued for iff nii fn ringing intellectual property rights of third partiesff , such litigatis on could be cll ostly and time consuming and
could prll event or delay us from developill nii g or commercializing our product candidates.

Our commercial success depends, in part, on our ability to develop, manufacture, market and sell our product candidates without
infrff inging the intellectual property and other proprietary rights of third parties. Third parties may allege that we have infringed orff
misappra opriated their intellectual property. Litigation or other legal proceedings relating to intellectual property claims, with or
without merit, is unpredictabla e and generally expensive and time consuming and, even if resolved in our favor, is likely to divert
signififf cant resources from our core business, including distracting our technical and management personnel from their normal
responsibilities. Such litigation or proceedings could substantially increase our operating losses and reduce the resources available for
development activities or any future sales, marketing or distribution activities. We may not have suffiff cient financial or other resources
to adequately conduct such litigation or proceedings. Some of our competitors may be able to sustain the costs of such litigation or
proceedings more effectively than we can because of their greater financial resources and more mature and developed intellectual
property portfolios. Uncertaintieff s resulting frff om the initiation and continuation of patent litigation or other proceedings could have a
material adverse effect on our ability to compete in the marketplt ace.

There is a substantial amount of intellectual property litigation in the pharmaceutical industry, and we may become party to, or
threatened with, litigation or other adversarial proceedings regarding intellectual property rights with respect to our products
candidates. Third parties may assert infringement claims against us based on existing or future intellectual property rights. The
pharmaceutical industry has produced a significant number of patents, and it may not always be clear to industry participants,
including us, which patents cover various types of products or methods of use. The coverage of patents is subject to interpretation by
the courts, and the interprr etation is not always uniform. If we were sued for patent infringement, we would need to demonstrate that
our product candidates, or of use either do not infringe the patent claims of the relevant patent or that the patent claims are invalid or
unenforff ceable, and we may not be able to do this. Proving invalidity of third-party patents may be difficult and uncertain. Even if we
are successful in tff hese proceedings, we may incur substantial costs and the time and attention of our management and scientific
personnel could be diverted in defeff nding our rights in these proceedings, which could have a material adverse effect on our business
and operations. In addition, we may not have sufficient resources to bring these actions to a successful conclusion.
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If we are found tff o infringe a third party’s intellectual property rights, we could be forced, including by court order, to cease
developing, manufaff cturt ing or commercializing the infringing product caff ndidate or product. Alternatively, we may be required to
obtain a license from such third party in order to use the infringing technology and continue developing, manufacturing or marketing
the infrff inging product candidate. However, we may not be able to obtain any required license on commercially reasonable terms or at
all. Even if we were able to obtain a license, it could be non-exclusive, thereby giving our competitors access to the same technologies
licensed to us. In addition, we could be found liable for monetary damages, including treble damages and attorneys’ fees if we are
found tff o have willfully infrff inged a patent. A finding of infringement could prff event us from commercializing our product candidates orff
forff ce us to cease some of our business operations, which could materially harm our business. Claims that we have misappropriated the
confiff dential information or trade secrets of third parties could have a similar negative impact on our business.

We mWW ay become involved in lawii suits to protect or enforce our patents or other intellectual properff tytt , which could be expensive, timeyy
consuminii g and unsuccessful and could result in a court or administrative body finding our patents to be invalid or unenforceable.ff

Even if the patent applications we own, co-own or license are issued, third parties may challenge or infringe upon our patents.
To counter infrff ingement, we may be required to fiff le infringement claims, which can be expensive and time-consuming. In patent
litigation in the United States, defendant counterclaims alleging invalidity or unenforceability are commonplace. Grounds for a
validity challenge could be an alleged failure to meet any of several statutory requirements, including novelty, non-obviousness (or
inventive step), written description or enablement. In addition, patent validity challenges may, under certain circumstances, be based
upon non-statutt ory obviousness-rr type double patenting, which, if successful, could result in a fiff nding that the claims are invalid for
obviousness-type double patenting or the loss of patent term if a terminal disclaimer is filed to obviate a finding of obviousness-type
double patenting. Grounds for aff n unenforff ceability assertion could be an allegation that someone connected with prosecution of the
patent withheld information material to patentability from the USPTO, or made a misleading statement, during prosecution.

Third parties may raise similar claims before administrative bodies in the United States or abroad, even outsa ide the context of
litigation. Such mechanisms include re-examination, post-grant review, inter partes review, interference proceedings, derivation
proceedings, and equivalent proceedings in foreign jurisdictions (e.g., opposition proceedings). Such proceedings could result in the
revocation or cancellation of or amendment to our patents in such a way that they no longer cover our current or future products or
provide any competitive advantage. The outcome following legal assertions of invalidity and unenforceability is unpredictable. If a
third party were to prevail on a legal assertion of invalidity or unenforceability, we could lose part or all of the patent protection on
one or more of our current or futff urt e products, which could result in our competitors and other third parties using our technology to
compete with us. Such a loss of patent protection could have a material adverse impact on our business, financial condition, results of
operations, cash flows and prospects.

We are currently a party to an inter partes review of U.S. Patent No. 10,682,414 B2 that was instituted on February 14, 2022,
and may, in the future, be a party to other intellectual property litigation or administrative proceedings that are very costly and time-
consuming and could interfere with our abia lity to sell and market our products. Some of our competitors may be able to sustain the
costs of complex patent litigation more effectively than we can because they have substantially greater resources. In addition, any
uncertainties resulting from the initiation and continuation of any litigation could have a material adverse effect on our ability to raiseff
the funds necessary to continue our operations. In addition, patent holding companies that focus solely on extracting royalties andff
settlements by enforcing patent rights may target us, especially as we gain greater visibility and market exposure as a public company.

In an infringement proceeding, even one initiated by us, there is a risk that a court will decide that our patents are not valid and
that we do not have the right to stop the other party from using the inventions tff hey describe. There is also the risk that, even if the
validity of such patents is upheld, the court will refuse to stop the other party on the ground that such other party’s activities do not
infrff inge our rights to these patents.

An adverse outcome in a litigation or proceeding involving our patents could limit our ability to assert our patents against
competitors, affect our ability to receive royalties or other licensing consideration from our licensees, and may curtail or preclude our
abia lity to exclude third parties from making, using and selling similar or competitive products. Any of these occurrences could have a
material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, results of operations, cash flows and prospects.
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Competitors may infringe our patents, trademarks, copyrights or other intellectual property that relate to our research programs
and product candidates, their respective methods of use, manufaff cture and formulations thereof. To counter infringement orff
unauthorized use, we may be required to file infringement claims, which can be expensive and time consuming and divert the time and
attention of our management and scientific personnel. Any claims we assert against perceived infringers could provoke these parties to
assert counterclaims against us alleging that we infrff inge their patents, in addition to counterclaims asserting that our patents are invalid
or unenforff ceable, or both. In any patent infringement proceeding, there is a risk that a court will decide that a patent that we own or
have licensed is invalid or unenforceable, in whole or in part, and that we do not have the right to stop the other party from using the
invention at issue. There is also a risk that, even if the validity of our patents is upheld, the court will construe the claims of our
patents narrowly or decide that we do not have the right to stop the other party from using the invention at issue on the grounds that
our patent claims do not cover the invention at issue. An adverse outcome in a litigation or proceeding involving our patents could
limit our ability to assert our patents against those parties or other competitors, and may curtail or preclude our ability to exclude third
parties frff om making and selling similar or competitive products. Any of these occurrences could adversely affect our competitive
business position, business prospects and fiff nancial condition. Similarly, if we assert trademark infringement claims, a court may
determine that the marks we have asserted are invalid or unenforceable, or that the party against whom we have asserted trademark
infrff ingement has superior rights to the marks in question. In this case, we could ultimately be forced to cease usff e of such trademarks.

Even if we established infringement by competitors, a court may decide not to grant an injunction against further infringing
activity by competitors and instead award only monetary damages, which may or may not be an adequate remedy. Furthermore,
because of the substantial amount of discovery required in connection with intellectual property litigation, there is a risk that some of
our confiff dential information could be compromised by disclosure during litigation. Moreover, we cannot assure you that we will have
suffff iff cient fiff nancial or other resources to file and pursue such infringement claims, which typically last for years before they are
concluded. Even if we ultimately prevail in such infringement claims, the monetary cost of such litigation and the diversion of the
attention of our management and scientific personnel could outweigh any benefit we receive as a result of the proceedings.

Our product candidates may face competition sooner than expected, and our patents may be challenged.

Our success will depend in part on our ability to obtain and maintain patent protection for our product candidates and
technologies and to prevent third parties frff om infrff inging upon our proprietary rights. We must also operate without infringing uponff
patents and proprietary rights of others, including by obtaining appropriate licenses to patents or other proprietary rights held by third
parties, if necessary. However, the patent applications we have filed or may file in the future may never yield patents that protect our
inventions and intellectual property assets. Failure to obtain patents that sufficiently cover our formulations and technologies would
limit our protection against generic drug manufacturers, pharmaceutical companies and other parties who may seek to copy our
products, produce substantially similar products or use technologies substantially similar to those we own, co-own, or exclusively
license.

We do not expect to receive non-patent regulatory exclusivity for nefe fyff if approved by the FDA under the 505(b)(2) regulatory
pathway. Without non-patent marketing exclusivity for neffye , we may face competition by third parties seeking to market generic
versions of nefe fff yff as early as our approval by the FDA. In seeking approval for a drug product under the 505(b)(2) regulatory pathway,
appla icants are required to list with the FDA certain patents of the applicant or that are held by third parties whose claims cover the
appla icant’s product. Upon approval of an NDA, each of the patents listed in the application for the drug is then published in the
Orange Book. Any subsequent applicant who files an ANDA seeking approval of a generic equivalent version of a drug product listed
in the Orange Book or an NDA submitted under the 505(b)(2) regulatory pathway referencing a drug listed in the Orange Book must
make one of the folff lowing certifications to the FDA concerning patents: (1) the patent information concerning the reference listed
drug prr oduct has not been submitted to the FDA; (2) any such patent that was filed has expired; (3) the date on which such patent will
expire; or (4) such patent is invalid or will not be infringed upon by the manufacture, use or sale of the drug product for which the
appla ication is submitted. This last certififf cation is known as a paragraph IV certification. A notice of the paragraph IV certificationa
must be provided to each owner of the patent that is the subject of the certification and to the holder of the approved NDA to which
the ANAA DA or 505(b)(2) application refers. Although we expect that our patents will be vigorously defended from infringement by
third parties, there can be no assurances that we will be successful wff ith respect to such defense or any other legal proceedings which
may arise in the ordinary course of our business. Such a failure may have a material impact on our business, results of operations and
fiff nancial condition in the future.

Because of thtt e expense and uncertaitt nii ty of litigation, we may not be in a position to enforce our intellectual property ritt ghi ts against
thtt iri d partitt es.

Because of the expense and uncertainty of litigation, we may conclude that even if a third party is infringing any one of our
issued patents or other intellectual property rights, the risk-adjusted cost of bringing and enforcing such an infringement claim or
action may be too high or not in the best interest of our company or our stockholders. In such cases, we may decide that the more
prudent course of action is to simply monitor the situation or initiate or seek some other non-litigious action or solution.
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InII tett llll ell ctual property litigati itt on may lead to unfavorable publicity thll at harms our reputation.

During the course of any intellectual property litigation, there could be public announcements of the initiation of the litigation as
well as results of hearings, rulings on motions, and other interim proceedings in the litigation. Such announcements could harm our
reputation, the perceived value of our intellectual property or the market for our existing or future products, which could have a
material adverse effect on our business.

We mWW ay become subject to claims challenging the inventorship or ownership of our patents and other intellectual property.tt

We may be subject to claims that former employees, consultants, independent contractors, collaborators or other third parties
have an interest in our patents or other intellectual property as an owner, co-owner, inventor or co-inventor. The failure to name the
proper inventors on a patent application can result in the patents issuing thereon being unenforceable. Inventorship disputes may arise
frff om conflicting views regarding the contributions of difff ferent individuals named as inventors, the effects of foreign laws wff here
forff eign nationals are involved in the development of the subject matter of the patent, conflicting obligations of third parties involved
in developing our product candidates or as a result of questions regarding co-ownership of potential joint inventions. Litigation may be
necessary trr o resolve these and other claims challenging inventorship and/or ownership. Alternatively, or additionally, we may enter
into agreements to clarify the scope of our rights in such intellectuat l property. If we fail in defending any such claims, in addition to
paying monetary damages, we may lose valuable ia ntellectual property rights, such as exclusive ownership of, or right to use, valuableff
intellectuat l property. Such an outcome could have a material adverse effect on our business. Even if we are successful in defending
against such claims, litigation could result in substantial costs and be a distraction to management and other employees.

If ouII r trademarks and trade names are not adequaterr ly protected, then we may not be able to build name recognition ill n our marketsii
of inii tett rest and our business may be adversely affectett d.

We have registered trademarks in the United States, as well as in foreign jurisdictions, including the United Kingdom, European
Union, and Japaa n. Our futff urt e trademarks or trade names may be challenged, infringed, circumvented, declared generic or descriptive,
or determined to be infringing on other marks. We may not be able to protect our rights to these trademarks and trade names or may be
forff ced to stop using these names, which we need for name recognitff ion by potential partners or customers in our markets of interest.
During trademark registration proceedings, we may receive rejections. Although we would be given an opportunit ty to respond to or
appea al those rejections, we may be unable to overcome such rejections. In addition, in the USPTO and in comparable agencies in
many foreign jurisdictions, third parties are given an opportunity to oppose pending trademark applications and to seek to cancel
registered trademarks. Opposition or cancellation proceedings may be filed against our trademarks, and our trademarks may not
survive such proceedings. If we are unable to establa ish name recognition based on our trademarks and trade names, we may not be
abla e to compete effectively and our business may be adversely affected. We may license our trademarks and trade names to third
parties, such as distributors. Though these license agreements may provide guidelines for how our trademarks and trade names may be
used, a breach of these agreements or misuse of our trademarks and trade names by our licensees may jeopardize our rights in or
diminish the goodwill associated with our trademarks and trade names.
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InII tett llll ell ctual property rights do not necessarily address all potll ential threats to our competitive advantage.tt

Once granted, patents may remain open to opposition, interference, re-examination, post-grant review, inter partes review,
nullification or derivation action in court or before patent offices or similar prff oceedings for a given period after allowance or grant,
during which time third parties can raise objections against such grant. In the course of such proceedings, which may continue for a
protracted period of time, the patent owner may be compelled to limit the scope of the allowed or granted claims thus attacked, or may
lose the allowed or granted claims altogether. In addition, the degree of future protection afforded by our intellectual prff operty rights is
uncertain because even granted intellectual property rights have limitations, and may not adequately protect our business. The
folff lowing examples are illustrative:

• others may be able to make forff mulations that are similar to neffye or any of our future product candidates but that are not
covered by the claims of our patent rights;

• the patents of third parties may have an adverse effect on our business;

• we or our licensors or any future strategic partners might not have been the first to conceive or reduce to practice the
inventions covered by the issued patents or pending patent applications that we own, co-own or exclusively license;

• we or our licensors or any future strategic partners might not have been the first to file patent applications covering certain of
our inventions;

• others may independently develop similar or alternative technologies or duplicate any of our technologies without infringing
our intellectual property rights;

• it is possible that our pending patent applications will not lead to issued patents;

• issued patents that we may own or co-own or that we exclusively license in the future may not provide us with any
competitive advantage, or may be held invalid or unenforceable, as a result of legal challenges by our competitors;

• our competitors might conduct research and development activities in countries where we do not have patent rights and then
use the information learned from such activities to develop competitive products for sale in our major commercial markets;

• third parties perforff ming manufacturing or testing for us using our product candidates or technologies could use tff he intellectual
property of others without obtaining a proper license;

• we may not develop additional proprietary technologies that are patentable; and

• the patents of others may have an adverse effect on our business.

Should any of these events occur, they could have a material adverse effeff ct on our business, financial condition, results of
operations and prospects.

If wII e are unable tll o protect the confidentiality of our trade secrets, our butt siness and competitive position would be harmed.

In addition to seeking patent protection for some of our tff echnology and product candidates, we also rely on trade secrets,
including unpatented know-how, technology and other proprietary information, to maintain our competitive position. Elements of ourff
product candidates, including processes for their preparation and manufacture, may involve proprietary know-how, information, or
technology that is not covered by patents, and thus for these aspects we may consider trade secrets and know-how to be our primary
intellectuat l property. Any disclosure, either intentional or unintentional, by our employees, the employees of third parties with whom
we share our facilities or third-party consultants and vendors that we engage to perform research, clinical trials or manufacturing
activities, or misappropriation by third parties (such as through a cybersecurity breach) of our trade secrets or proprietary information
could enable competitors to duplicate or surpass our technological achievements, thus eroding our competitive position in our market.
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Trade secrets and unpatented know-how can be difficult to protect. We require our employees to enter into written employmentff
agreements containing provisions of confidentiality and obligations to assign to us any inventions generated in the course of their
employment. We and any third parties with whom we share facilities enter into written agreements that include confidentiality and
intellectuat l property obligations to protect each party’s property, potential trade secrets, proprietary know-how and information. We
furff ther seek to protect our potential trade secrets, proprietary know-how and information in part, by entering into non-disclosure and
confiff dentiality agreements with parties who are given access to them, such as our corporate collaborators, outside scientific
collaborators, contract research organizations, contract manufacturers, consultants, advisors and other third parties. With our
consultants, contractors and outside scientific collaborators, these agreements typically include invention assignment obligaa tions.
Although we have taken steps to protect our trade secrets and unpatented know-how, we cannot provide any assurances that all such
agreements have been duly executed, and any of these parties may breach the agreements and disclose our proprietary information,
including our trade secrets, and we may not be able to obtain adequate remedies for such breaches. Monitoring unauthorized uses and
disclosures is diffff icult, and we do not know whether the steps we have taken to protect our proprietary technologiff es will be effective.
Unauthorized parties may also attempt to copy or reverse engineer certain aspects of our products that we consider proprietary.
Enforff cing a claim that a party illegally disclosed or misappropriated a trade secret is difficult, expensive and time-consuming, and the
outcome is unpredictable. In addition, some courts inside and outside the United States are less willing or unwilling to protect trade
secrets.

Trade secrets may be independently developed by others in a manner that could prevent legal recourse by us. Trade secrets will
over time be disseminated within the industry through independent development, the publication of journal articles and the movement
of skilled personnel from company to company or academic to industry scientific positions. Though our agreements with third parties
typically restrict the ability of our advisors, employees, collaborators, licensors, suppliers, third-party contractors and consultants to
publish data potentially relating to our trade secrets, our agreements may contain certain limited publication rights. Because from
time-to-time we expect to rely on third parties in the development, manufacture and distribution of our products and provision of our
services, we must, at times, share trade secrets with them. Despite employing the contractual and other security precautions described
above, the nea ed to share trade secrets increases the risk that such trade secrets become known by our competitors, are inadvertently
incorporated into the technology of others, or are disclosed or used in violation of these agreements. If any of our trade secrets were tor
be lawfullff y obtained or independently developed by a competitor or other third party, we would have no right to prevent them from
using that technology or inforff mation to compete with us. If any of our trade secrets were to be disclosed to or independently
developed by a competitor or other third party, our competitive position would be harmed.

We mWW ay be subject to claims that our employees, consultants or independent contractors have wrongfully used or disclosedtt
confn iff dentitt al inii fn orff mrr ation of third parties.

We employ individuals who previously worked with other companies, including our competitors or potential competitors. We
could in the future be subject to claims that we or our employees, consultants, or independent contractors have inadvertently or
otherwise used or disclosed alleged trade secrets or other confidential information of current or former employers or competitors.
Although we try to ensure that our employees, consultants and independent contractors do not use the intellectual property, proprietary
inforff mation, know-how or trade secrets of others in their work for us, we may become subject to claims that we caused an individual
to breach the terms of his or her non-competition or non-solicitation agreement, or that we or these individuals have, inadvertently or
otherwise, used or disclosed the alleged intellectual property, proprietary information, know-how or trade secrets of a current or
forff mer employer or competitor.

While we may litigate to defend against these claims, even if we are successful, litigation could result in substantial costs and
could be a distraction to management and other employees. If our defenses to these claims fail, in addition to requiring us to pay
monetary damages, a court could prohibit us from using technologies that are essential to our product candidates, if such technologies
are found to incorporate or be derived frff om the trade secrets or other proprietary information of the current or former employers.
Moreover, any such litigation or the threat thereof may adversely affect our reputation, our ability to form strategic alliances or
sublicense our rights to collaborators, engage with scientific advisors or hire employees or consultants, each of which would have an
adverse effect on our business, results of operations and financial condition.

In tII htt e fuff ture, we may need to obtain additional licenses of third-party technology that may not be available to us or are availablell
only on cll ommercially unreasonable terms, and whicll h may cause us to operate our business in a mii ore costly or otherwise adverse
manner that was not anticipated.

From time to time, we may be required to license technologies relating to our therapeutic programs from additional third parties
to further develop or commercialize our product candidates. Should we be required to obtain licenses to any third-party technology,
including any such patents required to manufacturt e, use or sell our product candidates, such licenses may not be available to us on
commercially reasonable terms, or at all. The inability to obtain any third-party license required to develop or commercialize any of
our product candidates could cause us to abandon any related efforts, which could seriously harm our business and operations.



85

Any cn ollll aborll ation arrangements that we may enter itt nii to in the future may not be stt uccessful, which could adversely affect our
abilii itll y ttt o dett velop and commercialize our products.

Any futff urt e collaborations that we enter into may not be successful. The success of our collaboration arrangements will depend
heavily on the efforts and activities of our collabora ators. Collaborations are subject to numerous risks, which may include that:

• collaborators have significant discretion in determining the efforts and resources that they will apply to collaborations;

• collaborators may not pursue development and commercialization of our products or may elect not to continue or renew
development or commercialization programs based on trial or test results, changes in their strategic focus due to the
acquisition of competitive products, availabia lity of funding or other external factors, such as a business combination that
diverts resources or creates competing priorities;

• collaborators could independently develop, or develop with third parties, products that compete directly or indirectly with our
products or product candidates;

• a collabora ator with marketing, manufacturing and distrff ibution rights to one or more products may not commit sufficient
resources to or otherwise not perform satisfactorily in carrying out these activities;

• we could grant exclusive rights to our collaborators that would prevent us from collaborating with others;

• collaborators may not properly maintain or defeff nd our intellectual property rights or may use our intellectual property or
proprietary irr nformation in a way that gives rise to actual or threatened litigation that could jeopardize or invalidate our
intellectuat l property or proprietary information or expose us to potential liability;

• disputes may arise between us and a collaborator that causes the delay or termination of the research, development or
commercialization of our current or future products or that results in costly litigation or arbitration that diverts management
attention and resources;

• collaborations may be terminated, and, if terminated, may result in a need for additional capital to pursue further development
or commercialization of the applicabla e current or future products;

• collaborators may own or co-own intellectual property covering our products that results from our collaborating with them,
and in such cases, we would not have the exclusive right to develop or commercialize such intellectual property; and

• a collaborator’s sales and marketing activities or other operations may not be in compliance with applicable laws resulting in
civil or criminal proceedings.

Risks Related to Our Business Operations, Employee Matters and Managing Growth

A pandemic, epidemic, or outbrc eak of an inii fn eff ctious disease may materially and adversely afrr fect our buff siness, including our
nonclill nii ical studies, clinical trials, third parties on whom we rely, our supply chain, our ability to raise capital, our ability to
conduct regue lar bull sinii ess and our financial results.

We are subject to risks related to public health crisis and any efforts tff o halt the spread of any public health crises. For example,
COVID-19 and policies and regulations implemented by governments in response to its outbreak, such as directing businesses and
governmental agencies to cease non-essential operations at physical locations, prohibiting certain nonessential gatherings and ceasing
non-essential travel had a significant impact, both direct and indirect, on businesses and commerce, as worker shortages occurred,
supply chains were disrupted, facilities and production were suspended, and demand for certain goods and services, such as merr dical
services and supplies, spiked, while demand for other goods and services fell. We experienced certain impacts of COVID-19,
including inability to conduct clinical trial site monitoring for certain earlier phase clinical trials and delays in completing clinical
trials, bioanalytical sample analysis and study reports. There can be no guarantee we will not experience other impacts from a
resurgence of COVID-19 or other pandemics, epidemics or infectious disease outbreaks, such as being forced to further delay or pause
enrollment, experiencing potential interruptir ons to our supply chain, facing difficulties or additional costs in enrolling patients in
futff urt e clinical trials or being able to achieve fulff l enrollment of our studies within the timeframes we anticipate, or at all. Additionally,
pandemics, epidemics or other infectious disease outbreaks could have extensive impacts in many aspects of society and could result
in significff ant disruptr ions to the global economy, as well as businesses and capital markets around the world. Other global health
concerns could also result in social, economic, and labor insa tability in the countra ies in which we or the third parties with whom we
engage operate.
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While we have been working closely with our third-party manufaff cturers, dist tributors and other partners to manage our supply
chain activities and mitigate potential disruptions to the production of nefe fyff as a result of pandemics, epidemics or other infectious
disease outbrt eaks, if such a public health crisis were to persist for an extended period of time, there could be significant and material
disruptr ions to our supply chain and operations, and associated delays in the manufacturing and supply of neffye and any future product
candidates. Any such supply disruptions, including disruptions in procuring items that are essential for our development activities and
securing manufaff cturt ing slots for tff he products needed for such activities, could adversely impact our ability to initiate and complete
nonclinical studit es or clinical trials and generate sales of and revenue from our product candidates, if approved, which could have a
material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, results of operations and growth prospects.

COVID-19 affected and a resurgence of COVID-19 or other public health crisis may in the future affect employees of third-
party CROs located in affff eff cted geographies that we rely upon to carry out our clinical trials. If any future public health crisis is not
contained, we may experience disruptions that could severely impact our business and clinical trials, including:

• delays or difficulties in our commercialization efforts;

• delays or difficulties in enrolling patients in our clinical trials;

• delays or difficulties in clinical site initiation, including diffiff culties in recruiting clinical site investigators and clinical site
staff;

• diversion of healthcare resources away from the conduct of clinical trials, including the diversion of sites or facilities serving
as our clinical trial sites and staff supporting the conduct of our clinical trials, including our trained therapists, or absenteeism
that reduces site resources;

• interruptir on of key clinical trial activities, such as clinical trial site monitoring, due to limitations on travel imposed or
recommended by federal, state or national governments, employers and others or interruption of clinical trial subject visits and
study procedures, the occurrence of which could affect the integrity of clinical trial data;

• risk that participants enrolled in our clinical trials will acquire a virus or illness while the clinical trial is ongoing, which could
impact the results of the clinical trial, including by increasing the number of observed adverse events or patient withdrawals
from our trials;

• limitations in employee resources that would otherwise be focused on conducting our clinical trials, including because of
sickness of employees or their families or the desire of employees to avoid contact with large groups of people;

• delays in receiving authorizations from regulatory authorities to initiate our future clinical trials;

• delays in clinical sites receiving the supplies and materials needed to conduct our clinical trials;

• interruption in global shipping that may affect the transport of clinical trial materials, such as neffy used in our clinical trials;

• changes in local regulations as part of a response to the public health crisis which may require us to change the ways in which
our clinical trials are conducted, which may result in unexpected costs, or the discontinuation of the clinical trials altogether;

• interruptions or delays in nonclinical studies due to restricted or limited operations at research and development laboratoryrr
facilities;

• delays in necessary interactions with local regulators, ethics committees and other important agencies and contractors due to
limitations in employee resources or forff ced furlough of government employees; and

• refusal of the FDA, the EMA or the other regulatory bodies to accept data from clinical trials in affected geographies outside
the United States, the EU or other relevant local geographies.
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Any negative impact a resurgence of COVID-19 or other public health crisis has on patient enrollment or treatment, or the
development of nefe fff yff and any futff urt e product candidates, could cause costly delays to clinical trial activities, which could adversely
affff eff ct our abia lity to obtain regulatory arr ppra oval for aff nd to commercialize neffye and any future product candidates, if approved, increase
our operating expenses, which could have a material adverse effect on our financial results. COVID-19 also caused significant
volatility in public equity markets and disruptr ions to the United States and global economies and any futff ure pandemic, epidemt ic,
infeff ctious disease outbreak or similar public health crisis could lead to further market dislocation. Any such increased volatility andff
economic dislocation may make it more difficult for us to raise capital on favorable terms, or at all. If we or any of the third parties
with whom we engage were to experience renewed shutdowns or other business disruptrr ions, our ability to conduct our business ia n the
manner and on the timelines presently planned could be materially and negatively affected, which could have a material adverse
impact on our business and our results of operations and financial conditions. To the extent a resurgence of COVID-19 or any futureff
pandemic, epidemic, infectious disease outbreak or other public health crisis adversely affects our business and financial results, it
may also heighten many of the other risks described in this “Risk Factors” section, such as those relating to the timing and completion
of our clinical trials and our ability to obtain future fiff nancing.

Our success is hii ighi ly dependent on our abill liii tii y ttt o attt tract antt d retain highly skilled executive officers and employees.

Our success depends, and will likely continue to depend, upon our ability to hire and retain the services of our current executive
offff iff cers and our other highly qualififf ed personnel. We have entered into employment agreements with each of our executive officersff
but they may terminate their employment or engagement with us at any time. The loss of their services might impede the achievement
of our research, development and commercialization objectives.

Our abia lity to compete in the biotechnology and pharmaceuticals industries depends upon our ability to attract and retain highly
qualifieff d managerial, scientific and medical personnel. Our industry has experienced a high rate of turnover of management personnel
in recent years. Replacing executive offff iff cers or other key employees may be difficult and may take an extended period of tiff me because
of the limited number of individuals in our industry wrr ith the breadth of skills and experience required to develop, gain regulatory
appra oval of and commercialize products successfully.

Our industry harr s experienced a high rate of turnover in recent years. Competition to hire from this limited pool is intense, and
we may be unabla e to hire, train, retain or motivate these additional key employees on acceptable terms given the competition among
numerous pharmaceutical and biotechnology companies for similar perff sonnel. We also experience competition for the hiring of
scientififf c and clinical personnel from universities and research institutions.

We rely on consultants and advisors, including scientific and clinical advisors, to assist us in formulating our research and
development and commercialization strategy. Our consultants and advisors, which includes entities owned by our executive officers
and directors, may be employed by other entities and may have commitments under consulting or advisory contracts with those
entities that may limit their availability to us. If we are unabla e to continue to attract and retain highly qualified personnel, our ability to
develop and commercialize neffy or any futff urt e product candidates will be limited.

We onWW ly hll ave a limii ited number of employees to manage and operate our business.ii

As of December 31, 2022, we had seventeen full-time employees and three part-time employees. Our focus on the development
of nefe fff yff requires us to optimize cash utilization and to manage and operate our business in a highly efficient manner. We cannot assure
you that it will be able ta o hire and/or retain adequate staffing levels to develop nefe fff yff or to run our operations and/or to accomplish all
of the objectives that we otherwise would seek to accomplish.
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Our emplm oyll ees, is nii dependent contractors, consultants, current and future licensing and collaboration partners anee d CROs may
engage in mii isconduct or other improper acii titt vitii iett s, is nii cludinii g non-compliance with regulatii ory standards and requiremtt ents, which
could cll ause signi ifi iff cant lill abilii ill ty for us and harm our reputation.ii

We are exposed to the risk that our employees, independent contractors, consultants, current and future licensing and
collaboration partners and CROs may engage in frff audulent conducd t or other illegal activity. Misconduct by those parties could include
intentional, reckless and/or negligent conduct or disclosure of unauthorized activities to us that violates:

• FDA regulations or similar regulations of comparable non-U.S. regulatory authorities, including those laws requiring the
reporting of true, complete and accurate information to such authorities;

• manufacturing standards;

• feff deral and state healthcare fraud and abuse laws and regulations and similar laws and regulations established and enforced by
comparable non-U.S. regulatory authorities; and

• laws that require the reporting of financial information or data accurately.

Activities subject to these laws also involve the improper use or misrepresentation of information obtained in the course of
clinical trials, creating frff audulent data in our nonclinical studies or clinical trials or illegal misappropriation of product materials,
which could result in regulatory sanctions and serious harm to our reputation. It is not always possible to identify and deter
misconduct, and the precautions we take to detect and prevent this activity may not be effective in controlling unknown or unmanaged
risks or losses or in protecting us from governmental investigations or other actions or lawsuits stemming from a failure to be in
compliance with such laws, standards or regulations. Additionally, we are subject to the risk that a person or government could allege
such frff aud or other misconduct, even if none occurred. If any such actions are instituted against us, and we are not successful in
defeff nding ourselves or asserting our rights, those actions could have a significant impact on our business and results of operations,
including the imposition of civil, criminal and administrative penalties, damages, monetary fines, disgorgement, integrity oversight
and reporting obligations, possible exclusion from participation in Medicare, Medicaid and other federal healthcare programs,
contractual damages, reputational harm, diminished profits and future earnings, and curtailment of our operations, any of which could
have a material adverse effect on our ability to operate our business and our results of operations.

We eWW xpect to expand our oree ganization, and as a resur ltll , we may encounter difficulties in managing our growtt thtt , which could disrupt
our operations.

We expect to experience significant growth in the number of our employees and the scope of our operations, particularly in the
areas of regulatory affairs and sales, marketing and distribution, as well as to support our public company operations. To manage these
growth activities, we must continue to implement and improve our managerial, operational and financial systems, expand our facilities
and continue to recruit and train additional qualififf ed personnel. Our management may need to devote a significant amount of our
attention to managing these growth activities. Due to our limited financial resources and the limited experience of our management
team in managing a company with such anticipated growth, we may not be able to effectively manage the expansion or relocation of
our operations, retain key employees, or identify, recruit and train additional qualified personnel. Our inability to manage the
expansion or relocation of our operations effectively may result in weaknesses in our infrastructure, give rise to operational mistakes,
loss of business opportunit ties, loss of employees and reduced productivity among remaining employees. Our expected growth could
also require significant capia tal expenditures and may divert fiff nancial resources from other projects, such as the development of neffy
for aff dditional indications or future product candidates. If we are unabla e to effectively manage our expected growth, our expenses may
increase more than expected, our ability to generate revenues could be reduced and we may not be able to implement our business
strategy, including the successful commercialization of nefe fff yff or any future product candidates.

Risks Related to the Securities Markets and Ownership of Our Common Stock

ThTT e markerr t price of our common stoctt k could be volatile.ll

The market price of our common stock could be subject to significant fluctuations. Market prices for securities of pre-
commercial pharmaceutical, biotechnology and other life sciences companies have historically been particularly volatile. Some of the
faff ctors that may cause the market price of our common stock to fluctuate include:

• our abia lity to obtain regulatory approvals for our product candidates, and delays or faff ilures to obtain such approvals;a

• faff ilure of any of our product candidates, if approved, to achieve commercial success;

• faff ilure by us to maintain our existing third-party license and supply agreements;
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• failure by us or our licensors to prosecute, maintain, or enforce our intellectual property rights;ff

• changes in laws or regulations applicable to our product candidates;

• any inability to obtain adequate supply of our product candidates or the inability to do so at acceptable prices;

• adverse regulatory authority decisions;

• introduction of new products, services or technologies by our competitors;

• failure to meet or exceed fiff nancial and development projections we may provide to the public;

• faff ilure to meet or exceed the financial and development projections of the investment community;

• the perception of the pharmaceutical industry by the public, legislatures, regulators and the investment community;

• announcements of significant acquisitions, strategic collaborations, joint ventures or capital commitments by us or our
competitors;

• disputes or other developments relating to proprietary rights, including patents, litigation matters, and our ability to obtain
patent protection for our product candidates;

• additions or departurt es of key personnel;

• significant lawsuits, including patent or stockholder litigation;

• if securities or industry analysts do not publish research or reports about our business, or if they issue an adverse or
misleading opinion regarding our business and stock;

• changes in the market valuations of similar companies;

• general market or macroeconomic conditions;

• sales of our common stock by us or our stockholders in the future;

• trading volume of our common stock;

• announcements by commercial partners or competitors of new commercial products, clinical progress or the lack thereof,
significant contracts, commercial relationships or capital commitments;

• adverse publicity generally, including with respect to other products and potential products in such markets;

• the introduction of technological innovations or new therapies that compete with potential products of ours;

• changes in the structure of health care payment systems; and

• period-to-period fluctuations in our financial results.
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Moreover, the stock markets in general have experienced substantial volatility that has often been unrelated to the operating
perforff mance of individual companies. These broad market fluctuations may also adversely affect the trading price of our common
stock.

In the past, following periods of volatility in the market price of a company’s securities, stockholders have often instituted class
action securities litigation against those companies. For example, following a decline in Silverback’s stock price, a federal securities
class action complaint was filed on November 5, 2021 against Silverbar ck and certain of its former officers and directors in the U.S.
District for the Western District of Washington, captioned Dresner v. Silverback Therapeutics, Inc., et al., Case No. 2:21-cv-01499,
which alleges violations of (i) Sections 11 and 15 of the Securities Act; and (ii) Sections 10(b) and 20(a) of the Securities Exchange
Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act”) and SEC Rule 10b-5 promulgated thereunder. Defendants filed a motion to dismiss the
action in May 2022. The court held a hearing on October 28, 2022 and issued an order granting defendants’ motion to dismiss without
preje udice on November 4, 2022. Plaintiffs were given leave to amend and filed a Second Amended Complaint (“SAC”) on December
5, 2022, which asserted Section 11 claims only with respect to Silverback’s December 3, 2020 IPO and Section 10(b) claims during a
shorter class period of March 29, 2021 through March 31, 2022. Defendants filed a motion to dismiss the SAC on January 2, 2023.
Lead plaintiff fff iff led an opposition brief on January 23, 2023, and defendants filed a reply brief January 27, 2023. The court is expected
to issue a ruling on the motion to dismiss in the first half of 2023.Even if we are successful in defending against this action or anyr
similar claims that may be brought in the future, such litigation could result in substantial costs and a diversion of management’s
attention and resources, which could harm our business.

Additionally, a decrease in the stock price of our common stock may cause our common stock to no longer satisfy the continued
listing standards of Nasdaq. If we are not able to maintain the requirements for listing on Nasdaq, we could be delisted, which could
have a materially adverse effect on our ability to raise additional funds as well as the price and liquidity of our common stock.

We will incur costs and demands upon management as a result of complying with the laws and regulations affecting public
companies.

We will incur significant legal, accounting and other expenses that we did not incur as a private company prior to the Merger,
including costs associated with public company reporting requirements. We will also incur costs associated with corporate governance
requirements, including requirements under the Sarbar nes-Oxley Act, as well as new requirements implemented by the SEC and
Nasdaq. These rules and regulations are expected to increase our legal and financial compliance costs and to make some activities
more time consuming and costly. For example, our management team consists of the executive officers of ARS Pharma prior to theff
Merger, some of whom have not previously managed and operated a public company. These executive officers and other personnel
will need to devote substantial time to gaining expertise regarding operations as a public company and compliance with applicable
laws and regulations. These rules and regulations also may make it difficult and expensive for us to obtain directors’ and officers’ff
liabila ity insurance. As a result, it may be more difficult for us to attract and retain qualified individuals to serve on our board of
directors or as our executive officers, which may adversely affect investor confiff dence in us and could cause our business or stock price
to suffff eff r.
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Delaware law and provisions in our amended and restated certificate of incorporation and amended and restated bylaws could
make a merger, tender offer or proxy contest difficult, thereby depressing the trading price of our common stock.

Our status at s a Delaware corporation and the anti-takeover provisions of the Delaware General Corporation Law (“DGCL”)
may discourage, delay or prevent a change in control by prohibiting us from engaging in a businesff s combination with an interested
stockholder for a period of three years aftff er the person becomes an interested stockholder, even if a change of control would be
benefiff cial to our stockholders. In addition, our amended and restated certificate of incorporation and amended and restated bylaws
contain provisions that may make the acquisition of us more difficult, including the following:

• a classified board of directors with three-year staggered terms, which could delay the ability of stockholders to change the
membership of a majority of our board of directors;

• the abila ity of our board of directors to issue shares of preferred stock and to determine the price and other terms of those
shares, including preferences and voting rights, without stockholder approval, which could be used to significantly dilute the
ownership of a hostile acquirer;

• the exclusive right of our board of directors to elect a director to fill a vacancy created by the expansion of our board of
directors or the resignation, death or removal of a director, which prevents stockholders from being able to fill vacancies on
our board of directors;

• a prohibition on stockholder action by written consent, which forces stockholder action to be taken at an annual or special
meeting of our stockholders;

• the requirement that a special meeting of stockholders may be called only by a majority vote of our entire board of directors,
the chair of our board of directors or our chief executive officer, which could delay the ability of our stockholders to force
consideration of a proposal or to take action, including the removal of directors;

• the requirement for the affff iff rmative vote of holders of at least 66-2/3% of the voting power of all of the then-outstanding
shares of our voting stock, voting together as a single class, to amend the provisions of our amended and restated certificate of
incorporation relating to the management of our business or our amended and restated bylaws, which may inhibit the ability
of an acquirer to affff eff ct such amendments to facilitate an unsolicited takeover attempt; and

• advance notice procedures with which stockholders must comply to nominate candidates to our board of directors or to
propose matters to be acted upon at a stockholders’ meeting, which may discourage or deter a potential acquirer from
conducting a solicitation of proxies to elect the acquirer’s own slate of directors or otherwise attempting to obtain control of
us.

In addition, as a Delaware corporation, we will be subject to Section 203 of the DGCL. These provisions may prohibit large
stockholders, in particular those owning 15% or more of our outstanding voting stock, from merging or combining with us for aff
certain period of time. A Delaware corporation may opt out of this provision by express provision in its original certificate of
incorporation or by amendment to its certir fiff cate of incorporation or bylaws approved by its stockholders. However, we have not opted
out of this provision.

These and other provisions in our amended and restated certificate of incorporation, amended and restated bylaws and Delaware
law could make it more diffff iff cult for sff tockholders or potential acquirors to obtain control of our board of directors or initiate actions
that are opposed by our then-current board of directors, including delay or impede a merger, tender offer or proxy contest involving
us. The existence of these provisions could negatively affeff ct the price of our common stock and limit opportunities for our
stockholders to realize value in a corporate transaction.
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Our amended and restated certificff ate of incorporation designates the state courts the State of Delaware or, if no state court
located within the State of Delaware has jurisdiction, the federal court for the District of Delaware, and the federal district
courts of the United States of America to be the exclusive forums for substantially all disputes between us and our
stockholders, which could limit our stockholders’ ability to obtain a favorff able judicial forum for disputes with us or our
directors, officers and employees.

Our amended and restated certificate of incorporation provider s that, to the fullest extent permitted by law, unless we consent in
writing to the selection of an alternative forff umr , the Court of Chancery of the State of Delaware (or, if and only if the Court of
Chancery of the State of Delaware lacks subject matter jurisdiction, any state crr ourt located within the State of Delaware or, if and only
if all such state courts lack subject matter jurisdiction, the federal district court for the District of Delaware) and any appellate court
therefrff om shall will be the sole and exclusive forum for the following types of actions or proceedings under Delaware statutory or
common law: (i) any derivative action or proceeding brought on behalf of us; (ii) any action or proceeding asserting a claim of breach
of a fiff duciary duty owed by any of our current or former directors, officers or other employees or our stockholders; (iii) any action or
proceeding asserting a claim against us or any of our current or former directors, officers or other employees, arising out of or
pursuant to any provision of the DGCL, our amended and restated certificate of incorporation or our amended and restated bylaws;
(iv) any action or proceeding to interpret, apply, enforce or determine the validity of our amended and restated certificate of
incorporation or our amended and restated bylaws; (v) any action or proceeding as to which the DGCr L confers jurisdiction to the
Court of Chancery of the State of Delaware; and (vi) any action asserting a claim against us or any of our directors, officers or other
employees, governed by the internal affairs doctrine.

This provision would not apply to suits brought to enforce a duty or liability created by the Exchange Act. Furthermore, Section
22 of the Securities Act creates concurrent jurisdiction for federal and state courts over all such Securities Act actions. Accordingly,
both state and feff deral courts have jurisdiction to entertain such claims. To prevent having to litigate claims in multiple jurisdictions
and the threat of inconsistent or contrary rulings by different courts, among other considerations, our amended and restated certificate
of incorporr ation further provides that the feff deral district courts of the United States of America will be the exclusive forum forff
resolving any complaint asserting a cause of action arising under the Securities Act. While the Delaware courts have determined that
such choice of forum provisions are facially valid and several state trial courts have enforced such provisions and required that suits
asserting Securities Act claims be fiff led in feff deral court, there is no guarantee that courts of appeal will affirm the enforceabilitff y of
such provisions and a stockholder may nevertheless seek to bring a claim in a venue other than those designated in the exclusive
forff um prr ovisions. In such instance, we would expect to vigorously assert the validity and enforceability of the exclusive forumff
provisions of our amended and restated certificate of incorporation. This may require significant additional costs associated with
resolving such action in other jurisdictions and there can be no assurance that the provisions will be enforced by a court in those other
jurisdictions. If a court were to find either exclusive forum provision in our amended and restated certificate of incorporation to be
inappla icabla e or unenforceable in an action, we may incur further significaff nt additional costs associated with litigating Securities Act
claims in state court, or both state and federal court, which could seriously harm our business, financial condition, results of
operations, and prospects.

These exclusive forum provisions may make it more expensive for sff tockholders to bring a claim than if the stockholders were
permitted to select another jurisdiction and limit a stockholder’s ability to bring a claim in a judicial forum that it finds favorable for
disputes with us or our directors, offff iff cers, or other employees, which may discourage lawsuits against us and our directors, officers
and other employees. If a court were to find either exclusive-forum provision in our aff mended and restated certificate of incorporation
to be inappla icable or unenforceable in an action, we may incur further significant additional costs assff ociated with resolving the dispute
in other jurisdictions, all of which could seriously harm our business.

We do not anticipate paying any cash dividends in the foreseeable future.

We plan to retain our future earnings, if any, to fund tff he development and growth of our business. As a result, capital
appra eciation, if any, of our common stock will be our stockholders’ sole source of gain, if any, for the foreseeable future.

An active trading market for our common stock mff ay not develop and our stockholders may not be able to resell their shares of
common stock for a profiff t, if at all.

Prior to the Merger, there had been no public market for our common stock. An active trading market for our shares of common
stock may never develop or be sustained. If an active market for our common stock does not develop or is not sustained, it may be
diffff iff cult for our sff tockholders to sell their shares at an attractive price or at all.

Future sales of shares by existing stockholders could cause our stock price to decline.

If our existing stockholders sell, or indicate an intention to sell, substantial amounts of our common stock in the public market
aftff er any applicable legal restrictions on resale lapse, the trading price of our common stock could decline. We are not able to predict
the effff ecff t that sales may have on the prevailing market price of our common stock.
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If equity research analysts do not publish research or reports, or publish unfavorable research or reports, about us, our
business or our market, our stock price and trading volume could decline.

The trading market for our common stock will be inflff uenced by the research and reports that equity research analysts publish
about us aa nd our business. Equity research analysts may elect not to provide research coverage of our common stock, and such lack of
research coverage may adversely affect the market price of our common stock. In the event we do have equity research analyst
coverage, we will not have any control over the analysts, or the content and opinions included in their reports. The price of our
common stock could decline if one or more equity research analysts downgrade our stock or issue other unfavorable commentary or
research. If one or more equity research analysts ceases coverage of us or fails to publish reports on us regularly, demand for our
common stock could decrease, which in turn could cause our stock price or trading volume to decline.

If we faiff l to maintain proper and effff eff ctive internal controls, our ability to produce accurate financial statements on a timely
basis could be impaired.

We are subject to the reporting requirements of the Exchange Act, the Sarbanes-Oxley Act and the rules and regulations of
Nasdaq. The Sarbanes-Oxley Act requires, among other things, that we maintain effective disff closure controls and procedures and
internal control over financial reporting. We must perform system and process evaluation and testing of our internal control over
fiff nancial reporting to allow management to report on the effectiveness of our internal controls over financial reporting in our Annual
Report on Form 10-K filing for that year, as required by Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act. As a private company prior to the
Merger, we have never been required to test our internal controls within a specififf ed period. This will require that we incur substantial
profeff ssional feff es and internal costs to expand our accounting and finance functions and that we expend significant management
effff orff ts. We may experience diffff iff culty in meeting these reporting requirements in a timely manner.

We may discover weaknesses in our system of internal financial and accounting controls and procedures that could result in a
material misstatement of our fiff nancial statements. Our internal control over financial reporting will not prevent or detect all errors and
all fraud. A control system, no matter how well designed and operated, can provide only reasonable, not absolute, assurance that the
control system’s objectives will be met. Because of the inherent limitations in all control systems, no evaluation of controls can
provide absa olute assurance that misstatements due to error or fraud will not occur or that all control issues and instances of fraud will
be detected.

If we are not able to comply with the requirements of Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act, or if we are unable to maintain
proper and effff ective iff nternal controls, we may not be able to produce timely and accurate financial statements. If that were to happen,
the market price of our common stock could decline and we could be subject to sanctions or investigations by Nasdaq, the SEC or
other regulatory arr uthorities.

We are an “emerging growth company” and we cannot be certain if the reduced disclosure requirements applicable to
“emerging growth companies” will make our common stock less attractive to investors.

We are an “emerging growth company,” as defined under the Jumpstart Our Business Startups Act (the “JOBS Act”). For so
long as we are an “emerging growth company,” we plan to take advantage of certain exemptions from reporting requirements that are
appla icabla e to other public companies that are not “emerging growth companies” including, but not limited to, compliance with the
auditor attestation requirements of Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act, reduced disclosure obligations regarding executive
compensation in our periodic reports and proxy statements, and exemptions from the requirements of holding a nonbinding advisory
vote on executive compensation and stockholder approval of any golden parachute payments not previously approved.a

We cannot predict if investors will find our common stock less attractive, or us less comparable to certain other public
companies because we will rely on these exemptions. If some investors find our common stock less attractive as a result, there may be
a less active trading market for our common stock and our stock price may be more volatile.

Under the JOBS Act, “emerging growth companies” can delay adopting new or revised accounting standards issued subsequent
to the enactment of the JOBS Act until such time as those standards appla y to private companies. We have irrevocably elected not to
avail ourself of this exemption from new or revised accounting standards, and, therefore, will be subject to the same new or revised
accounting standards as other public companies that are not “emerging growth companies.”
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Our ability to use net operating loss carryforwards and certain other tax attributes may be limited.

We have incurred substantial losses during our history. Unused federal net operating losses (“NOLs”) for the tax years
beginning before January 1, 2018, will carry forrr ward to offset future taxable income, if any, until such unused losses expire. Unused
feff deral NOLs generated in tax years beginning afteff r December 31, 2017, will not expire and may be carried forward indefinitely, but
the deductibility of such federal NOL carryforwards in taxable years beginning after December 31, 2020, is limited to 80% of taxable
income. In addition, both current and futff urt e unused losses and other tax attributes may be subject to limitation under Sections 382 and
383 of the Code if we undergo an “ownership change,” generally defined as a greater than 50 percentage point change (by value) in
our equity ownership by certain stockholders over a three-year period. The Merger resulted in an ownership change of our company.
The NOL carryfrr orff wards of pre-Merger, privately-held ARS Pharmaceuticals, Inc. (“ARS Pharma”) may also be subject to limitation
as a result of prior shiftff s in equity ownership and/or the Merger. Additional ownership changes in the future could result in additional
limitations on our NOL carryforwards. Similar provisions of state tax law may also apply to limit our use of accumulated state tax
attributes. In addition, at the state level, there may be periods during which the use of NOLs is suspended or otherwise limited, which
could accelerate or permanently increase state taxes owed. Consequently, even if we achieve profitability, we may not be able to
utilize a material portion of our, NOL carryfrr orff wards and other tax attributes, which could adversely affect our business, cash flowff ,
fiff nancial condition or results of operations.

Item 1B. Unresolved Staff Cff omments.

None.

Item 2. Properties.

Our corporr ate headquarters are located in San Diego, California, where we lease approximately 4,047 square feet of officea
space. This existing lease will expire on Februar ry 28, 2025. We believe trr hat our existing facilities are adequate for our current needs.

Item 3. Legal Proceedings.

From time to time, we may be involved in various claims and legal proceedings relating to claims arising out of our operations.
See Note 7- Commitments and Contingencies of this Annual Report, which is incorporated by reference in this Item 3, for any
required disclosure.

Item 4. Mine Safety Disclosures.

Not appla icable.
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PART II

Item 5. Market for Registrant’s Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities.

Market Inforff mation

On NNovemberr 8, 2022, Silver rbackk completedd its reverse mergerr with pprivately-held ARS Pharmaceuticals, Inc. On NNovemberr
2022, the combinedd company changedd its name to ARS Pharmaceuticals, Inc. Silverback’s shares off common stockk were listedd on

the NNasdaqq Global Markett from Decemberr 4, 2020 through the close off business on NNovem rberr 8, 2022 underr the tickerr symbol
“SBTX.” On NNovemberr 9, 2022, we bbegan trading on the NNasdaqq Global Markett underr the tickerr symbol “SPRY.”

Holders of Common Stock

s off March 17, 2023, there wer de approximately 29 holders off recordd of ourr common stock. Because mostt of ourr common
stockk is heldd bby bbrokers, nominees, andd ot fherr institutions on bbehalff off stockholders, we are uunable to estimate the total numberr of
stockholders representedd bby these recordd holders.

Dividend Policy

We have never declared or paid any cash dividends on our capital stock. We currently intend to retain all available funds and
any futff urt e earnings to support our operations and fiff nance the growth and development of our business. We do not intend to pay cash
dividends on our common stock for tff he forff eseeable future. Any future determination related to our dividend policy will be made at the
discretion of our board of directors and will depend upon, among other factors, our results of operations, financial condition, capital
requirements, contractual restrictions, business prospects and other factors our board of directors may deem relevant.

Recent Sales off Unregistered Securities

None.

Issuer Purchases off Equity Securities

NNone.

Use off Proceeds

On December 3, 2020, we commenced our initial public offering (“IPO”) pursuant to a registration statement on Form S-1
(File No. 333-250009) that was declared effective by the SEC on December 3, 2020, for 11,500,000 shares of our common stock for
sale to the public at a price of $21.00 per share. In addition, in December 2020, the underwriters exercised their over-allotment option
to purchase 1,725,000 additional shares of our common stock in the initial public offering at the public offering price of $21.00 per
share, such that the aggregate offering price of the IPO was $277.7 million. The net offering proceeds to us, after deductingff
underwriting discounts and commissions and offff ering costs, were $255.3 million. No offering expenses were paid directlff y or
indirectly to any of our directors or officers (or their associates) or persons owning 10% or more of any class of our equity securities
or to any other affff iff liates. The underwriters for our initial public offering were Goldman Sachs & Co. LLC, SVB Leerink LLC, Stifel,
Nicolaus & Company, Incorporated, and H.C. Wainwright & Co., LLC.

On November 8, 2022, Silverback completed its reverse merger with privately-held ARS Pharmaceuticals, Inc. On Novemberr
9, 2022, the combined company changed its name to ARS Pharmaceuticals, Inc.

The net proceeds from the IPO are held in cash and cash equivalents, primarily in treasury money market accounts, and
investments, primarily in U.S. Treasury srr ecurities. Through December 31, 2022, approximately $95.7 million of the net proceeds from
the IPO have been used, of which, (i) an estimated $51.7 million was used toward development of Silverback’s product candidates, (ii)
$0.8 million was used to repay outstanding indebtedness, (iii) $16.0 million was used for transaction costs related to the Merger,
including $7.0 million in severance and change in control benefiff t payments made to Silverback’s former officers and (iv) an estimated
$27.2 million was used for worff king capia tal and general corporate purposes.r

There have been no updates to the planned use of proceeds information from the IPO as described in our final prosff pectus filedff
with the SEC pursuant to RulRR e 424(b)(4) on December 4, 2020, except as otherwise disclosed in our Annual Report on Form 10-K,
fiff led with the SEC on March 31, 2022, and our Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, filed with the SEC on August 11, 2022. We continue
to intend to use the remaining net proceeds from the IPO, together with our existing cash and cash equivalents, to fund the
development and, if approved, commercialization of neffy for the emergency treatment of Type I allergic reactions and other
indications, as well as for working capital and other general corporate purposes. We may also use a portion of the net proceeds fromr
the IPO to in-license, acquire or invest in complementary businesses, technologies, products or assets. However, we have no current
commitments or obligations to do so.
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Item 6. [Reserved]

Item 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

You sYY hould read the folff lowing discussion and analysis together with our fiff nancial statements and related notes included intt
“I“ tII em 8. FiFF nancial Statements and Supplementary Data” in this Annual Report. The following discussion contains forward-looking
statements that involve risks and uncertainties. For a complete discussion of forward-looking statements, see the section above
entitled “F“ orFF ward Looking Statements.” Our actual results could differ materially from those expressed or implied in any forward-
looking statements as a result of various factors, including those set forth under the caption “Item 1A. Risk Factors.”“

Overview

We are a biopharmaceutical company focused on the development of our novel, potentially first-in-class product candidate,
nefe fff yff (previously referred to as ARS-1) for the emergency treatment of Type I allergic reactions, including anaphylaxis. neffye is a
proprietary compositrr ion of epinephrine with an innovative absorption enhancer called Intravaila ®, which allows neffy to provide
intranasal delivery of epinephrine.

We believe neffye ’s “no needle, no injection” approach will address a significant unmet need in the use of epinephrine, which is
currently approved only in injectable formulations for the emergency treatment of Type I allergic reactions. There are approximately
25 to 40 million people in the United States who experience Type I allergic reactions. Of this group, approximately 16 million people
have been diagnosed and experienced severe Type I allergic reactions that may lead to anaphyla axis, but only 3.3 million currently
have an active epinephrine autoinjector prescription, and of those, only half consistently carry their prescribed autoinjector with them
due to the many drawbacks of these devices. In aggregate, we estimate that 90% of patients prescribed an epinephrine device are not
achieving an optimal treatment outcome today. These drawbacks include the use of needles in the devices, which can result in patient
and caregiver injury as well as hesitation and delays irr n administration due principally to apprehension and pain of needles, allowing
the allergic reaction to progress in severity leading to symptoms that seriously impact patient quality of life, to potential need for
emergency services and/or hospitalizations, and to lifeff -threatening symptoms or events. Intra-muscular injections also are subject to
dosing errors and risk of accidental blood vessel injections, which can cause a significant spike in the intravascular delivery of
epinephrine potentially leading to serious cardiovascular complications or events. We believe nefe fyff ’s “no needle, no injection”
delivery trr hat eliminates appra ehension, pain and safeff ty concerns, small size allowing for ease of portability, ease of use, and high
reliability provide it with a user-frff iendly profile that will increase prescriptions for epinephrine and make it more likely for patients
and caregivers to administer epinephrine sooner, achieve more rapid symptom relief and prevent the allergic reaction from progressing
to a level of severity that could lead to hospitalization or even death.

Data frff om our studies of nefe fff yff demonstrated nasally delivered epinephrine reached blood levels comparable to those of already
appra oved epinephrine injectable products. Our NDA was accepted for review by FDA in the fourth quarter of 2022 with an anticipated
mid-2023 PDUFA target action date and if our NDA is approved, we believe neffye will be the first “no needle, no injection” marketed
epinephrine product for the emergency treatment of Type I allergic reactions. However, the timing for regulatory approvals is outside
our control, may be delayed and is uncertain.

Since our inception in 2015 as ARS Pharmaceuticals, Inc., we have devoted substantially all of our efforts and financial
resources to organizing and staffing our company, business planning, raising capital, performing research and development activities,
and providing general and administrative support for tff hese operations. We do not have any products approved for sale and have not
generated any product sales. We have funded our operations primarily with proceeds from the Merger, private placement of
convertible prefeff rred stock, licensing, supply and distribution arrangements with our commercialization partners, and bank debt. From
inception to December 31, 2022, we have raised $262.3 million in cash, cash equivalents and short-term investments, net of
transaction costs, frff om the Merger, net proceeds of $76.3 million from the isff suance of convertible preferred and common stock, $27.8
million from our collaboration, licensing, supply and distribution arrangements, and $10.0 million from bank debt. As of
December 31, 2022, we had cash, cash equivalents, and short-term investments of $274.4 million.
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We have incurred net losses from operations since our inception. Our net loss was $34.7 million for the year ended
December 31, 2022 and as of December 31, 2022 we had an accumulated deficit of $76.9 million. Our net losses may fluctuate
signififf cantly from quarter-to-quarter and year-to-year, depending on the timing of our clinical trials, our expenditures on other
development activities, the cost for regulatory filings, expenses for pre-commercial activities to establish sales, marketing and
distribution capaa bia lities for our product candidates, and our ability to earn potential regulatory and commercial milestones under our
collaboration arrangements. We expect our expenses and operating losses will increase substantially as our product candidate, neffy
potentially is appra oved by the FDA and we commence commercialization efforts, any future product candidates advance through
clinical trials, we expand our clinical, regulatory, quality, manufacturing and pre-commercial sales and marketing capabilities, and
incur additional costs to operate as a public company following the completion of the Merger. If we obtain marketing approval for anyff
of our product candidates, we will incur significant commercialization expenses for marketing, sales, manufacturing and diff stribution
activities, and added expenditures to expand our operational, financial and management systems and increase personnel to support
these operations.

We do not expect to generate any revenues from product sales unless and until we successfully obtain regulatory approval for
one or more product candidates, if ever. Until such time, if ever, as we can generate substantial product revenue, we may finance our
operations through our existing cash, cash equivalents, short-term investments, equity offerings, debt financings and other capitalff
sources which may include collaborations, strategic alliances, marketing, distribution or licensing arrangements or other arrangements
with third parties. However, we may be unable to raise additional funds or enter into such other arrangements when needed on
faff vorabla e terms or at all. In addition, any futff urt e debt agreements may limit our ability to enter into certain debt financings without the
consent of the lenders thereunder. Our failure to raise capital or enter into such other arrangements when needed would have a
negative impact on our financial condition and may require us to delay, reduce or terminate our research and development programs or
other operations, or grant rights to develop and market product candidates that we would otherwise prefer to develop and market
ourselves.

We do not own or operate manufacturing faff cilities. We currently rely on third-party manufacturers and suppliers for neffye , and
we expect to continue to do so to meet our nonclinical, clinical and any commercial activities. Our third-party manufacturers are
required to manufacture our product candidates under cGMP requirements and other applicable laws and regulations.

MeMM rgerr

On November 8, 2022 (the “Closing Date”), privately-held ARS Pharmaceuticals, Inc. (“ARS Pharma ) merged with Silverbackr
Therapeutics, Inc., a Delaware corporation (“Silverback”), a publicly traded company. In accordance with the terms of the agreementa
and plan of merger and reorganization, dated July 21, 2022, as amended on August 11, 2022 and October 25, 2022 (the “Merger
Agreement”), Sabra e Merger Sub, Inc. (“Merger Sub”), a wholly-owned subsidiary of Silverback, merged into ARS Pharma, with ARS
Pharma surviving as Silverbar ck’s wholly-owned subsidiary. At the completion of the Merger, the prior ARS Pharma equityholders
owned 62% and the prior Silverbar ck equityholders owned 38% of the combined company, in each case on a fully diluted basis using
the treasury stock method and excluding out-of-money options of Silverback. Upon completion of the Merger, Silverback changed its
name to ARS Pharmaceuticals, Inc. As, among other facts, the stockholders of ARS Pharma owned a majority of the combined
company, the Merger was treated for accounting purposes as if ARS Pharma had acquired Silverback. As a result of the Merger berr ing
accounted for aff s if ARS Pharma had acquired Silverback, the financial statements of ARS Pharma are presented as the historical
fiff nancial statements of the combined company for aff ll periods presented.

At the effff ective time of the Merger (the “Effective Time”), each share of ARS Pharma common stock outstanding immediatelyff
prior to the Effff eff ctive Time, after giving effect to the automatic conversion of all shares of preferred stock of ARS Pharma into shares
of ARS Pharma common stock immediately prior to the Effective Time (the “Preferred Stock Conversion”), (excluding shares held as
treasury srr tock by ARS Pharma or held or owned by Silverback, Merger Sub or any subsidiary of Silverback or ARS Pharma andrr
dissenting shares) were automatically converted into the right to receive shares of Silverback common stock equal to the exchange
ratio of 1.1819. Outstanding and unexercised options and warrants to purchase shares of ARS Pharma common stock were converted
into options and warrants to purchase shares of Silverbar ck common stock.

Recent Events

In September 2020, we entered into a license and supply agreement (the “Recordati License and Supply Agreement”) with
Recordati Ireland, Ltd (“Recordati”). Pursuant to the Recordati License and Supply Agreement, we granted Recordati an exclusive,
royalty-bearing, sublicensable la icense under our patents relating to nefe fff yff to (i) perform Recordati’s development activities on the
epinephrine compositions (“Recordati Licensed Compositions”) and related products (“Recordati Licensed Products”) for
commercialization in the EU, United Kingdom, and certain countries in the Middle East, Africa and Eurasia (the “Recordati
Territory”), (ii) manufacture (or have manufrr aff cturt ed) the Recordati Licensed Products for commercialization in the Recordati
Territory, (iii) file and holrr d regulatory approvals for the Licensed Products in the Recordati Territory, and (iv) commercialize the
Recordati Licensed Products in the Recordati Territory (collectively, the “Recordati Rights”).
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On Februarr ry 22, 2023, wrr e entered into the Termination Agreement with Recordati, pursuant to which, among other things, we
and Recordati agreed to terminate the Recordati License and Supply Agreement. Pursuant to the Termination Agreement, we will
reacquire all of the Recordati Rights and have agreed to pay Recordati a one-time upfront payment of €3.0 million and additional
payments upon achievement of certain milestones including: (i) an EMA regulatory milestone payment of €2.0 million, (ii) a
milestone payment of €5.0 million upon first commercial sale of a Recordati Licensed Product in the Recordati Territory, and (iii)
milestone payments of up to €5.0 million in the aggregate from sales of Recordati Licensed Product(s) in the Recordati Territory.

Financial Overview

Revenues

To date, we have not generated any revenues from the commercial sale of any products, and we may not generate revenues from
the commercial sale of any products. We have signed collaboration and license agreements including supply and distribution for neffy
with Alfresa Pharma in Japaa n and Pediatrix in China. The terms of these agreements may include payment to us of one or more of the
folff lowing: non-refundable, up-front licff ense feff es; clinical, regulatory, arr nd/or commercial milestone payments; clinical development
feff es; and royalties or a transfer price on net sales of licensed products if nefe fff yff receives marketing approval in these regions. Ina
addition, we previously entered into the Recordati License and Supply Agreement, which was terminated in February 2023. We
expect revenues to fluctuate in future periods based on our ability to meet various regulatory milestones, and contingent on
successfulff ly obtaining regulatory approval for nefe fyff in the US and the licensed regions, US product sales, commercial milestones,
royalties or transfeff r price earned from our partner’s net sales and the supply of commercial product as set forth in the agreements
described earlier.

Research and Development Expenses

To date, our research and development expenses have related primarily to clinical development, process development and
manufacturt ing costs of our product candidate. Research and development expenses are recognized as incurred and payments made
prior to the receipt of goods or services to be used in research and development are capitalized until the goods or services are received.

Research and development expenses include:

• salaries, payroll taxes, benefiff ts and stock-based compensation charges for personnel engaged in research and development
effff orff ts;

• external research and development expenses incurred under agreements with contract research organizations, or CROs,
investigative sites and consultants and other third-party organizations to conduct our clinical studies and development
activities;

• costs related to manufacturing our product candidates for clinical trials and process validation studit es, including fees paid to
third-party manufacturers;

• costs related to compliance with regulatory requirements and regulatory filings; and

• indirect expenses including insurance and facility-related expenses.

Our external research and development expenses for our clinical stage product candidate consists primarily of fees, materials
and other costs paid to CROs, CMOs, consultant and contractors. Our clinical trials and manufacturing costs for the periods presented
below reflect an allocation of expenses associated with perff sonnel costs, equity-based compensation expense, and indirect costs
incurred in support of overall research and development, such as faff cilities-related costs.

We expect that our research and development expenses will likely decrease in 2023 based on our planned clinical development
and manufacturing activities, as we plan to transition to commercialization efforts for tff he potential launch of our first product that
year. However, the timing for rff egulatory approvals is outside our control, may be delayed and is uncertain. We cannot determine with
certainty the timing of initiation, the duration or the completion costs of current or future clinical trials and the manufacturing costs of
our product candidates due to the inherently unpredictable nature of clinical development and manufacturing activities. Clinical
development and manufacturing timelines, the probability of success and development costs can differ materially from expeff ctations.
We anticipate that we will make determinations as to which product candidates to pursue and how much funding to direct to each
product candidate on an ongoing basis in response to the results of ongoing and future clinical trials, regulatory developments and our
ongoing assessments as to each product candidate’s commercial potential. In addition, we cannot forecast to what degree our
licensing, supply and distribution arrangements would affect our development plans and capital requirements.
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The duration, costs and timing of clinical trials and development of our product candidates will depend on a variety of factors
that include:

• per patient trial costs;

• the number of patients that participate in the trials;

• the number of sites included in the trials;

• the countries in which the trials are conducted;

• the length of time required to enroll eligible patients;

• the number of doses that patients receive;

• the drop-out or discontinuation rates of patients;

• potential additional safeff ty monitoring or other studies requested by regulatory agencies;

• the effff icacy and safety profile of our product candidates, andff

• the cost to seek regulatory approvals for any product candidates that successfully complete clinical trials

• the timing, receipt, and terms of any appra ovals from applicable regulatory authorities including the FDA and non-U.S.
regulators;

• maintaining a continued acceptable safety profile of our product candidates following approval, if any, of our product
candidates;

• establa ishing or maintaining commercial manufacturing capabilities or makit ng arrangements with third-party manufacturers
in order to ensure that we or our third-party manufacturers are able to make product successfully;

• significant and changing government regulation and regulatory guidance;

• the impact of any business interruptions to our operations or to those of the third parties with whom we work; and

• the extent to which we establish additional strategic collaborations or other arrangements.

A change in the outcome of any of these variablea s with respect to the development of any of our product candidates could
signififf cantly change the costs and timing associated with the development of that product candidate. The process of conducting the
necessary crr linical research and manufacturing to obtain regulatory approval is costly and time-consuming. The actual probability of
success for our prff oduct candidates or any future candidates may be affected by a variety of factors. We may never succeed in
achieving regulatory approval for our product candirr dates or any future candidates. Further, a number of factors, including those
outside of our control, could adversely impact the timing and duration of our product candidates’ or any future candidates’ff
development, which could increase our research and development expenses.

GeG neral and Adminii isii trtt atitt ve

General and administrative expenses consist primarily of salaries, benefits, equity-based compensation for personnel in
executive, finance, business development, sales and marketing and other corporate administrative functions. General andr
administrative expenses also include legal feff es incurred relating to corporate and patent matters, professional fees incurred for
accounting, auditing, tax and administrative consulting services, facility costs, market research costs, and insurance costs.

We anticipate our general and administrative expenses will increase substantially in 2023 as we add sales and marketing
personnel, infrff astructure and programs to support pre-commercial activities, and if our product candidates receive marketing approval,
commercialization activities. We also anticipate increased general and administrative personnel to support our operations, and higher
patent and facility related costs. We also expect to incur added audit, legal, regulatory and tax-related services associated withff
maintaining compliance with exchange listing and SEC requirements, director and officer insurance premiums, board of director fees,
and investor relations costs associated with operating as a public company following the Merger.
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TotTT al Ott thtt er InII come (E(( xpensEE e)e

Total other income (expense) consists primarily of interest expense from bank debt, interest income from our cash, cash
equivalents, and investments, and changes in the faff ir value of our warrant liability prior to the Merger. As a result of the Merger, the
warrant liabia lity was reclassified to equity and fair value adjustments are no longer required.

Results of Operations

ComCC parm isii on of thtt e YeYY ars Err nE ded December 31, 2022 and 2021:

The folff lowing table summarizes our results of operations for the years ended December 31, 2022 and 2021 (in thousands, except
percentages):

Years Ended December 31, Dollar %
2022 2021 Change Change

Revenue under collaboration agreements $ 1,316 $ 5,506 $ (4,190) (76%)
Operating expenses:

Research and development(1) 18,376 20,273 (1,897) (9)
General and administrative(1) 18,456 4,687 13,769 294

Total operating expenses 36,832 24,960 11,872 48
Loss frff om operations (35,516) (19,454) (16,062) 83
Total other income (expense): 834 (789) 1,623 (206)
Net loss (34,682) (20,243) (14,439) 71
Unrealized gain on available-for-sale securities 407 — 407 100
Comprehensive loss attributable to common stockholders $ (34,275) $ (20,243) $ (14,032) 69%
______________
(1) Includes stock-based compensation expense as follows (in thousands):

Years Ended December 31,
2022 2021

Research and development $ 213 $ 2,114
General and administrative 5,630 715
Total $ 5,843 $ 2,829

Revenues. Revenue under collaboration agreements was $1.3 million and $5.5 million for the years ended December 31, 2022
and 2021, respectively. The revenues for the years ended December 31, 2022 and 2021 include the recognition of revenue for the
portion of upfrff ont and clinical and regulatory mrr ilestone payments under our collaborations with Alfresa and Recordati that have been
allocated to research and development services provided for during the years. Revenue under these collaboration agreements
decreased $1.2 million from 2021 to 2022. The remaining decrease from 2021 to 2022 is due to the recognition of an upfront payment
of $3.0 million under our collaboration and distribution agreement with Pediatrix signed in March 2021 relating to the issuance and
delivery of a technology license, wrr ith no comparabla e activity in 2022. We expect revenues to fluctuate in future periods based on our
abia lity to meet various regulatory mirr lestones, and contingent on successfully obtaining regulatory approval for neffye in the licensed
regions, commercial milestones, royalties or transfer price earned from our partner’s net sales and the supply of commercial product as
set forff th in these agreements.

Research and Development Expenses. Research and development expenses were $18.4 million and $20.3 million for the years
ended December 31, 2022 and 2021, respectively. The decrease of $1.9 million was primarily due to a $3.1 million decrease in clinical
trial costs associated with neffy and a $1.9 million decrease in stock-based compensation. These aggregated decreases were partially
offff sff et by $1.1 million in in-process research and development acquired in the Merger, a $1.0 million increase in license fees for the
milestone payment to Aegis upon the FDA’s acceptance of our US NDA filing, and a $0.9 million increase in regulatory consulting
costs.

Years Ended December 31,
2022 2021

Clinical trials $ 8,894 $ 10,560
Manufacturing and non-clinical development 9,482 9,713
Total research and development expenses $ 18,376 $ 20,273
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General and Adminisii trative Expenses. General and administrative expenses were $18.5 million and $4.7 million for the years
ended December 31, 2022 and 2021, respectively. The increase of $13.8 million was primarily due to a $4.9 million increase in stock-
based compensation of which $3.0 million was for the replacement of stock awards held by Silverback employees and directors in
connection with the Merger and $1.3 million for the vesting of previously issued performance-based options, a $3.6 million increase in
outside services associated with marketing and consulting, a $2.3 million increase in legal fees, a $2.2 million increase in payroll and
related expenses, and a $0.6 million increase in insurance costs.

TotTT al Other IncII ome (E(( xpense).EE Total other income was $0.8 million for the year ended December 31, 2022 and total other
expense was $0.8 million for tff he year ended December 31, 2021. The difference of $1.6 million was primarily due to a $1.8 million
increase in interest income from our cash, cash equivalents, and investments partially offset by a $0.1 million loss due to the change in
faff ir value of the preferred stock warrant liability.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

SouSS rces of Liqui iditii y and Capitaltt

Since our inception, we have not generated any revenue from any product sale and have incurred significant operating losses
and negative cash flff ows frff om our operations. We have not yet commercialized any of our product candidates and we do not expect to
generate revenue from sales of any product candidates until the second half of 2023 or after, if at all. We have fundeff d our operations
to date primarily with proceeds from the Merger, the sale of prefeff rred and common stock, revenue earned under collaboration,
licensing, supply and distribution agreements and bank debt. From inception to December 31, 2022, we have raised $262.3 million in
cash, cash equivalents and short-term investments, net of transaction costs, from the Merger, net proceeds of $76.3 million from the
issuance of convertible preferred and common stock, $27.8 million from our collaboration, licensing, supply and distributionff
arrangements, and $10.0 million from bank debt. As of December 31, 2022, we had cash, cash equivalents, and short-term investments
of $274.4 million.

CasCC h flff owll s

The folff lowing table summarizes our cash flff ows for the years ended December 31, 2022 and 2021 (in thousands):

Years Ended December 31,
2022 2021

Net cash and cash equivalents used in operating activities $ (40,078) $ (17,561)
Net cash and cash equivalents used in investing activities (199) (55)
Net cash and cash equivalents provided by financing activities 190,732 53,158
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents $ 150,455 $ 35,542

OpeO rating Activities

During the year ended December 31, 2022, net cash used in operating activities was $40.1 million. This consisted primarily of a
net loss of $34.7 million and an increase in our operating assets and liabilities of $12.8 million, partially offset by non-cash charges ofa
$7.4 million. The increase in our operating assets and liabia lities was primarily due to a decrease in accounts payable and accrued
liabila ities of $10.3 million, an increase in prepaid and other assets of $1.2 million, and a decrease in contract liability of $1.3 million.
The non-cash charges primarily consisted of non-cash stock-based compensation of $5.8 million, acquired in-process research and
development of $1.1 million, depreciation, amortization and accretion expense of $0.3 million, and change in fair value of warrant
liabila ity of $0.1 million.

During the year ended December 31, 2021, net cash used in operating activities was $17.6 million. This consisted primarily of a
net loss of $20.2 million and an increase in our operating assets and liabilities of $0.4 million, partially offset by non-cash charges ofa
$3.0 million. The increase in our operating assets and liabia lities was primarily due to a decrease in contract liability of $2.5 million,
partially offff sff et by a decrease in prepaid and other assets of $1.2 million and an increase in accounts payable and accrued liabilities ofa
$1.0 million. The non-cash charges primarily consisted of stock-based compensation of $2.8 million and depreciation, amortization
and accretion expense of $0.2 million.

InvII esting Activities

During the year ended December 31, 2022, the cash and cash equivalents used in investing activities was primarily due to $0.2
million in purchases of property and equipment. During the year ended December 31, 2021, the cash and cash equivalents used in
investing activities was primarily due to $0.1 million in purchases of property and equipment.
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FiFF nancing Activities

During the year ended December 31, 2022, the cash and cash equivalents provided by financing activities was primarily due to
$198.8 million in net proceeds from the Merger. In addition, we acquirff ed $63.5 million in short-term investments through the Merger.
Also, during the year ended December 31, 2022, we used cash of $8.7 million for repayment of the bank note. During the year ended
December 31, 2021, the cash and cash equivalents provided by financing activities was primarily due to $54.8 million of proceeds
frff om the issuance of Series D convertible preferred stock in August 2021 plus $0.2 million from common stock option exercises,
partially offff sff et by $1.8 million repayments on the bank note.

FuFF ture FuFF ndinii g Requirements

Based on our current operating plan, we believe that our existing cash and cash equivalents will be suffiff cient to meet our
anticipated cash requirements through at least the next three years. In particular, we expect our cash, cash equivalents, and short-term
investments will allow us to fund our expenses related to the FDA’s review of our NDA for nefe fff yff ,yy fund proof of concept clinical trials
of nefe fff yff for aff dditional indications, fund pre-commercial manufacturing and sales and marketing activities, and if and when neffye is
appra oved by the FDA, fund our commercial launch. However, our forecast of the period of time through which our financial resources
will be adequate to support our operations is a forward-looking statement that involves risks and uncertainties, and actual results could
vary mrr aterially. We have based this estimate on assumptions that may prove to be wrong, and we could deplete our capital resources
sooner than we expect. Additionally, the process of testing product candidates in clinical trials is costly, and the timing of progress and
expenses in these trials is uncertain.

Our futff urt e fundiff ng requirements will depend on many factors, including:

• the scope, progress, results and costs of researching and developing our current product candidates, as well as other
additional product candidates we may develop and pursue in the future;

• the scope and costs of manufacturing our product candidates and commercial manufacturing activities;

• the timing of, and the costs involved in, obtaining marketing approvals for our product candidatesff ;

• the number of future product candidates that we may pursue and their development requirements;

• subject to receipt of regulatory approval, the costs of commercialization activities for our product candidates, to the extent
such costs are not the responsibility of any collaborators, including the costs and timing of establishing product sales,
marketing, distribution and manufaff cturt ing capabilities;

• subject to receipt of regulatory approval, revenue, if arr ny, received from commercial sales of our product candidates or any
other additional product candidates we may develop and pursue in the future;

• the timing and amount of any milestone and royalty payments under the Aegis License Agreement and the Termination
Agreement;

• the extent to which we in-license or acquire rights to other products, product candidates or technologies;

• our headcount growth and associated costs as we expand our employee headcount and establish a commercial infrastructure;

• the costs of preparing, filing and prosecuting patent applications, maintaining and protecting our intellectual property rights,
including enforff cing and defending intellectual property related claims; and

• the costs of operating as a public company.
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Until such time, if ever, as we can generate substantial product revenues to support our cost structure, we expect to finance our
cash needs through a combination of our existing cash, cash equivalents, short-term investments, equity offerings, debt financings andff
other capital sources which may include collabora ations, strategic alliances, marketing, distribution or licensing arrangements or other
arrangements with third parties. To the extent that we raise additional capia tal through the sale of equity or convertible debt securities,
the ownership interest of our stockholders will be or could be diluted, and the terms of these securities may include liquidation or
other preferff ences that adversely affect the rights of our common stockholders. Debt financing and equity financing, if available, ma ay
involve agreements that include covenants limiting or restricting our abia lity to take specific actions, such as incurring additional debt,
making capital expenditures or declaring dividends. In addition, our current or future debt agreements may limit our ability to incur
additional debt. If we raise funds through additional collaborations, or other similar arrangements with third parties, we may have toa
relinquish valuable rights to our technologies, future revenue streams, development programs or product candidates or grant licenses
on terms that may not be favorable to us and/or may reduce the value of our common stock.

Our abia lity to raise additional funds may be adversely impacted by potential worsening global economic conditions and
disruptions to and volatility in the credit and financial markets in the US, including due to recent bank failures, and worldwide
resulting from macroeconomic factors. Because of the numerous risks and uncertainties associated with product development, we
cannot predict the timing or amount of increased expenses and cannot assure you that we will ever be profitable or generate positive
cash flff ow from operating activities.

Material Cash Requirements

Under our license agreement with Aegis, we have payment obligations of up to $20.0 million contingent upon our achievement
of certain regulatory and commercial milestones and are required to make royalty payments in connection with the sale of products
developed under that agreement. We are unabla e to estimate the timing or likelihood of achieving additional milestones or royalty
payments under this agreement. We are also responsible for reimbursing Aegis for patent costs incurred in connection with
prosecuting and maintaining patent rights that are specific to epinephrine or epinephrine products.

Pursuant to the Termination Agreement with Recordati, we have payment obligations of up to €10.0 million contingent upon our
achievement of certain regulatory arr nd commercial milestones, and up to €5.0 million based on a low double-digit percentage of sales
of sales of Recordati Licensed Product(s) in the Recordati Territory We are unable to estimate the timing or likelihood of achieving
these milestones and sales-based payments under this agreement.

In October 2021, we entered into a lease agreement to rent office space with a lease commencement date of December 2021.
The lease has a term of 38 months. Annual rent expense is $0.2 million and is subject to annual increases of 3%, plus our share of
operating expenses and taxes.

We enter into contracts in the normal course of business with third-party contract organizations and vendors for clinical studies,
manufacturing and other services and products. These contracts generally provide for termination after a notice period.

To date, we have not recognized any reserves related to uncertain tax positions. As of December 31, 2022, we had no accrued
interest or penalties related to uncertain tax positions.

Critical Accounting Policies and Significant Judgements and Estimates

Our management’s discussion and analysis of our financial condition and results of operations are based on our consolidated
fiff nancial statements, which have been prepared in accordance with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles (“GAAP”). The
preparation of these financial statements requires us to make estimates and judgments that affect the reported amounts of assets,
liabila ities, revenue and expenses and the disclosure of contingent assets and liabia lities in our financial statements. On an ongoing basis,
we evaluate our estimates and judgments, including those related to revenues recognized under collaboration agreements, accruals for
research and development expenses and valuation of equity awards. We base our estimates on historical experience, known trends and
events, and various other factors that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances, the results of which form the basis for
making judgments about the carrying values of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. Actual results
may diffff er from these estimates under different assumptions or conditions.ff

While our significant accounting policies and estimates are described in more detail in Note 2- Summary of Significant
Accounting Policies to our consolidated financial statements, we believe the following accounting policies and estimates to be most
critical to the preparation of our consolidated financial statements.
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Revenue

Our revenues generally consist of licenses and research services under license and collaboration agreements.

We recognize revenue when we transfer promised goods or services to customers in an amount that reflects the consideration to
which we expect to be entitled in exchange for those goods or services. To determine revenue recognition for contracts with customers
we perform the folff lowing fiff ve steps: (i) identify tff he contract(s) with a customer; (ii) identify the performance obligation(s) in the
contract; (iii) determine the transaction price; (iv) allocate the transaction price to the performance obligation(s) in the contract; and
(v) recognize revenue when (or as) we satisfy the performance obligation(s). At contract inception, we assess the goods or services
promised within each contract, assess whether each promised good or service is distinct and identify those that are performance
obligations. We recognize as revenue the amount of the transaction price that is allocated to the respective performance obligation
when (or as) the perforff mance obligation is satisfied.

The upfrff ont payments and fees received prior to satisfyiff ng the relevant revenue recognition criteria are recorded as contract
liabila ity in the balance sheet and recognized as revenue when the related revenue recognition criteria are met.

Collabora ation agreements typically contain multiple elements, or performance obligations, including research and development
services and technology licenses. Our assessment of what constitutes a separate performance obligation requires us to apply
judgement. Specifically, we have to identify wff hich goods and services we are required to provide under the contract are distinct. For
our collaboration agreements, we have identified several performance obligations at the inception of the contract since the delivered
elements are deemed capable of being distinct within the context of the contract. Accordingly, the initial transaction price is allocated
to the various perforff mance obligations where we recognized revenue related to the license, which was delivered upon contract
inception, and the remaining performance obligation is recognized as the underlying services are provided under the cost-based input
method over the research terms. Using the cost-based input method, we recognize revenue based on actual costs incurred as a
percentage of total estimated costs as we complete our performance obligations. Any cumulative effeff ct of revisions to estimated costs
to complete our performance obligations is recorded in the period in which changes are identified and amounts can be reasonably
estimated. This appra oach requires us to use signififf cant judgement and make estimates of futff ure expenditures. If our estimates ort
judgements change over the course of the collaboration, they may affect the timing and amount of revenue that it recognizes in the
current and futff urt e periods.

The transaction price for a contract represents the amount to which we are entitled in exchange for providing goods and services
to the customer. The transaction price does not include amounts subject to uncertainties unless it is probable that there will be no
signififf cant reversal of revenue when the uncertainty is resolved. Apart from the upfront license payment and certain milestones, all
other feff es we may earn under our collaborative agreements are subject to significant uncertainties of product development andff
commercial sales targets. The transaction price of an agreement is allocated to each performance obligation on a relative stand-alone
selling price basis, for which we recognize revenue as or when the peff rformance obligations under the contract are satisfied.

Accrued Research and Development

We have entered into various agreements with CROs, CMOs, and other service providers. Our research and development
accruals are estimatr ed based on the level of services performed, progress of the studies, including the phase or completion of events,
and contracted costs. The estimated costs of research and development provided, but not yet invoiced, are included in accrued
liabila ities on the balance sheet. If the actual timing of the pert formance of services or the level of effort varies from the original
estimates, we will adjust the accruar l accordingly. Payments made to third parties under these arrangements in advance of the
perforff mance of the related services are recorded as prepaid expenses and other current assets until the services are rendered. Although
we do not expect our estimates to be materially different from amounts actuat lly incurred, if our estimates of the status and timing of
services performed differ from the actuat l status and timing of services performed, it could result in us reporting amounts that are too
high or too low in any particular period. To date, our estimated accruals have not differed materially from actual costs incurred.ff

StSS octt k-B- ased ComCC pensationm

Stock-based compensation expense represents the grant date fair value of equity awards recognized in the period using the
Black-Scholes option pricing model. We recognize the expense for equity awards on a straight-line basis over the requisite service
periods of the awards, which is usually the vesting period. Forfeitures are recognized as they occur. Estimating the fair value of equity
awards pursuant to the Black-Scholes option pricing model requires us to make assumptions regarding a number of variables,
including the risk-frff ee interest rate, the expected stock price volatility, the expected term of stock options, the expected dividend yield
and the fair value of the underlying common stock on the date of grant. Changes in these assumptions can materially affect the fair
value and ultimately how much stock-based compensation expense is recognized.
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The Black-Scholes option pricing model utilizes inputs which are highly subjective assumptions and generally require
signififf cant judgment. We determine these assumptions in the following manner:

• FaiFF r Vii alVV ue of ComCC mon StSS ock.tt Prior to the Merger, since there was no public market for our common stock, our board of
directors, with input from management, determined the fair value of our common stock on each grant date by considering a
number of objective and subjective factors, including the most recent independent third-party valuation of our common
stock, sales of our convertible preferred stock to unrelated third-parties, our operating and financial performance, the lack of
liquidity of our capital stock and general and industry-specific economic outlook, and our boaff rd of directors’ assessment of
additional objective and subjective faff ctors that it believed were relevant and that may have changed from the date of the
most recent valuation through the date of the grant. Historically, these independent third-party valuations of our equity
instrumr ents were generally performed contemporaneously with identified value inflection points. Following the Merger, the
faff ir market value of our common stock is based on its closing price as reported on the date of grant on the primary stock
exchange on which our common stock is traded.

• ExpeEE cted Term.tt The expected term represents the period that the options granted are expected to be outstanding. The
expected term of stock options issued is determined using the simplififf ed method (based on the mid-point between the vesting
date and the end of the contractual term) as we have concluded that our stock option exercise history doerr s not provide a
reasonable basis upon which to estimate expected term.

• ExpeEE cted Volatility.tt Given our limited historical stock price volatility data, we derived the expected volatility from the
average historical volatilities over a period approximately equal to the expected term of comparable publicly traded
companies within our peer group that were deemed to be representative of future stock price trends as we have limited
trading history for our common stock. We will continue to apply this process until a sufficient amount of hiff storical
inforff mation regarding the volatility of our own stock price becomes available.

• Risii k-FrFF ee InII tett rest Rate.tt The risk-free interest rate is based on the U.S. Treasury rate, with maturities similar to the expected
term of the stock options.

• ExpeEE cted Divtt idend YiYY eld. We have never paid dividends on our common stock and do not anticipate paying any dividends in
the forff eseeable future. Therefore, we used an expected dividend yield of zero.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

See Note 2- Summary of Significant Accounting Policies to our consolidated financial statements for information about recent
accounting pronouncements, the timing of their adoption, and our assessment, if any, of their potential impact on our financial
condition and results of operations.

Item 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk

Not appla icable to a “smaller reporting company” as defined under Item 10(f)(1) of Regulation S-K of the Securities Act.
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

To the Shareholders and the Board of Directors of ARS Pharmaceuticals, Inc.

Opinion on the Financial Statements

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of ARS Pharmaceuticals, Inc. (the Company) as of December 31,
2022 and 2021, the related consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive loss, convertible preferred stock and
stockholders’ equity (deficit) and cash flows for each of the two years in the period ended December 31, 2022, and the related notes
(collectively referred to as the “consolidated financial statements”). In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements present
faff irly, in all material respects, the financial position of the Company at December 31, 2022 and 2021, and the results of its operations
and its cash flows for eff ach of the two years in the period ended December 31, 2022, in conformity with U.S. generally accepted
accounting principles.

Basis for Off pinion

These fiff nancial statements are the responsibility of the Company's management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the
Company’s fiff nancial statements based on our audits. We are a public accounting firm registered with the Public Company Accounting
Oversight Board (United States) (PCAOB) and are required to be independent with respect to the Company in accordance with the
U.S. feff deral securities laws and the applicabla e rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit
to obtain reasonable assurance about wa hether the financial statements are free of material misstatement, whether due to error or fraud.
The Company is not required to have, nor were we engaged to perform, an audit of its internal control over financial reportff ing. As part
of our audits we are required to obtain an understanding of internal control over financial reporting but not for the purpose of
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Company's internal control over financial reporting. Accordingly, we express no
such opinion.

Our audits included performing procedures to assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to
error or frff aud, and performing procedures that respond to those risks. Such procedures included examining, on a test basis, evidence
regarding the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. Our audits also included evaluating the accounting principles used
and significff ant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements. We believe
that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

/s/ Ernst & Young LLP

We have served as the Company’s auditor since 2019.

San Diego, Califorff nia
March 23, 2023



108

ARS Pharmaceuticals, Inc.
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

(In thousands, except par value and share amounts)

December 31,
2022 2021

Assets
Current assets:

Cash and cash equivalents $ 210,518 $ 60,063
Short-term investments 63,863 —
Prepaid expenses and other current assets 3,319 667

Total current assets 277,700 60,730
Right-of-use asset 445 621
Fixed assets, net 329 72
Other assets 2,961 23
Total assets $ 281,435 $ 61,446
Liabilities, convertible preferred stock and stockholders’ equity (deficit)
Current liabia lities:

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities (including related party aa mounts of $16 in
2022 and $159 in 2021) $ 4,931 $ 3,107
Lease liabia lity, current 230 144
Contract liabia lity, current 283 1,457
Note payable, current — 3,479

Total current liabilities 5,444 8,187
Lease liabia lity, net of current portion 251 480
Contract liabia lity, net of current portion 2,854 2,996
Note payable, net of current portion — 4,930
Prefeff rred stock warrant liability — 83
Total liabia lities 8,549 16,676
Commitments and contingencies (Note 7)
Convertible prefeff rred stock and stockholders’ equity (deficit):

Prefeff rred stock, $0.0001 par value; 10,000,000 shares authorized at December 31,
2022 and 2021; no shares issued and outstanding at December 31, 2022 and 2021 — —
Series A convertible preferred stock, $0.01 par value; no shares and 4,764,000 shares
authorized at December 31, 2022 and 2021, respectively; no shares and 4,764,000
shares issued and outstanding at December 31, 2022 and 2021, respectively — 365
Series B convertible prefeff rred stock, $0.01 par value; no shares and 606,060 shares
authorized at December 31, 2022 and 2021, respectively; no shares and 606,060
shares issued and outstanding at December 31, 2022 and 2021, respectively — 1,000
Series C convertible prefeff rred stock, $0.01 par value; no shares and 7,749,999 shares
authorized at December 31, 2022 and 2021, respectively; no shares and 7,692,309
shares issued and outstanding at December 31, 2022 and 2021, respectively — 19,868
Series D convertible preferred stock, $0.01 par value; no shares and 9,337,066 shares
authorized at December 31, 2022 and 2021, respectively; no shares and 9,337,066
shares issued and outstanding at December 31, 2022 and 2021, respectively — 54,806

Stockholders’ equity (deficit)
Common stock, $0.0001 par value; 200,000,000 and 56,000,000 shares authorized at
December 31, 2022 and 2021, respectively; 93,943,316 and 30,369,413 shares issued
and outstanding at December 31, 2022 and 2021, respectively 9 3
Additional paid-in capital 349,408 10,984
Accumulated other comprehensive gain 407 —
Accumulated deficit (76,938) (42,256)
Total stockholders’ equity (deficit) 272,886 (31,269)
Total liabia lities, convertible preferred stock and stockholders’ equity (deficit) $ 281,435 $ 61,446

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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ARS Pharmaceuticals, Inc.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS AND COMPREHENSIVE LOSS

(In thousands, except share and per share information)

Years Ended December 31,
2022 2021

Revenue under collaboration agreements $ 1,316 $ 5,506

Operating expenses:
Research and development (including related party amounts of $2,144 in 2022 and $1,072 in 2021) 18,376 20,273
General and administrative (including related party amounts of $603 in 2022 and $476 in 2021) 18,456 4,687

Total operating expenses 36,832 24,960
Loss frff om operations (35,516) (19,454)
Other income (expense):

Other income (expense), net 974 (789)
Change in fair value of fiff nancial instruments (140) —

Total other income (expense): 834 (789)
Net loss $ (34,682) $ (20,243)
Unrealized gain on available-for-sale securities 407 —
Comprehensive loss attributable to common stockholders $ (34,275) $ (20,243)
Net loss per share attributable to common stockholders, basic and diluted $ (0.87) $ (0.70)
Weighted-average shares outstanding used in computing net loss per share attributable to common
stockholders, basic and diluted 39,956,043 28,872,242

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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ARS Pharmaceuticals, Inc.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

(In thousands)

Years Ended December 31,
2022 2021

Cash flows frff om operating activities:
Net loss $ (34,682) $ (20,243)
Non-cash adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash provided by (used) in operating
activities:

Stock-based compensation expense 5,843 2,829
Acquired in-process research and development 1,056 —
Change in fair value of warrant liability 140 (4)
Depreciation, amortization and accretion expense 319 213

Changes in operating assets and liabia lities:
Prepaid and other assets (1,186) 1,173
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities (including related party amounts of $(143) ina
2022 and $13 in 2021) (10,285) 974
Operating right-of-use assets and lease liabilities, net 33 4
Contract liabia lity (1,316) (2,507)

Net cash used in operating activities (40,078) (17,561)
Cash flows frff om investing activities:

Purchase of property and equipment (199) (55)
Net cash used in investing activities (199) (55)
Cash flows frff om financing activities:ff

Cash proceeds frff om the Merger, net of transaction costs 198,843 —
Proceeds frff om exercise of common stock options 570 169
Repayment of bank note payable (8,681) (1,817)
Proceeds frff om issuance of preferred stock, net — 54,806

Net cash provided by fiff nancing activities 190,732 53,158
Net change in cash and cash equivalents 150,455 35,542
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 60,063 24,521
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year $ 210,518 $ 60,063
Supplemental cash flff ow inforff mation:

Conversion of Series A, B, C, and D convertible preferred stock to common stock $ 76,039 $ —
Short-term investments assumed in the Merger $ 63,473 $ —
Prepaid expense and other current assets assumed in the Merger $ 4,404 $ —
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities assumed in the Mergera $ 12,017 $ —
Reclassificff ation of warrant liability to equity $ 223 $ —
Purchases of property and equipment included in accounts payable $ 91 $ —
Interest paid $ 366 $ 576

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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ARS Pharmaceuticals, Inc.
Notes to Financial Statements

1. Nature of Business

Descriptii itt on of Business

ARS Pharmaceuticals, Inc. (“ARS” or the “Company”) is focused on the development of ARS-1 (brand name neffye ®), a
proprietary product candidate for the needle-free intranasal delivery of epinephrine for the emerrr gency treatment of type 1 allergic
reactions including anaphylaxis. The Company incorporated in Delaware in January 2016 and is located in San Diego, California. The
Company has a wholly owned subsidiary, ARS Pharmaceuticals Operations, Inc., incorporated in Delaware in August 2015 through
which it conducts substantially all its operations, which survived the Merger as more fully described below. ARS Pharmaceuticals
Operations, Inc. has a wholly owned subsidiary in Ireland, ARS Pharmaceuticals IRL, Limited, to facilitate the filing of regulatory
approval for nefe fff yff in European countries.

MeMM rger Transsactr itt on

On November 8, 2022 (the “Closing Date”), Silverback Therapeutics, Inc., a Delaware corporation (“Silverback”), now known as
ARS Pharmaceuticals, Inc., completed its reverse merger (the “Merger”) with privately-held ARS Pharmaceuticals, Inc. (“ARS
Pharma”), in accordance with the terms of the agreement and plan of merger and reorganization, dated July 21, 2022, as amended on
August 11, 2022 and October 25, 2022 (the “Merger Agreement”), whereby Sabre Merger Sub, Inc. (“Merger Sub”), a Delaware
corporr ation and wholly-owned subsidiary of Silverback, merged into ARS Pharma, with ARS Pharma surviving as Silverback’s wholly-
owned subsidiary. ARS Pharma wrr as renamed ARS Subsidiary, Inc. At the completion of the Merger, the prior ARS Pharma
equityholders owned 62% and the prior Silverbar ck equityholders owned 38% of the combined company, in each case on a fully diluted
basis using the treasury stock method and excluding out-of-money options of Silverback.ff

The Merger was accounted for as a reverse recapitalization, with ARS Pharma being treated as the acquirer for accounting
purposrr es. Pursuant to the Merger Agreement, Silverback changed its name to ARS Pharmaceuticals, Inc., and changed its corporate
ticker symbol on the Nasdaq Global Market to “SPRY”. See discussions of the transactions in connection with the Merger at Note 3-
Merger and Related Transactions.

LLiqui idity antt dd CapiCC tii all RResourcestt

The accompanying fiff nancial statements have been prepared assuming that the Company will continue as a going concern. The
Company has incurred net operating losses since its inception and had an accumulated deficit of $76.9 million as of December 31,
2022. The Company had cash, cash equivalents, a of $274.4 million as of December 31, 2022 and has notndd short-term investments
generated positive cash flows from operations. To date, the Company has funded its operations primarily with pproceeds from the
Merger, t The Comhe issuance off convertible ppreferredd stock, ppayments earned uunderr collaboration agreements and bbank debt. pany’s
currently available cash, cash equivalents, and investments as of December 31, 2022 are sufficient to meecash, cash equivalents, and investments t its anticipated cash
requirements for at least the 12 months following the date the financial statements are issued.

From Augustt 5, 2015 (inception) through Decemberr 31, 2022, the Company has devotedd substantially all of its efforts to
developing intellectual pproperty andd conducting pproduct development and clinical trials, raising capital, and bbuilding infrastructure.
The Company has a limitedd operati dng history, andd the sales andd income ppotential of the Company’s bbusiness and markett are unproven.
If the Company does not successfully commercialize any product candidates for which it receives regulatory approval, it will be
unabla e to generate recurring product revenue or achieve profitability. Management expects operating expenses to increase for theff
forff eseeable future and there can be no assurance that the Company will ever achieve profitability, or if achieved, that it wia ll be
sustained on a continuing basis.

The novel coronavirus-2019 (“COVID-19”) epidemic andd geopolitical events have resultedd in a significantt disruption off global
fiff nancial markets. The Company’s ability to raise additional capital may bbe adversely impactedd bby ppotential worsening global
economic conditions andd furtherr disruptions to, andd volatility in, the credit and financial markets in the UUnited State ts, including recent
bba rnkk failures, andd worldwide resulting from a resurgence off COVID-19, future health epidemics or ppandemics, geopolitical actions or
otherr macroeconomic factors. Iff such furtherr disruption occurs, the Company couldd experience an inability to access additional capital.
Iff the Company is nott able to secure adequate additional funding, it may bbe forced to make reductions in spending, extendd ppaymentff
terms with suppliers, liquidate assets where ppossible, and/orr suspe dndd or curtail pplannedd pprograms. Any of these actions could
materially harm the Company’s bbusiness, results off operations, andd future pprospects.
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2. Summary of Signififf cant Accounting Policies

Basis of Pii rPP esentattt itt on and PrPP inii cipleii s of Consolidation

The fiff nancial statements have been prepared in conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles (“U.S. GAAP”).
Any refeff rence in these notes to applicable guidance is meant to refer to the authoritative U.S. GAAP as found in the Accounting
Standards Codificff ation (“ASC”), and Accounting Standards Update (“ASU”), of the Financial Accounting Standards Board
(“FASB”). The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Company and ARS Pharmaceuticals IRL, Limited for the
year ended December 31, 2022. All intercompany accounts and transactions have been eliminated in consolidation. The Company’s
funcff tional and reporting currency is the U.S. dollar. Assets and liabilities that are not denominated in the functional currency are
remeasured into U.S. dollars at forff eign currency exchange rates in effect at the balance sheet date except for nonmonetary assets,
which are remeasured at historical foreign currency exchange rates in effect at the date of transaction. Net realized and unrealized
gains and losses from foreign currency transactions and remeasurement are reported in other income (expense) in the consolidated
statements of operations and comprehensive loss. All adjustments considered necessary for a fair presentation have been included.ff

Since ARS Pharma was determined to be the accounting acquirer in connection with the Merger, for periods prior to the Merger
the consolidated financial statements were prepared on a stand-alone basis for ARff S Pharma and did not include the combined entities
activity or financial position. Subsu equent to the Merger, the consolidated financial statements as of and for the year ended Dff ecember
31, 2022 include Silverback’s activity and Silverbar ck’s assets and liabilities aa t their acquisition date fair value. Historical share and
per share fiff gures of ARS Pharma have been retroactively restated based on the exchange ratio of 1.1819.

UsUU e of EsEE titt mii atett s

The preparation of the Company’s consolidated financial statements requires it to make estimates and assumptff ions that impact
the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses and the disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities in the
Company’s consolidated financial statements and accompanying notes. The most signififf cant estimates in the Company’s consolidated
fiff nancial statements relate to revenue recognized for its collaboration agrff eements, accruals for research and development expenses and
valuation of equity awards. These estimates and assumptions are based on current facts, historical experience and various other factors
believed to be reasonable under the circumstances, the results of which form the basis for making judgments about the carrying values
of assets and liabilities and the recording of revenue and expenses that are not readily apparent from other sources. Actual results may
diffff eff r materially and adversely from these estimates. To the extent there are material differences between the estimates and actual
results, the Company’s futff urt e results of operations will be affected.

Cash and Cash Equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents include cash readily available in checking, money market and sweep accounts. The Company
considers all highly liquid investments with original maturities of three months or less at the date of purchase to be cash equivalents.

InII vestmtt entstt

The Company invests excess cash in investment grade intermediate-term fixed income securities. These investments are
included in short-term investments on the balance sheets, classified as available-for-sale, and reported at fair value with unrealized
gains and losses included in accumulated other comprehensive loss. Realized gains and losses on the sale of these securities are
recognized in net loss.

Fair Value of Financial Instruments

Cash and cash equivalents and investments are carried at fair value. The carrying amounts of all prepaid expenses and other
current assets, accounts payabla e, accrued liabilities, and contract liabia lity, are considered to be representative of their respective fair
values because of the short-term nature of those instruments.

Concentrations of Credit Risk

Financial instruments that potentially subject the Company to significant concentrations of credit risk consist primarily of cash
and cash equivalents. The Company maintains deposits in federally insured financial institutions in excess of federally insured limits
and limits its exposure to cash risk by placing its cash with high credit quality financial institutions.

PrPP operty antt d Equipmii ent

Property and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation. Depreciation is calculated using the straight-line
method over the estimated useful lff ives of the assets, generally five years. Repairs and maintenance costs are charged to expense as
incurred.
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ImII paim rii mrr ent of Long-Lived Assets-

Long-lived assets consist primarily of property and equipment. The Company reviews its long-lived assets for impairment
whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carryirr ng value of an asset may not be recoverable. Recoverability is
measured by comparison of the carrying amount to the future undiscounted net cash flows which the asset or asset group are expected
to generate. If such assets are considered to be impaired, the impairment to be recognized is measured as the amount by which the
carryirr ng amount of the assets exceeds its fair value. The Company has not recognized any impairment losses from inception throughff
December 31, 2022.

Leases

Effff eff ctive January 1, 2021, the Company early adopted ASC No. 2016-02, Leases (Topic 842) (“ASC 842”), which supersedes
the current accounting for leases, using the modified retrospective transition method. The Company has elected to apply the practical
expedients allowed by the standard for existing leases. The new standard, while retaining two distinct types of leases, finance and
operating, (i) requires lessees to record a right-of-ff use (“ROU”) asset and a related liability for the rights and obligations associated
with a lease, regardless of lease classification, and recognize lease expense in a manner similar to current accounting, (ii) eliminates
current real estate specific lease provisions, (iii) modifies the lease classififf cation criteria and (iv) aligns many of the underlying lessor
model principles with those in the new revenue standard. The Company determines the initial classification and measurement of its
ROU asset and lease liabilities at the lease commencement date and thereafter, if modified. The Company recognizes a ROU asset for
its operating leases with lease terms greater than 12 months. The lease term includes any renewal options and termination options that
the Company is reasonably assured to exercise. The lease liability is calculated by using the present value of all lease payments, with
the present value determined by using the incremental borrowing rate for operating leases determined by using the incremental
borrowing rate of interest that the Company would pay to borrow on a collateralized basis an amount equal to the lease payments in a
similar economic environment as well as a review of peer companies. Variabla e charges for common area maintenance and other
variable costs are recognized as expense as incurred. Rent expense for operating leases is recognized on a straight-line basis over thea
reasonabla y assured lease term based on the total lease payments and is included in research and development and general and
administrative expenses in the consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive loss.

WarWW rant Liabilii ill tii ytt

The Company has issued freestanding warrants to purchase shares of its Series C convertible preferred stock. Prior to the
Merger, the Company adjusted the carryirr ng value of such Series C convertible preferred stock warrants to the estimated fair value at
each reporting date, with any related increases or decreases in the fair value being recorded within other income (expense) in the
consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive loss. Pursuant to the Merger Agreement the Series C convertible preferred
stock warrants became warrants to purchase shares of the combined company's common stock. As a result of the Merger, the warrants
no longer meet the requirements for liability accounting, as such, the Company adjusted the value of the warrants to the estimated fair
value as of the Merger date and reclassified them to equity.

Revenue Recognition

Our revenues generally consist of licenses and research services under license and collaboration agreements. We recognize
revenue when we transfer promised goods or services to customers in an amount that reflects the consideration to which we expect to
be entitled in exchange for those goods or services. To determine revenue recognition for contracts with customers we perform the
folff lowing fiff ve steps: (i) identify the contract(s) with a customer; (ii) identify the performance obligation(s) in the contract; (iii)
determine the transaction price; (iv) allocate the transaction price to the performance obligation(s) in the contract; and (v) recognize
revenue when (or as) we satisfy the performance obligation(s). At contract inception, we assess the goods or services promised within
each contract, assess whether each promised good or service is distinct and identify those that are performance obligations. We
recognize as revenue the amount of the transaction price that is allocated to the respective performance obligation when (or as) the
perforff mance obligation is satisfied.

Research and Development Costs

Research and development are expensed in the period incurred. Research and development costs primarily consist of salaries
and related expenses for personnel, stock-based compensation expense, external research and development costs incurred under
agreements with contract research organizations, investigative sites and consultants to conduct our clinical studies, costs related to
compliance with regulatory rrr equirements, costs related to manufacturing the Company’s product candidates for clinical trials and
other allocated expenses.



115

Payments for rff esearch and development activities are based on the terms of the individual agreements, which may differ from
the pattern of costs incurred, and payments made in advance of performance are reflected in the accompanying consolidated balance
sheets as prepaid expenses. The Company records accruar ls for estimated cosff ts incurred for ongoing research and development
activities. When evaluating the adequacy of the accrued liabilities, the Company analyzes progrr ess of the services, including the phase
or completion of events, invoices received and contracted costs. The Company uses judgments and estimates to determine the prepaid
or accrued balances at the end of any reporting period. Actual results could differ frr om the Company’s estimates.

PatPP ett nt Costs

Costs related to filing and pursuing patent applications are recorded as general and administrative expenses in the statements of
operations and expensed as incurred since recoverability of such expenditura es is uncertain.

License FeesFF

Costs incurred to acquire technology licenses and milestone payments made on existing agreements are charged to research and
development expense or capitalized based upon the asset achieving technological feasibility in accordance with management’s
assessment regarding the ultimate recoverabia lity of the amounts paid and the potential for alternative future use.

Stock-Based Compensation

Stock-based compensation expense represents the cost of the grant date fair value of stock option grants recognized over the
requisite service period of the awards (usually the vesting period) on a straight-line basis. The Company recognizes expense for
awards subject to performance-based milestones over the remaining service period when management determines that achievement of
the milestone is probable. Management evaluates when the achievement of a performance-based milestone is probable based on the
expected satisfaction of the performance conditions at each reporting date. The Company estimates the faff ir value of stock option
grants using the Black-Scholes option pricing model and recognizes forfeitures as they occur.

The Company’s equity incentive plans allow for the issuance of restricted stock awards that may be subject to vesting. The
unvested shares of any restricted stock awards are held in escrow as the stock award vests or until the holder’s termination of services,
whichever occurs first. In the event the holder’s services terminate, the Company has the right of repurchase, at its option, the portion
of unvested stock awards. For all early exercised unvested stock awards, a liability is establa ished related to the cash received for theff
unvested portion of the stock award, which represents the Company’s repurchase rights if the award holders were to be terminated and
their stock repurchased.

InII come TaxesTT

The Company accounts for income taxes under the asset and liabia lity method, which requires the recognition of deferred tax
assets and liabilities for the expected future tax consequences of events that have been included in the consolidated fiff nancial
statements. Under this method, defeff rred tax assets and liabia lities are determined on the basis of the differences between the financial
statements and tax basis of assets and liabia lities using enacted tax rates in effect for the year in which the differences are expected toff
reverse. The effff eff ct of a change in tax rates on defeff rred tax assets and liabilities is recognized in income in the period that includes the
enactment date.

The Company recognizes net defeff rred tax assets to the extent that the Company believes these assets are more likely than not to
be realized. In making such a determination, management considers all available positive and negative evidence, including future
reversals of existing taxable temporary differences, projected future taxable income, tax-planning strategies, and results of recent
operations. If management determines that the Company would be able to realize its deferred tax assets in the future in excess of their
net recorded amount, management would make an adjustment to the deferred tax asset valuation allowance, which would reduce the
provision for iff ncome taxes.

The Company records uncertain tax positions on the basis of a two-step process whereby (1) management determines whether it
is more likely than not that the tax positions will be sustained on the basis of the technical merits of the position and (2) for thosff e tax
positions that meet the more-likely-than-not recognition threshold, management recognizes the largest amount of tax benefit that is
more than 50 percent likely to be realized upon ultimate settlement with the related tax authority. The Company recognizes interest
and penalties related to unrecognized tax benefits within income tax expense. Any accrued interest and penalties are incr luded within
the related tax liability.

Comprehensive Loss

Comprehensive loss is defined as the change in equity during a period from transactions and other events and circumstances
frff om non-owner sources. The Company’s comprehensive loss was the same as its reported net loss for all periods presented.
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SeSS gme ent Reporee tingtt

Operating segments are components of an enterprise about which separate discrete financial information is available for
evaluation by the chief operating decision-maker for purposes of making decisions regarding resource allocation and assessing
perforff mance. The Company views its operations and manages its business as one operating segment.

NeNN t Loss PePP r ComCC mon ShSS are

Basic net loss per share attributable to common stockholders is calculated by dividing the net loss attributable to common
stockholders by the weighted-average number of shares of common stock outstanding for the period, without consideration of
potentially dilutive securities. Diluted net loss per share attributable to common stockholders is the same as basic net loss per share
attributable to common stockholders since the effect of potentially dilutive securities is anti-dilutive given the net loss of the
Company. For purposr es of this calculation, convertible preferred stock, stock options, and preferred stock warrants are considered to
be common stock equivalents but are not included in the calculations of diluted net loss per share for the periods presented as their
effff eff ct would be antidilutive.

The folff lowing securities are excluded from the calculation of weighted-average dilutive common shares because their inclusion
would have been anti-dilutive. Historical share figures have been retroactively restated based on the exchange ratio of 1.1819.

December 31, 2022 December 31, 2021
Convertible prefeff rred stock — 26,473,899
Warrants to purchase convertible preferred stock — 45,456
Warrants to purchase common stock 45,456 —
Common stock options granted and outstanding 12,063,560 4,769,572
Total 12,109,016 31,288,927

RRecently IItt d Accounting PronouncementsssueII — Not Yet AdoptedNN

In June 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-13, Financial Instruments—Credit Losses (Topic 326): Measurement of CreditII
Losses on Financial InsII trumentstt , which changes the accounting for recognizing impairments of financial assets. Under the new
guidance, credit losses for certain types of fiff nancial instruments will be estimated based on expected losses. The new guidance also
modififf es the impairment models for aff vailable-for-sale debt securities and for purchased financial assets wff ith credit deterioration since
their origination. This update is effective for the Company beginning January 1, 2023. The Company is currently evaluating the
impact the standard may have on its financial statements and related disclosures.

3. Merger and Related Transactions

As described in Note 1- Nature of Business, ARS Pharma merged with Silverback on November 8, 2022. The Merger was
accounted for aff s a reverse recapitalization under U.S. GAAP. ARS Pharma was considered the accounting acquirer for financial
reporting purposes. This determination was based on the facts that, immediately following the Merger: (i) ARS Pharma stockholders
own a substantial majority of the voting rights of the combined organization; (ii) ARS Pharma has designated a majority (eight of
eleven) of the initial members of the board of directors of the combined organization; and (iii) ARS Pharma’s senior management
holds all key positions in senior management of the combined organization. The transaction was accounted for as a reverse
recapitalization because on the effective date of the Merger, the pre-combination assets of Silverback were primarily cash and other
non-operating assets. Additionally, the Company concluded that the in-process research and development (“IPR&D”) assets that
remained as of the combination were not significant when compared to the cash and investments obtained through the transaction.

Under reverse recapitalization accounting, the assets and liabilities of Silverback were recorded at their faff ir value which
appra oximated book value due to the short-term nature of the instruments. No goodwill or intangible assets were recognized.
Consequently, the Company's consolidated financial statements reflect the issuance of 36,535,541 shares to the former stockholders of
Silverbar ck.

Under the terms of the Merger Agreement, immediately prior to the effective time of the Merger, each share of ARS Pharma’s
prefeff rred stock was converted into a share of ARS Pharma’s common stock.
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As the accounting acquirer, ARS Pharma is deemed to have assumed all of Silverback’s outstanding and unexercised stock
options. The assumed options continue to be governed by the terms of the 2016 and 2020 Equity Incentive Plans of Silverback (as
discussed more in Note 10- Stock-Based Compensation) under which the options were originally granted.

As part of the reverse recapitalization, ARS Pharma obtained $262.3 million in cash, cash equivalents and short-term
investments, net of transaction costs. ARS Pharma also obtained prepaids and other current assets of approximately $4.4 million and
assumed payables and accruals of approximately $12.0 million. ARS Pharma also obtained $1.1 million in IPR&D assets that have no
alternative future use. The fair value attributabla e to these assets was recorded as research and development expense in the Company’s
consolidated statement of operations and comprehensive loss for the year ended December 31, 2022. ARS Pharma also incurred
transaction costs of approximately $2.1 million and this amount is recorded as a reduction to additional paid-in capital in the
accompanying consolidated statement of convertible preferred stock and stockholders’ equity (deficit) for the year ended Decemberff
31, 2022.

4. Fair Value Measurements

The Company categorizes its assets and liabila ities measured at fair value in accordance with the authoritative accounting
guidance that establishes a consistent framework for mff easuring fair value and expands disclosures for each major asset and liabilitya
category mrr easured at fair value on either a recurring or nonrecurring basis. Fair value iff s defiff ned as the exit price, representing the
amount that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants. As
such, fair value is a market-based measurement that should be determined based on assumptions that market participants would use in
pricing an asset or liability. As a basis for considering such assumptions, the guidance establishes a three-tier fair value hierarchy,
which prioritizes the inputs used in measuring fair value as folff lows:

Level 1- Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities;

Level 2- Inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are either directly or indirectly observable; and

Level 3- Unobservable inputs in which little or no market activity exists, therefore requiring an entity to develop its own
assumptions about the assumptions that market participants would use in pricing.a

In 2021, based on the borrowing rates currently available to the Company for loans wff ith similar terms, management believe the
faff ir value of the note payable appra oximates its carrying value. In 2022, the note payable was fully paid off.ff

The folff lowing table identififf es the Company’s assets that were measured at faff ir value on a recurring basis (in thousands):

December 31, 2022 Level
Amortized

Cost

Gross
unrealized

gains

Gross
unrealized

losses
Estimated
Fair Value

Money market funds 1 $ 209,273 $ — $ — $ 209,273
Short-term investments - U.S. Treasury securities 1 63,456 407 — 63,863
Total 1 272,729 407 — 273,136
December 31, 2021
Money market funds 1 $ 59,401 $ — $ — $ 59,401

There were no transfers between the Level 1 and Level 2 categories or into or out of the Level 3 category during the periods
presented.

The Company’s short-term investments portfolio contains investments in U.S. Treasury securities that have an effective
maturity dat te that is less than one year frff om the respective balance sheet date. As of December 31, 2022, the Company did not have
any investments in an unrealized loss position.
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As of December 31, 2022, the Company did not have any liabilities that were measured at fair value on a recurring basis. As a
result of the Merger, the preferred stock warrant liability that was outstanding was remeasured as of the Merger date and reclassified
to equity. During 2022, the Company recorded total other expense relating to this warrant of $0.1 million. There were no transfers
between the Level 1 and Level 2 categories or into or out of the Level 3 category during the periods presented.

5. Balance Sheet Details

Prepaidd e sands):xpenses andd otherr currentt assets consistedd off the following (in thou
December 31, 2022 December 31, 2021

Prepaid insurance $ 1,539 $ 666
Prepaid expenses 771 —
Interest receivabla e 796 1
Other receivables 213 —
Total $ 3,319 $ 667

Property andd equipmentt consistedd off the folff lowing (in thousands):
December 31, 2022 December 31, 2021

Equipment $ 377 $ 86
Less accumulated depreciation (48) (14)
Total $ 329 $ 72

Depreciation expense was immaterial for the years ended December 31, 2022 and 2021.

Otherr assets consisted off the following (in thousands):
December 31, 2022 December 31, 2021

Prepaid insurance $ 2,940 $ —
Security deposit 21 23
Total $ 2,961 $ 23

Accounts ppaya d liabilities consisted of tble andd accrueda he following (in thousands):
December 31, 2022 December 31, 2021

Accounts payable $ 1,659 $ 1,786
Accruer d legal and profeff ssional feesff 908 53
Accruer d clinical expenses 609 477
Accruer d compensation 447 660
Accruer d tax expenses 174 —
Accruer d development expenses 133 109
Other 1,001 22
Total $ 4,931 $ 3,107

6. Collaboration and Out-Licensing

The Company has enteredd into collaboration and licensing agreements to license certain rights to neffye to thirdd pparties. The terms
off these arrangements typically include ppayment to the Company off one orr more of the following: non-refundable, uup-front license
feff es; clinical, regulatory, arr nd/orr commercial milestone ppayments; ppaymentt forr clinical and commercial supply and royalties or a
ransfeff rr pprice on the nett sales off licensedd pproducts.

Licenses of Intellectual Property.II If the license to the Company’s intellectual property is determined to be distinct from the other
perforff mance obligations identified in the arrangement, revenue is recognized from non-refundable, up-front payments allocated to theff
license when the license is transferred to the customer and the customer is able to use and benefit from the license. If the license is not
a distinct perforff mance obligation, the Company evaluates the combined performance obligation to determine whether the combined
perforff mance obligation is satisfied over time or at a point in time and, if over time, the appropriate method of measuring progress for
purposrr es of recognizing revenue from non-refundable, up-front fees. The Company evaluates the measure of progress each reportff ing
period and, if necessary, adjusts the measure of performance and related revenue recognition.
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MiMM lestone Payments. At the inception of each arrangement that includes clinical, regulatory or commercial milestone payments,
the Company evaluates whether achieving the milestones is considered probable and estimates the amount to be included in the
transaction price using the most likely amount method. If it is probable that a significant revenue reversal would not occur, the value
of the associated milestone is included in the transaction price. Milestone payments that are not within the Company’s control, such as
appra ovals from regulators or where attainment of the specified event is dependent on the development activities of a third party, are
not considered probable of being achieved until those approvals are received or the specified event occurs. Revenue is recognized
when the underlying perforff mance obligation has been transferred to the customer.

Research and Development Revenues. For arrangements that contain research and development commitments, any arrangement
consideration allocated to the research and development work is recognized as the underlying services are performed over the research
and development term.

Clinical and Commercial Supply. Arrangements that include a promise for the future supply of drug product for either clinical
development or commercial supply at the licensee’s discretion are generally considered as options. We assess if these options provide
a material right to the licensee and if so, they are accounted for as separate performance obligations. The Company has not earned
revenues for clinical or comff mercial supply sales as of December 31, 2022.

Royalty/yy T// rTT ansfer Price Revenues. For arrangements that include sales-based royalties or transfer price, including milestone
payments based on the level of sales, and the license is deemed to be the predominant item to which the royalties relate, the Company
recognizes revenue at the later of (i) when the related sales occur, or (ii) when the performance obligation to which some or all of the
royalty has been allocated has been satisfied (or partially satisfied). The Company has not received any royalty or transfer price
revenues as of December 31, 2022.

Alfresa Agreement

In March 2020, the Company signed a Letter of Intent (“LOI”) with Alfresa Pharma Corporation (“Alfresa”) for the right to
negotiate a definitive agreement for tff he exclusive license and sublicensable right to develop, register, import, manufacture and
commercialize neffy in Japan in exchange for an upfront payment of $2.0 miff llion. In April 2020, the Company entered into a
Collabora ation and License Agreement for the rights pursuant to the LOI. Under the agreement, the Company delivered a license to the
neffy technology and is responsible for completion of a certain clinical study and for the manufaff cturing of development andt
commercial drug supply. The parties agreed to share the cost of any additional clinical studies required for approval of neffye in Japan.
Alfrff esa is solely responsible for rff egulatory arr nd commercialization activities and may elect to assume responsibility for manufacturing
and supplying drug product for commercial use in Japan. Either party may terminate the agreement for certain breaches of the
agreement. Unless terminated earlier by either or both parties, the term of the agreement will continue until the later of (i) expiration
of the last-to-expire patent in Japan; or (ii) 10 years after the commercial sale of nefe fyff in Japan.

In addition to the $2.0 million received under the LOI, the Company is eligible to receive up to $13.0 million of milestone
payments upon achievement of certain clinical and regulatory milestones. Further, the Company is eligible to receive a negotiable
transfer price expected to be in the low double-digit percentage on net sales subject to the regulatory approval to commercialize neffye
in Japan. In July 2020, the Company earned a $5.0 million milestone payment upon the completion of a clinical milestone in Japan.

At the commencement of this collaboration, the Company identified the following performance obligations: the license for neffye
and research and development services. The Company determined the initial transaction price to be the $7.0 million, which includes a
clinical milestone as it was deemed not probabla e of significant reversal at the inception of the agreement. Due to the uncertainty in the
achievement of the regulatory and commercial milestones, the variable consideration associated with these future milestone payments
has been fully constrained and is excluded from the transaction price until such time that the Company concludes that it is probable
that a significant reversal of previously recognized revenue will not occur. These estimates will be re-assessed at each reporting
period. The transaction price was allocated to the performance obligations based on the estimated stand-alone selling price of each
performance obligation. The Company recognized revenue of $0.1 million and $0.2 million for the years ended December 31, 2022
and 2021, respectively and had a contract liabia lity of an immaterial amount and $0.1 million as of December 31, 2022 and 2021,
respectively.
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Recordati Att greement

In September 2020, the Company entered into a License and Supply Agreement (the “Recordati Agreement”) with Recordati
Ireland, Ltd. (“Recordati”) for the exclusive license and sublicensable right to develop, import, manufacture or have manufactured
commercial product, file and hold regulatory approvals and commercialize neffye in Europe and certain European Free Trade
Association, RusRR sia/the Commonwealth of Independent States, Middle East and African countries (the “Recordati Territory”). Under
the Recordati Agreement, the Company is responsible for completion of any clinical studit es forff nefe fyff required by the European
Medicines Agency (“EMA”) before granting European Union Marketing Authorization, and by the Medicines and Healthcare
products Regulatory Agency (“MHRA”) prior to granting United Kingdom Mrr arketing Authorization. The Company filed the initial
regulatory submirr ssions with the EMA in the fourth quarter of 2022 and will file the initial regulatory submissions with the MHRA for
nefe fff yff and is responsible for the manufacturing of commercial supply. Recordati is solely responsible all regulatory activities in the
region after the Company’s initial regulatory submissions to the EMA and MHRA, for any post-approval clinical studies anda
commercialization activities. Either party may terminate the Recordati Agreement for certain breaches. Unless terminated earlier by
either or both parties, the term of the Recordati Agreement will continue as long as Recordati has commercial sales of neffye in the
region.

Under the terms of the Recordati Agreement, the Company received an upfront payment of $11.8 million and a regulatory
milestone payment of $6.0 million during 2020. In addition, the Company is eligible to receive up to 90.0 million euros of milestone
payments upon achievement of certain regulatory and commercial sales milestones. Subject to regulatory approval, the Company will
earn tiered royalties in the low double-digits on annual net sales in the region and will receive a per unit supply price for the sale of
commercial supply to Recordati. The per unit commercial supply costs are subject to a cap. The combined tiered royalty and supplya
price have a low double-digit cap.

At the commencement of this collaboration, the Company identified the following performance obligations: the license for neffye
in the defiff ned territory and the research and development services. The Company determined the initial transaction price to be the
$11.8 million. Due to the uncertainty in the achievement of all the developmental and commercial milestones, at inception of the
contract, the variable consideration associated with future milestone payments was fully constrained and excluded from the transaction
price until such time that the Company concludes that it is probabla e that a significant reversal of previously recognized revenue will
not occur. These estimates will be re-assessed at each reporting period. The transaction price was allocated to the performance
obligations based on the estimated stand-alone selling price of each performance obligation. In November 2020, the Company earned
a regulatory milestone of $6.0 million. The Company recognized revenue of $1.2 million and $2.3 million for the years ended
December 31, 2022 and 2021, respectively. As of December 31, 2022 and 2021, there was a contract liability of $3.1 million and $4.4
million, respectively.

On Februarr ry 22, 2023, trr he Company and Recordati entered into a termination agreement (the “Termination Agreement”),
pursuant to which, among other things, the Company and Recordati agreed to terminate the Recordati Agreement and the Company
will reacquire all of the Recordati’s rights under the Recordati Agreement, as described in Note 14- Subsequent Events.

PePP diatrix Agreement

In March 2021, the Company entered into a Collaboration and Distribution Agreement with Pediatrix Therapeutics, Inc.
(“Pediatrix”) for the exclusive license and sublicensable right to develop, import, manufacture or have manufactured commercial
product, fiff le and hold regulatory approvals and commercialize nefe fff yff in the People’s Republic of China, Taiwan, Macau, and Hong
Kong. Under the agreement, Pediatrix is responsible, at its sole cost and expense, for all ongoing development work tff hat is necessary
for or otff herwise supports regulatory approval in the defined territory, including all clinical trials, and activities related to post approval
commitments and commercialization tests. In addition, Pediatrix is responsible for commercialization activities and may elect to
assume responsibility for manufacturing and supplying drug product for commercial use. The Company is responsrr ible for the
manufacturing of product for clinical studies as well as commercial supply, all at a negotiated transfer price. Either party may
terminate the agreement for certain breaches of the agreement. Unless terminated earlier by either or both parties, the term of the
agreement will continue as long as Pediatrix has commercial sales of nefe fyff in the region, or 10 years after the first commerciaff l sale.

Under the terms of the agreement, the Company received an upfront payment of $3.0 million. In addition, the Company is
eligible to receive up to $84.0 million of milestone payments upon achievement of certain regulatory and commercial sales milestones.
Subject to regulatory approval, the Company will earn tiered royalties in the low double-rr digits on annual net sales in the region and
will receive a per unit supply price for the sale of commercial supply to Pediatrix.
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At the commencement of this collaboration, the Company identified performance obligations related to the delivery of the
license forff nefe fff yff in the defiff ned territory and manufacturing of product for clinical studies and commercial supply. The Company
concluded that the license was distinct from potential supply obligation. The supply provisions are effectively options granted to
Pediatrix to purchase futff urt e goods and would only constitutt e a performance obligation if they contain a material right. The Company
determined the option to purchase the clinical and commercial supply was not at a significantly discounted price and does not
represent a material right, therefore does not constitute a pet rformance obligation. The Company determined the initial transaction
price to be the $3.0 million. Due to the uncertainty in the achievement of all the developmental and commercial milestones, the
variable consideration associated with these future milea stone payments has been fully constrained and is excluded from the transactionff
price until such time that the Company concludes that it is probabla e that a significant reversal of previously recognized revenue will
not occur. These estimates will be re-assessed at each reporting period. The Company recognized revenue of the full $3.0 million
during the year ended December 31, 2021.

A reconciliation of contract liability frff om collaboration agreements was as follows (in thousands):

Balance at December 31, 2021 $ 4,453
Revenue recognized (1,316)

Balance at December 31, 2022 $ 3,137

7. Commitments and Contingencies

NotNN e Ptt ayablPP ell

In September 2019, the Company entered into a Loan and Security Agreement (“Loan Agreement”) with Silicon Valley Bank
for wff orking capia tal in the principal amount, as amended, of $10.0 million (the “Note”). The Note required interest only payments
through June 30, 2021 and had a maturity date of March 1, 2024. In addition, there was a final payment (“Balloon Payment”) of $0.3
million at maturity.

In connection with the Note, the lender received warrants to purchase 38,460 shares of Series C convertible preferred stock at
$2.60 per share. The warrants were immediately exercisable and will expire on September 30, 2029. The estimated fair value of the
warrants at issuance was $86,000 which was recorded as a debt discount. In addition, the Company recorded debt issuance costs
totaling $47,000.

The debt discount, debt issuance costs and Balloon Payment were amortized to interest expense using the effective interest rate
method over the loan term. The Company recognized interest expense of $0.6 million and $0.8 million for the years ended
December 31, 2022 and 2021, respectively, and debt discount amortization of $0.3 million and $0.2 million for the years ended
December 31, 2022 and 2021, respectively.

On November 7, 2022, the Company paid off the rff emaining balance of $5.4 million on its loans with Silicon Valley Bank,
including all principal and interest and the Balloon Payment. The warrants issued to Silicon Valley Bank in connection with the loans
continue to be outstanding.

Leases

In October 2021, the Company entered into a 38-month noncancelable lease for its current headquarters location consisting of
4,047 rentable square feet of office space in San Diego, Califa ornia. Under the tff erms of the agreement, there is no option to extend the
lease, and the Company is subject to additional charges for common area maintenance and other costs. Monthly rental payments due
under the lease commenced on December 6, 2021 and escalate through the lease term. The Company prepaid the first month’s rent
upon execution of the lease, and the lease agreement provided full rent abatement for the second and third months of the rental term.
As of December 31, 2022, the remaining lease term of the Company’s operating lease was 26 months, and the discount rate on the
Company’s operating lease was 8%. As there was not an implicit rate within the lease, the discount rate was determined by using a set
of peer companies incremental borrowing rates. The Company's operating lease expense was $0.2 million and immaterial for the years
ended December 31, 2022 and 2021, respectively. The Company's variable lease expense was $0.1 million and immaterial for theff
years ended December 31, 2022 and 2021, respectively. Cash paid for amounts included in the measurement of lease liabilities was
$0.2 million and zero for tff he years ended December 31, 2022 and 2021, respectively.
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Futurt e minimum noncancelabla e operating lease payments are as follows (in thousands):

Year ended December 31, Amount
2023 $ 238
2024 245
2025 42
Total lease payments 525
Less imputed interest (44)

Lease liability 481
Less current portion of lease liability (230)
Lease liabia lity, net of current portion $ 251

ConCC titt nii gencies

From time to time, the Company may be involved in various legal proceedings and subject to claims that arise in the ordinary
course of business.

On August 12, 2021, Amphastar Pharmaceuticals, Inc. (“Amphastar”) filed a Petition for Inter Partes Review (“IPR”) with the
United States Patent and Trademark Offff iff ce (“USPTO”), seeking to invalidate claims 1-20 of United States Patent No. 10,682,414 (the
“‘414 patent”). The ‘414 patent issued on June 16, 2020 and is entitled “Intranasal Epinephrine Formulations and Methods for the
Treatment of Disease.” The claims of the ‘414 patent are directed to methods of treating a type-1 hypersensitivity reaction, including
anaphyla axis, using an aqueous nasal spray pharmaceutical formulation containing epinephrine or a salt thereof, including the
Company’s neffe yff product candidate, in a single dose. On February 9, 2023, the USPTO issued a Final Written Decision finding claims
3-6 and 18-20, which encompass the Company’s neffe yff product candidate, patentable, and claims 1-2 and 7-17 unpatentable. Both the
Company and Amphastar have the right to fiff le a motion for reconsideration with the USPTO in addition to a noticff e of appeal with the
United States Court of Appeals for the Federal Circuit. Although the results of any motion for reconsideration or notice of appeal are
inherently unpredictable and uncertain, and could result in either the USPTO or the Federal Circuit finding some or all of claims 1-20
of the ‘414 patent to be invalid or unenforceable, the Company does not believe that an adverse outcome will have a material adverse
effff eff ct on its business, operating results, cash flows or fiff nancial condition.

On November 5, 2021, a securities class action complaint was filed against Silverback and certain of Silverback’s former
offff iff cers and directors in the U.S. District for the Western District of Washington, captioned Dresner v. Silverback Therapeutics, Inc.,
et al., Case No. 2:21-cv-01499 (the “Dresner Case”). The court has appointed lead plaintiff and lead plaintiff's counsel, and plff aintiff's
counsel then fiff led the amended complaint on April 11, 2022. The amended complaint alleges that between December 3, 2020 and
March 31, 2022, Silverback and certain of its officers and directors violated (1) Sections 11 and 15 of the Securities Act of 1933, as
amended; and (2) Sections 10(b) and 20(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, and Securities and Exchange
Commission (“SEC”) Rule 10b-5 promulgated thereunder, by making allegedly false and misleading statements in various SEC filings
and press releases regarding the clinical and commercial prospects of its product candidate, SBT6050, which is now discontinued. The
complaint seeks unspecified damages and interest, as well as attorneys’ fees and other costs. Silverback and the other defendants filed
a motion to dismiss on May 26, 2022 and lead plaintiff filed an opposition brief on July 11, 2022. On August 10, 2022, Silverback andr
the other defendants filed a reply brief. The court held a hearing on October 28, 2022 and issued an order granting defendants’ motion
to dismiss without prejudice on November 4, 2022. Plaintiffs were given leave to amend and filed a Second Amended Complaint
(“SAC”) on December 5, 2022, which asserted Section 11 claims only with respect to Silverback’s December 3, 2020 IPO and Section
10(b) claims during a shorter class period of March 29, 2021 through March 31, 2022. Defendants filed a motion to dismiss the SAC
on January 2, 2023. Lrr ead plaintiff filed an opposition brief on January 23, 2023, and defendants filed a reply brief January 27, 2023.
The court is expected to issue a ruling on the motion to dismiss in the first half of 2023.

Regardless of the outcome, involvement in legal proceedings may have an adverse impact on the Company because of defense
and settlement costs, diversion of management resources, and other factors. The Company cannot predict the outcome of these suits,
and faff ilure by the Company to obtain faff vorable ra esolutions could have a material adverse effect on its business, results of operations,
and fiff nancial condition. The Company’s chances of success on the merits of either of these suits are still uncertain and any possible
loss or range of loss cannot be reasonably estimated and as such the Company has not recorded a liability as of December 31, 2022.

Except as described above, the Company is not currently involved in any legal proceeding that it believes could have a
materially adverse effect on its financial condition or results of operations. Except as described above, there is no action, suit,
proceeding, inquiry or investigation before or by any court, public board, government agency, self-regulatory organization or other
body pending or, to the knowledge of the Company’s executive officers, threatened against or affecting the Company, the Company’ff s
common stock, any of its subsidiaries or its subsidiaries’ officers or directors in their capacities as such, in which an adverse decision
could have a material adverse effect.
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8. In-Licensing and Supply

License Agreement with Aegis

In June 2018, the Company entered into a License Agreement (the “Aegis Agreement”) with Aegis Therapeutics, LLC
(“Aegis”). Under the Aegis Agreement, the Company licensed the exclusive, worldwide, royalty-bearing, sublicensable, rights to
certain proprietary Arr egis technology, patent rights and know-how to develop and commercialize epinephrine products. The Company
utilizes this technology for the development of its lead product candidate, nefe fff yff . As consideration for the license, the Company paid an
upfrff ont license feff e of $50,000, which was recorded in research and development expenses in the consolidated statement of operations.

The Company is required to make aggregate milestone payments of up to $20.0 million upon achievement of certain regulatory
and commercial milestones. The regulatory milestone payments under the Aegis Agreement will be recognized as research and
development expense upon completion of the required events, as the triggering events are not considered to be probable until they are
achieved. The Company made a $0.5 million milestone payment to Aegis upon the achievement of a regulatory milestone during
2019, and a $1.0 million payment to Aegis upon the FDA’s acceptance of the Company’s New Drug Application (“NDA”) submission
forff nefe fff y,ff which occurred in the third quarter of 2022. The Company may be required to pay royalties based on annual net product
sales in the low to mid-single digits on its or its sublicensees’ net sales of the Licensed Products (as defined in the Aegis Agreement)
on a country-rr by-country and product-by-product basis.

The Company is responsible for reimbursing Aegis for patent costs incurred in connection with prosecuting and maintaining
patent rights that are specififf c to epinephrine or epinephrine products. There were no expenses recognized in connection with legal
patent feff es for the years ended December 31, 2022 and 2021.

The Company may terminate the Aegis Agreement with 30 days written notice or either party may terminate the Aegis
Agreement for certain breaches of the Aegis Agreement. Unless terminated earlier by either or both parties, the term of the Aegis
Agreement will continue until the fiff nal expiration of all royalty obligations under the Aegis Agreement.

In conjunction with the Aegis Agreement, the Company also entered into a Supply Agreement (the “Supply Agreement”) with
Aegis that allows the Company to purchase materials for preclinical, development and commercial use at predetermined prices. The
Company may elect to have Aegis supply minimum quantities but there are no minimum or maximum purchase obligations under the
Supply Agreement unless this election is made. The parties may terminate the Supply Agreement at any time by mutual agreement. In
addition, the parties may terminate the Supply Agreement in the event of certain breaches of the Supply Agreement or upon the earlier
of the expiration or termination of the Aegis Agreement or June 2028. The Supply Agreement term may be extended by mutual
written agreement. Expense recognized under the Supply Agreement was $1.0 million and $0.2 million for the years ended
December 31, 2022 and 2021, respectively.

ManMM ufu acff turinii g Agreement with Renaissance

In September 2020, the Company entered into a manufacturing agreement (the “Renaissance Agreement”) with Renaissance
Lakewood, LLC (“Renaissance”). Pursuant to the Renaissance Agreement, Renaissance agreed to manufaff cture for, and provide to thet
Company, neffe yff nasal unit dose sprays (“Renaissance Products”). The Company is obligated to provide Renaissance with certain
supplies to manufaff cturt e the Renaissance Products and to purchase from Rff enaissance a mid double-digit percentage of the Company’s
annual aggregate Renaissance Product requirements in the E.U., and a high double-digit percentage of the Company’s annual
aggregate Renaissance Product requirements in the U.S. The Renaissance Agreement contains conventional commercial
pharmaceutical manufacturing provisions including certain minimum purchase amounts to be determined in the future based on
forff ecast needs and minimum batch size projections. The Company may also request Renaissance to perform certain serff vices related to
the Renaissance Product, for which the Company will pay reasonable compensation to Renaissance.
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The initial term of the Renaissance Agreement commenced on September 9, 2020 and continues (a) for Renaissance Product
designated for commercial sale in the U.S. until the earlier of the fifth anniversary of the (i) target U.S. launch date aff nd (ii) the initial
U.S. launch date (“U.S. Initial Term”), and (b) for Renaissance Product designated for commercial sale in the E.U. and other
countries, the earlier of the fifth anniversary of (rr i) the target E.U. launch date and (ii) the initial E.U. launch date (“E.U. Initial Term”),
in each case unless earlier terminated by one of the parties. The U.S. Initial Term and E.U. Initial Term automatically renew for
successive two-year terms (“Renewal Term”). Either party may elect not to renew the U.S. Renewal Term and/or the E.U. Renewal
Term by providing the requisite prior notice to the other party. Either party may terminate the Renaissance Agreement (1) for uncured
material breach of the other party, (2) upon notice for insolvency-related events of the other party that are not discharged within a
defiff ned time period, (3) on a product-by-product basis if the manufacture, distribution or sale would materially contravene any
appla icabla e law, (4) by providing the requisite notice if (a) the Company has not submitted a regulatory filing for any Renaissance
Product in the U.S. on or before June 30, 2022, (b) the authorization and approval to distribute or sell Renaissance Product in the U.S.
is not granted on or before the target U.S. launch date, (c) the authorization and approval representing more than a tara geted number of
units of Renaissance Product sold in the U.S. during the last calendar year is withdrawn by the FDA, or (d) the Company decided in its
sole discretion to cease commercializing the Renaissance Product in the U.S., (5) in the case of a force majeure event that continues
for sff ix months or more, or (6) a violation by the other party of trade control or anti-corruption laws. Expense recognized under the
Renaissance Agreement was $2.0 million and $3.1 million for the years ended December 31, 2022 and 2021, respectivelff y.

9. Convertible Preferred Stock and Common Stock and Stockholders’ Equity (Deficit)

Authtt orizii ed ShSS ares

The Company’s current Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation authorizes 200,000,000 shares of common stock,
par value $0.0001 per share, and 10,000,000 shares of preferred stock, par value $0.0001 per share.

ConCC vertitt ble PrPP efe eff rred Stock

In April 2016, the ARS Pharma issued 3,600,000 shares of Series A convertible preferred stock at $0.0833 per share for net cash
proceeds of $0.3 million. Subsequently, in July 2017, an additional 1,164,000 shares of Series A convertible preferred stock were
issued at $0.0833 per share for net cash proceeds of $0.1 million.

In March, June and July 2018, ARS Pharma issued a total of 606,060 shares of Series B convertible preferred stock at $1.65 per
share for neff t cash proceeds of $1.0 million.

In September and December 2018, ARS Pharma issued 7,692,309 shares of Series C convertible preferred stock at $2.60 per
share for neff t cash proceeds of $19.8 million.

In August 2021, ARS Pharma issued 9,337,066 shares of Series D convertible preferred stock at $5.89 per share for net cash
proceeds of $54.8 million.

Collectively, the Series A, B, C and D convertible preferred stock issuances will be referred to as “Series Convertible Preferred
Stock.”

On November 8, 2022, ARS Pharma completed the Merger with Silverback in accordance with the Merger Agreement. Under
the terms of the Merger Agreement, immediately prior to the effective time of the Mff erger, 22,399,435 shares of ARS Pharma’s
prefeff rred stock were converted into 26,473,899 shares of ARS Pharma’s common stock.

Common Stock

Upon completion of the Merger on November 8, 2022, as the accounting acquirer, ARS Pharma is deemed to have issued
36,535,541 shares of its common stock to Silverback stockholders.

Common stock reserved for future issuance consisted of the folff lowing:
December 31,

2022
Common stock options granted and outstanding 12,063,560
Common stock reserved for future awards or option grants 3,373,801
Total 15,437,361
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10. Stock-Based Compensation

Stock-based compensation expense recognized for all equity awards has been reported in the consolidated statements of
operations and comprehensive loss as follows (in thousands):

Years Ended December 31,
2022 2021

Research and development expense $ 213 $ 2,114
General and administrative expense 5,630 715
Total stock-based compensation expense $ 5,843 $ 2,829

As of December 31, 2022, the total unrecognized stock-based compensation expense was $4.6 million, which is expected to be
recognized over a remaining weighted-average period of approximately 2.48 years.

For the year ended December 31, 2022, ARS Pharma recognized $1.3 million in stock-based compensation expense for 236,380
perforff mance-based options that vested upon the closing of the Merger. For the year ended December 31, 2021, no performance-based
stock-based compensation was recognized.

In connection with the Merger, the Company replaced (only for accounting purposes) 6,599,068 stock options and 493,456
restricted stock units held by Silverback employees and directors. The replacement awards were revalued at their acquisition-date fair
value and then attributed to pre and post-combination service. This resulted in $3.1 million in expense attributed to post-combination
service to be recognized as compensation cost by the Company, of which $3.0 million has been recognized in general and
administrative expense in the accompanying consolidated statements of operations for the year ended December 31, 2022. 482,805
replaced restricted stock units vested in connection with the Merger and the remaining 10,651 are outstanding as of December 31,
2022.

Equitii y Itt nII centitt ve Plans

In September 2018, ARS Pharma adopted the 2018 Equity Incentive Plan. As a result of the Merger, on November 8, 2022 ARS
Pharma, as the accounting acquirer, is deemed to have assumed Silverback's 2016 and 2020 Equity Incentive Plans, and Employee
Stock Purchase Plan (“ESPP”). For the year ended December 31, 2022, ESPP activity is not material to the consolidated financial
statements.

As of December 31, 2022, the 2016 and 2020 Equity Incentive Plans authorized a total of 11,321,495 shares, of which
3,079,688 shares are available for future grant, and 6,439,311 shares are outstanding. As of December 31, 2022, the 2018 Equity
Incentive Plan authorized a total of 6,634,333 shares, of which 294,113 shares are available for futff ure grant, and 5,634,900 shares aret
outstanding. The Company does not intend to grant future stock options or other equity awards under the 2018 Equity Incentive Plan.

StSS octt k OptOO itt ons

Stock options granted under the Company’s equity incentive plans expire no later than 10 years from the date of grant and
generally vest over a four-year period, with vesting either occurring at a rate of 25% at the end of the first year and thereafter in 36
equal monthly installments or on a monthly basis. In the case of awards granted to our non-employee board members, vesting
generally occurs on a monthly basis over three years or in full on an annual basis. The Company issues new shares of common stock
upon the exercise of stock options.
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A summary of trr he Company’s stock option activity for the year ended December 31, 2022 is as folff lows:

Shares
Subject to
Options

Outstanding

Weighted-
Average
Exercise

Price

Weighted-
Average

Remaining
Contractual
Life (ff Years)

Aggregate
Intrinsic
Value (in

thousands)
Outstanding at December 31, 2021 4,828,667 $ 1.06

Assumed in the Merger 6,599,068 $ 10.14
Granted 1,472,647 $ 1.50
Exercised (548,768) $ 1.04
Forfeff ited (288,054) $ 1.26

Outstanding at December 31, 2022 12,063,560 $ 6.07 5.56 $ 60,437
Vested and expected to vest at December 31, 2022 12,063,560 $ 6.07 5.56 $ 60,437
Exercisable at December 31, 2022 12,032,474 $ 6.06 5.56 $ 60,336

The exercisable shares subject to options outstanding at December 31, 2022 in the table above include vested and early
exercisable awards. The aggregate intrinsic value in the table above is calculated as the difference between the exercise price of the
underlying options and the estimated fair value of the Company’s common stock for all options that were in-the-money at
December 31, 2022. The aggregate intrinsic value of options exercised during the years ended December 31, 2022 and 2021 was $1.2
million and $0.1 million, respectively.

The weighted-average grant date fair value per share of option grants for the years ended December 31, 2022 and 2021 was
$1.50 and $0.97, respectively. The total faff ir value of shares vested during the years ended December 31, 2022 and 2021 was $2.7
million and $0.4 million, respectively.

The faff ir value of stock options granted or assumed in connection with the Merger was estimated using a Black-Scholes option-
pricing model (“Black-Scholes”) with the following weighted-average assumptions:

Assumed on Years Ended December 31,
November 8, 2022 2022 2021

Expected term (in years) 0.8 6.1 6.0
Expected volatility 98.9% 91.3% 91.6%
Risk-frff ee interest rate 4.5% 2.1% 1.2%
Expected dividend yield — — —
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The faff ir value of stock options was determined using the Black-Scholes assumptions below. Each of these inputs is subjective
and generally requires significant judgement.

FaiFF r Value of CVV omCC mon Stock. Prior to the Merger on November 8, 2022, grant date faff ir market value of the shares of
common stock underlying stock options was determined by ARS Pharma’s Board of Directors. Following the Merger, the
fair market value of the Company's common stock is based on its closing price as reported on the date of grant on the
primary stock exchange on which the Company’s common stock is traded. Prior to the Merger, there was no public market
for the ARS Pharma’s common stock, therefore the ARS Pff harma Board of Directors determined the fair value of common
stock at the time of grant of the option by considering a number of objective and subjective factors including independent
third-party valuations of the ARS Pharma common stock, sales of convertible preferred stock to unrelated third parties,
operating and financial performance, the lack of liquidity of capital stock and general and industry specific economic
outlook, amongst other factors.

ExEE pex cted Term. The expected term represents the period that the options granted are expected to be outstanding. The
expected term of stock options issued is determined using the simplified method (based on the mid-point between the vesting
date and the end of the contractual term) as the Company has concluded that its stock option exercise history does not
provide a reasonable basis upon which to estimate expected term.

ExEE pex cted Volatility. Given the Company’s limited historical stock price volatility data, the Company derived the expected
volatility from the average historical volatilities over a period approximately equal to the expected term of comparable
publicly traded companies within its peer group that were deemed to be representative of future stock price trends as the
Company has limited trading history for its common stock. The Company will continue to apply this process until a
sufficient amount of historical information regarding the volatility of its own stock price becomes available.

Risii k-kk f- rff ee Interest RateII . The risk-frff ee interest rate is based on the U.S. Treasury rate, with maturities similar to the expected
term of the stock options.

ExEE pex cted Dividend Yield. The Company has never paid dividends on its common stock and does not anticipate paying any
dividends in the foreseeable future. Therefore, the Company uses an expected dividend yield of zero.

11. Income Taxes

A reconciliation of the federal statutort y irr ncome tax rate to the Company’s effective tax rate is as follows (in thousands):ff
Years Ended December 31,

2022 2021
Tax computed at federal statutt ory rrr ate $ (7,283) $ (4,251)
State income taxes, net of feff deral benefiff t (21) (9)
Equity compensation 290 562
Research and development credits (624) (1,120)
Other 452 38
Valuation allowance 7,186 4,780
Provision for iff ncome taxes $ — $ —
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Signififf cant components of the Company’s net deferred tax assets were as follows (in thousands):
Years Ended December 31,

2022 2021
Defeff rred tax assets:

Net operating losses $ 8,252 $ 5,457
Research and development credits 2,964 2,340
Intangible assets 3,746 219
Equity compensation 2,279 63
Contract liabia lity 661 943
Other 104 257

Total deferred tax assff ets 18,006 9,279
Defeff rred tax liabilities:

ROU asset (94) (131)
Other (155) (10)

Total deferred liabilitiesff (249) (141)
Gross defeff rred tax assets 17,757 9,138

Valuation allowance (17,757) (9,138)
Net deferred tax assets $ — $ —

The Company has established a valuation allowance against net deferred tax assets due to the uncertainty that such assets will be
realized. The Company periodically evaluates the recoverabia lity of the deferred assets. At such time as it is determined that it is more
likely than not that the deferred tax asset will be realized, the valuation allowance will be reduced. The change in the valuation
allowance for tff he year ended December 31, 2022 was an increase of $8.6 million.

At December 31, 2022, the Company had federal and state net operating loss carryforwards (“NOL”) of $38.9 milrr lion and $7.2
million, respectively. Federal NOL carryforwards of $38.9 million, generated after 2017, may be carryforward indefinitely but can
only be utilized to offset 80% of future taxable income. The state NOL carryforwards begin expiring in 2036. State NOLs totaling
$1.6 million may be carried forff ward indefiff nitely. In addition, the Company also has federal and California research aff nd development
credit carryforwards totaling $3.4 million and $0.7 million, respectively. The federal research and development credit carryforwards
will begin to expire in 2035 unless previously utilized. The California research credits do not expire. The NOL and credit carryovers
noted above do not include the pre-Merger amounts atta ributable to Silverbar ck as noted in the IRC Section 382 disclosure in the
paragraph below.a

Pursuant to Internal Revenue Code (“IRC”) Sections 382 and 383, annual use of the company's NOL and research and
development credit carryforwards may be limited in the event a cumulative change in ownership of more than 50% occurs within a
three-year period. The Company has not completed an ownership change analysis pursuant to IRC Section 382. If ownership changes
have occurred or occurs in the future, the amount of remaining tax attribute carryforwards available to offsff et taxable income anda
income tax expense in future years may be restricff ted or eliminated. If eliminated, the related asset would be removed from deferred
tax assets with a corresponding reduction in the valuation allowance. Due to the existence of the valuation allowance, limitations
created by futff urt e ownership changes, if any, will not impact the Company’s effeff ctive tax rate.

Additionally, as part of the transaction with Silverbar ck, certain defeff rred tax assets generated in the Silverback pre-Merger
periods were acquired by the Company consisting of federal and state net operation loss carryovers, research tax credit carryovers, and
other tax attributes. These deferred tax assets will be subject to limitations on future use under IRC Section 382 and some of the
attributes may expire unused. The Company has not completed an analysis under IRC Section 382 to determine the amount of such tax
attributes that will be available annually and how much, if any, of the tax attributes may expire unused. As a result, the Company has
not included any of these deferred tax assets in its components of deferred tax asset in the table above. Once the analysis is complete,
to the extent that such deferred tax assets are available for future utilization, such assets will be included in the deferred tax assets and
will be fully offset by valuation allowance as of December 31, 2022.

The evaluation of uncertainty in a tax position is a two-step process. The first step involves recognition. The Company
determines whether it is more likely than not that a tax position will be sustained upon tax examination, including resolution of any
related appeals or litigation, based on only the technical merits of the position. The technical merits of a tax position are derived from
both statutory and judicial authority (legislation and statutes, legislative intent, regulations, rulings, and case law) and their
appla icabia lity to the faff cts and circumstances of the tax position. If a tax position does not meet the more-likely-than-not recognition
threshold, the benefit of that position is not recognized in the financial statements. The second step is measurement. A tax position that
meets the more-likely-than-not recognition threshold is measured to determine the amount of benefit to recognize in the financial
statements. The tax position is measured as the largest amount of benefit that is greater than 50% likely of being realized upon
ultimate resolution with a taxing authority.
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The folff lowing table summarizes the reconciliation of the unrecognized tax benefits activity during the years ended December
31, 2022 and 2021 (in thousands):

Years Ended December 31,
2022 2021

Unrecognized tax benefits - beginning $ 1,147 $ 941
Gross increase – current-period tax positions 373 206
Unrecognized tax benefits - ending $ 1,520 $ 1,147

The unrecognized tax benefit amounts are reflected in the determination of the Company’s deferred tax assets. If recognized,
none of these amounts would affect the Company’s effective tax rate, since it would be offset by an equal corresponding adjustment in
the deferred tax asset valuation allowance. The Company does not foresee material changes to its liability for uncertain tax benefits
within the next twelve months.

The Company files income tax returt ns in the United States, various states within the United States, and Ireland. Due to the
Company’s losses incurred, the Company’s income tax returns for all jurisdictions are subject to examination by tax authorities fromff
inception. The Company’s policy is to recognize interest expense and penalties related to income tax matters as tax expense. As of
December 31, 2022, there were no significff ant accruals for interest related to unrr ecognized tax benefits or tax penalties. The Company
has not incurred any material interest or penalties as of the current reporting date with respect to income tax matters. The Company
does not expect that there will be unrecognized tax benefits of a significant nature that will increase or decrease within 12 months oft
the reporting date.

12. Employee Benefit Plansff

In June 2022, the Company adopted a retirement plan, which is qualified under section 401(k) of the Internal Revenue Code of
1986, as amended, for the Company’s U.S. employees. The plan allows eligible employees to defeff r, at the employee’s discretion,
pretax compensation up to the Internal Revenue Service (the “IRS”) annual limits. The Company matches up to 5% of an employee’s
contributions, subject to IRS limitations. Expense associated with the Company’s matching contribution totaled $0.1 million for the
year ended December 31, 2022.

13. Related-Party Transactions

In September 2015, the Company entered into a consulting agreement, superseded in July 2022, for regulatory and development
services with Pacific-Link Consulting, LLC, an entity owned by the President/Chief Executive Officer/director and the Chief Medical
Officer of the Company. The Company incurred consulting expense related to this agreement totaling $2.1 million and $1.1 million
during the years ended December 31, 2022 and 2021, respectively.

In September 2018, the Company entered into a consulting agreement with Marlinspike Group, LLC (“Marlinspike Group”) to
provide management, business consulting services and business development support. In addition, Marlinspike Group provides the use
of its faff cilities to the Company from time to time. The managing member of Marlinspike Group is the Chair of the Board of Directors
of the Company and one of its stockholders. The Company incurred annual expenses related to this agreement totaling $0.2 million forff
both of the years ended December 31, 2022 and 2021.

In November 2018, the Company entered into a consulting agreement for commercial and marketing consulting services with
Red Team Associates, LLC (“Red Team”), an entity controlled by the Executive Vice President of Commercial Strategy of the
Company. The Company incurred consulting expense related to this agreement totaling $0.2 million and $0.1 million during the years
ended December 31, 2022 and 2021, respectively.

In April 2021, the Company entered into a consulting agreement, as amended in April 2022, with a member of the Board of
Directors of the Company for general advice and assistance with the development of its current and future product candidates. As
compensation for tff he consulting services the Company granted the member of the Board of Directors 590,950 stock options that vest
over a fourff -year period. The Company incurred stock-based compensation expense related to this agreement totaling $0.1 million for
both of the years ended December 31, 2022 and 2021.
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14. Subsequent Events

TeTT rmination Agreement

On Februarr ry 22, 2023, trr he Company entered into the Termination Agreement with Recordati, pursuant to which, among other
things, the Company and Recordati agreed to terminate the Recordati License and Supply Agreement. Pursuant to the Termination
Agreement, the Company will reacquire all of the Recordati Rights and has agreed to pay Recordati a one-time upfront payment of
€3.0 million and additional payments upon achievement of certain milestones including: (i) an EMA regulatory milestone payment of
€2.0 million, (ii) a milestone payment of €5.0 million upon first commercial sale of a Recordati Licensed Product in the Recordati
Territory, and (iii) milestone payrr ments of up to €5.0 million in the aggregate from sales of Recordati Licensed Product(s) in the
Recordati Territory.

Item 9. Changes in and Disagreements With Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure.

None.

Item 9A. Controls and Procedures.

Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

As required by RulRR es 13a-15(b) and 15d-15(b) of the Exchange Act, our management with the participation of our Chief
Executive Officer and our Chief Financial Officer, evaluated the effectiveness of our disclosure controls and procedures as of
December 31, 2022. The term “disclosure controls and procedures” as defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) under the Exchange
Act, means controls and other procedures of a company that are designed to ensure that information required to be disclosed by a
company in the reports that it fiff les or submits under the Exchange Act is recorded, processed, summarized and reported, within the
time periods specififf ed in the SEC’s rules and forms. Disclosure controls and procedures include, without limitation, controls and
procedures designed to ensure that inforff mation required to be disclosed by a company in the reports that it files or submits under the
Exchange Act is accumulated and communicated to the company’s management, including its principal executive and principal
fiff nancial offff iff cer, as appropriate to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure. Management recognizes that any controls and
procedures, no matter how well designed and operated, can provide only reasonable asa surance of achieving their objectives, and
management necessarily applies its judgment in evaluating the cost-benefit relationship of possible controls and procedures. Based on
the evaluation of our disclosure controls and procedures as of December 31, 2022, our Chief Executive Offiff cer and our Chief
Financial Officer concluded that, as of such date, our disclosure controls and procedures were effective at the reasonable assurance
level.

Management’s Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting

Ourr managementt is responsible forr establishing andd maintaining adequate internal control overr financial reporting, as such term
is defiff nedd in RulRR e 13a-15(f) under the Exchange Act. Ourr management, including ourr Chieff Executive Offiff cerr and Chieff Financial

ffff iff cer, conductedd an evaluation off the effff eff ctiveness off ourr internal control overr financial reporting bbased on the 2013 frameworkk in
Internal Control———Integratedd Frameworkk issuedd bby the Committee off Sponsoring Organizations off the Treadway Commission. Basedd
on this evaluation, ourr managementt concludedd that ourr internal control overr financial reporting was effective as of Decemberr 31,
2022.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also,
projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risks that controls may become inadequate because of
changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reporting

There were no changes in our internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the quarter ended December 31,
2022 that have materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting.

Item 9B. Other Information.

None.

Item 9C. Disclosure regarding Foreign Jurisdictions that Prevent Inspections.

Not appla icable.
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PART III

Item 10. Directors, Executive Officers and Corporate Governance.

Inforff mation required by this item and not set forth below will be sff et forth in the sections headed Election of Directors and
ExEE ecutive OfO fff icff ersrr contained in our definitive proxy statement for our 2023 annual meetff ing of stockholders to be filed with the
Securities and Exchange Commission on or before May 1, 2023 (the “Proxy Statement”) pursuant to General Instructions G(3) of
Form 10-K and is incorporrr ated herein by reference.ff

We have adopted a Code of Business Conduct and Ethics that applies to all officers, directors and employees, including our
principal executive officer, principal fiff nancial offff iff cer, principal accounting officer or controller, or person performing similar
funcff tions. A current copy of the Code of Business Conduct and Ethics is available on the Corporate Governance section of our website
at ir.ars-pharma.com. If we make any substantive amendments to the Code of Business Conduct and Ethics or grants any waiver from
a provision of the Code of Business Conduct and Ethics to any executive officer or director that are required to be disclosed pursuant
to SEC rulrr es, we will promptly disclose the nature of the amendment or waiver on our website or in a current report on Form 8-K.

Item 11. Executive Compensation.

The inforff mation required by this item will be set forth in the section headed Executive and Director Compensation contained in
the Proxy Statement and is incorporr ated herein by reference.

Item 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficff ial Owners and Management and Related Stockholder Matters.

Inforff mation required by this item will be set forth in the sections headed Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and
Management and Executive and Director Compensation contained in the Proxy Statement and is incorporated herein by reference.

Item 13. Certain Relationships and Related Transactions, and Director Independence.

Inforff mation required by this item will be set forth in the sections headed Certain Related-Person TransactionsTT and Information
Regare ding the Board of Directors and Crr orCC porate Governancer contained in the Proxy Statement and is incorporated herein by
refeff rence.

Item 14. Principal Accountant Fees and Services.

Information required by this item will be set forth in the sections headed Ratification of Selection of Independent Registered
Public Accounting Firm contained in the Proxy Statement and is incorporated herein by reference.
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PART IV

Item 15. Exhibits, Financial Statement Schedules.

(a) Documents filed as part of this report.

(1) FiFF nancial Statements. The following financial statements of ARS Pharmaceuticals, Inc., together with the report of Ernst &
Young LLP, an independent registered public accounting firm, required to be fiff led pursuant to Part II, Item 8 of this Annual Report
are included on the following pages:

Page
Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm (PCAOB ID: 42)

Bookmark
not

defined.
Consolidated Balance Sheets 108
Consolidated Statements of Operations and Comprehensive Loss 109
Consolidated Statements of Convertible Preferred Stock and Stockholders’ Equity (Deficit) 110
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows 111
Notes to Financial Statements 112

(2) FiFF nancial Statement Schedules. None.

(3) List of exhibits required by Item 601 of Regule ation S-K. See part (b) below.

(b) Exhibits.

Exhibit
Number Description

2.1‡ Agreement and Plan of Merger and Reorganization, dated as of July 21, 2022, by and among Silverback
Therapeutics, Inc., Sabre Merger Sub, Inc. and ARS Pharmaceuticals, Inc., as amended by the First Amendment,
dated August 11, 2022 and the Second Amendment, dated October 25, 2022 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 2.1
to the registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K, as amended, filed with the SEC on November 8, 2022).

3.1 Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation, as amended.
3.2 Amended and Restated Bylaws (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.2 to the registrant’s Current Report on Form

8-K, filed with the SEC on December 8, 2020).
4.1 Refeff rence is made to Exhibit 3.1 and 3.2.
4.2 Amended and Restated Investors’ Rights Agreement, by and between the registrant and certain of its stockholders,

dated September 22, 2020 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.2 to the registrant’s Registration Statement on Form
S-1 (File No. 333-250009), as amended, filed with the SEC on November 10, 2020).

4.3 Description of Registrant’s Common Stock.
4.5 Warrant to purchase stock issued to Silicon Valley Bank, dated as of September 30, 2019, as amended on December

7, 2020 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to the registrant's Current Report on Form 8-K, filed with the SEC
on November 8, 2022).

10.1+ Form of Indemnity Agreement, by and between the registrant and its directors and officers (incorporated by reference
to Exhibit 10.1 to the registrant’s Registration Statement on Form S-1 (File No. 333-250009), as amended, filed with
the SEC on November 10, 2020).
ARS Pharmaceuticals, Inc. 2016 Equity Incentive Plan, as amended, and Forms of Option Agreement, Notice of
Exercise, Notice of Early Exercise, Restricted Stock Grant Notice and Restricted Stock Award Agreement thereunder
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the registrant’s Registration Statement on Form S-1 (File No. 333-
250009), as amended, filed with the SEC on November 10, 2020).

10.3+ ARS Pharmaceuticals, Inc. 2020 Equity Incentive Plan, and Forms of Option Grant Notice, Option Agreement and
Notice of Exercise thereunder (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 to the registrant’s Registration Statement on
Form S-1 (File No. 333-250009), as amended, filed with the SEC on November 30, 2020).
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10.4+ Forms of Restricted Stock Unit Grant Notice and Restricted Stock Unit Award Agreement under the ARS
Pharmaceuticals, Inc. 2020 Equity Incentive Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.15 to the Registrant’s
Annual Report on Form 10-K, filed with the SEC on March 31, 2022).

10.5+ ARS Pharmaceuticals, Inc. 2020 Employee Stock Purchase Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.4 to the
registrant’s Registration Statement on Form S-1 (File No. 333-250009), as amended, filed with the SEC on November
30, 2020).

10.6+ ARS Pharmaceuticals, Inc. 2018 Equity Incentive Plan, as amended (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 99.1 to the
registrant’s Registration Statement on Form S-8 (File No. 333-269262) filed with the SEC on January 17, 2023).
Forms of Stock Option Grant Notice, Option Agreement, Notice of Exercise and Early Exercise Stock Purchase
Agreement under the ARS Pharmaceuticals, Inc. 2018 Equity Incentive Plan, as amended (incorporated by reference
to Exhibit 99.2 to the registrant’s Registration Statement on Form S-8 (File No. 333-269262) filed with the SEC on
January 17, 2023).

10.8+ ARS Pharmaceuticals Inc. Change in Control and Severance Benefit Plan.
10.9+ Non-Employee Director Compensation Policy, as amended (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the

registrant’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, filed with the SEC on May 12, 2022).
10.10*‡ Termination Agreement, dated as of February 22, 2023, by and between ARS Pharmaceuticals, Inc. and Recordati

Ireland, Ltd.
10.11*‡ License Agreement, dated as of June 18, 2018, by and between ARS Pharmaceuticals, Inc. and Aegis Therapeutics,

LLC, as amended by the First Amendment to License Agreement, dated as of July 15, 2020, and the Second
Amendment to License Agreement, dated as of January 6, 2021 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the
registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K, filed with the SEC on November 8, 2022).

10.12*‡ Collaboration and License Agreement, dated as of April 30, 2020, by and between ARS Pharmaceuticals, Inc. and
Alfresa Pharma Corporation (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-
K, filed with the SEC on November 8, 2022).

‡ Collaboration and Distribution Agreement, dated as of March 1, 2021, by and between ARS Pharmaceuticals, Inc.
and Pediatrix Therapeutics (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 to the registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K,
filed with the SEC on November 8, 2022).

‡ Manufacturing Agreement, dated as September 9, 2020, by and between ARS Pharmaceuticals, Inc. and Renaissance
Lakewood, LLC (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.4 to the registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K, filed with
the SEC on November 8, 2022).

10.15+ Executive Employment Agreement, dated as of September 14, 2018, by and between ARS Pharmaceuticals, Inc. and
Richard E. Lowenthal (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.6 to the registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K, filed
with the SEC on November 8, 2022).

10.16+ Executive Employment Agreement, dated as of February 9, 2022, by and between ARS Pharmaceuticals, Inc. and
Kathleen Scott (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.7 to the registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K, filed with
the SEC on November 8, 2022).

10.17+ Executive Employment Agreement, dated as of September 14, 2018, by and between ARS Pharmaceuticals, Inc. and
Dr. Sarina Tanimoto, as amended by Amendment No. 1 to Executive Employment Agreement, dated as of September
1, 2021 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.8 to the registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K, filed with the SEC
on November 8, 2022).

10.18+ Executive Employment Agreement, as of February 16, 2022, by and between ARS Pharmaceuticals, Inc. and Eric
Karas (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.9 to the registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K, filed with the SEC
on November 8, 2022).

10.19+ Executive Employment Agreement, dated as of June 1, 2019, by and between ARS Pharmaceuticals, Inc. and Justin
Chakma (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.10 to the registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K, filed with the
SEC on November 8, 2022).

10.20+ Executive Employment Agreement, by and between the ARS Pharmaceuticals, Inc. and Brian T. Dorsey, effective as
of October 1, 2018 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K, filed
with the SEC on December 9, 2022).

10.21+ Executive Employment Agreement, by and between ARS Pharmaceuticals, Inc. and Alex Fitzpatrick, effective as of
December 1, 2022.

10.22+ Consulting Agreement, dated as of April 26, 2021, by and between ARS Pharmaceuticals, Inc. and Brenton L.
Saunders, as amended on April 25, 2022 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.11 to the registrant’s Current Report
on Form 8-K, filed with the SEC on November 8, 2022).

10.23+ Consulting Agreement, by and between ARS Pharmaceuticals, Inc. and Marlinspike Group, LLC, dated September
14, 2018 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.12 to the registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K, filed with the
SEC on November 8, 2022).
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10.24+ Consulting Agreement, by and between ARS Pharmaceuticals, Inc. and Pacific-Link Regulatory Consulting, Inc.,
dated July 1, 2022 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.13 to the registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K, filed
with the SEC on November 8, 2022).

23.1 Consent of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm.
24.1 Power of Attorney (see signature page).
31.1 Certification of Principal Executive Officer Pursuant to Rules 13a-14(a) and 15d-14(a) under the Securities Exchange

Act of 1934, as Adopted Pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.
Certification of Principal Financial Officer Pursuant to Rules 13a-14(a) and 15d-14(a) under the Securities Exchange
Act of 1934, as Adopted Pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

32.1 Certification of Principal Executive and Financial Officers Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as Adopted Pursuant
to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

101.INS Inline XBRL Instance Document
101.SCH Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document
101.CAL Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Document
101.DEF Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Document
101.LAB Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase Document
101.PRE Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase Document
104 Cover Page Interactive Data File (embedded within the Inline XBRL document)

+ Indicates management contract or compensatory plan.

‡ Schedules have been omitted pursuant to Item 601(a)(5) of Regulation S-K. The registrant undertakes to furnish supplemental
copies of any of the omitted schedules upon request by the SEC.

* Certain inforff mation in this exhibit is omitted because it is both not material and is the type that the registrant treats as private or
confiff dential.

Item 16. Form 10-K Summary

None.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, the Registrant has duly
caused this Report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.

ARS Pharmaceuticals, Inc.

Date: March 23, 2023 By: /s/ Richard Lowenthal, M.S., MBA
Richard Lowenthal, M.S., MBA
President, Chief Executive Officerff , and Director

POWER OF ATTORNEY

KNKK OW ALL PERSONS BY THESE PRESENTS, that each person whose signature appears below constitutes and appoints Richard
Lowenthal and Kathy Scott , and each of them, his or her true and lawful attorneys-in-fact, each with full power of substitution, for
him or her in any and all capacities, to sign any amendments to this Annual Report on Form 10-K and to file the same, with exhibits
thereto and other documents in connection therewith, with the Securities and Exchange Commission, hereby ratifying and confirming
all that each of said attorneys-in-faff ct or their substitute or substitutes may do or cause to be done by virtue hereof.

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below by the following
persons on behalf of the registrant and in the capacities and on the dates indicated.

Name Title Date
/s/ Richard Lowenthal, M.S., MBA President, Chief Executive Officer, and

Director
March 23, 2023

Richard Lowenthal, M.S., MBA (Principal Executive Officer)

/s/ Kathy Scott Chief Financial Officer March 23, 2023
Kathy Scott (P(( rincipal Financial and Accounting

OfO fff iff cer)

/s/ Pratik Shah, Ph.D. Chairman of the Board of Directors March 23, 2023
Pratik Shah, Ph.D.

/s/ Peter Kolchinsky, Ph.D. Director March 23, 2023
Peter Kolchinsky, Ph.D.

/s/ Rajea ev Dadoo, Ph.D. Director March 23, 2023
Rajeev Dadoo, Ph.D.

/s/ Brenton L. Saunders Director March 23, 2023
Brenton L. Saunders

/s/ Phillip Schneider Director March 23, 2023
Phillip Schneider

/s/ Michael Kelly Director March 23, 2023
Michael Kelly

/s/ Jonathan S. Leff Director March 23, 2023
Jonathan S. Leff

/s/ Laura Shawver, Ph.D. Director March 23, 2023
Laura Shawver, Ph.D.

/s/ Peter A. Thompson, M.D. Director March 23, 2023
Peter A. Thompson, M.D.

/s/ Saqib Islam, J.D. Director March 23, 2023
Saqib Islam, J.D.




